
SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

South Lakeland House, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4UQ 
www.southlakeland.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of  

the Audit Committee 

on Wednesday, 5 December 2018, at 6.30 p.m. 

in the District Council Chamber - South Lakeland House, 
Kendal 

 
 
 
 

Committee Membership 
 

Councillors 
 

Matt Brereton 

Sheila Capstick 

Stephen Coleman (Chairman) 

Tracy Coward 

Eamonn Hennessy 

Kevin Lancaster 

Matt Severn 

 

 
 
Note – Where relevant, agendas for Members are labelled “Private Document Pack” and 
contain exempt information within the papers. Any relevant pages are marked as restricted 
within Agendas labelled “Public Document Pack”. 
 
 
Monday, 26 November 2018 
 
Debbie Storr, Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer) 
 
 
 
For all enquiries, please contact:-  

Committee Administrator: Inge Booth 

 

Telephone: 01539 793190 

e-mail: committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk 

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

 Page Nos. 

PART I   

1  APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence, if any.  

2  MINUTES  5 - 10 

 To authorise the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the minutes of the 
meeting of the Committee held on 19 September 2018 (copy attached). 

 

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 To receive declarations by Members of interests in respect of items on this 
Agenda.  

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of Conduct, 
they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other 
registrable interests which have not already been declared in the Council’s 
Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable 
pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting.) 

Members may, however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable 
pecuniary interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as 
any other registrable or other interests. 

If a Member requires advice on any item involving a possible declaration of 
interest which could affect his/her ability to speak and/or vote, he/she is advised 
to contact the Monitoring Officer at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

 

4  LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS   

 To consider whether the items, if any, in Part II of the Agenda should be 
considered in the presence of the press and public. 

 

5  AUDIT COMMITTEE 2018/19 WORK PROGRAMME  11 - 14 

 To consider progress against the Committee’s 2018/19 Work Programme.  

External Audit   

6  EXTERNAL AUDITOR'S PROGRESS REPORT AND UPDATE  15 - 30 

 To consider a summary of the External Auditor’s progress to date and emerging 
issues and developments that may be relevant to the Council. 

 

Internal Audit   

7  INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 2018/19  31 - 60 

 To consider progress achieved in 2018 in delivering the Internal Audit Plan, 
including one final Internal Audit Report and an update on progress achieved in 
implementing recommendations from previous internal audit reviews. 

 

Accounts   

8  ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2018/19  61 - 82 

 To consider the accounting policies or the 2018/19 financial year to be used in 
the preparation of the Statement of Accounts for the financial year ending 31 
March 2019. 

 



Regulatory Framework   

9  REVIEW OF CONSTITUTION  83 - 128 

 To consider the results of the annual review of the Council’s Constitution for 
consideration by the Audit Committee. 

 

10  AUDIT COMMITTEE RISK REGISTER  129 - 138 

 To consider the updated Audit Committee Risk Register.  

11  RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE  139 - 174 

 To consider the Strategic Risk Register.  

12  REVIEW OF LOCAL CODE OF GOVERNANCE  175 - 224 

 To consider the results of the review of the Council’s Local Code of 
Governance. 

 

13  REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS OF AUDIT COMMITTEE  225 - 244 

 To consider the results of the annual review of the Audit Committee’s 
effectiveness. 

 

14  IMPLEMENTATION OF GENERAL DATA PROTECTION REGULATIONS 
AND DATA PROTECTION ACT 2018  

245 - 250 

 To consider an update on the introduction of the General Data Protection 
Regulation and Data Protection Act 2018 across the Council. 

 

Financial Issues   

15  OTHER SIGNIFICANT FINANCIAL ISSUES   

 To receive a verbal update from the Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 
Officer) on any other significant financial issues. 

 

PART II   

Private Section (exempt reasons under Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006, specified by way of paragraph number)  

 

16  CUSTOMER CONNECT PROGRAMME MANAGEMENT  
 
- Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 

particular person (including the authority holding that information)  
 

251 - 272 

 Further to AUD (2018/19), to consider an update on the management of the 
Customer Connect Programme. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



7 
19.09.2018 Audit Committee 
 

 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of the proceedings at a meeting of the Audit Committee held in the District 
Council Chamber - South Lakeland House, on Wednesday, 19 September 2018, at 
6.30 p.m. 
 

Present 
 

Councillors 
  

Ian Stewart (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Matt Brereton 
Sheila Capstick 

 

Tracy Coward 
Eamonn Hennessy 

 

Kevin Lancaster 
 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Stephen Coleman (Chairman). 
 

Officers 
 

Sarah Berry Projects and Innovation Officer 

Inge Booth Senior Committee Services Officer 

Katie Booth Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer 

Claire Gould Partnerships and Organisational Development Manager 

Lee Hurst Chief Accountant 

Anthea Lowe Solicitor to the Council 

Simon McVey Assistant Director Performance and Innovation 

Debbie Storr Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer) 

 
Also in attendance were Jillian Burrows (External Audit) and Peter Harrison (Internal Audit 
Manager). 
 

AUD/15 MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED – That the Chairman be authorised to sign, as a correct record, the minutes 
of the meeting of the Committee held on 25 July 2018. 
 

AUD/16 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that no declarations of interest were raised. 
 

AUD/17 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS  
 
RESOLVED – That the item in Part II of the Agenda be dealt with following the exclusion 
of the press and public. 
 

AUD/18 ANNUAL REVIEW OF ANTI-FRAUD POLICY AND ACTIVITY  
 
The Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer) introduced a report detailing the 
results of the annual review of the Council’s Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy and 
statistical data on cases where sources of information had indicated that fraudulent 
activity might have been occurring. 
 

Page 5

Item No.2



8 
19.09.2018 Audit Committee 
 

 

The last review of the Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy had been conducted by 
the Audit Committee in December 2017, with no amendments required.  The report drew 
attention to the Anti-Money Laundering Policy, approved by the Audit Committee in 
December 2017, attached at Appendix 3 to the report.  In addition, the CIPFA Code of 
Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption Counter-Fraud Assessment Tool 
and the Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally 2016-19 Checklist were attached at 
Appendices 4 and 5 respectively. 
 
The Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer) drew attention to a 
typographical error  in the table on page 139 and advised Members that the total number 
of prosecutions in 2017/18 had been 4 and not three as stated. 
 
Discussion took place on the potential to charge for the work carried out by the Council in 
relation to tenancy fraud in relation to social housing stock. 
 
Members expressed concern with regard to tenancy fraud, in particular with regard to 
cases where people currently occupying properties sold under the Right to Buy scheme in 
previous years did not meet the requirements of Section 106 Agreements.  The Corporate 
Anti-Fraud Officer confirmed that all tenancy fraud allegations were followed up, however, 
that here had, thus far, been no such allegations brought to her attention. 
 
In response to a query regarding the value of identified frauds and the value of 
recuperation through prosecution, the Corporate Anti-Fraud Officer made reference to the 
cost implications of prosecution and explained that prosecution was only carried out 
where it was in the public interest and there was enough evidence beyond reasonable 
doubt. 
 
In considering the summary of anti-fraud activity since 2013/14, Members acknowledged 
that the difference in ratios related to the Department for Work and Pensions having taken 
over responsibility for sanctioning Housing Benefit cases from 2015. 
 
RESOLVED – That the following be noted:- 
 
(1) the review of the Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy and the Anti-Money 
Laundering Policy; 
 
(2) the review against the CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and 
Corruption Counter-Fraud Assessment Tool and Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally 
2016-19 Checklist; and 
 
(3) the anti-fraud activity. 
 

AUD/19 AUDIT COMMITTEE 2018/19 WORK PROGRAMME  
 
The Chief Accountant presented a report setting out the changes to and the progress 
made against the 2018/19 Work Programme.  He informed Members that the External 
Audit 2017/18 Annual Letter had been brought forward to this meeting from December 
due to this year’s early closure of accounts.  In addition, he explained that there was no 
External Audit update on this agenda due to the 2017/18 accounts having been 
completed; an update would be provided at the December meeting.  A review of the 
Whistleblowing Policy was not due to be presented to the Audit Committee until 
September 2019, as this was a bi-annual review.  Lastly, the Chief Accountant pointed out 
that an update on the Customer Connect Business Case had been included for each 
meeting of the Audit Committee, as requested by Members. 

Page 6



9 
19.09.2018 Audit Committee 
 

 

 
The Vice-Chairman reminded Members that they could approach the Director of Policy 
and Resources (Monitoring Officer) with any training requirements. 
 
RESOLVED – That progress against the 2018/19 Work Programme be noted. 
 

AUD/20 ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER FOR SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL YEAR 
ENDING 31 MARCH 2018  
 
The External Audit Annual Audit Letter, which summarised the key findings arising from 
work carried out by External Audit at the Council for the year ended 31 March 2018, was 
presented by Jillian Burrows, External Audit. 
 
The key messages were that External Audit had provided an unqualified opinion on the 
Council’s financial statements on 26 July 2018.  External Audit was satisfied that the 
Council had in place proper arrangements to ensure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources during the year ended 31 March 2018.  External Audit 
had certified that it had completed the audit of the accounts of South Lakeland District 
Council in accordance with the requirements of the National Audit Office’s Code of Audit 
Practice 26 July 2018. 
 
The Letter drew attention to the fact that work on certification of the Council’s Housing 
Benefit subsidy claim on behalf of the Department for Work and Pensions was not yet 
complete and would be finalised by 30 November 2018.  The results of this work would be 
reported to the Audit Committee within External Audit’s Annual Certification Letter. 
 
RESOLVED – That the contents of the Annual External Audit Letter for the year ended 
31 March 2018 be noted. 
 

AUD/21 INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 2018/19  
 
Peter Harrison, Internal Audit, introduced the Internal Audit Progress Report 2018/19. The 
report provided a summary of the progress against the Internal Audit Annual Plan to date. 
 
Following the Internal Audit Plan’s approval by the Committee in April 2018, four 
assurance reviews had been finalised.  There had been no changes proposed to the 
Annual Plan; although there had been a proposal to audit additional DFG monies, this had 
been cancelled, as the Council had not drawn down any grant.  Mr Harrison confirmed 
that audit reports for Health and Safety – Property Risks; Business Continuity; Use of 
Agency, Interim and Casual Works; and Cyber Security would be completed for 
presentation to the December meeting.  An IT-specific auditor had been identified for 
carrying out the review of Cyber Security, work on which would shortly commence. 
 
The report contained the executive summaries of the four audit reports completed in the 
period: Debtors; Treasury Management; Budgetary Control; and Procurement. These 
reports were also presented by the Internal Audit Manager. 
 
The Review of Debtors had resulted in a reasonable assurance assessment. Four 
important action points had been identified.  In response to a query, Mr Harrison 
confirmed that recommendation 2 was purely with regard to the need for the procedures 
for the write-off of debts under £20,000 to be aligned with the limits stated within the 
Financial Procedure Rules. 
 

Page 7



10 
19.09.2018 Audit Committee 
 

 

The Review of Treasury Management had resulted in a substantial assurance 
assessment, with four routine actions having been identified. 
 
The Review of Budgetary Control had resulted in a reasonable assurance assessment. 
One important action point had been identified regarding the need for Corporate Financial 
Monitoring Reports for quarter one to be submitted to the Management Team, Cabinet 
and Council and for each quarterly report to be amended to disclose projected income 
and projected expenditure separately.  Members highlighted the need for timely 
information for Members and asked for the action point regarding Quarter 1 reporting to 
be reviewed. 
 
The Review of Procurement had resulted in a reasonable assurance assessment, with 
three action points having been identified; one important; one routine; and one 
operational.  In response to a query, the Solicitor to the Council confirmed that she was 
confident that verification of the identity of contracting parties was now taking place. 
 
Internal Audit had also assessed the extent to which previous internal audit 
recommendations had been implemented. The report showed that 17 recommendations 
were yet to be implemented.  Eight were on target and there were nine in progress where 
the original target dates had not been met.  Nine recommendations had been 
implemented and were now considered closed. 
 
Members welcomed the report. 
 
RESOLVED – That the following be noted:- 
 
(1) the progress achieved in 2018/19 in delivering the Audit Plan and the outcomes of 
completed audit reviews, as set out in Appendix 1 to the report;  
 
(2) the attached audit reports, as set out in Appendix 2 to the report; and 
 
(3) the status of outstanding recommendations contained within the follow up report, 
as set out in Appendix 3 to the report. 
 

AUD/22 REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL AUDIT  
 
The Chief Accountant presented a report which provided the Committee with assurance to 
enable it to endorse the view that the Council has an effective system of Internal Audit. 
 
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 included a requirement for the Council to 
conduct a review of the effectiveness of its system of internal control at least once a year. 
The internal audit function was a key element of that internal control. For the purposes of 
the review, the areas of assurance which had been relied upon were as follows:- 
 
• Public Sector Internal Audit Standards; 
• Audit Charter; 
• Head of Internal Audit Opinion – 2017/18; and 
• Performance Indicators. 
 
A CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit 2010 was attached at 
Appendix 1 to the report, together with self-assessment of compliance; all responses 
regarding conformance were positive. 
 

Page 8



11 
19.09.2018 Audit Committee 
 

 

Discussion took place with regard to the External and Internal Audit contracts and a 
suggestion for the need to consider changing contractors in order to ensure appropriate 
professional working relationships.  It was pointed out that the Internal Audit function could 
be delivered by employees of the Council and, therefore, that there was no requirement to 
change contractors, although this could be a procurement consideration.  External Audit 
was arranged by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd on a national framework 
arrangement.  The Internal Audit contract would run to March 2019, with two optional 
extensions to 2021, when a retendering exercise would be carried out.   
 
RESOLVED – That the conclusion that the Council has an effective system of internal 
audit in place that complies with the principles of the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards be endorsed. 
 

AUD/23 OTHER SIGNIFICANT FINANCIAL ISSUES  
 
The Chief Accountant advised that the Assistant Director Resources (Section 151) Officer 
had indicated that she had no further significant financial issues to report. 
 

AUD/24 PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
RESOLVED – That, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 
12 A of the Act as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) 
Order 2006 by virtue of the Paragraph indicated. 
 

AUD/25 CUSTOMER CONNECT PROGRAMME MANAGEMENT 
 
- Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 

person (including the authority holding that information)  
 
Further to AUD/13 (2018/19), the Partnerships and Organisational Development Manager 
who was the Customer Connect Programme Manager explained that an update on the 
management of the Customer Connect Programme and, specifically, the Programme’s 
risks and programme spend against budget, was to be presented to each meeting of the 
Audit Committee. 
 
The Projects and Innovation Officer, acting as Customer Connect Programme Officer, 
displayed a copy of the Customer Connect Programme Workbook and explained how it 
was used to manage the Programme. 
 
The Customer Connect Programme Manager reported on the information contained within 
the risk register.  As risks were managed on a weekly basis by the Programme, a number 
of risks had changed since the report had been produced as mitigations had been fulfilled, 
thus reducing those risks.  She explained that this was why she proposed to bring a live 
version of the risks to each Committee meeting so that Members had the most up to date 
information. 
 
The Programme Manager responded to queries and suggestions raised by Members with 
regard to a number of areas and individual risks.  During discussion and in response to a 
request, the Assistant Director Performance and Innovation undertook to provide a note to 
all Members of the Committee on the meaning of the term “Enterprise Design”. 
 

Page 9



12 
19.09.2018 Audit Committee 
 

 

The Programme Officer explained to Members in detail the Budget sheet of the 
Workbook. 
 
Discussion took place on the Budget sheet.  The Committee commended the level of 
detail on the Budget sheet, however, wished to see alterations to the format of the budget 
sheet for future meetings so that Members could more easily examine a single page 
including budget, actual, variance and reasons for variance, and the Programme Manager 
and Chief Accountant undertook to produce the sheet in a similar format to quarterly 
budget monitoring sheets. 
 
RESOLVED – That the following be noted:- 
 
 (1) the Programme Management Workbook at Appendix 1 to the report, including:- 
 
• summary page; 
• risk heat map; 
• risk log; 
• issue log; 
• dependency log; 
• change log; and 
• product log; and 
 
(2) the monthly Programme Overview of Spend against the approved budget at 
Appendix 2 to the report. 
 
 
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 8.05 p.m. 

Page 10



05/12/2018 AUDIT COMMITTEE 

2018/19 WORK PROGRAMME  

Page 1 of 4 

 

 Lead Officer 25 July  19 Sept   5 Dec  17 April  

Committee Administration  

Committee Terms of Reference Una Bell √    

Set work programme for coming year 
Shelagh 

McGregor 
   √ 

Review progress against work programme  
Shelagh 

McGregor 
√ √ √ √ 

Training – to be arranged as necessary 
outside meetings  

Helen Smith √ As needed As needed As needed  

Chair’s Audit Committee Annual Report 
(Referral to Council) 

Helen 
Smith/Chair 

   √ 

Private Meeting – Internal and External Audit Inge Booth  √   

External Audit 

2017/18 Annual Audit Letter John Farrer  √   

2017/18 Grant Certification Report John Farrer    √ 

2018/19 Opinion Audit Plan John Farrer    √ 

Audit Fee Letter  John Farrer 
√  

(2018/19 Audit) 
  

√ 

 (2019/20 Audit) 

P
age 11

Item
 N

o.5



05/12/2018 AUDIT COMMITTEE 

2018/19 WORK PROGRAMME  

Page 2 of 4 

 Lead Officer 25 July  19 Sept   5 Dec  17 April  

External Auditor Update John Farrer   √ √ 

Internal Audit 

2017/18 Annual Internal Audit Report Peter Harrison √    

2018/19 Internal Audit Plan Progress & 
Individual Internal Audit Reports 
Recommendation Follow Up Report  

Peter Harrison √ √ √ √ 

2019/20 Internal Audit Annual Plan  (including 
review of Internal Audit Charter) 

Peter Harrison    √ 

Review effectiveness of Internal Audit Helen Smith  √   

Accounts 

Approve the 2017/18 Statement of Accounts 

Annual Governance Statement and Action 
Plan 

Sign letter of representation 

Helen Smith √    

2017/18 Statement of Accounts - Receive 
external auditor’s opinion on Accounts (Audit 
Findings Report & Financial Resilience 
Report) 

John Farrer √    

Review Accounting Policies for 2018/19 
Statement of Accounts 

Lee Hurst / 
Helen Smith 

  √   

P
age 12



05/12/2018 AUDIT COMMITTEE 

2018/19 WORK PROGRAMME  

Page 3 of 4 

 Lead Officer 25 July  19 Sept   5 Dec  17 April  

Regulatory Framework 

Review Annual Governance Statement for 
inclusion in the Statement of Accounts Report  

Helen Smith Incorporated into Statement of Accounts 

Contribute to review of Constitution Helen Smith   √  

Annual Review of Anti-Fraud Policy & Activity 
Helen 

Smith/Katie 
Booth 

 √   

Review Whistleblowing Policy Helen Smith  
Bi-annual, due 

Sept 2019 
  

Review of Performance and Risk 
Management Framework 

Simon McVey    √ 

Review of Operational Risks above the line of 
risk tolerance  

Simon McVey 
 

  √ 

Audit Committee Risk Register Helen Smith √  √  

Strategic Risk Register Simon McVey √  √  

Review Local Code of Governance   Helen Smith   √  

Review Audit Committee’s effectiveness Helen Smith   √  

Introduction of General Data Protection 
Regulations and Data Protection Bill 

Paul Mountford   √  

P
age 13



05/12/2018 AUDIT COMMITTEE 

2018/19 WORK PROGRAMME  

Page 4 of 4 

 Lead Officer 25 July  19 Sept   5 Dec  17 April  

 
Financial Issues 
 

Customer Connect Business Case & Updates Simon McVey √ √ √ √ 

Update of significant financial issues not 
covered elsewhere on the agenda 

Shelagh 
McGregor 

As required 

 

P
age 14



Audit Progress Report and Sector Update

South Lakeland District Council

Year ending 31 March 2019

6 November 2018

P
age 15

Item
 N

o.6



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

Contents

Section Page

Introduction 3

Progress at 6 November 2018 4

Audit Deliverables 5

Sector Update 6

Links 15

2

P
age 16



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

This paper provides the Audit Committee with a report on progress in 

delivering our responsibilities as your external auditors. 

The paper also includes:

• a summary of emerging national issues and developments that may be relevant to you as a local authority; and

• includes a number of challenge questions in respect of these emerging issues w hich the Committee may w ish to 

consider (these are a tool to use, if  helpful, rather than formal questions requiring responses for audit purposes)

Members of the Audit Committee can f ind further useful material on our w ebsite, w here w e have a section dedicated 

to our w ork in the public sector. Here you can dow nload copies of our publications w ww.grantthornton.co.uk ..

If you w ould like further information on any items in this briefing, or w ould like to register w ith Grant Thornton to 

receive regular email updates on issues that are of interest to you, please contact either your Engagement Lead or 

Engagement Manager.

Introduction

3

Gareth Kelly

Engagement Lead

T: 0141 223 0891

E: gareth.kelly@uk.gt.com

Jillian Burrows

Engagement Manager

T 0161 214 6302

E jillian.a.burrow s@uk.gt.com

P
age 17

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/
mailto:gareth.kelly@uk.gt.com
mailto:jillian.a.burrows@uk.gt.com


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

Value for Money (VFM)

The scope of our work is set out in the guidance 

issued by the National Audit Office. The Code requires 
auditors to satisfy themselves that; "the Trust has 
made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources".

The guidance confirmed the overall criterion as: "in all 
significant respects, the audited body had proper 

arrangements to ensure it took properly informed 
decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned 
and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local 
people".

The three sub criteria for assessment to be able to 
give a conclusion overall are:

• Informed decision making

• Sustainable resource deployment

• Working with partners and other third parties.

We will begin our initial risk assessment to determine 

our approach in Autumn 2018 and continue our review 
into the New Year.

We will report our VFM work in the Audit Findings 
(ISA260) Report and give our Value For Money 
Conclusion by the deadline in July 2019.

Progress at 1 November 2018

4

Other areas

Certif ication of claims and returns

We are required to certify the Council’s annual Housing 

Benefit Subsidy claim in accordance w ith procedures 

agreed w ith the Department for Work and Pensions. 

This certif ication w ork for the 2018/19 claim w ill be 

concluded by November 2018.

The results of the certif ication w ork are reported to you 

in our certif ication letter.

Events

We provide a range of w orkshops, along w ith netw ork 

events for members and publications to support the 

Council. Our next event is the Final Accounts w orkshop 

w hich is running in Liverpool (31/1/19), Leeds (5/2/19) 

and Preston (12/2/19).  Invitations have been sent to the 

f inance team.

Further details of the publications that may be of interest 

to the Council are set out in our Sector Update section 

of this report.

2018/19 Audit

We have begun our planning processes for the 

2018/19 f inancial year audit. 

Our detailed w ork w ill start this month and w e plan to 

conduct our interim visit in early 2019.  The timings 

w ill be agreed w ith the f inance team. In the meantime 

w e w ill:

• continue to hold regular discussions w ith 

management to inform our risk assessment for 

the 2018/19 financial statements and value for 

money audits;

• review  minutes and papers from key meetings; 

and

• continue to review  relevant sector updates to 

ensure that w e capture any emerging issues and 

consider these as part of audit plans.

P
age 18



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

Audit Deliverables

5

2018/19 Deliverables Planned Date Status

Fee Letter 

Confirming audit fee for 2018/19.

April 2018 Complete

Accounts Audit Plan

We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit plan to the Audit Committee setting out our proposed 

approach in order to give an opinion on the Council’s 2018-19 financial statements.

January 2019 

(Will be presented to Audit 

Committee in April 2019)

Not yet due

Interim Audit Findings

We will report to you the findings from our interim audit and our initial value for money risk assessment within 

our Progress Report.

April 2019 Not yet due

Audit Findings Report

The Audit Findings Report will be reported to the July Audit Committee.

July 2019 Not yet due

Auditors Report

This is the opinion on your financial statement, annual governance statement and value for money conclusion.

July 2019 Not yet due

Annual Audit Letter

This letter communicates the key issues arising from our work.

August 2019 Not yet due

Annual Certification Letter

This letter reports any matters arising from our certification work carried out under the PSAA contract.

December 2019 Not yet due

P
age 19



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

Local government finances are at a tipping point. 

Councils are tackling a continuing drive to 

achieve greater efficiency in the delivery of 

public services, whilst facing the challenges to 

address rising demand, ongoing budget 

pressures and social inequality.

Our sector update provides you with an up to date summary of 
emerging national issues and developments to support you. We 
cover areas which may have an impact on your organisation, the 
wider NHS and the public sector as a whole. Links are provided to 
the detailed report/briefing to allow you to delve further and find 
out more. 

Our public sector team at Grant Thornton also undertake research 
on service and technical issues. We will bring you the latest 
research publications in this update. We also include areas of 
potential interest to start conversations within the organisation and 
with audit committee members, as well as any accounting and 
regulatory updates. 

Sector Update

6

More information can be found on our dedicated public sector and local 
government sections on the Grant Thornton website

• Grant Thornton Publications

• Insights from local  government sector 
specialists

• Reports of interest

• Accounting and regulatory updates

P
age 20



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

CIPFA consultation – Financial Resilience Index

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

(CIPFA) has consulted on its plans to provide an authoritative 

measure of local authority financial resilience via a new 

index. The index, based on publically available information, 

will provide an assessment of the relative financial health of 

each English council.

CIPFA has designed the index to provide reassurance to councils w ho are f inancially stable 

and prompt challenge w here it may be needed. To understand the sector’s view s, CIPFA 

invited all interested parties to respond to questions it has put forw ard in the consultation by 

the 24 August.

The decision to develop an index is driven by CIPFA’s desire to support the local 

government sector as it faces a continued f inancial challenge. The index w ill not be a 

predictive model but a diagnostic tool – designed to identify those councils displaying 

consistent and comparable features that w ill highlight good practice, but crucially, also point 

to areas w hich are associated w ith f inancial failure. The information for each council w ill 

show  their relative position to other councils of the same type. Use of the index w ill support 

councils in identifying areas of w eakness and enable them to take action to reduce the risk of 

f inancial failure. The index w ill also provide a transparent and independent analysis based 

on a sound evidence base.

The proposed approach draw s on CIPFA’s evidence of the factors associated w ith f inancial 

stress, including: 

• running dow n reserves 

• failure to plan and deliver savings in service provision 

• shortening medium-term financial planning horizons. 

• gaps in saving plans 

• departments having unplanned overspends and/or undelivered savings. 

Conversations w ith senior practitioners and sector experts have elicited a number of 

additional potential factors, including: 

• the dependency on external central f inancing 

• the proportion of non-discretionary spending – e.g. social care and capital f inancing - as a 

proportion of total expenditure 

• an adverse (inadequate) judgement by Ofsted on Children’s services 

• changes in accounting policies (including a change by the council of their minimum 

revenue provision) 

• poor returns on investments 

• low  level of confidence in f inancial management. 

The consultation document proposes scoring six key indicators:

1. The level of total reserves excluding schools and public health as a proportion of net 

revenue expenditure. 

2. The percentage change in reserves, excluding schools and public health, over the past 

three years. 

3. The ratio of government grants to net revenue expenditure. 

4. Proportion of net revenue expenditure accounted for by children’s social care, adult 

social care and debt interest payments. 

5. Ofsted overall rating for children’s social care. 

6. Auditor’s VFM judgement. 

7

CIPFA Consultation

Challenge question: 

Has your Head of Finance briefed members on the 

Council’s response to the Financial Resilience Index 

consultation?                                                  

P
age 21



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

MHCLG – Social Housing Green Paper

The Green Paper presents the opportunity to look afresh at the regulatory framew ork (w hich 

w as last review ed nearly eight years ago). Alongside this, MHCLG have published a Call for 

Evidence w hich seeks view s on how  the current regulatory framew ork is operating and w ill 

inform w hat regulatory changes are required to deliver regulation that is f it for purpose.

The Green Paper acknow ledges that to deliver the social homes required, local authorities 

w ill need support to build by:

• allow ing them to borrow

• exploring new  flexibilities over how  to spend Right to Buy receipts

• not requiring them to make a payment in respect of their vacant higher value council 

homes

As a result of concerns raised by residents, MHCLG has decided not to implement at this 

time the provisions in the Housing and Planning Act to make fixed term tenancies mandatory 

for local authority tenants.

The Green Paper is available on the MHCLG’s w ebsite at: 

https://w ww.gov.uk/government/consultations/a-new -deal-for-social-housing

8

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

(MHCLG) published the Social Housing Green Paper, which 

seeks views on government’s new vision for social housing 

providing safe, secure homes that help people get on with 

their lives. 

With 4 million households living in social housing and projections for this to rise annually, it is 

crucial that MHCLG tackle the issues facing both residents and landlords in social housing.

The Green Paper aims to rebalance the relationship betw een residents and landlords, tackle 

stigma and ensure that social housing can be both a stable base that supports people w hen 

they need it and also support social mobility. The paper proposes fundamental reform to 

ensure social homes provide an essential, safe, w ell managed service for all those w ho need 

it.

To shape this Green Paper, residents across the country w ere asked for their view s on 

social housing. Almost 1,000 tenants shared their view s w ith ministers at 14 events across 

the country, and over 7,000 people contributed their opinions, issues and concerns online; 

sharing their thoughts and ideas about social housing,

The Green Paper outlines f ive principles w hich w ill underpin a new , fairer deal for social 

housing residents:

• Tackling stigma and celebrating thriving communities

• Expanding supply and supporting home ow nership

• Effective resolution of complaints

• Empow ering residents and strengthening the regulator

• Ensuring homes are safe and decent

Consultation on the Green Paper is now  underw ay, w hich seeks to provide everyone w ith an 

opportunity to submit view s on proposals for the future of social housing and w ill run until 6 

November 2018.

Social Housing Green Paper 

Consultation

Challenge question: 

What does the Social Housing Green Paper mean for your 

local authority?

P
age 22

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/a-new-deal-for-social-housing


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

MHCLG – Business rate pilots 

The Secretary of State has invited more councils to apply for 

powers to retain the growth in their business rates under the 

new pilots. The pilots will see councils rewarded for 

supporting local firms and local jobs and ensure they benefit 

directly from the proceeds of economic growth.

From April 2019, selected pilot areas will be able to retain 75% of the growth in 
income raised through business rates, incentivising councils to encourage growth in 
business and on the high street in their areas. This will allow money to stay in 
communities and be spent on local priorities - including more funding to support 
frontline services.

This follows the success of previous waves of business rates retention pilots, 
launched in a wide range of areas across country in 2017 and 2018.

The current 50% business rates retention scheme is yielding strong results and in 
2018 to 2019 it is estimated that local authorities will keep around £2.4 billion in 
business rates growth.

Findings from the new round of pilots will help the government understand how local 
authorities can smoothly transition into the proposed system in 2020.

Proposals will need to show how local authorities would ‘pool’ their business rates 
and work collaboratively to promote financial sustainability, growth or a combination 
of these.

Alongside the pilots, the government will continue to work with local authorities, the 
Local Government Association, and others on reform options that give local 
authorities more control over the money they raise and are sustainable in the long 
term.

9

The invitation is addressed to all authorities in England, excluding those with 
ongoing business rates retention pilots in devolution areas and London. Due to 
affordability constraints, it may be necessary to assess applications against 
selection criteria, which will include:

• Proposed pooling arrangements operate across a functional economic area

• Proposal demonstrates how pooled income from growth will be used across the 
pilot area to either boost further growth, promote financial sustainability or a 
combination of these

• Proposal sets out robust governance arrangements for strategic decision-making 
around management of risk and reward and outlines how these support the 
participating authorities’ proposed pooling arrangements

Any proposals will need to show that all participating authorities have agreed to 
become part of the suggested pool and share additional growth as outlined in the 
bid. The Section 151 officer of each authority will need to sign off the proposal 
before submission.

Proposal for new pilots must be received the MHCLG by midnight on Tuesday 25th

September 2018.

P
age 23



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

Institute of Fiscal Studies: Impact of ‘Fair 
Funding Review’

The IFS has published a paper that focuses on the issues 

arising in assessing the spending needs of different councils. 

The government’s ‘Fair Funding Review’ is aimed at 

designing a new system for allocating funding between 

councils. It will update and improve methods for estimating 

councils’ differing abilities to raise revenues and their differing 

spending needs. The government is looking for the new 

system to be simple and transparent, but at the same time 

robust and evidence based.

Accounting for councils’ spending needs

The IFS note that the Review is seeking a less subjective and more transparent 
approach which is focused on the relationship between spending and needs 
indicators. However, like any funding system, there will be limitations, for example, 
any attempt to assess needs will be affected by the MHCLG’s funding policies 
adopted in the year of data used to estimate the spending needs formula.  A key 
consideration will be the inherently subjective nature of ‘spending needs’ and ‘needs 
indicators’, and how this will be dealt with under any new funding approach. Whilst 
no assessment of spending needs can be truly objective, the IFS state it can and 
should be evidence based.

The IFS also note that transparency will be critical, particularly in relation to the 
impact that different choices will have for different councils, such as the year of data 
used and the needs indicators selected. These differentiating factors and their 
consequences will need to be understood and debated.

10

Accounting for councils’ revenues 

The biggest source of locally-raised revenue for councils is and will continue to be 
council tax. However, there is significant variation between councils in the amount 
of council tax raised per person. The IFS identify that a key decision for the Fair 
Funding Review is the extent wo which tax bases or actual revenues should be 
used for determining funding levels going forward.

Councils also raise significant sums of money from levying fees and charges, 
although this varies dramatically across the country. The IFS note that it is difficult 
to take account of these differences in a new funding system as there is no well-
defined measure of revenue raising capacity from sales, fees and charges, unlike 
council tax where the tax base can be used.

The overall system: redistribution, incentives 
and transparency

The IFS also identify that an important policy 
decision for the new system is the extent to which it 
prioritises redistribution between councils, compared 
to financial incentives for councils to improve their 
own socio-economic lot. A system that fully and 
immediately equalises for differences in assessed 
spending needs and revenue-raising capacity will 
help ensure different councils can provide similar 
standards of public services, However, it would 
provide little financial incentive for councils to tackle 
the drivers of spending needs and boost local 
economics and tax bases. 

Further detail on the impact of the fair funding review 
can be found in the full report 
https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/publications/comms/R
148.pdf.

P
age 24

https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/publications/comms/R148.pdf


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

National Audit Office – The health and social care 
interface

The NAO has published its latest ‘think piece on the barriers 

that prevent health and social care services working together 

effectively, examples of joint working in a ‘whole system’ 

sense and the move towards services centred on the needs 

of the individual. The report aims to inform the ongoing 

debate about the future of health and social care in England. 

It anticipates the upcoming green paper on the future funding 

of adult social care, and the planned 2019 Spending Review, 

which will set out the funding needs of both local government 

and the NHS. 

The report discusses 16 challenges to improved joint w orking. It also highlights some of the 

w ork being carried out nationally and locally to overcome these challenges and the progress 

that has been made. The NAO draw  out the risks presented by inherent differences betw een 

the health and social care systems and how  national and local bodies are managing these.

Financial challenges – include f inancial pressures, future funding uncertainties, focus on 

short-term funding issues in the acute sector, the accountability of individual organisations to 

balance the books, and differing eligibility criteria for access to health and social care 

services.  

Culture and structure – include organisational boundaries impacting on service 

management and regulation, poor understanding betw een the NHS and local government of 

their respective decision-making framew orks, complex governance arrangements hindering 

decision-making, problems w ith local leadership holding back improvements or de-stabilising 

joint w orking, a lack of co-terminus geographic areas over w hich health and local 

government services are planned and delivered, problems w ith sharing data across health 

and social care, and diff iculties developing. person-centred care.

Strategic issues – include differences in national influence and status contributing to social 

care not being as w ell represented as the NHS, strategic misalignment of organisations 

across local systems inhibiting joint local planning, and central government’s unrealistic 

expectations of the pace at w hich the required change in w orking practices can progress..

This ‘think piece’ draw s on the NAO’s past w ork and draw s on recent research and review s 

by other organisations, most notably the Care Quality Commission’s review  of health and 

social care systems in 20 local authority areas, w hich it carried out betw een August 2017 

and May 2018. The NAO note  that there is a lot of good w ork being done nationally and 

locally to overcome the barriers to joint w orking, but often this is not happening at the scale 

and pace needed.

The report is available to dow nload from the NAO’s w ebsite at: 

https://w ww.nao.org.uk/report/the-health-and-social-care-interface/

11

The health and social care interface

Challenge question: 

Has the Audit Committee considered the 16 challenges 

to joint w orking and w hat can be done to mitigate these?                                                  

P
age 25

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-health-and-social-care-interface/


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

A Caring Society – bringing together innovative 
thinking, people and practice

The Adult Social Care sector is at a crossroads. We have yet 

to find a sustainable system of care that is truly fit for 

purpose and for people. Our Caring Society programme 

takes a step back and creates a space to think, explore new 

ideas and draw on the most powerful and fresh influences 

we can find, as well as accelerate the innovative social care 

work already taking place.

We are bringing together a community of influencers, academics, investors, private care 

providers, charities and social housing providers and individuals w ho are committed to 

shaping the future of adult social care.

At the heart of the community are adult social care directors and this programme aims to 

provide them w ith space to think about, and design, a care system that meets the needs of 

the 21st Century, taking into account ethics, technology, governance and funding.

We are doing this by:

• hosting a ‘scoping sprint’ to determine the specif ic themes w e should focus on

• running three sprints focused on the themes affecting the future of care provision

• publishing a series of articles draw ing on opinion, innovative best practices and 

research to stimulate fresh thinking.

Our aim is to reach a consensus, that transcends party politics, about w hat future care 

should be for the good of society and for the individual. This w ill be presented to directors 

of adult social care in Spring 2019, to decide how  to take forw ard the resulting 

recommendations and policy changes.

Scoping Sprint 

This took place in October. Follow ing opening remarks by Hilary Cottam (social 

entrepreneur and author of Radical Help) and Cllr Georgia Gould (Leader of Camden 

Council), the subsequent discussion brought many perspectives but there w as a strong 

agreement about the need to do things differently that w ould create and support a caring 

society. Grant Thornton w ill now  take forw ard further discussions around three particular 

themes:

1. Ethics and philosophy: What is meant by care? Should the state love?

2. Care in a place: Where should the pow er lie? How  are local pow er relationships 

different in a local place?

3. Promoting and upscaling effective programmes and innovation

Sprint 1 – What do we really mean by ‘care’?

This w ill take place on 4 December. Julia Unw in, Chair of the Civil Societies Futures 

Project, former CEO of the Joseph Row ntree Association and author on kindness w ill 

provider her insight to spark the debate on w hat w e really mean by ‘care’

Find out more and get involved

• To read the sprint w rite-ups and opinion pieces visit: grantthornton.co.uk/acaringsociety

• Join the conversation at #acaringsociety

12

Challenge question: 

How  is your authority engaging in the debate

about the future of social care?  

P
age 26



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

Care Homes for the Elderly – Where are we now?

It is a pivotal moment for the UK care homes market. In the 

next few months the government is to reveal the contents of 

its much-vaunted plans for the long-term funding of care for 

older people. 

Our latest Grant Thornton report draw s together the most recent and relevant research, 

including our ow n sizeable market know ledge and expertise, to determine w here the sector 

is now  and understand w here it is heading in the future. We have spoken to investors, 

providers and market consultants to show case the diversity and innovation that care homes 

can offer.

Flourishing communities are not a ‘nice to have’ but an essential part of our purpose of 

shaping a vibrant economy. Grow th simply cannot happen sustainably if  business is 

disconnected from society. That is w hy social care needs a positive grow th framing. Far 

from being a burden, the sector employs more people than the NHS, is a crucible for 

technological innovation, and is a vital connector in community life. We need to think about 

social care as an asset and invest and nurture it accordingly. 

There are opportunities to further invest to create innovative solutions that deliver improved 

tailored care packages to meet the needs of our ageing population. 

The report considers a number of aspects in the social care agenda

• market structure, sustainability, quality and evolution

• future funding changes and the political agenda

• the investment, capital and financing landscape

• new  funds and methods of f inance

• future outlook.

The decline in the number of public-sector focused care home beds is a trend that looks 

set to continue in the medium-term. How ever, it cannot continue indefinitely as Grant 

Thornton's research points to a signif icant rise in demand for elderly care beds over the 

coming decade and beyond.

A strategic approach w ill also be needed to recruit and retain the large number of w orkers 

needed to care for the ageing population in the future. Efforts have already begun through 

education programmes such as Skills for Care’s 'Care Ambassadors' to promote social 

care as an attractive profession. But w ith the number of nurses falling across the NHS as 

w ell, the Government w ill need to address the current crisis.

But the most important conversation that needs to be had is w ith the public around w hat 

kind of care services they w ould like to have and, crucially, how  much they w ould be 

prepared to pay for them. Most solutions for sustainable funding for social care point 

tow ards increased taxation, w hich w ill generate signif icant political and public debate. With 

Brexit dominating the political agenda, and the government holding a precarious position in 

Parliament, shorter-term funding interventions by government over the medium-term look 

more likely than a root-and-branch reform of the current system. The sector, how ever, 

needs to know  w hat choices politicians, and society as a w hole, are prepared to make in 

order to plan for the future. 

Copies of our report can be requested on our w ebsite

13

Grant Thornton

Challenge question: 

How  effective is the Council’s engagement w ith the social care 

sector?

P
age 27

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/globalassets/1.-member-firms/united-kingdom/pdf/documents/care-homes-for-the-elderly-where-are-we-now.pdf


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

In good company: Latest trends in local authority 
trading companies

Our recent report looks at trends in LATC’s (Local 

Government Authority Trading Companies).These 

deliver a wide range of services across the country and 

range from wholly owned companies to joint ventures, all 

within the public and private sector. 

Outsourcing versus local authority trading companies

The rise of trading companies is, in part, due to the decline in popularity of 

outsourcing. The majority of outsourced contracts operate successfully, and continue 

to deliver signif icant savings. But recent high profile failures, problems w ith inflexible 

contracts and poor contract management mean that outsourcing has fallen out of 

favour. The days of large scale outsourcing of council services has gone. 

Advantages of local authority trading companies

• Authorities can keep direct control over their providers

• Opportunities for any profits to be returned to the council

• Provides suitable opportunity to change the local authority terms and conditions, 

particularly w ith regard to pensions, can also bring signif icant reductions in the 

cost base of the service

• Having a separate  company allow s the authority to move aw ay from the 

constraints of the councils decision making processes, becoming more agile and 

responsive to changes in demand or funding

• Wider pow ers to trade through the Localism act provide the company w ith the 

opportunity to w in contracts elsew here

Choosing the right company model

The most common company models adopted by councils are:

14

Wholly ow ned companies are common because they allow  local authorities to retain the 

risk and rew ard. And governance is less complicated. Direct labour organisations such 

as Cormac and Oxford Direct Services have both transferred out in this w ay.

JVs have become increasingly popular as a means of leveraging grow th. Pioneered by 

Norse, Corserv and Vertas organisations are developing the model. Alternatively, if  

there is a social motive rather than a profit one, the social enterprise model is the best 

option, as it can enable access to grant funding to drive grow th.

Getting it right through effective governance

While there are pitfalls in establishing these companies, those that have got it right are: 

seizing the advantages of a more commercial mind-set, generating revenue, driving 

efficiencies and improving the quality of services. By developing effective governance 

they can be more f lexible and grow  business w ithout micromanagement from the 

council.

LATC’s need to adapt for the future
• LATC’s must adapt to developments in the external environment

- These include possible changes to the public procurement rules after Brexit and 

new  local authority structures. Also responding to an increasingly crow ded and 

competitive market w here there could me more mergers and insolvencies.

• Authorities need to be open to different w ays of doing things, driving further 

developments of new  trading companies. Relieving pressures on councils to f ind the 

most eff icient w ays of doing more w ith less in todays austere climate.

Overall, joint ventures can be a viable alternative delivery model for local authorities. 

Our research indicates that the numbers of joint ventures w ill continue to rise, and in 

particular w e expect to see others follow  examples of successful public-public 

partnerships.

Wholly 

owned

Joint 

Ventures

Social 

Enterprise

Download the report here

P
age 28

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/the-rise-of-local-authority-trading-companies/


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | November 2018

Grant Thornton w ebsite links

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/industries/publicsector

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/a-caring-society/

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/care-homes-where-are-we-now/

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/the-rise-of-local-authority-trading-companies/

National Audit Office link 

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-health-and-social-care-interface/

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government links

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/social-housing-green-paper-a-new-deal-for-social-housing

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/728722/BRR_Pilots_19-20_Prospectus.pdf

Institute for Fiscal Studies

https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/publications/comms/R148.pdf

15

Links

P
age 29

https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/industries/publicsector
https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/a-caring-society/
https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/care-homes-where-are-we-now/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-adult-social-care-workforce-in-england/
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/social-housing-green-paper-a-new-deal-for-social-housing
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-adult-social-care-workforce-in-england/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-adult-social-care-workforce-in-england/


© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, 
as the context requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL).GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each 
member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not 
obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. This proposal is made by Grant Thornton UK LLP and is in all respects subject to the negotiation, agreement 
and signing of a specific contract/letter of engagement. The client names quoted within this proposal are disclosed on a confidential basis. All information in this proposal is released strictly 
for the purpose of this process and must not be disclosed to any other parties without express consent from Grant Thornton UK LLP. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 30



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

Wednesday, 5 December 2018 

Internal Audit Progress Report 2018/19  
 

 

Portfolio:   Not applicable 

Report from:  Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

Report Author: Peter Harrison – Internal Audit Manager (Director, TIAA Ltd) 

Wards:  Corporate Issue 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome 

1.1 This report provides a summary of the progress against the Internal Audit Annual 
Plan to date in 2018/19. It provides the Committee with assurance through the 
individual internal audit reports for work carried out to date. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 Members of the Audit Committee are asked to note: 

(1) The progress achieved in 2018/19 in delivering the Audit Plan and the 
outcomes of completed audit reviews set out in Appendix 1; 

(2) The attached audit reports at Appendix 2; and 

(3) The progress achieved in implementing recommendations from previous 
internal audit reviews set out in Appendix 3. 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 All local authorities must make proper provision for internal audit in line with the 1972 
Local Government Act. The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that the 
Council undertakes an effective Internal Audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk 
management, internal control and governance processes, taking into account the 
Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards (PSIAS). 

3.2 Internal Audit is responsible for providing independent assurance to the Council’s 
senior management and to the Audit Committee on the systems of governance, risk 
management and internal control. 

3.3 It is management’s responsibility to establish and maintain internal control systems 
and to ensure that resources are properly applied, risks appropriately managed and 
that outcomes are achieved. Management is responsible for the system of internal 
control and should set in place policies and procedures to ensure that controls are 
operating effectively. 

4.0 Progress against the 2018/19 Internal Audit Plan 

4.1   The Internal Audit Plan was approved by the Committee in April 2018.  

Page 31

Item No.7



4.2 The progress report at Appendix 1 provides the Committee with a summary of the 
position as at 20th November 2018. The executive summaries for each completed 
review are included at Appendix 2.   

5.0 Audit reports completed in the period 

5.1 Appendix 2 contains the executive summaries of the one audit report completed in 
the period: 

 Business Continuity. 

6.0 Follow up of internal audit recommendations 

6.1 The latest position relating to the implementation of outstanding recommendations is 
set out in Appendix 3. 

7.0 Alternative Options 

7.1 There are no alternative options; the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require 
that the Council undertakes an effective Internal Audit to evaluate the effectiveness 
of its risk management, internal control and governance processes, taking into 
account the Public Sector Internal Auditing Standards (PSIAS). 

8.0 Links to Council Priorities 

8.1 Internal Audit provides independent assurance on the Council’s arrangements for 
governance, risk management and internal control in support of delivery of the 
Council’s strategic priorities. 

9.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

9.1 There are no direct financial implications to this report.  

Human Resources 

9.2 There are no direct staffing implications arising from this report. 

Legal 

9.3 There are no legal implications arising from this report. 

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

9.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? No      

9.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: this 
report relates to a review of corporate governance and is considered to have no 
Health, Social, Economic and Environmental impacts. 

Equality and Diversity 

9.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No      

9.8 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: this 
report relates to a review of corporate governance and is considered to have no 
Equality and Diversity impacts. 

  

Page 32



Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

The Council does not comply 
with legislative requirements as 
laid out under the Accounts and 
Audit Regulations 2015. 

The Council does not 
receive adequate 
assurance over the 
internal control 
environment.   

Regular progress reporting 
to senior management and 
Audit Committee each 
quarter. 

Contact Officer 

Peter Harrison, Director, TIAA Limited. 

07970 376542 

peter.harrison@tiaa.co.uk 

Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Internal Audit Progress Report 

2 Audit Reports – Executive Summaries 

2a. Business Continuity 

3 Follow Up Report 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

Not applicable Not Applicable 

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent 

Legal Services N/A 

Section 151 Officer 20/11/2018 

Monitoring Officer N/A 

SMT N/A 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Assistant Director 20/11/2018 

Human Resources Manager N/A 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder N/A 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee N/A 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council N/A 

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 34



 

 

 
2018/19 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Appendix 1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

South Lakeland District Council  

 
Internal Audit Progress Report 

November 2018 

 FINAL 

P
age 35



 

 

 Page 2 
 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 

 

1. This summary report provides the Audit Committee with an update on the progress of our work at South Lakeland District Council as at 20
th
 November 2018. 

 

AUDITS COMPLETED SINCE THE LAST REPORT TO COMMITTEE 

2. The table below sets out details of audits finalised since the previous meeting of the Audit Committee.  

  Report history Number of Recommendations 

Review Evaluation Draft issued 
Responses 
Received 

Final issued 1 2 3 OEM 

Business Continuity Substantial 19/10/2018 N/A 20/11/2018 - - - - 

Follow Up N/A 20/11/2018 03/09/2018 03/09/2018 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 

PROGRESS AGAINST THE 2018/19 ANNUAL PLAN  

3. Our progress against the Annual Plan for 2018-19 is set out in Appendix A.  

4. It was the intention that three other reports would be presented to this meeting of the Committee: 

 Use of Agency, Interim and Casual Workers – The report for this review was issued on 19
th
 November 2018 which did not provide sufficient time to turn the 

report around. The main reasons for delay were the absence of a key member of the Council’s staff and departmental workload in the HR function.    

 Health & Safety – Property Risks – It was intended that this report would be issued in October 2018, however, further clarification has been required in 

some areas.    

 Cyber Security – The fieldwork for this audit had been completed, however, due to the workload associated with Customer Connect, the exit meeting for 

the review only took place after the paper deadline for this Committee. 

 These reports will now be presented to the April 2019 Committee. 
 

P
age 36



 

 

 Page 3 
 

CHANGES TO THE ANNUAL PLAN 2018/19    

 

5. There are no changes proposed to the Annual Plan at this time; however, the proposed audit of additional DFG monies has been cancelled as the council did not 

draw down any grant and therefore there was no requirement to have this area audited.  
 

FRAUDS/IRREGULARITIES  

6. We have not been advised of any frauds or irregularities that require the involvement of internal audit in the period since the last summary report was issued. 

PROGRESS ACTIONING PRIORITY 1 RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

7. We have made no Priority 1 recommendations (i.e. fundamental control issues on which action should be taken immediately) since the previous Internal Audit 

Progress Report.    

 

RESPONSIBILITY/DISCLAIMER 

 

8. This report has been prepared solely for management's use and must not be recited or referred to in whole or in part to third parties without our prior written 

consent. The matters raised in this report not necessarily a comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist or all the improvements that might be made. 

No responsibility to any third party is accepted as the report has not been prepared, and is not intended, for any other purpose. TIAA neither owes nor accepts any 

duty of care to any other party who may receive this report and specifically disclaims any liability for loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature, which is 

caused by their reliance on our report. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 37



 

 

 Page 4 
 

Appendix A 
 

Progress against the Annual Plan for 2018/19 

       

System Days Current Status Comments Audit Committee 

Debtors 10 Completed  September 2018 

Treasury Management 10 Completed  September 2018 

Budgetary Control 10 Completed  September 2018 

Procurement 15 Completed  September 2018 

Business Continuity 10 Completed  December 2018 

Use of Agency, Interim and Casual Workers 15 Fieldwork completed Draft report issued 19/11/2018 April 2019 

Health & Safety – Property Risks 15 Fieldwork completed Draft report issued  April 2019 

Cyber Security 8 Fieldwork completed Exit meeting w/c 19/11/2018 April 2019 

Customer Connect 10 Commenced 19/11/2018  April 2019 

Homelessness 15 Commencing 09/01/2019  April 2019 

Information Governance 15 Commencing 21/01/2019  April 2019 

Housing Benefit 20 Commencing 11/02/2019  April 2019 

Follow-up 12 On-going   

 

   KEY: 

 = To be commenced 

 = Site work commenced 

 = Draft report issued 

 = Final report issued 

 

P
age 38



 2018/19 

 

 

 

 

 Appendix 2a 

 South Lakeland District Council 

 Assurance Review of Business Continuity 

 November 2018 

 FINAL 

  

 

P
age 39



   

 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Business Continuity  
Page 1 

 

Executive Summary 
 

OVERALL ASSURANCE ASSESSMENT  OVERALL CONCLUSION 

 

 
The Council has robust Business Continuity arrangements in place to 

prevent or minimise the time that the public are separated from critical 

services. 

Statutory requirements under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 are being 

followed in this regard. 

Training plans and testing of Business Continuity arrangements were 

seen to be in compliance with those stated in the Council's Emergency 

Response Plan. 

Responses to recent incidents have proven successful, with essential 

services having been maintained throughout. 
 

   

SCOPE  ACTION POINTS 

The review considered the Council’s Business Continuity arrangements aimed at 

ensuring continuity of service following a business disruption incident. This review 

followed on from the review of ICT Disaster Recovery carried out in 2017/18. 

 

Urgent Important Routine Operational 

0 0 0 0 

 

P
age 40



   

 

            
      PRIORITY GRADINGS      

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken. 

      South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Business Continuity  

Page 2 

 

Management Action Plan - Priority 1, 2 and 3 Recommendations 
 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

No recommendations. 

 

P
age 41



   

 

   

ADVISORY NOTE 

Operational Effectiveness Matters need to be considered as part of management review of procedures. 

South Lakeland District Council 
Assurance Review of Business Continuity  

Page 3 

 

Operational Effectiveness Matters 
 

Ref Risk Area Item Management 

Comments 

No Operational Effectiveness Matters were identified. 

 

P
age 42



   

 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Business Continuity  
Page 4 

 

Detailed Findings 
 

Introduction 

1. This review was carried out in October 2018 as part of the planned internal audit work for 2018/19. Based on the work carried out an overall assessment of the 

overall adequacy of the arrangements to mitigate the key control risk areas is provided in the Executive Summary. 

Background 

2. Business continuity arrangements are standardised internationally by ISO 22301, issued in 2012 and replacing British Standard BS 25999. Related legal 

requirements are established in the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, which defines District Councils as Category 1 responders. 

Materiality 

3. The Council provides many services that are critical to the health and welfare of the public. It is, therefore, imperative that a proper business continuity plan is in 

place to prevent or minimise the time that the public are separated from such services. 

Key Findings & Action Points 

4. The key control and operational practice findings that need to be addressed in order to strengthen the control environment are set out in the Management and 

Operational Effectiveness Action Plans. Recommendations for improvements should be assessed for their full impact before they are implemented. 

Scope and Limitations of the Review 

5. The review considered the Council’s Business Continuity arrangements aimed at ensuring continuity of service following a business disruption incident. This review 

followed on from the review of ICT Disaster Recovery carried out in 2017/18. 

6. The definition of the type of review, the limitations and the responsibilities of management in regard to this review are set out in the Annual Plan. 

Disclaimer 

7. The matters raised in this report are only those that came to the attention of the auditor during the course of the internal audit review and are not necessarily a 

comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist or all the improvements that might be made. This report has been prepared solely for management's use 

and must not be recited or referred to in whole or in part to third parties without our prior written consent. No responsibility to any third party is accepted as the 

report has not been prepared, and is not intended, for any other purpose. TIAA neither owes nor accepts any duty of care to any other party who may receive this 

report and specifically disclaims any liability for loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature, which is caused by their reliance on our report. 

  

P
age 43



   

 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Business Continuity  
Page 5 

 

Risk Area Assurance Assessments 

8. The definitions of the assurance assessments are: 

Substantial Assurance There is a robust system of internal controls operating effectively to ensure that risks are managed and process objectives achieved. 

Reasonable Assurance 
The system of internal controls is generally adequate and operating effectively but some improvements are required to ensure that risks are 

managed and process objectives achieved.  

Limited Assurance 
The system of internal controls is generally inadequate or not operating effectively and significant improvements are required to ensure that risks are 

managed and process objectives achieved.  

No Assurance There is a fundamental breakdown or absence of core internal controls requiring immediate action. 

Audit Contacts 

9. For any queries or to discuss the content of this report, please contact either of the following: 

Lead Auditor: Ian Goodwin  

Ian.Goodwin@tiaa.co.uk 

07867 526292 

 

Head of Internal Audit: Peter Harrison 

peter.harrison@tiaa.co.uk 

07970 376542 

 

Audit Report Distribution 

10. We would like to thank staff for their co-operation and assistance during the course of our work. 

For Action: Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager 

For Information: Shelagh McGregor, Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

 

P
age 44

mailto:Ian.Goodwin@tiaa.co.uk
mailto:peter.harrison@tiaa.co.uk


   

 

   
South Lakeland District Council 

Assurance Review of Business Continuity  
Page 6 

 

Release of Report 

11. The table below sets out the history of this report. 

Date draft report issued: 19
th

 October 2018  

Date management responses received: 26
th

 October 2018  

Date final report issued: 20
th

 November 2018  

 

 

P
age 45



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 46



 

 

 
2018/19 

 

 

Appendix 3 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

South Lakeland District Council  

 
Follow Up Review 

November 2018 

 FINAL 

P
age 47



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 1 

 

Executive Summary  

 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This follow up review by TIAA established the management action that has been taken in respect of recommendations arising from the internal audit reviews listed 

below at South Lakeland District Council. The review was carried out in November 2018. 
 

Review Year 

Follow Up September 2018 2017/18 

Budgetary Control 2018/19 

Debtors 2018/19 

Procurement 2018/19 

Treasury Management 2018/19 

KEY FINDINGS 

2. The follow up review considered whether the management action taken addresses the control issues that gave rise to the recommendations. The implementation 

of these recommendations can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against misstatement or loss. From the work carried out the following 

evaluations of the progress of the management actions taken to date have been identified. 

 

Evaluation Progress in implementing recommendation Number of Recommendations 

Outstanding The recommendation has not yet been implemented but is still on target to meet its target date. 9 

Outstanding Implementation is in progress but the original target date has not been met. 7 

Outstanding There is no tangible evidence that the recommendation is being progressed. - 

Completed The recommendation has been implemented and is now considered closed. 11 

P
age 48



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 2 

 

 

3. This review identifies that implementation remains by and large on track; although there has been some slippage, recommendations continue to be implemented. 

SCOPE AND LIMITATIONS OF THE REVIEW 

4. The review considers the progress made in implementing the recommendations made in the previous internal audit reports and to establish the extent to which 

management has taken the necessary actions to address the control issues that gave rise to the internal audit recommendations. 

5. The responsibility for a sound system of internal controls rests with management and work performed by internal audit should not be relied upon to identify all 

strengths and weaknesses that may exist. Neither should internal audit work be relied upon to identify all circumstances of fraud or irregularity, should there be 

any, although the audit procedures have been designed so that any material irregularity has a reasonable probability of discovery. Even sound systems of internal 

control may not be proof against collusive fraud. 

6. For the purposes of this review reliance was placed on management to provide internal audit with full access to staff and to accounting records and transactions 

and to ensure the authenticity of these documents. 

RELEASE OF REPORT 

7. The table below sets out the history of this report. 
 

Date report issued: 20
th

 November 2018 

 

 

P
age 49



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 3 

 

Detailed Report  

 

FOLLOW UP 

8. Management representations were obtained on the action taken to address the recommendations and limited testing has been carried out to confirm these 

management representations. The following matters were identified in considering the recommendations that have not been fully implemented: 

THE FOLLOWING RECOMMENDATIONS REMAIN OUTSTANDING 

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Management Response Responsible 

Officers 

Due 

Date 

Revised  Due 

Date 

Status Last 

Update 

Latest Response 

1. Bereavement 

Services 

Management should assure 

themselves that efficiencies 

relating to future service 

planning opportunities have 

been fully explored and 

actions identified and 

progressed as appropriate. 

2 Fees and charges for this 

service area are reviewed 

annually. Emerging best 

practice and service 

enhancements are 

considered including 

alternative burial options in 

light of customer need and 

appropriate legislation at the 

time. These will additionally 

be considered in the drafting 

of the Parks and Open 

Spaces Strategy.  

Community and 

Leisure 

Manager/ 

Principal 

Community 

Spaces Officer / 

Bereavement 

Services Officer 

Assistant 

Director – 

Neighbourhood 

Services 

31/12/2016 31/05/2019 Outstanding 09/11/2018 The Principal Community 

Spaces Officer stated 

that the draft Strategy will 

go to the 20th December 

2018 Corporate 

Management Team 

meeting and that the 

revised due date is still 

on target to be met. 

2. Bereavement 

Services 

Management should ensure 

that adequate arrangements 

are in place to review and 

assess the Services future 

planning arrangements.  

This could include ensuring 

provision can be maintained, 

identifying ways of improving 

the service and possible cost 

reductions for the Council. 

1 This will form part of the 

Parks and Open Spaces 

Strategy that is to be 

produced by a consultant. 

Principal 

Community 

Spaces Officer 

Assistant 

Director – 

Neighbourhood 

Services 

31/12/2016 31/05/2019 Outstanding 09/11/2018 The Principal Community 

Spaces Officer stated 

that the draft Strategy will 

go to the 20th December 

2018 Corporate 

Management Team 

meeting and that the 

revised due date is still 

on target to be met. 

P
age 50



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 4 

 

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Management Response Responsible 

Officers 

Due 

Date 

Revised  Due 

Date 

Status Last 

Update 

Latest Response 

3. Development 

Control 

The Administration and 

Technical team be trained to 

input relevant details onto 

Exacom. 

2 This is part of the CIL 

enforcement function and it 

is considered that the CIL 

Officer should have 

oversight. Alternatively, in 

the interim, as part of 

scanning and indexing 

process which the Technical 

Team complete, the 

Commencement Notice will 

be directed through the 

electronic workflow on 

Information@Work to the 

CIL Officer’s in-tray. The 

long-term solution is for this 

to form part of the new digital 

system. 

Development 

Management 

Group Manager 

30/06/2018 30/11/2018 Outstanding 09/11/2018 This has not yet been 

implemented but is 

expected to be so by the 

due date. 

4. Insurance A periodic reconciliation be 

performed between the 

system operated by Fleet 

and the claims system 

maintained by the Insurance 

Team to help ensure that all 

motor insurance work is 

properly claimed. 

2 We will work with Fleet to 

carry out reconciliations and 

will monitor the effectiveness 

of these. 

Financial 

Services Officer 

30/01/2018 31/12/2018 Outstanding 09/11/2018 The Fleet Management 

System has only recently 

started being fully 

implemented. The 

Financial Services 

Manager stated that 

reconciliations are still 

anticipated to begin by 

the end of the calendar 

year. 

P
age 51



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 5 

 

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Management Response Responsible 

Officers 

Due 

Date 

Revised  Due 

Date 

Status Last 

Update 

Latest Response 

5. Licensing – 

Premises & 

Clubs 

The Statement of Licensing 

Policy be amended to reflect 

the current application 

routes. 

2 The policy is set by statutory 

guidance from the home 

office, underpinning this 

there is an EU service 

provision directive requiring 

on line applications and 

payments.  The current IT 

suppliers do not provide this 

capability and we have 

already recognised this as a 

significant weakness in the 

current system and is one of 

the main IT requirements in 

the new IT solution.  This is a 

key finding of the gap 

analysis. Due to the work 

involved and the cost we 

propose action is deferred 

until the new IT product is 

delivered. 

Public 

Protection 

Manager 

Principal Food, 

Licensing and 

Safety Officer 

31/12/2018 31/12/2019 Outstanding 09/11/2018 The due date for 

implementation of this 

recommendation has not 

yet been reached. 

The new system is yet to 

be developed in line with 

the Customer Connect 

programme. 

The authority is in a 

process of change and is 

implementing a digital 

platform. Once this has 

been implemented the 

policy will be updated 

accordingly. This was 

reconfirmed with the 

Licensing Assistant. 

6. Compliance 

with the Local 

Code of 

Corporate 

Governance 

The mapping of the 

Guidance behaviours and 

actions that demonstrate 

good governance in practice 

be mapped only to sub-

principles in the Local Code 

that pertain to the same 

principle to which the 

behaviour and action relate. 

2 The mapping and the LCoG 

will be reviewed and updated 

to ensure it meets the 

framework and guidance. 

Financial 

Services 

Manager 

Audit 

Committee 

19/04/2018 

Council 

22/05/2018 

31/12/2018 Outstanding 09/11/2018 The Financial Services 

Manager stated that 

implementation is still 

anticipated by the end of 

the calendar year. 

P
age 52



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 6 

 

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Management Response Responsible 

Officers 

Due 

Date 

Revised  Due 

Date 

Status Last 

Update 

Latest Response 

7. Lake Services 

– Moorings 

and 

Encroachment

s 

Proper procedures be 

developed that evidence 

ownership of key areas of 

the service provision. 

2 An overall procedure that 

details responsibilities for the 

complete process of lake 

encroachment 

documentation and 

ownership is in development. 

Debt collection is via the 

Council’s agreed procedures 

and policies. Debt rose 

sharply during 2011/12 when 

changes to the method of 

calculation were made and 

this led to an over capacity of 

work for the Legal and 

Finance teams. The current 

debt recovery position is very 

encouraging and the position 

more secure following a 

large amount of work by the 

Legal Team.  Challenges are 

most commonly seen during 

works to develop sites and 

as a result of ownership 

changes. These relate to 

updated and revised plans 

and dimensions. 

Anthea Lowe, 

Solicitor to the 

Council. 

Helen Smith, 

Financial 

Services 

Manager. 

Sion Thomas 

Asset and 

Property 

Jim Maguire 

Community and 

Leisure 

Manager 

31/10/2018   31/12/2018 Outstanding 09/11/2018 The Solicitor to the 

Council stated that work 

is ongoing and it is 

expected to be 

implemented by the 

revised due date. 

P
age 53



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 7 

 

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Management Response Responsible 

Officers 

Due 

Date 

Revised  Due 

Date 

Status Last 

Update 

Latest Response 

8. Lake Services 

– Moorings 

and 

Encroachment

s 

Invoiced amounts for 

encroachments be properly 

determined using accurate 

encroachment dimensions. 

Agreements be updated 

accordingly and invoices 

raised at correct rates, be 

they residential or 

commercial. This proper 

determination of invoiced 

amounts be effected more 

economically via a phased 

approach, on a case by case 

basis, rather than a full lake 

survey. 

2 The current Asset Database 

used by the Council and LSH 

is in the process of being 

updated. It is anticipated that 

this work will be completed 

by 31st December 2018.  

Budgets are in place to 

complete this work. 

Also note that updated plans 

and dimensions are 

established whenever works 

to sites are approved and on 

completion, when the legal 

ownership transfers between 

parties and during the 

resolution of any dispute 

process.  This has been the 

case since the registration of 

the title occurred in 2006. 

Sion Thomas 

Asset and 

Property 

Manager with 

Lambert Smith 

Hampton.   

31/12/2018  Outstanding 09/11/2018 The due date for 

implementation of this 

recommendation has not 

yet been reached. 

The Asset and Property 

Manager indicated that 

progress is ongoing and 

has reconfirmed that it is 

expected to be 

implemented by the due 

date. 

9. Lake Services 

– Moorings 

and 

Encroachment

s 

A sample of amounts to be 

invoiced, as received from 

Lambert Smith Hampton, be 

challenged on a timely basis, 

and a record of such 

challenges be retained, such 

that reasonable assurance 

can be provided that 

amounts invoiced are in 

agreement with the verifiable 

data. 

2 Sample checks will be 

introduced – the majority of 

invoices are sent annually at 

the start of the financial year 

so it makes sense to 

introduce the sample 

checking then. 

Helen Smith, 

Financial 

Services 

Manager 

01/4/2019  Outstanding 09/11/2018 The due date for 

implementation of this 

recommendation has not 

yet been reached. 

It will be implemented by 

the due date. 

P
age 54



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 8 

 

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Management Response Responsible 

Officers 

Due 

Date 

Revised  Due 

Date 

Status Last 

Update 

Latest Response 

10. Awarding of 

Grants 

An overall review of the 

provision of financial aid be 

conducted that adequately 

addresses the risks relating 

to State Aid. 

2 A review of Community 

Grants is currently being 

carried out by the 

Performance and 

Organisational Development 

Team.  This review will 

include risks around State 

Aid.  Other grants not 

covered by this review 

(excluding Disabled Facilities 

Grants) will be reviewed 

separately to ensure the 

risks are addressed 

consistently. This is to be 

completed in time to include 

all new grants relating to 

2019/20 financial year 

onwards. 

Assistant 

Director 

(Resources) 

31/12/2018 31/03/2019 Outstanding 09/11/2018 The Solicitor to the 

Council indicated that 

discussions are ongoing, 

including with Members, 

but that the original due 

date will not be met. 

11. Awarding of 

Grants 

An overarching policy on the 

provision of financial aid be 

approved which addresses 

any potential provision of 

State Aid. 

2 Following completion of the 

review recommended at 

point 10 above, an 

overarching policy can be 

prepared which will set out 

the broad principles to be 

taken into account when 

entering into grant 

arrangements with an 

economic activity. This will 

be completed within 3 

months of completion of 

recommendation 10. 

Solicitor to the 

Council 

31/03/2019 30/06/2019 Outstanding 09/11/2018 The due date for 

implementation of this 

recommendation has not 

yet been reached. 

The Solicitor to the 

Council stated that work 

on this will commence 

once the review of grant 

funding has been 

completed. Due to the 

slippage in the review, 

however, the original due 

date for this 

recommendation will also 

necessarily be delayed. 

P
age 55



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 9 

 

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Management Response Responsible 

Officers 

Due 

Date 

Revised  Due 

Date 

Status Last 

Update 

Latest Response 

12. Awarding of 

Grants 

Training be delivered to 

relevant Officers such that 

State Aid rules and related 

risks be sufficiently 

understood and that 

concerns be reported to a 

central Council Officer or 

team. 

2 It is considered that training 

should be offered to 

Members as well as officers 

given the potential 

implications of providing 

unlawful State Aid.  Given 

the complexities surrounding 

State Aid, steps have been 

taken to seek an external 

training provider. 

Solicitor to the 

Council 

31/12/2018 31/03/2019 Outstanding 09/11/2018 The due date for 

implementation of this 

recommendation has not 

yet been reached. 

The Solicitor to the 

Council stated that 

slippage in this 

recommendation is as a 

result of slippage in the 

other two Awarding of 

Grants 

recommendations. 

13. Debtors Procedures be amended to 

highlight the importance of 

the existing mitigating 

controls that address the risk 

that a separation of duties 

does not exist between the 

person raising and the 

person authorising a sales 

invoice and the risk that 

authorisation levels for sales 

invoices are not defined. 

2 There are an increasing 

proportion of invoices raised 

through interfaces from other 

systems, particularly for 

rents from the Technology 

Forge system which would 

complicate the approval 

process.   

The Customer Connect 

programme includes a full 

review of all processes.  This 

recommendation will be 

considered as part of that 

review. 

Chief 

Accountant 

31/03/2019 

as part of 

phase 1 of 

Customer 

Connect 

(support 

services) 

 Outstanding 09/11/2018 The Financial Services 

Manager stated that this 

is still on course to meet 

the target date. 

14. Procurement Revisions to the Council's 

Sustainable Procurement 

and Commissioning Strategy 

be considered in line with 

The National Procurement 

Strategy for Local 

Government in England 

2018. 

3 The National Procurement 

Strategy will be one of a 

number of national and local 

issues which will be 

considered as part of the 

next refresh of the 

Sustainable Procurement 

and Commissioning 

Strategy. 

Financial 

Services 

Manager 

31/01/19  Outstanding 09/11/2018 The Financial Services 

Manager stated that this 

is still on course to meet 

the target date. 

P
age 56



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 10 

 

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Management Response Responsible 

Officers 

Due 

Date 

Revised  Due 

Date 

Status Last 

Update 

Latest Response 

15. Treasury 

Management 

The four clauses listed in 

Section 5 of the CIPFA 

Treasury Management in the 

Public Services: Code of 

Practice be formally and 

explicitly adopted by the 

Council, as recommended 

by the Code. 

3 Agree to change as part of 

review of Treasury 

Management Practices and 

2019/20 Treasury 

Management Framework. 

Financial 

Services Officer 

– Treasury 

28/02/19  Outstanding 09/11/2018 The Financial Services 

Manager stated that this 

is still on course to meet 

the target date. 

16. Treasury 

Management 

The 12 Treasury 

Management Practices in 

place be updated to comply 

with the latest version of the 

CIPFA Treasury 

Management in the Public 

Services: Code of Practice. 

3 Review of Treasury 

Management Practices 

(TMP) to be undertaken this 

autumn. 

Financial 

Services Officer 

– Treasury 

31/10/18 31/12/2018 Outstanding 09/11/2018 The Financial Services 

Manager stated that this 

will be updated 

implemented at the 

December Audit 

Committee meeting. 

  

P
age 57



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 11 

 

THE FOLLOWING RECOMMENDATIONS HAVE BEEN IMPLEMENTED  

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Responsible 

Officer 

Due 

Date 

Revised  

Due Date 

Status Last Update Latest Response 

17. General IT 

Controls 

All system users should be 

requested to complete a 

declaration to confirm their receipt, 

understanding of and compliance 

to the IT Acceptable Use Policy. 

These declarations should be 

retained. Consideration may also 

be given to the automation of this 

declaration through the network log 

on process. 

2 IT Services 

Manager 

Assistant Director- 

Performance and 

Innovation 

30/09/2016 31/12/2018 Completed 09/11/2018 The e-learning package was 

evidenced on the Learning 

Management System, which the 

Principal Performance & 

Intelligence Officer indicated is 

included within the GDPR module. 

18. Data Assurance An information asset inventory 

detailing the types of confidential, 

personal and sensitive data held, 

both electronic and otherwise, be 

compiled and a central data 

sharing register be maintained 

recording the occasions when 

personal data is shared with third 

parties, including the reason and 

method of data transfer and nature 

of the data sharing agreement. 

2 Principal 

Performance & 

Intelligence 

Officer 

Assistant Director- 

Performance and 

Innovation 

30/09/2017 31/10/2018 Completed 09/11/2018 The Principal Performance & 

Intelligence Officer displayed the 

Information Asset Register that 

has been published on SharePoint 

for access by all staff. 

19. Data Assurance A Secure Data Transmission Policy 

be formulated and implemented. 

2 Principal 

Performance & 

Intelligence 

Officer 

Assistant Director- 

Performance and 

Innovation 

31/05/2017 31/10/2018 Completed 09/11/2018 The Principal Performance & 

Intelligence Officer displayed the 

Secure Data Transmission 

Protocol that has been published 

on SharePoint for access by all 

staff. 

20. Disaster 

Recovery 

Recovery time objectives be 

specified more precisely and 

consistently in the Strategic 

Business Continuity Plan, 

Departmental Business Continuity 

plans and in the ICT DR plan. The 

2 Shared IT 

Manager 

Principal 

Performance & 

Intelligence 

30/04/2018 16/08/2018 Completed 09/11/2018 Evidenced during the Business 

Continuity audit. 

P
age 58



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 12 

 

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Responsible 

Officer 

Due 

Date 

Revised  

Due Date 

Status Last Update Latest Response 

feasibility of achieving the required 

recovery timescales be 

demonstrated by ICT DR planned 

testing. 

Officer. 

21. Budgetary control Financial Procedure Rules be 

complied with, in that Corporate 

Financial Monitoring reports for 

quarter one be submitted to the 

Management Team, Cabinet and 

Council and each quarterly report 

be amended to disclose projected 

income and projected expenditure 

separately, rather than netting 

these off to show only out-turn 

projection. 

2 Financial Services 

Manager 

31/12/2018  Completed 09/11/2018 The Financial Services Manager 

stated that Q1 reports will be 

presented in future. However, each 

quarterly report will not be 

amended to disclose projected 

income and projected expenditure 

separately, rather than netting 

these off to show only out-turn 

projection. 

22. Debtors Documented procedures be 

enhanced to show the date and 

owner name when prepared, 

similarly for any subsequent 

review, together with the date of 

the next review. 

2 Financial Services 

Officer (Systems) 

30/09/2018  Completed 09/11/2018 Updated procedures evidenced on 

SharePoint 

23. Debtors Procedures for the write-off of 

debts under £20,000 be aligned 

with the limits stated in the 

Financial Procedure Rules. 

2 Financial Services 

Officer (Systems) 

Already done  Completed 09/11/2018 Updated procedures evidenced on 

a revised flowchart 

24. Debtors The Internal Memorandum 

template used to request sundry 

debt write-offs be amended to 

reflect the correct delegated 

authority limit of £20,000 and the 

correct paragraph number of 28.1 

of the current version of the 

Constitution. This template be 

reviewed periodically. 

2 Financial Services 

Officer (Systems) 

Already 

amended: it 

should be 

noted that 

there have 

been no write-

offs of sundry 

debts for more 

than £5,000 

since this limit 

 Completed 09/11/2018 Revised template evidenced 

P
age 59



 

 

 
South Lakeland District Council 

Follow Up Review  
Page 13 

 

No. Audit Title Recommendation Priority Responsible 

Officer 

Due 

Date 

Revised  

Due Date 

Status Last Update Latest Response 

was raised. 

This will be 

checked in 

future when 

updates to the 

constitution 

are published. 

25. Procurement Documented evidence be retained 

of the due diligence steps 

performed by the Council during a 

procurement, in particular relating 

to verifying the identity of the 

contracting party, checking the 

validity of any pertinent 

documentation received and that 

such documentation is current. All 

details relevant to a procurement 

project be held within that project's 

document pack. 

2 Financial Services 

Manager 

Implemented  Completed 09/11/2018 Discussed in detail with the 

Financial Services Manager 

26. Treasury 

Management 

The Treasury Management Policy 

Statement and Framework and the 

Treasury Management Strategy 

Statement be updated on the 

Council's website to reflect current 

information. These then be 

reviewed and updated periodically. 

3 Financial Services 

Officer – Treasury 

Implemented  Completed 09/11/2018 Website Update evidenced 

28 Treasury 

Management 

Existing Report Writing Guidance 

available on SharePoint be 

followed, specifically relating to 

Guidance on Areas to Review, to 

help eliminate errors within reports 

to committee. 

3 Financial Services 

Manager 

Implemented  Completed 09/11/2018 Reviewed the new system 

(ModGov) with the Financial 

Services Manager, where 

guidance is available. 

 

 

--------------- 

P
age 60



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

Wednesday, 5 December 2018 

Accounting Policies 2018/19 

 

Portfolio:   Finance Portfolio Holder 

Report from:  Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

Report Author: Lee Hurst – Chief Accountant 

Wards:  (All Wards); 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome 

1.1 This report presents the proposed accounting policies to be adopted for the 2018/19 
financial year and to be used in the preparation of the Statement of Accounts for the 
financial year ending 31st March 2019. These are prepared in line with CIPFA’s Code 
of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the UK 2018/19 (the Code). Adopting the 
proposed policies will support timely production of a high quality set of annual 
accounts. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee approves the accounting policies at 
Appendix 1 for the 2018/19 financial year to be used in the preparation of the 
Statement of Accounts for the financial year ending 31st March 2019. 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 As part of its statement of accounts, the Council needs to disclose the accounting 
policies it has applied to all material balances and transactions. There is little 
discretion to the Council as the proper accounting practices, that all local authorities 
follow, are set down in the Code.  

3.2 There have been substantial changes to the 2018/19 CIPFA Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting which came into effect for financial years beginning 1st 
April 2018. These changes are in the areas of Revenue recognition and Financial 
Instruments due to the adoption, by the Code, of International Financial Reporting 
Standard (IFRS) 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers and IFRS 9 - 
Financial Instruments. The adoption of these new IFRS in the 2018/19 Code does 
constitute a change in accounting policy which would normally require restatement of 
the previous year’s accounts, but the Code contains provisions for transitional 
arrangements which only require adjustments to 1st April 2018 opening balances 
rather than full prior-year restatement. The guidance around these transitional 
provisions is currently being reviewed and any significant financial reporting or 
presentational issues will be reported to a future Audit Committee.  

3.3 As a result of the adoption of IFRS 15 and 9 in the 2018/19 Code the Council’s own 
Accounting Policies for 2018/19, presented at Appendix 1, have been updated to 

Page 61

Item No.8



ensure they remain in line with the 2018/19 Code requirements. The changes are as 
follows:   

1. The Going Concern assumption under Accounting Policy 1. has been 
updated to clarify that the going concern principle is still relevant in the case 
of local government re-organisation.  

2. Accounting Policy 3. ‘Accruals of Income and Expenditure’ has been retitled 
‘Revenue and Expenditure Recognition’ and rewritten to reflect the 
requirements of IFRS 15.  

3. Accounting Policy 7, ‘Cost of Support Services’ has been amended to reflect 
the requirements of the 2018/19 Code which prohibits recharging of support 
services between reporting segments in the financial statements.  

4. Accounting Policies 25. ‘Financial Assets’ and 26. ‘Financial Liabilities’ have 
been substantially rewritten to reflect the requirements of IFRS 9.  

Any departure in our Accounting Policies from the provisions of the Code would have 
to be reported along with an explanation of the reasons for the departure, but as a 
result of these outlined changes, the proposed Accounting Policies presented at 
Appendix 1 do not depart from the provisions of the 2018/19 Code. 

3.4 At the time of writing this report the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government had just published the results of a consultation on a statutory override 
for Local Government in relation to accounting for IFRS 9. This means that some 
charges to the accounts as a result of adopting IFRS 9 should be statutorily reversed. 
Because of this consultation outcome, CIPFA has delayed publication of the CIPFA’s 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the UK 2018/19 Guidance Notes 
for Practitioners. Therefore our current accounting policy is based on the original 
legislation and draft guidance. Once published, should the new legislation and 
guidance require any change to our accounting policies, a further report will be 
brought to a future Audit Committee. 

3.5 It is good practice to consider and adopt the accounting policies in advance of the 
production and approval of the draft accounts. By statute, preparation of draft 
accounts has come forward to 31 May following the relevant year end, for financial 
years 2017/18 onwards. At the same time, the audited statements need to be 
published by 31 July following the relevant financial year end: the Council 
successfully prepared the 2017/18 accounts to the new timetable. 

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 All local Authorities are consulted as part of CIPFA’s preparation of the Code. 

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 No alternative options are proposed, the Council has no circumstances that would 
justify a material departure from the Code. 

6.0 Links to Council Priorities 

6.1 Robust and efficient reporting of financial performance and position supports all 
Council priorities. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 The policies in Appendix 1 underpin the Council’s reporting on its financial 
performance and position. There is little discretion to depart from the policies set 
down by the Code. 

Page 62



Human Resources 

7.2 There are no human resources implications of this report. 

Legal 

7.3 The Code constitutes ‘proper accounting practices’ to be followed by a local authority 
under the terms of section 21 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? No 

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: The 
accounting policies presented are in line with statutory guidance; there are no direct 
HSEE implications. 

7.6 Summary of health, social, economic and environmental impacts: N/A 

Equality and Diversity 

7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No 

7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: The 
accounting policies presented are in line with statutory guidance; there are no direct 
equality and diversity implications. 

7.9 Summary of equality and diversity impacts: N/A 

Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

The Council reports its 
financial performance and 
position on the basis of 
accounting policies that 
materially depart from the 
Code. 

Material errors are 
included in the draft 
statements or the 
accounts may be 
qualified. 

Officers review the 
Code annually and 
Committee adopt the 
updated Polices. 

Contact Officers 

Lee Hurst, Chief Accountant, 01539 793599, lee.hurst@southlakeland.gov.uk 

 

Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Accounting Policies 2018/19 

 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

2017/18 Statement of Accounts https://tinyurl.com/yapdgozh  

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent 

Legal Services 16/11/2018 

Section 151 Officer 16/11/2018 

Monitoring Officer 16/11/2018 

Page 63

mailto:lee.hurst@southlakeland.gov.uk
https://tinyurl.com/yapdgozh


Signed off by Date sent 

SMT N/A 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Assistant Director 16/11/2018 

Human Resources Manager N/A 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder 16/11/2018 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee 05/12/2018 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council N/A 

 

 

Page 64



 

Appendix 1 
 
The purpose of this appendix is to set out the accounting policies to be used for 
preparation of the 2018/19 statement of accounts. 

 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The purpose of this section is to explain the basis for the recognition, measurement and 
disclosure of transactions and other events in the accounts of South Lakeland District 
Council. Where individual transactions and other events are not covered by these 
policies they are accounted for in accordance with the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice identified below. 
 
The accounting policies are the main principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices 
that specify how these transactions and other events are reflected in the financial 
statements of the Council.   
 
The accounts follow the appropriate accounting standards as required by the CIPFA 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19 
(The Code of Practice). The Code constitutes a “proper accounting practice” under the 
terms of Section 21 (2) of the Local Government Act 2003.  The Code is based on 
approved international accounting standards, except where these conflict with specific 
accounting or legislative requirements, so that the Council’s accounts present a true and 
fair view of the financial position and transactions of the authority.  
 
The basic accounting convention adopted is historic cost, modified by the revaluation of 
certain categories of tangible non-current assets and financial assets. 
 
The Accounting Policies that follow are presented in an order that, as far as possible, 
corresponds with the layout of the main statements. A full index of Policies follows. 
 
 
GENERAL PRINCIPLES 
Policy 1  Fundamental Accounting Concepts 
Policy 2  Estimation and Prior Year Errors 
Policy 3  Revenue and Expenditure Recognition 
Policy 4  VAT 
 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 
Policy 5 Revenue Grants and Contributions  
Policy 6 Employee Benefits 
Policy 7 Costs of Support Services 
Policy 8 External Interest 
Policy 9 Charges to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure  
  Statement for the Use of Non-current Assets 
Policy 10 Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute 
Policy 11 Local Taxation and BIDs 
 
BALANCE SHEET 
Policy 12 Fair Value Measurement 
Policy 13  Definition of Capital Expenditure 

Page 65



 

Policy 14  Property, Plant and Equipment 
Policy 15 Heritage Assets 
Policy 16 Investment Properties 
Policy 17 Intangible Assets 
Policy 18 Non-Current Asset Disposal 
Policy 19  Leases 
Policy 20 Bad Debts 
Policy 21 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Policy 22 Capital Grants and Contributions 
Policy 23 Provisions 
Policy 24 Reserves 
Policy 25 Financial Assets 
Policy 26 Financial Liabilities 
Policy 27 Post Balance Sheet Events 
 
OTHER 
Policy 28 Contingent Liabilities 
Policy 29 Contingent Assets 

 

 
1. FUNDAMENTAL ACCOUNTING CONCEPTS 
 
a) Underlying Assumptions 
 
Accruals 
The financial statements, other than the cash flow information, are prepared on an 
accruals basis.  This means that expenditure and income are recognised in the accounts 
in the period in which they are incurred or earned, not as money is paid or received.  
 
Going Concern 
The financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Council will 
continue in operation for the foreseeable future. Transfers of services under 
combinations of public sector bodies (such as local government reorganisation) do not 
negate the presumption of going concern. 
 
b) Qualitative Characteristics of Financial Information 
 
Understandability 
These accounts are based on accounting concepts, treatments and terminology, which 
require reasonable knowledge of accounting and local government.  However, all 
reasonable efforts have been made to use plain language and where technical terms are 
unavoidable they have been explained as they occur. 
 
Relevance 
The accounts have been prepared with the objective of providing information about the 
Council’s financial performance and position that is useful to the reader in assessing the 
stewardship of public funds and for making future economic decisions. 
 
Materiality 
The Code permits the concept of materiality to be used in the preparation of the accounts. 
Omissions or mis-statements of items are material if they could, individually or 

Page 66



 

collectively, influence the decisions or assessments of users made on the basis of the 
financial statements. Materiality depends on the nature or size of the omission or mis-
statement judged in the surrounding circumstances. The nature or size of the item, or a 
combination of both, could be the determining factor.  

 
Faithful Representation 
The financial information is complete, neutral and free from error in that it: 

 has been prepared so as to reflect the reality or substance of the transaction and 
activities underlying them, rather than their formal legal character; 

 represents faithfully the transactions and events it purports to or could reasonably 
be expected to represent; 

 is free from deliberate or systemic bias; 

 is free from material error; 

 is complete within the bounds of materiality and cost. 
 
Comparability 
The financial statements have been prepared to allow comparison of the Council’s 
financial position over time. The Council reports financial performance in segments 
consistent with the internal management structure. 
 
Verifiable 
Information used to prepare the accounts can be verified. Where estimates have been 
used, the relevant assumptions underlying the estimation technique will be disclosed. 
 
Timely 
The statutory timeframe for preparation of the accounts will be adhered to. 
 
Primacy of Legislative Requirements 
Local Authorities derive their powers from statute and their financial and accounting 
framework is closely controlled by primary and secondary legislation.  It is a fundamental 
principle of local authority accounting that, where specific legislative requirements and 
accounting principles conflict, legislative requirements as shown in Appendix B to the 
Code shall apply. To satisfy the twin demands of accounting regulations and legislation, 
Local Authority accounts include a reconciling statement to disclose how legislation has 
had an impact on the general fund and other reserves (the Movement in Reserves 
Statement and supporting note). 
 
2. ESTIMATION AND PRIOR YEAR ERRORS 
 
In order to prepare the annual accounts by the specified deadline, it has been necessary 
to use estimation methods in relation to some transactions and events. The Council has 
applied the same methods this year as in previous years. 
 
The estimation techniques that have been used are, in the Council’s view, appropriate 
and consistently applied.  Should the effect of a change to an estimation technique be 
material, a description of the change and, if practicable, the effect on the results for the 
current period and future years would be separately disclosed. 
 
Where errors have occurred in relation to previous years’ recognition, measurement, 
presentation, or disclosure of elements of financial statements, they are corrected 
retrospectively where material and disclosed in the notes to the statements. 

Page 67



 

 
3. REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE RECOGNITION 
 
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance 
obligations are satisfied by transferring promised services to the customer, and is 
measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation. 
Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in 
the following year, that income is deferred. 
 
The main sources of revenue for the Council are 

 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Authority transfers the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership to the purchaser and it is probable that 
economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the 
Authority. 

 Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Authority can 
measure reliably the percentage of completion of the transaction and it is probable 
that economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow 
to the Authority. 

 Revenue from Council Tax and Business Rates is measured at the full amount 
receivable (net of impairment losses) as they are non-contractual, non-exchange 
transactions. Revenue from non-exchange transactions shall be recognised when it 
is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the 
transaction will flow to the authority, and the amount of the revenue can be 
measured reliably. 

 Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for 
respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate for 
the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by 
the contract. 

 
Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material 
conditions of sale have been met, and is measured as the sums due under the sale 
contract. 
 
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles. Significant terms 
include 30 days for most services provided and 21 days for statutory licences.  
 
In relation to expenditure 

 Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a 
gap between the date supplies are received and their consumption, and the value is 
material, they are carried as inventories on the Balance Sheet. 

 Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by 
employees) are recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than 
when payments are made.  

 
Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received 
or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet. 
Where debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge 
made to revenue for the income that might not be collected. 
 
  

Page 68



 

4. VALUE ADDED TAX (VAT) 
 
Value Added Tax is included within the accounts only to the extent that it is irrecoverable 
and therefore charged to revenue or capital expenditure as appropriate. VAT receivable 
is excluded from income. 
 
5. REVENUE GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS 
 
Government grants and contributions are accounted for on an accruals basis. Specific 
revenue grants and contributions are matched with the service expenditure to which they 
relate in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement unless there are 
conditions that have not been met. In such cases the income is credited to Receipts in 
Advance until the conditions are met. Once conditions are met the grant is transferred to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Where there are no conditions outstanding, but expenditure has not been incurred, the 
grant is transferred to an earmarked reserve until the expenditure is incurred. It is then 
transferred to the General Fund Balance through the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Grants to cover general expenditure e.g. Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and Rural 
Services Delivery Grant are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement within the Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income line.  
 
Repayments of Grants and Contributions are shown as a revision of an accounting 
estimate, and are set-off against the previous entries in the accounts. 
 
6. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
During Employment 
Short-term benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end. They 
include salaries, paid annual leave, sick leave and non-monetary benefits for current 
employees. They are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which 
employees render service to the Council.  
 
An accrual is made at the end of each year for the cost of holiday entitlement and flexi-
time balances not taken at the year-end. The accrual is based on the salary rates for the 
year in which it will be taken. The accrual is charged to the cost of services, but then 
reversed out in the Movement in Reserves Statement, so that benefits are charged to 
revenue in the year in which the holiday or flexi-time is taken. 
 
Termination Benefits 
These are benefits payable as a result of a decision taken by the Council to terminate an 
employee’s employment before the normal retirement date, or as a result of an 
employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy. They are charged on an accruals 
basis to the relevant service in the period when the Council can no longer withdraw the 
offer of benefits made to the employee or when the criteria for recognising a provision to 
cover such costs are met, whichever is the earliest.  
 
Where termination benefits involve pension enhancements, statutory provisions require 
the amount charged to the General Fund to be the amount paid in the year and not that 
calculated in accordance with relevant accounting standards. The Movement in Reserves 

Page 69



 

Statement therefore shows entries in and out of the Pensions Reserve to bring the 
treatment into line with the accruals requirements of Accounting Standards. 
 
Retirement Benefits 
The Council has adopted the accounting requirements under IAS19 – Retirement 
Benefits, as required by the Code. Employees of the Council are members of Cumbria 
County Pension Fund, part of the Local Government Pension Scheme. The Local 
Government Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme: 

 The liabilities of the Cumbria Local Government Pension Scheme attributable to 
the Council are included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the 
projected unit method – i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be 
made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on 
assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc, and projections 
of estimated earnings for current employees 

 Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate and 
type of bond provided by the Actuary  

 The assets of the Cumbria Local Government Pension Scheme attributable to the 
Council are included in the Balance Sheet at their fair value: 

- quoted securities at current bid price 
- unquoted securities by professional estimate 
- unitised securities at current bid price 
- property at market value 

 
 
The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components: 
 
Component Detail Accounting Treatment 
Current service cost Increase in the present value of the 

defined benefit obligation resulting 
from employee service in the 
current period including interest on 
the current service cost. 

Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 
Statement for appropriate 
service 

Past service cost / 
gains 

Change in the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation for 
service in prior periods resulting 
from a plan amendment or 
curtailment and any gain or loss on 
settlement. 

Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 
Statement, Other 
Comprehensive Income  and 
Expenditure 

Net interest on the net 
defined benefit 
liability(asset) 

Change during the period in the net 
defined liability (asset) that arises 
from the passage of time. 

Financing and Investment 
Income and  Expenditure 
in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement 

Other contributions to 
the Pension Fund 
including Gains/losses 
on 
settlements and 
curtailments 

Result of actions to relieve Council 
of liabilities or events that reduce 
expected future service or accrual 
of benefits of employees 

Debited to Net Cost of 
Services in Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure 
Statement, 
Other Comprehensive Income  
and Expenditure 

Re-measurements  
(return on plan assets, 
actuarial gains and 
losses) 

Return on Plan assets not included 
in net interest. Changes in net 
pensions liability arising because 
events have not coincided with 
assumptions made at last actuarial 
valuation or changes to actuaries’ 

Accounted for in the Pensions 
Reserve and as part of Other 
Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure. 

Page 70



 
assumptions split between 
demographic and financial 
assumptions 

Contributions paid to 
the Cumbria Local 
Government Pension 
Scheme 

Cash paid as employer’s 
contributions to the pension fund. 

Not accounted for as an 
expense in Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure 
Statement but charged against 
General Fund through 
Movement in Reserves 

Other administration 
costs 

Other costs of scheme 
administration 

Debited to other operating 
expenditure 

 

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance 
to be charged with the amount payable by the Council to the pension fund in the year, not 
the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement 
in Reserves Statement this means that there are appropriations to and from the Pensions 
Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits, and replace 
them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and any amounts payable to the 
fund but unpaid at the year-end. 
 
Any prepayments into the pension fund will be treated as a reduction to the pension 
liability. 
 
Discretionary Benefits 
The Council also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement 
benefits in the event of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of 
an award to any member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make the 
award, and accounted for using the same policies as are applied to the Local 
Government Pension Scheme. 
 
Residual Arrangements 
The Greater Manchester and West Yorkshire Pension Funds charge the Council for the 
full pensions of a small number of pensioners of local authorities that were replaced by 
South Lakeland District Council in the 1974 Local Government Re-organisation. 
 
7. COSTS OF SUPPORT SERVICES 
 
The costs of overheads and support services are charged to service segments in 
accordance with the authority’s arrangements for accountability and financial 
performance. 
  

8. EXTERNAL INTEREST 
 
Interest payments on external borrowings (Public Works Loans Board and other bodies) 
are fully accrued in order that each year bears the costs of interest related to its actual 
external borrowing.  External interest income is credited to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement over the period to which it relates. 
 
9. CHARGES TO THE COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE   
STATEMENT FOR THE USE OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
 

Page 71



 

Service revenue accounts, support services and trading accounts are debited or credited 
with the following amounts to record the real cost of holding non-current assets during 
the year: 

 Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service 

 Impairment losses attributable to the clear consumption of economic benefits on 
tangible non-current assets used by the service and other losses where there are 
no accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which they can be 
written-off 

 Amortisation of intangible non-current assets attributable to the service. 
 
The Council is not required to raise Council Tax to cover depreciation, impairment losses 
or amortisations.  However, it is required to make an annual Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) to contribute towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement (equal to 
an amount calculated on a prudent basis determined by the Authority in accordance with 
statutory guidance). Depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are therefore 
replaced by MRP in the Movements in Reserves Statement, by way of an adjusting 
transaction with the Capital Adjustment Account for the difference between the two. 
 
10. REVENUE EXPENDITURE FUNDED FROM CAPITAL UNDER STATUTE 
 

Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions, 
but does not result in the creation of non-current assets owned by the Council 
(REFCUS), has been charged as expenditure to the relevant service revenue account in 
the year. Examples include disabled facilities grants on private houses.   

 
Where the Council has determined to meet the cost of this expenditure from capital 
resources, a transfer to the Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts 
charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement through the 
Movement in Reserves Statement, so there is no impact on the level of the Council Tax.  
 
11. LOCAL TAXATION AND BIDs 
 
The Council is a billing authority for the district, collecting Council Tax and Business 
Rates on behalf of itself, the County Council (including fire service), Cumbria Police and 
Crime Commissioner and central government. Under statute these transactions are 
managed through the ‘Collection Fund’. In line with agency accounting, the Council only 
recognises its own share of income and expenditure and the Collection Fund balance 
sheet. 
 
Statute sets out the income and expenditure to be charged against the General Fund in 
the year; this will equal the approved Council Tax precept and budgeted level of retained 
business rates, including shares of prior year surpluses or deficits. The income 
recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is on an accrued 
basis and so includes the Council’s share of any in year surplus or deficit. Any difference 
to the statutory amounts will be reversed out to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account, 
through the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
The Council also collects the ‘BID levy’ from ratepayers within the Kendal and Ulverston 
Business Improvement Districts. This is on an agency basis and so these amounts are 
excluded from the Council’s income and expenditure. 
  

Page 72



 

12. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 
 
Where asset and liability values on the balance sheet reflect their current value, these will 
be measured at Fair Value unless a different measurement basis is specified in the 
Code. This is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to 
transfer a liability, in an orderly transaction, between market participants, at the 
measurement date.  
 
This definition will also be applied if disclosures about Fair Values are required for assets 
and liabilities measured on a basis other than fair value. 
 
13. DEFINITION OF CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
 
All expenditure on the acquisition, construction, replacement or restoration of a tangible 
non-current asset has been capitalised and classified as property, plant, equipment, 
heritage asset or investment property, where it is probable that future economic benefits 
or service potential associated with the item will flow to the Council and where the cost 
can be measured reliably. 
 
This will also include subsequent expenditure except where this only maintains the 
asset’s potential to deliver the level of service anticipated when the asset was acquired. 
In this case, the expenditure will be treated as revenue and will be charged to the service 
account. 
 
Where a component of an asset is replaced or restored the amount in the accounts 
relating to the old component is de-recognised. Major overhaul or replacement 
expenditure can also be capitalised if it relates to a non-current asset that has previously 
been depreciated. 
 
A non-current asset is initially recognised at its cost, which is its purchase price plus any 
costs directly attributable to bringing it into working condition for its intended use.  Directly 
attributable costs are the labour costs of own employees (e.g. site workers, in-house 
architects and surveyors) arising directly from the construction or acquisition of the 
specific asset, the incremental costs to the Council that would have been avoided only if 
the particular non-current asset had not been constructed or acquired. 
 
Costs will be ineligible to the extent that they relate to activity that takes place before the 
intention to acquire or construct a particular non-current asset has been confirmed.  
Examples include project appraisals and feasibility studies. 
 
The Council has adopted an aggregate de-minimis level of £10,000 for expenditure on 
capital schemes; if expenditure in a single financial year is less than £10,000 it will still be 
capitalised if this is part of an ongoing scheme which in total is £10,000 or more. 
Expenditure on schemes below this level is charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement in the year it is incurred. 
 
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT   
 
Recognition and Valuation 
After initial recognition in the accounts at cost, non-current assets are valued on the basis 
required by International Standards and recommended by CIPFA and the Royal Institute 
of Chartered Surveyors (RICS).  

Page 73



 

 
Operational Land and buildings have been valued by the Council’s external valuers at 
Current Value on the basis of market related evidence where available. Depreciated 
Replacement Cost (DRC) has been used on specialist assets where there is no active 
market. The basis of the valuation, including that for vehicles, equipment and plant, is the 
net realisable value in existing use.  Depreciated historic cost has been used as a proxy 
for Current Value for vehicles, plant and equipment.  
 
Infrastructure assets and assets under construction are held at depreciated historic cost; 
community assets are held at historic cost. 
 
Revaluations 
Revaluations of non-current assets are being carried out as part of a rolling programme 
over a four-year cycle. However, in addition material changes to asset valuations will be 
adjusted in the interim period as they occur, for example where there is enhancement 
expenditure in the year or as a result of an impairment review. Although a rolling 
programme is used, the Council’s valuers will consider the carrying amounts of all land 
and building assets at the balance sheet date for the potential of material misstatement. 
Revaluations of non-current assets also take place when an asset is classified as Held 
for Sale. 
 
Any gains on revaluation will be credited to the Revaluation Reserve, unless it reverses a 
previous loss on the same asset that was charged to service expenditure. In that event 
the equivalent gain will be credited back to where the charge was made in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 
Losses on valuation will be debited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, unless it can be set against any previous gains in Revaluation Reserve for 
that asset. 
 
Impairment 
All categories of non-current assets or material individual assets are reviewed each year 
for evidence of reductions in value. 
 
Where there is a material reduction in recoverable amount, the loss is reflected through 
an impairment charge to the service accounts, unless there is a revaluation surplus in the 
revaluation reserve for that asset, in which case it will be set off against that surplus.   
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided for on all non-current assets with a finite useful life with the 
exception of Investment Properties, some Heritage Assets, Assets Under Construction 
and Assets Held for Sale.  Where depreciation is provided for, assets are generally 
depreciated using the “straight line” method on the opening balance. Details of the 
relevant periods are shown in the Property, Plant and Equipment note to the accounts. 
The depreciation periods are reviewed each year. 
 
In exceptional circumstances, where an event occurs in year that creates a material 
difference between the opening and closing valuation of an asset, a different approach 
may be used to provide a fair estimate of the value of using the asset in the year. This 
would base the depreciation charge on a value judged to best represent the year in 
question overall. This will only be done where it has a material impact on the depreciation 
charge and the details will be made explicit within the notes to the accounts. 

Page 74



 

 
Revaluation gains are also depreciated. An amount equal to the difference between 
current value depreciation and that which would have been charged on a historical cost 
basis, is transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment 
Account. 
 
Derecognition 
Property, Plant and Equipment is derecognised on disposal or when it has no future 
economic benefit or social benefit. 
 
The gain or loss from derecognition is the net of its disposal proceeds, if any, and its 
carrying amount and is included in the Other Operating Expenditure in the Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provision of Services. 
 
Where part of an asset is being replaced or restored, the carrying amount of the existing 
part is derecognised and replaced with the recognised amount for the new part. Where 
the carrying amount of the existing part is difficult to identify, estimates based on the cost 
of the new part are used to establish the amount. 
 
15. HERITAGE ASSETS 
 
Heritage Assets are those that are: 

 held and maintained principally for their contribution to knowledge and culture 
and/or  

 preserved in trust for future generations because of their cultural, environmental or 
historical associations  

 
They include both tangible and intangible assets. Where the values of these items are 
individually and/or collectively immaterial they are included in the Balance Sheet at a 
nominal value, and reference is made to them in the notes to the Accounting Statements. 
 
With the exception of the relaxations shown below, Heritage Assets are recognised and 
measured in accordance with the policies on Property, Plant and Equipment or Donated 
Assets. 
 
Land and Buildings 
Where valuation methods cannot be applied due to the nature of the asset, for example 
Kendal Castle, a nil value has been used. No impairment or depreciation is therefore 
applicable in these cases. 
 
Collections 
The disparate collections held in various locations within the Council are reported in the 
Balance Sheet at valuation. This is estimated using the annual insurance value. When 
acquisitions are made they are initially recognised at cost, whereas donations will be 
recognised at valuation by reference to market information.  
 
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
 
Assets held and managed purely for rental income or capital appreciation are held as 
Investment Properties, and their annual revenue income and expenditure are reflected in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement within Financing and Investment 

Page 75



 

Income and Expenditure. They are not subject to depreciation but are re-valued annually 
at Fair Value according to market conditions at the year-end. 
 
 
17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 
Expenditure on assets that do not have physical substance, but are identifiable and 
controlled by the Council (e.g. software licences), is capitalised when it will bring benefits 
to the Council for more than one financial year. The asset is normally held at historical 
cost, less any accumulated amortisation (depreciation) and impairment loss, unless there 
is an active market in which case fair value will apply.  
 
The amortisation (depreciation) cost is charged to the relevant service account over the 
economic life to reflect the pattern of consumption of benefits. Where an intangible asset 
has an indefinite life no amortisation (depreciation) is applied. In line with tangible assets, 
the values of intangible assets (if in use) are reviewed periodically, and impairment, 

disposal and useful life policies are also applied and reviewed.  

 
18. NON-CURRENT ASSET DISPOSAL 
 
Held for Sale 
Assets held for sale must be available for and in a physical condition appropriate for 
immediate sale, all approvals received or granted and expected to be sold within one 
year. In most cases this will be when the Council approves its sale and marketing.  
 
When an asset is classified as for sale, it is immediately revalued in its pre-
reclassification asset class. It is then reclassified and shown on the Balance Sheet at the 
lower of this amount and fair value less costs to sell. When the asset is sold any gain or 
loss is shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Gains are only 
recognised up to the value of any losses previously posted to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement.  
 
Receipts 
Receipts from disposals are credited to Other Operating Expenditure in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on 
disposal. Amounts in excess of £10,000 are accounted for as Capital Receipts. 
 
The balance of receipts, after taking account of costs of disposal, is credited to a Capital 
Receipts Reserve and can only be used for new capital investment or set aside to reduce 
the Council’s underlying need to borrow (the Capital Financing Requirement). Gains or 
losses on disposals are not a charge against Council Tax as amounts are provided for 
under separate capital financing arrangements. Amounts are appropriated from the 
General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. 

 
19. LEASES 
 
General 
The Council enters into leases both from and to external organisations/individuals. The 
nature of the lease can be either operational or finance with the determining factor being 

Page 76



 

the amount of risks and rewards that pass with the lease. The Council currently has no 
Finance leases. 
 
Operating Leases 
Rentals payable are charged directly to Service costs in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. This generally means 
they are charged when they become payable. 
 
Rents received are credited to Service costs in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as they are due. 
 
20. BAD DEBTS 
 
The Council continually reviews its debts as part of its monitoring process taking account 
of past recovery rates and any relevant advice from external bodies. Provision is made 
for impairment of debts, which for most services is calculated as 25% of all debts 
between 6 months and one year old, 50% of all debts between 1 and 2 years old and 
100% of all debts over two years old.   
 
Separate amounts are calculated for Council Tax, NNDR, Housing Rents and Benefits. 
These reflect increasing levels of provision dependent on the stage of recovery, with 
anything over two years being fully provided for.  
 
21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents include: 

 petty cash 

 amounts held in instant access accounts 

 the consolidated payments and income accounts with the Council’s main bankers 
 
22. CAPITAL GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS  
 
Capital grants and contributions received for the purposes of financing capital 
expenditure are credited to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and Expenditure in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on an accruals basis, unless 
there are conditions that have not been met. In this case, the income is credited to 
Capital Grants Receipts in Advance until the conditions are met. It is then transferred to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 
When there are no conditions outstanding and the related expenditure to be financed 
from that grant has been incurred, the grant is transferred to the Capital Adjustment 
Account and reported through the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Where there are no conditions outstanding but the related expenditure has not been 
incurred the grant is transferred to Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve and reported in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. When the expenditure is incurred the grant is 
transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account with appropriate reporting in the Movement 
in Reserves Statement. 
 
Repayments of Grants and Contributions are shown as a revision of an accounting 
estimate and set off against the previous entries in the accounts. Repayment is regarded 
as capital expenditure and transfers are made between the Comprehensive Income and 

Page 77



 

Expenditure Statement and the Capital Adjustment Account with the transfer being 
reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
23. PROVISIONS 
 
The Council makes general provisions for significant liabilities or losses, which are likely 
or certain to be incurred but are uncertain as to the amounts or dates on which they will 
arise. For example the Council may be involved in a court case that could eventually 
result in the requirement to make a settlement or pay compensation. 
 
Provisions are charged to the appropriate service in the year that the Council becomes 
aware of the obligation, based on the best estimate of the amount that might be paid. 
When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision set up in the 
Balance Sheet. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each financial year and where it is 
apparent that it is no longer needed or the amount needs to be changed, then amounts 
are either credited back to revenue or additional sums charged to revenue to increase 
the provision. 
 

Details of each provision are included in Notes to the Accounting Statements. 
 
24. RESERVES 
 
The Council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes, 
contingencies and cash flow management.  Reserves are created by appropriating 
amounts out of the General Fund in the Movement in Reserves Statement. When 
expenditure is incurred it is charged to the service revenue account in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is appropriated back 
into the General Fund in the Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no net 
charge against council tax for the expenditure. A list of reserves for specific purposes, 
and an explanation of their use, is included in the notes to the Accounting Statements.  
 
Capital Reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets 
and retirement benefits. These are not available for use by the Council for revenue 
purposes, and some can only be used for specific statutory purposes. These reserves 
are explained in the relevant notes to the Accounting Statements. 
 
25. FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 
Financial assets are recognised when the Council becomes party to the contractual 
provision of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods 
or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual 
rights have expired or when the asset has been transferred and the Council has 
transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership or has not retained 
control of the asset. 
 
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus or minus directly attributable 
transaction costs for financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss. Fair 
value is taken as the transaction price, or otherwise determined by reference to quoted 
market prices, where possible, or by valuation techniques.  
 
Financial assets are classified into the following categories: 

 financial assets at amortised cost,  

Page 78



 

 financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, and  

 financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.  
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of 
the financial assets, as set out in The Code, and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition. 
 
Financial Assets at Amortised Cost  
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and 
where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most 
trade receivables, loans receivable, and other simple debt instruments.  
 
After initial recognition, these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.  
 
For most of the loans that the Council has made, this means that the amount included in 
the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable, and interest credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount receivable for the year 
in the loan agreement. 
 
The Council has made loans to voluntary organisations and other bodies at less than 
market rates (soft loans). When soft loans are made, a loss is recorded in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for the present value of the interest 
that will be foregone over the life of the instrument, resulting in a lower amortised cost 
than the outstanding principal. Interest is credited at a marginally higher effective rate of 
interest than the rate receivable from the voluntary organisations, with the difference 
serving to increase the amortised cost of the loan in the Balance Sheet. Statutory 
provisions require that the impact of soft loans on the General Fund Balance is the 
interest receivable for the financial year – the reconciliation of amounts debited and 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the net gain 
required against the General Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the 
Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income  
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are those 
held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments of 
principal and interest.  
 

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss  
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are those that are not 
otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. 
This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of 
selling in the short term.  
 
Legislation requires that any changes in the fair value of financial assets charged to the 
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Service is to be reversed out to through the 
Movement in Reserves Statement to the Unusable Reserves.  
 

Page 79



 

Impairment  
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (except equity instruments designated at fair value through other 
comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the Council recognises a 
loss allowance representing expected credit losses on the financial instrument.  
The Code requires that local authorities shall not recognise a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses on a financial asset where the counterparty for a financial asset is central 
government or a local authority for which relevant statutory provisions prevent default. 
 
The Council adopts the simplified approach to impairment, in accordance with the Code, 
and measures the loss allowance for trade receivables, contract assets and lease 
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For other financial 
assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit 
losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, and otherwise at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses. 
 

For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition, expected 
credit losses at the reporting date are measured as the difference between the net 
present value of all the contractual cash flows that are due to the Council in accordance 
with the contract for the instrument and the net present value of all the cash flows that the 
Council expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Any 
adjustment is recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Service as an 
impairment gain or loss.  
 

26. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  
 

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Council becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or 
services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has 
been extinguished – that is, the obligation has been discharged or cancelled or has 
expired.  
 
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and carried at their amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the amortised 
cost of the financial liability. Annual charges to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement for interest payable are based on the carrying amount (balance 
carried forward) of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the 
instrument. For most of the borrowings that the Council has, this means that the amount 
included in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable, and interest 
charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount 
payable for the year in the loan agreement. Accounting for debt re-structuring or early 
settlement will be in accordance with the Code and relevant statute. 
 
27. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 
 
Events after the Balance Sheet date which relate to conditions that existed at the balance 
sheet date, are adjusted in the Accounts and disclosures. For events occurring after the 
Balance Sheet date relating to conditions that arose after that date, adjustments are not 
made in the Accounts but details are disclosed in a note. Events taking place after the 
date of authorisation are not reflected in the Statement of Accounts. 
 

Page 80



 

 
 
 
 
 
28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
Where there is a possible obligation to make a payment, but the amount and timing is not 
certain, no entry is required to be made in the accounts.  However, for each class of 
contingent liability which the Council has the following commentary has been included in 
the notes to the Accounting Statements: 

 the nature of the contingency 

 a brief description 

 an estimate of the financial effect (where appropriate)  

 an indication of the issues relating to the amount and level of certainty of any 
payment  

 
29. CONTINGENT ASSETS 
 
Contingent assets occur where a possible asset arises from past events and whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 
not wholly within the control of the Council. No entry is required to be made in the 
accounts.   However, for each class of contingent asset which the Council has, the 
following information has been included in the notes to the Accounting Statements: 

 a commentary on the nature of the contingency 

 a brief description 

 an estimate of the financial effect (where appropriate) 

 an indication of the issues relating to the amount and level of certainty of any 

receipt. 

 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 82



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

Wednesday, 5 December 2018 

Review of Constitution 

 

Portfolio:   Not applicable 

Report from:  Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

Report Author: Helen Smith – Financial Services Manager 

Wards:  Corporate Issue 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome 

1.1 This report is presented to enable consideration of the results of the Audit annual 
review of the Council’s Constitution for consideration by Audit Committee.  It includes 
a number of recommendations to increase the efficiency of the procurement process 
and to improve internal controls.  

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee:- 

 (1) considers and refers to Council for approval the recommended 
amendments to the Constitution as set out in the appendices to this report.  

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1  The Audit Committee Work Programme for 2018/19 includes an annual review of the 
Council’s Constitution.  This review concentrates on the areas of the constitution with 
a direct impact on the financial controls of the Council contained within the Financial 
Procedure Rules and the Contract Procedure Rules.  It also feeds into the Monitoring 
Officer’s annual review of the Constitution. 

3.2 The changes proposed are shown as tracked-changes in Appendix 1 and Appendix 
2.  They are: 

3.2.1 To extend the current virement rules for revenue budgets to capital 
programme and reserves; 

3.2.2 To clarify terminology and update references to other documents; 

3.2.3 To propose more delegation around the use of reserves.  Under the 
current arrangements approval to use reserves is needed from 
Council as part of the final accounts process but there is not a Council 
meeting between the finalisation of the reserve movements and the 
approval of the accounts by Audit Committee; 

3.2.4 To clarify that the Monitoring Officer can agree it is not expedient to 
comply with certain contract requirements, such as signing under seal 
or the use of Council policies.  This reflects the growing use of 
framework agreements where the terms and conditions to be used 

Page 83

Item No.9



have already been agreed and will give the Council appropriate 
protection; 

3.2.5 To remove references to paper tenders: all tender documents are now 
submitted electronically. 

3.3 The changes proposed will apply from the date of Council approval for the remainder 
of the current financial year and subsequent years. 

3.4 Further amendment of the Constitution will be required to reflect changes to the 
Leadership structure and other changes to job titles.  These changes will be included 
in the Monitoring Officer’s review of the Constitution and will not be separately 
reviewed by Audit Committee before submission to Council.   

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 The Monitoring Officer, Solicitor to the Council and Procurement and Contracts 
Manager were consulted over the proposed changes to the Contract Procedure 
Rules.  All Operational Managers were requested to submit proposals for changes to 
make processes more efficient. 

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 It is good practice to regularly review the Constitution.  The recommended changes 
give a balance between operational efficiency and strong internal controls. 

6.0 Links to Council Priorities 

6.1 Being efficient and transparent in our dealings with the public. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 This report has no direct financial implications.  The proposals clarify the existing 
rules and will increase efficiency through reduced need to produce reports for minor 
decisions. 

Human Resources 

7.2 There are no direct Human Resources implications of this report. 

Legal 

7.3 There are no direct legal implications of this report. 

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? No  

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: The 
update of the finance and contract procedure rules have no direct HSEE implications.   

Equality and Diversity 

7.6 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No  

7.7 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: The 
update of the finance and contract procedure rules have no direct equality and 
diversity impacts. 

Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

Failure to review Constitution Potential failings in the 
internal controls contained 

A thorough review and 
assessment based on 

Page 84



Risk Consequence Controls required 

 

Failure to have effective 
delegation to officers in place 

within the Constitution 

Potential delays in 
decision making 

external guidance 

Contact Officers 

Helen Smith, Financial Services Officer, 01539 793147, h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Recommended changes to the Financial Procedure Rules 

2 Recommended changes to the Contract Procedure Rules 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

Council Constitution  

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent 

Legal Services 20/11/18 

Section 151 Officer 20/11/18 

Monitoring Officer 20/11/18 

SMT 20/11/18 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Assistant Director 20/11/18 

Human Resources Manager N/A 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder N/A 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee 5/12/18 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council 18/12/18 

 

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 86



Appendix 1 

FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES 

STATUS 

These Financial Procedure Rules provide a framework for managing the Council’s financial affairs. 
They apply to every Officer and Member of the Council and anyone acting on its behalf. 

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for issuing advice and guidance to underpin the Financial 
Procedure Rules that Officers and Members of the Council and anyone acting on its behalf are 
required to follow. 

Failure to comply with the requirements of the Financial Procedure Rules may, if appropriate, lead to 
action being taken against officers under the Council’s Disciplinary Procedure and against Members 
by the Council’s Standards Committee.   

1. GENERAL 

Statutory References 

1.1 Under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Chief Finance Officer is 
responsible for the financial affairs of the Council and is particularly responsible for: 

(a) Supervising arrangements for the receipt of income due to the Council and   
expenditure incurred by the Council. 

(b) The preparation and presentation of final accounts. 

(c) The maintenance of a continuous and effective internal audit of the Council’s 
activities. 

1.2 Under Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 the Chief Finance Officer or in 
her/his absence a designated member of his staff has a duty to make a report if it appears to 
him that the Council, a Committee, a Member or Officer of the Council or joint committee on 
which the Council is represented: 

(a) has made or is about to make a decision which involves or would involve the Council incurring 
expenditure which is unlawful; 

(b) has taken or is about to take a course of action which, if pursued to its conclusion, would be 
unlawful or likely to cause a loss or deficiency on the part of the Council; or 

(c) is about to enter an item of account, the entry of which is unlawful. 

 The Chief Finance Officer must make a report under Section 114 if it appears to her/him that 
the Council’s expenditure (including commitments) in a financial year is likely to exceed the 
resources (including sums borrowed) available to meet them. 

 Any Officer of the Council who is or should be aware of the circumstances specified at (a), (b) 
and (c) above or any expenditure which is likely to exceed the amounts allocated in the 
Council’s Budgets shall notify the Chief Finance Officer to enable her/him to carry out their 
statutory duty. 

General 

1.3 Reference in these Rules to Portfolio Holders refer equally to Committees which manage 
budgets. References to Directors include the two Directors, the Chief Executive and the 
Assistant Directors. References to Departments refer to the accompanying administrative 
organisations. 

 In the absence of the Chief Finance Officer, the Financial Services Manager, as Deputy S151 
Officer, has delegated authority to carry out all actions within this part of the Constitution. 

1.4 Each Director shall consult the Chief Finance Officer with respect to any matter within his 
control which is liable materially to affect the finances of the Council before any provisional or 
other commitment is incurred or before reporting thereon to Members. 

1.5 In allocating the duties of officers within their Departments, each Director shall arrange for 
internal checks to ensure that:- 

Page 87



Appendix 1 

(a) The duty of keeping records relating to income shall not be carried out by officers who 
are also responsible for the collection of income. 

(b) The duties of issuing orders, certifying the receipt of goods or the completion of work, 
and approving accounts for payment shall be carried out by different officers. 

1.6 It is the duty of all officers appointing consultants to carry out work on behalf of the Council to 
bring these Rules to the attention of those consultants and instruct them to follow such 
procedures as are relevant. 

Authority to Incur Expenditure 

1.7 The inclusion of items in approved budgets represents the authority to incur expenditure 
except where the Cabinet has a reservation on such items.  

1.8 The Cabinet shall not approve a supplementary revenue budget request or amend a capital 
budget without Directors first having consulted with the Chief Finance Officer on the financial 
implications. A comment will be sought from the Chief Finance Officer to be incorporated to 
the Report on the proposal made to Council to approve a supplementary revenue budget 
request or capital budget. 

1.9 Nothing in these regulations shall prevent a Director from incurring expenditure which is 
essential to meet any immediate needs created by an emergency subject to their action being 
reported forthwith to the Cabinet. 

2. ACCOUNTING 

2.1 All accounting procedures and records of the Council and its officers shall be in a form 
approved by the Chief Finance Officer. Where such procedures and records are maintained in 
an Assistant Directorate other than that of the Chief Finance Officer the Director or Assistant 
shall, before giving approval, gain the Chief Finance Officer’s approval to any proposed 
changes. 

2.2 No accounting procedure or financial records shall be amended or discontinued without the 
prior approval of the Chief Finance Officer. 

2.3 All accounts and accounting records of the Council shall be compiled by the Chief Finance 
Officer or under her/his direction. 

2.4 The Chief Finance Officer shall ensure that all accounts, accounting records, balance sheets, 
etc of the Council are properly completed, presented to the Members and submitted to 
external audit in accordance with statutory requirements. 

3. BUDGETS - GENERAL 

3.1 Budget Preparation – will cover the forthcoming five year period and be subject to a timetable 
prepared by the Chief Finance Officer and approved by Cabinet. The Chief Finance Officer 
will produce the Five Year Medium Term Financial Plan on an annual basis in consultation 
with Cabinet Members and Management Team for approval by the Council. Regular updates 
of the strategic financial position will be provided to the Cabinet and Council. 

3.2 The detailed form of capital and revenue estimates shall be determined by the Chief Finance 
Officer in accordance with any general directions of the Cabinet and after consultation with 
the Management Team. 

3.3 Revenue Budgets – Staffing budgets shall be prepared by the Chief Finance Officer in 
consultation with the relevant Director. All other estimates of revenue income and expenditure 
shall be prepared by appropriate Directors in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer and 
submitted to Members for approval. The Chief Finance Officer shall collate the estimates and 
submit them to the Cabinet with a report setting out how this compares to the Council’s 
existing Medium Term Financial Plan. 

3.4 Capital budgets shall be prepared in the form of a rolling five-year Capital Programme. The 
Chief Finance Officer shall review and estimate the capital resources available to the Council 
over the five year period. Bids for the use of capital resources shall be made in a form agreed 
by the Cabinet, to include an appropriate level of project appraisal and an assessment of the 
revenue consequences of the capital scheme. The Cabinet shall be responsible for the 

Page 88



Appendix 1 

allocation of resources within a viable Capital Programme for submission to the Council for 
approval. 

4. BUDGETARY CONTROL 

 It is the duty of the Cabinet and/or every Committee to monitor and regulate the Council’s 
performance against the targets set out in the Corporate and Service Plans and how 
resources have been utilised against the approved Budget during each budget period.  

 Financial sustainability of the Council is paramount and projected variations to approved 
budgets and service delivery must be properly managed within a robust control system. 
Directors and other Budget holders responsible for budgets shall maintain an effective system 
of budgetary control. Budgets are the reflection of service plans and variations in either must 
be matched to the other in performance and other reports.  

All budgets will be assigned to a budget holder who is responsible and accountable for 
spending and generating income in accordance with the approved budget and associated 
service plan. Budget holders are responsible for the underlying reliability of the financial data 
and service performance. The responsibility of Officers for budgets will be clearly defined and 
determined by the Chief Executive and Directors, who shall determine relevant procedures to 
be followed by those officers. (See 4.2) 

The Chief Finance Officer shall make available to all budget holders information on 
commitments, receipts and payments to enable them to carry out these duties and to allow 
them to monitor performance and make proposal/take decisions on changes. Budget holders 
will be provided with training to assist them (provided by the Chief Finance Officer). Each 
Director/budget holder shall utilise the Council’s corporate financial management system to 
maintain records of orders raised and other commitments, recording their effect on budgeted 
expenditure. 

The Chief Finance Officer has overall responsibility for the Budget Framework including the 
Budget Timetable, Budgetary Control reporting arrangements and preparation of the Year 
End Statement of Accounts.  Each Budget will have a single named Manager, determined by 
Management Team. The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring that the Budget and 
Council Tax Setting is carried out in accordance with the statutory deadlines. 

Finance Section responsibilities: 

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the following areas of budget setting and budgetary 
control: 

 Assisting Assistant Directors and budget holders in the preparation of draft budgets 

 provision of timely, accurate, relevant financial information to budget holders to enable 
effective budgetary control to be carried out 

 budgetary control reporting arrangements 

 provision of financial advice and training to budget holders 

 to actively use information from Directors on service trends that may have an impact on 
budgets. 

  

Responsibilities of Directors: 

 preparation of detailed revenue budgets, including the compilation of information produced 
centrally, to the standards and timescales set by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 liaison with Accountancy and other staff in the provision of budgets 

 identification of areas in which budget savings and/or efficiencies can be made 

 assistance in the preparation of service reviews and the implementation of these and other 
approved changes to budgets. 

 identification of development proposals and implementation if approved 

 ensuring that budgets are consistent with approved service plans 

Page 89



Appendix 1 

 identification and subsequent review of meaningful profiles for budgets “signing off” detailed 
budgets and profiles to indicate that managers accept their content and accuracy and believe 
that they are sufficient to deliver the service 

 monitoring budgets using monthly budgetary control reports and managing the service within 
budget 

 Where overspends are identified, or projected, to alert Directors or Management Team as 
appropriate and to propose actions to correct the overspending 

 notifying Directors and/or Management Team of potential underspendings/ increased income 
that could be of corporate benefit to the Council 

 compliance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules 

 provision of timely, relevant and accurate explanations for budget and service delivery 
variances as required by the Chief Finance Officer, Management Team and Members 

 update Finance staff on service trends that may have an impact on budgets. 

 developing performance information to complement budgetary control processes 

Responsibilities of Members: 

 Members generally are responsible for taking an overview of the Council’s finances and its 
performance against budgets. In particular: 

 Full Council is required to review periodically the adequacy of the Council’s overall budget. 

 Portfolio holders are required, in conjunction with budget holders, to monitor and manage 
budgets for the services under their control. 

 Budget monitoring reports shall be produced by the Chief Finance Officer on the first working 
day of each month. The Service Accountants are responsible for checking the reports prior to 
their distribution. Each Director and Portfolio Holder will receive budget monitoring reports for 
their services.  A summary report will be produced for publication electronically for Members 
and officers. 

 Reports will be submitted to the Management Team, Cabinet and Council quarterly on the 
Authority’s projected Income and Expenditure compared with the budget.   

 

4.3 The inclusion of items in approved budgets represents the authority to incur expenditure 
except where the Cabinet has a reservation on such items.  

4.4 The Cabinet shall not approve a supplementary revenue estimate or amend a capital budget 
without Directors first having consulted with the Chief Finance Officer on the financial 
implications. A comment will be sought from the Chief Finance Officer to be incorporated to 
the Report on the proposal made to Council to approve a supplementary revenue or capital 
estimate. 

4.5 Nothing in these regulations shall prevent a Director from incurring expenditure which is 
essential to meet any immediate needs created by an emergency subject to their action being 
reported forthwith to the Cabinet. 

5. SUPPLEMENTARY REVENUE BUDGET REQUESTESTIMATES 

General 

5.1 Prior to any request for a supplementary revenue budget requestestimate being made 
Portfolio Holders and Directors should consider whether the expenditure can be 
accommodated within existing budgets by the use of virement.  All requests for 
supplementary revenue budget requests estimates must be discussed with the Chief Finance 
Officer prior to being considered by Cabinet. 

5.2 No supplementary revenue budget requests estimates below £25,000 should be granted; 
instead virement should be identified to accommodate the expenditure; 

Page 90



Appendix 1 

5.3 The Cabinet is able to grant supplementary revenue budget requests estimates up to a value 
of £100,000.  Supplementary revenue budget requests estimates above that limit can only be 
approved by Full Council. 

General Fund 

5.4 Supplementary revenue budget request  estimates shall only be granted where suitable 
virement cannot be identified.  Such supplementary revenue budget requests estimates shall 
be restricted to the following genuinely exceptional and inescapable items of expenditure: 

(a) contractual claims, court and litigation costs; 

(b) health and safety items constituting a risk to “life and limb”; 

(c) additional expenditure arising from tenders following competitive tendering of services 
(conversely, savings on such tendering should be returned to contingencies); 

(d) additional legislative responsibilities. 

5.5 Supplementary revenue budget requests estimates may be allowed for income-generating 
schemes where expenditure in the year will result in increased net income in subsequent 
years which will, at least, cover the amount of the supplementary revenue budget 
requestestimate; 

5.6 No supplementary revenue budget request estimates should be granted that have an ongoing 
financial implication for subsequent years.  

Reporting  

5.7 Regular reports to the Cabinet shall clearly state the ongoing implications of proposed 
expenditure, identify the source of finance being used for supplementary revenue budget 
requests estimates and the balance available within the Working Balance. 

6. UNSPENT BUDGETS AND GRANTS 

 Unspent Grants 

6.1 Where 

(a) a grant or contribution has been received in a financial year for which there are no 
conditions; and 

(b) the grant is unspent at the end of the financial year, the relevant Assistant Director 
can request that the grant be carried forward to the following financial year. 

6.2. The mechanism for the carry forward is the granting of a supplementary revenue estimate for 
the income. Items up to a value of £100,000 can be approved by Cabinet with larger requests 
to be considered by Full Council. 

6.3. All requests for the carry forward of unspent grants should be discussed with the Chief 
Finance Officer prior to submission to Cabinet for approval. 

UNDERSPENT BUDGETS Unspent Budgets 

General 

6.4 All requests for the carry forward of unspent budgets should be discussed with the Chief 
Finance Officer and the relevant Portfolio Holder should be consulted. 

6.5 The mechanism, for the carry forward is the granting of a supplementary revenue 
budgetestimate, on the strength of an underspending in the previous year. Items up to a value 
of £100,000 can be approved by Cabinet with larger requests to be considered by full Council.  

6.6 Requests for carry forwards must be submitted to the Chief Finance Officer by the deadline 
set annually by the Chief Finance Officer and be accompanied by an explanation of the 
service need and implications. Carry forwards must be for use on specific items of 
expenditure which have no on-going cost implications for subsequent years. 

6.7 In many cases, requests for carry forward of budgets will be made before the final expenditure 
for the financial year is known.  Approvals can be made in these instances but will be subject 

Page 91



Appendix 1 

to possible withdrawal if the Assistant Directorate, Department or Council budget is 
subsequently found to be overspent. 

6.8 A minimum limit of £10,000 per item will usually apply to the gross value of savings 
considered for carry forward.  

 The Assistant Director will be required to identify and explain the reasons for his opinion that 
underspendings have arisen from savings.  

 In the context of this policy, underspends are defined as underspending of expenditure 
budgets or additional income against income budgets provided that those savings have not 
been anticipated for corporate use.  

Limitations 

6.9 An Assistant Director will not be allowed to carry forward any unspent budget where the 
overall net expenditure for the year exceeds the Assistant Director’s revenue budget. 

 In these circumstances the Assistant Director may be required to deduct the overspending 
from its budget for the following year.  Individual cases will be considered on their merits, 
taking into account the degree to which external factors are responsible for the overspending.  

 The amount of any unspent estimates to be carried forward will be limited to the Assistant 
Director’s overall net underspending for the year, where this is a smaller amount.  

6.10 Where a budget is approved for a Council year, rather than a financial year (for example the 
Chairman’s Allowance) any underspend will be automatically carried forward if requested. 

6.11 Subject to these limitations, approval for the carry forward of qualifying unspent budgets will 
not normally be withheld. However, corporate considerations, particularly budgetary 
constraints, may cause individual provisions to be over-ridden or the whole policy to be 
suspended in the overall interests of the Council.  

7. TRANSFER OF BUDGETS (VIREMENT) 

7.1 Virement is intended to enable the Cabinet, Directors and their staff to manage budgets with a 
degree of flexibility within the overall Budget and Policy Framework to optimise the use of 
resources.  However, it may be appropriate to suspend these provisions and apply more 
restrictive procedures if required by the Council’s financial position. 

 Virements are administered by the Chief Finance Officer. 

7.2 The overall Revenue and Capital Budget is approved by Council and published in the Annual 
Budget book. Assistant Directors are authorised to spend in accordance with the estimates 
that make up the Budget and in accordance with the Contract Procedure Rules. Virement will 
be required if resources are to be moved between the lines set out in the Budget Book. 

 Virement must not create additional overall budget Commitment. Assistant Directors are 
expected to exercise discretion in managing their budgets responsibly and prudently, for 
example by avoiding future commitments for which they have not identified resources. 

7.3 Virement can only be applied to direct expenditure.  It cannot be applied to the budget 
headings such as Capital Charges, Recharged Employees, Central Support Recharges, 
Departmental Recharges or Indirect Income.  In general, virement will not be allowed from 
employee budgets. 

 Following consultation with the Chief Finance Officer, the responsible Assistant Director(s) 
shall be entitled to transfer budgets from within and between any one service to another up to 
a maximum limit of £60,000 per transfer. 

 The Cabinet shall be entitled to transfer budgets from within and between any one service to 
another up to a limit of £100,000 per transfer. 

Beyond these limits, approval to transfers can only be given by full Council. 

The Monitoring Officer shall be entitled to transfer budgets within the Elections Service 
without any financial limit. 

The Corporate Financial Monitoring process should be used for approval where appropriate. 

Page 92



Appendix 1 

Virement requests must include details of the reason for the transfer and details of the impact 
on service delivery. 

7.4 Virements will only be allowed where they are within these rules and generally in accordance 
with the policies of the Council and there will be no overall effect on the Budgets of the 
General Fund. 

7.5. These virement rules must also be applied where additional income is received above levels 
included in the approved budget. 

7.6. Where an approved budget is a lump-sum budget or contingency intended for allocation 
during the year, its allocation will not be treated as a virement, provided that the amount is 
used in accordance with the purposes for which it has been established and there is an 
approved basis and terms, including financial limits, on which it will be allocated. 

7.7 The Chief Finance Officer is able to transfer budgets to correct allocations, to reflect 
restructures and in the case of ‘housekeeping’ where budgets could be held under more 
appropriate headings. 

8. CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 

8.1 Capital expenditure shall not be incurred unless it forms part of the approved Capital 
Programme and has been allocated an expenditure account by the Chief Finance Officer. 

8.2 The Cabinet may adjust the phasing of expenditure, by deferment or advancement, of existing 
approved schemes in the Capital Programme. 

8.3 Following consultation with the Chief Finance Officer, the responsible Assistant Director(s) 
shall be entitled to transfer budgets from within and between any one capital scheme to 
another, or from revenue to any capital scheme up to a maximum limit of £60,000 per 
transfer.   

 The Cabinet may transfer Capital Programme provisions from one capital approved scheme to 
another capital approved scheme or from revenue to any capital scheme, subject to a limit of 
£100,000 per individual transfer. 

 Beyond these limits, approval to transfers can only be given by full Council 

8.4 The Cabinet may allocate available capital resources within the Capital Programme to new 
schemes which are urgent, necessary and generally in accordance with Council priorities, 
subject to a limit of £100,000 per individual allocation, provided in all cases the Chief Finance 
Officer is consulted and is satisfied with the affordability and advisability of the proposed use 
of resources. 

 Beyond these limits, amendments to the Capital Programme can only be made by Council. 

9. FINANCING OF CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 

 The Chief Finance Officer may adjust the planned method of financing capital expenditure 
within the aggregate resources available to the Council, provided that such ‘switching’ of 
financing is in the Council’s interest and in accordance with the Prudential Framework and 
Treasury Management Policy and Statement.  Factors to be taken into account in such 
adjustments shall include prudence, affordability, financial advantage, flexibility and risk 
considerations. 

10. RESERVES AND WORKING BALANCES 

10.1 Three types of Reserves are maintained by the Council: 

a) Unusable reserves are established and managed under various statutes and the 
Accounting Code of Practice 

b)  A Working Balance and a General Reserve are established by Council in accordance 
with an appropriate risk assessment undertaken by the Chief Finance Officer 

a) Usable earmarked reserves are established and managed in accordance with criteria 
approved by Council.   

Page 93



Appendix 1 

 The power to establish financial reserves is restricted to full Council except that Cabinet is 
able to set aside amounts (up to £100,000 in aggregate) where this would assist in the 
efficient operation of the Council’s activities. The Chief Finance Officer must be consulted and 
be satisfied with the proposed setting aside of resources. 

10.2 The purpose and limits on the operation of each significant reserve should be set out in the 
annual Medium Term Financial Plan. 

10.3 Unless determined otherwise by Council, the use of resources held in reserves and the 
Council’s working balances shall be determined by full Council (as agreed in the annual 
Revenue Budget, Capital Programme or otherwise) except that Cabinet is able to make or 
adjust transfers from reserves not exceeding £100,000 after consultation with the Chief 
Finance Officer where these would assist in the financial management of the Council. 

10.210.4 The Chief Finance Officer is required, as part of the annual budget process, to carry 
out a formal review of balances and reserves and to advise the Council on their adequacy.  In 
particular she/he is responsible for: 

(a) preparing a statement for Council showing the estimated opening working balance for 
the year ahead, the addition to/withdrawal from balances, and the estimated end of 
year balance, including reference to the extent to which such reserves are to be used 
to finance recurrent expenditure. 

(b) reporting on the annual review of earmarked reserves, listing the various earmarked 
reserves, the purposes for which they are held, showing the estimated opening 
balances for the year, planned addition/withdrawals and the estimated closing 
balances, and advising on their appropriate levels. 

(c) making a statement on the adequacy of the general reserves and provisions in 
respect of the forthcoming financial year and the Council’s Medium Term Financial 
Plan, taking into account the strategic, operational and financial risks facing the 
authority. 

 The advice given by the Chief Finance Officer should be recorded formally in the minutes of 
the Council meeting, including whether or not that advice has been accepted. 

 UNUSABLE RESERVES 

10.3 The establishment and maintenance of these reserves are the responsibility of the Chief 
Finance Officer as part of the closure of the Council’s accounts each year. 

 WORKING BALANCE/GENERAL RESERVE 

10.4 The Chief Finance Officer must make an assessment of the minimum level of balances 
required in these reserves as part of the annual budget process using an appropriate risk 
matrix. 

10.5 Contributions to and from these reserves will be managed by the Chief Finance Officer and be 
in accordance with the criteria established as part of the annual budget process and approval. 

10.6 Any overall surplus or deficit on the Council’s accounts for the year will be reflected in the 
General Reserve and should the resultant balance be less than the minimum established then 
a separate report must be made to Council on the implications. 

USABLE EARMARKED RESERVES 

10.7 The following criteria will be used to authorise Officers to establish and maintain usable 
Earmarked Reserves: 

a) The reserve can only be established if it supports the Council’s objectives, Council Plan  
and MTFP and complies with at least one of the following: 

i. Where expenditure is planned in future years and it is prudent to build up resources 

in advance 

ii. The reserve is a statutory requirement of the service or on the Council 

iii. It relates to the carry forward of budgets identified in budget monitoring and in 

accordance with the carry forward rules 

Page 94



Appendix 1 

b) The reserve can only be used gor the purpose for which it was established and In line 

with any timescales identified when established or following annual review as part of 

the annual budget process 

c) The timescales involved and the amounts to be transferred in and out of a reserve must 

be clearly set out when the reserve is established. Amounts can take the form of 

wording if figures are not available.  

d) Budget monitoring should identify the need for a reserve during the year and subject to 

meeting the criteria can be set up with the action being reported to the Portfolio Holder 

and ultimately Cabinet and Council through quarterly monitoring and the Statement of 

Accounts. Only exceptionally should the need for a reserve be identified in the Closure 

of Accounts process. 

e) One named member of staff should be responsible for a reserve and who can authorise 

any transactions.  

10.8 Management and maintenance of usable earmarked reserves must include any variations to 
the annual budget approved movements being approved through the budget monitoring 
process.  Budget amendments in the Carry Forward Reserve will be automatically 
implemented in the new financial year. 

10.410.9 Following consultation with the Chief Finance Officer, the responsible Assistant Director(s) 
shall be entitled to transfer budgets from any one service to a reserve or from a reserve to a 
service up to a maximum limit of £60,000 per transfer providing the use or contribution is for 
the purpose for which the reserve was established.  The Cabinet shall be entitled to transfer 
budgets to and from any reserve another up to a limit of £100,000 per transfer providing the 
use or contribution is for the purpose for which the reserve was established.  Beyond these 
limits, approval to transfers can only be given by full Council. 

10.1010.5 Following the closure of the accounts for a financial year, the Chief Finance Officer 
will report to Cabinet and Audit Committee on the transfers to and the use of reserves and working 
balances for that year and seek approval of those transactions by full Council. 

11. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 

11.1 The Chief Finance Officer is required to produce and seek approval from Council for a 
Medium Term Financial Plan, detailing the Council’s projected financial position for a period of 
five years ahead.  The Plan should be drawn up by reference to the Council’s Corporate Plan 
and include the financial implications of that Plan.  As a minimum the Medium Term Financial 
Plan should contain 

 current and projected revenue budgets, including the revenue effects of capital and other 
investments; 

 projections of council tax levels to finance those budgets; 

 an indication of identifiable budgetary pressures and an action plan to deal with those 
pressures; 

 capital expenditure plans and resource projections; 

 projections of reserves and working balances; and 

 an assessment of the adequacy of reserves and the risks attaching to the assumptions in the 
Plan. 

11.2 The Plan should be updated at regular intervals during the year and form part of the Annual 
Budget Process. All significant proposals with financial implications should be assessed 
against the Medium Term Financial Plan and the effects of those proposals reported at the 
time of making a decision. 

12. EXTERNAL AUDIT 

12.1 The Council’s activities will be audited by the External Auditor appointed in accordance with 
the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 

13. INTERNAL AUDIT 

Page 95



Appendix 1 

13.1 Regulation 65 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 20151 requires the Council to maintain 
an adequate and effective Internal Audit.  Arrangements for that audit will be approved by the 
Audit Committee. 

13.2 The Internal Audit Annual Plan will be submitted for approval by the Audit Committee.  An 
Annual Report of the activities of Internal Audit and the completion of the Audit Plan are to be 
submitted to the Chief Finance Officer within three months of the end of each financial year 
and subsequently reported to the Committee. 

13.3 A continuous risk based internal audit, under the independent control and direction of the 
Chief Finance Officer, shall be arranged to carry out an examination of accounting, financial 
and other operations of the Council. 

13.4 For the purpose of Internal Audit, the Chief Finance Officer or her/his authorised 
representative shall have authority to: 

(a) enter at all reasonable times on any Council premises or land 

(b) have access to all records, documents and correspondence relating to any financial or 
other transaction of the Council 

(c) require and receive such explanations as are necessary concerning any matter under 
examination, and 

(d) require any employee of the Council to produce cash, stores or any other Council 
property under his control. 

13.5 The Internal Auditor shall have the right to report any concerns directly to the Chief Executive, 
appropriate Councillors and the External District Auditor. 

14. BANKING ARRANGEMENTS, CHEQUES AND BACS 

14.1 All arrangements with the Council’s bankers shall be made or approved by the Chief Finance 
Officer, who shall be authorised to operate such banking accounts as they may consider 
necessary including the designation of authorised signatories. 

14.2 All cheques, or other payment instruments/stationery excluding those drawn on authorised 
imprest accounts, shall be ordered only on the authority of the Chief Finance Officer, who 
shall make proper arrangements for their safe custody. 

14.3 Cheques on the Council’s main banking accounts shall be signed in accordance with the bank 
mandate (i.e. single signature under £10,000, two signatures over £10,000). 

14.4 Payments made by BACS shall be authorised by the Chief Finance Officer or his/her 
representative in accordance with the Council’s banking arrangements. 

15. IMPREST ACCOUNTS 

15.1 The Chief Finance Officer shall provide such petty cash and advance accounts as he/she 
considers appropriate for such officers of the Council as may need them for the purposes of 
defraying petty cash and other expenses. Such accounts shall be maintained on the imprest 
system. 

15.2 Where he/she considers it appropriate, the Chief Finance Officer shall open an account with 
the Council’s bankers for use by the imprest holder who shall not allow such account to be 
overdrawn. It shall be a standing instruction to the Council’s bankers that the amount of any 
overdrawn balance on an imprest holder’s banking account shall forthwith be reported to the 
Chief Finance Officer. 

15.3 No income received on behalf of the Council may be paid into an imprest account but must be 
banked or paid to the authority as provided elsewhere in these regulations. 

15.4 Payments shall be limited to minor items of expenditure and to such other items as the Chief 
Finance Officer may approve and shall be supported by a receipted voucher to the extent that 
the Chief Finance Officer may require. 

15.5 An officer responsible for an imprest account shall carry out periodic reconciliations of his/her 
account and give the Chief Finance Officer a certificate as to the state of his/her imprest 
advance. 

Page 96



Appendix 1 

 On leaving the employment of the Council, or otherwise ceasing to be entitled to hold an 
imprest advance, an officer shall account to the Chief Finance Officer for the amount 
advanced to him/her. 

15.7 All cash floats held are to be confirmed to the Chief Finance Officer in writing at the end of 
each financial year. 

15.8 Every transfer of official money from one member of staff to another shall be evidenced in the 
records of the Departments concerned by the signature of the receiving officer, or by an 
official receipt. 

16. CONTRACTS  

16.1 The Contract Procedure Rules deal with the regulation and control of contracts for the 
execution of work and the supply of goods, materials and services awarded by the Council.  
These Rules should be followed in conjunction with those Rules. 

16.2 In the paragraphs under this section reference to the “relevant person” shall mean the 
appropriate Director, an officer nominated by him/her in writing for that contract or a private 
architect, engineer or other consultant engaged by the Council for the purpose of that 
contract. 

 The Chief Finance Officer shall be consulted as to any Performance Bonds to be obtained or 
given in respect of a proposed contract. 

16.3 Each Director responsible for the awarding of contracts, which provide for payment to be 
made by instalments, shall arrange for the keeping of a register, to the satisfaction of the 
Chief Finance Officer, to show the state of account on each contract between the Council and 
a contractor, together with any other payments and related professional fees. 

16.4 Payments to contractors on account of contracts shall be made only on a certificate issued by 
the relevant person. 

16.5 Subject to the provisions of the contract in each case, every variation shall be authorised in 
writing by the relevant person.  Each variation shall include an estimate of the increase or 
reduction in cost arising from that variation of the contract. 

16.6 When the net effect of such variations exceeds the following limits, this shall be reported as 
soon as possible to the Cabinet or relevant Committee of the Council through the Corporate 
Financial Monitoring process where the overspend is greater than £10,000 of 10% of the 
contract sum, whichever is greater. 

 Provided that it shall not be necessary to report such net effect in the case of contracts 
undertaken under agency or contractual arrangements on behalf of another local or public 
authority where that authority has approved the cost of the variation. 

16.7 Where the relevant person issues a certificate and the amount to be paid on that certificate, 
when added to amounts previously certified for payment, would result in the contract sum or 
budgetary provision being exceeded, then the certificate shall be accompanied by a report 
fully explaining the position from the relevant person to the Chief Finance Officer. 

16.8 The final certificate of completion of any contract shall not be issued until the relevant person 
has produced to the Chief Finance Officer a detailed final statement of account and all 
relevant documents, if required. 

16.9 The Chief Finance Officer shall, to the extent that is considered necessary, examine final 
accounts for contracts and shall be entitled to make all such enquiries and receive such 
information and explanations as may be required in order to be satisfied as to the accuracy of 
the accounts. 

16.10 Every works contract and every other contract which is estimated to exceed £60,000 in value 
or amount shall, where appropriate, include provision for liquidated damages, except where 
the contract is a partnering contract entered into under the Council’s procurement policy. 
Where there has been a delay in the completion of a contract and an extension of time is not 
appropriate to be authorised, the relevant person shall impose the liquidated damages clause 
in all instances, unless, after consultation with the Monitoring Officer, it is decided it is 
inappropriate to do so. 

Page 97



Appendix 1 

16.11 A report as to final costs under each contract shall, after agreement of the final account, be 
incorporated into the Post Implementation Review submitted to the Senior Management 
Team, Cabinet or relevant Committee by the appropriate Director after consultation with the 
Chief Finance Officer. 

16.12 Claims from contractors in respect of matters not clearly within the term of any existing 
contract shall be referred to the Monitoring Officer for consideration of the Council’s legal 
liability and, where necessary, to the Chief Finance Officer for financial consideration, before 
a settlement is reached. 

16.13 Where a contractor enters into liquidation or receivers are appointed or the contractor makes 
arrangement or composition with his/her creditors, the relevant person shall report the full 
circumstances in writing to the Cabinet or relevant Committee of the Council as soon as they 
are known to him/her. 

16.14 Every Officer and Member of the Council has a responsibility to declare any links or personal 
interests that they may have with purchasers, suppliers and /or contractors if they are 
engaged in contractual or purchasing decisions on behalf of the Council, in accordance with 
established Codes of Conduct. 

17. ORDERS FOR WORK, GOODS AND SERVICES 

17.1 The following procedures and those in Rule 18 relate primarily to the electronic entry and 
authorisation of purchase orders and certification of creditor invoices using the Integra 
financial information system.  The same principles apply to non-purchase order invoices and 
to purchases using procurement (purchasing) cards. 

17.2 Official orders shall be issued in advance for all work, goods or services to be supplied to the 
Council, except for:  

 supplies of public utility services, or other services, where paid by direct debit; 

 petty cash purposes; 

 works on Council properties that fall within the planned maintenance contract administered by 
the Council’s property services contractor; 

 such other exceptions as the Chief Finance Officer may approve. 

 Orders for works arranged with the Council’s property services contractor must follow the 
specific procedures so arranged for this purpose through the Corporate Asset Manager. 
Initially a work request form, appropriately authorised, should be submitted to the Council’s 
property services contractor and once a suitable contractor has been arranged to carry out 
the work, an official order should be raised direct to that contractor. Full details of the 
procedure are available on SharePoint. 

 In exceptional circumstances where an order cannot be dispatched at the time of making the 
commitment, the supplier should be given an order number and the Confirmation Order 
issued not later than the next working day. 

17.3 Official orders shall be in the form approved by the Chief Finance Officer and are to be 
approved only by officers authorised by the appropriate Director who shall be responsible for 
official orders issued from his department. The Director shall ensure that:  

 value for money is obtained in all cases, primarily by obtaining and recording alternative 
quotations for the supply;  

 the order is allocated to the correct accounting code and that the relevant budget is not 
exceeded  

17.4 Each order should record the agreed price for the supply or the estimated cost of the supply, 
delivery and invoicing addresses. 

17.5 Each order shall conform with the directions of the Council with respect to central purchasing 
and the standardisation of supplies and materials. 

17.6 Orders must never be split to avoid authorisation limits. 

17.7 When the work, goods or services to which the order relates has been received or carried out, 
appropriate confirmation of this must be obtained (normally in the form of a delivery note, 

Page 98



Appendix 1 

advice note or works schedule) – only then should the receipt be recorded by means of the 
entry of a Goods Received Note (GRN) in Integra. 

17.8 Procurement cards will be issued to Officers based on an assessment of needs.  Cardholders 
must follow procedures laid down by the Chief Finance Officer: cards will be withdrawn if the 
facility is misused. 

18. PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

18.1  Apart from Credit Card, petty cash and other payments from imprest accounts, the payment 
of monies due from the Council shall be by BACS payment or other instrument drawn on the 
Council’s banking account by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 All requests for payment submitted to the Chief Finance Officer must be in the form prescribed 
by him/her. 

18.2 The Director issuing an order is responsible for ensuring that the work, goods or services to 
which an account relates has been carried out or supplied as requested to a satisfactory 
standard. Normally this is evidenced on Integra by entry of a Goods Received Note, or for a 
non-purchase order invoice by completion of the appropriate boxes on the certification 
voucher. 

18.3 Any significant price variation between the purchase order and the resulting invoice will 
require certification by an appropriate officer. Non-purchase order invoices will require manual 
certification by signature. Before certifying an account, the certifying officer shall, save to the 
extent that the Chief Finance Officer may otherwise determine, satisfy himself that: 

(a) the work, goods or services to which the account relates have been received, carried 
out, examined and approved. 

(b) the quantities, prices, extension, calculations, discounts, other allowances, credits and 
tax are correct 

(c) the account has not been previously passed for payment and is a proper liability of the 
Council 

18.4 Periodically a list of officers authorised to approve such records shall be circulated by the 
Chief Finance Officer to each Director together with specimen signatures for confirmation by 
that Director. The Director shall ensure that this list be amended on the occasion of any 
changes to signatories. The Director shall ensure that adequate separation of duties exists by 
arranging that the officer certifying an account for payment is a different person to the one 
who ordered the supply. 

18.5 Properly certified accounts (either by electronic means, in terms of purchase order price 
variations, or by manual signature) shall be passed without delay to the Chief Finance Officer 
who shall examine them to the extent that he considers necessary, for which purpose he shall 
be entitled to make such enquiries and to receive such information and explanations as 
he/she may require. 

18.6 Amendments should not normally be made to an invoice. Where an amendment is required or 
where an invoice is received that does not quote a purchase order number and that invoice 
falls within the ordering criteria, the invoice shall be returned to the supplier for replacement. 

18.7 Accrual of expenditure is normally dealt with by entry of Goods Received Notes in the Integra 
system. For any expenditure that falls outside the purchase ordering system, each Director 
shall, as soon as possible after 31 March, and not later than a date specified by the Chief 
Finance Officer in each year, notify the Chief Finance Officer of all outstanding expenditure for 
goods and services relating to the previous financial year which has not been paid at that 
date. 

19. PAYROLL 

19.1 The payment of all salaries, pensions, compensation and other emoluments to all employees 
or former employees of the Council shall be made by the Chief Finance Officer or under 
arrangements approved and controlled by him/her. 

Page 99



Appendix 1 

19.2 Each Director shall notify the Assistant Director ResourcesPayroll team as soon as possible 
and in the form prescribed by the Chief Finance Officer him/her, of all matters affecting the 
payment of such emoluments, and in particular: 

(a) appointments, resignations, dismissals, retirements, suspensions, secondments and transfers 

(b) absences from duty for sickness or other reason, apart from approved leave 

(c) changes in remuneration, other than normal increments and pay awards and agreements of 
general application 

(d) information necessary to maintain records of service for superannuation, income tax, national 
insurance, etc. 

19.3 Appointments of all employees shall be made in accordance with the regulations of the 
Council and the approved grades and rates of pay. 

19.4 All time records or other pay documents shall be in a form prescribed or approved by the 
Assistant Director Resources and shall be certified in manuscript by or on behalf of the 
appropriate Director. The names of officers authorised to certify such records shall be sent to 
the Assistant Director Resources and Payroll team by each Director together with specimen 
signatures and shall be amended on the occasion of any change. 

20. TRAVELLING, SUBSISTENCE AND ATTENDANCE ALLOWANCES 

20.1 All claims for payment of car allowances, subsistence allowances, travelling and incidental 
expenses shall be submitted to the Chief Finance Officer, duly certified in a form approved by 
him/her, made up to a specified day of each month, within a prescribed period. The names of 
officers authorised to certify such records shall be sent to the Chief Finance Officer by each 
Director together with specimen signatures and shall be amended on the occasion of any 
change. 

20.2 The certification by or on behalf of the Director shall be taken to mean that the certifying 
officer is satisfied that the journeys were authorised, the expenses properly and necessarily 
incurred and that the allowances are properly payable by the Council. 

20.3 Officers shall normally submit claims for expenses at monthly intervals. Any claims submitted 
more than two months after the expenses were incurred will be paid only with the express 
approval of the Chief Finance Officer. All claims for a financial year are to be submitted within 
one month of 31 March. 

20.4 Payments to Members, including co-opted members of the Council or its Cabinet, Committees 
or Sub-Committees, Panels and Working Parties, who are entitled to claim travelling or other 
allowances will be made by the Chief Finance Officer upon receipt of the prescribed form duly 
completed. Any claims submitted more than two months after the expenses were incurred will 
be paid only with the express approval of the Monitoring Officer. All claims for a financial year 
are to be submitted within one month of 31 March. 

21. INCOME 

21.1 The collection of all money due to the Council shall be under the supervision of the Chief 
Finance Officer and all systems, procedures and documentation involved in the assessment, 
collection, receipt and recovery of all income due to the Council shall be approved by him/her.  
All account forms shall require remittances to be sent in accordance with instructions issued 
by the Chief Finance Officer. 

21.2 Subject to arrangements made by the Chief Finance Officer, each Director shall either furnish 
him/her with such particulars in connection with work done, goods supplied or services 
rendered and of all other amounts due as may be required to record correctly all sums due to 
the Council and to ensure the prompt rendering of accounts for the recovery of income due, or 
shall arrange to record those transactions and details in the appropriate system within his 
Department. 

21.3 When raising sales invoices on the Integra system, each Director shall ensure that the 
customer details, fees, VAT treatment, period covered and details of the debt are recorded 
accurately and that the debt can be substantiated if disputer by the customer. 

Page 100



Appendix 1 

21.4 Recovery of outstanding sundry debts shall be administered by the Chief Finance Officer but 
responsibility for the debt lies with the originating Director, who shall liaise with the debtor and 
instruct the Chief Finance Officer on the best means of recovery. 

21.5 The Chief Finance Officer shall be notified promptly of all money due to the Council including 
contracts, leases and other agreements and arrangements entered into which involve the 
receipt of income by the Council and the Chief Finance Officer shall have the right to inspect 
any documents or other evidence in this connection as may be decided. 

21.6 All receipt forms, books, tickets and other such items shall be ordered and supplied to 
Departments by the Chief Finance Officer, who shall be satisfied with the arrangements for 
their control. 

21.7 All amounts received by an authorised officer of the Council shall be immediately 
acknowledged by the issue of an official receipt, ticket or similar voucher. 

21.8 All income received by an officer on behalf of the Council shall without delay be paid to the 
Chief Finance Officer, or, as directed, to the Council’s banking account or transmitted directly 
to any other body or person entitled thereto. No deduction may be made from such income 
save to the extent that the Chief Finance Officer may specifically authorise. Each officer who 
so banks income shall enter on the paying-in slip a reference to the related debt (such as the 
receipt number, invoice number or the name of the debtor) or otherwise indicate the origin of 
the cheque. On the reverse of each cheque, the officer shall enter the name of his/her 
Assistant Directorate, office or location, or otherwise identify the cashier. When a receipt is 
issued the receipt number should be indicated on the reverse of the cheque.  Where the 
banking covers a range of income sources the officer making the banking must ensure a 
return analysing the income and agreeing to the amount of the banking is forwarded to the 
Chief Finance Officer at the time of the banking. 

21.9 Personal cheques shall not be cashed out of money held on behalf of the Council. 

21.10 Every transfer of official money from one member of staff to another shall be evidenced in the 
records of the Departments concerned by the signature of the receiving officer, or by an 
official receipt. 

21.11 Each Director shall as soon as possible after 31 March, and not later than a date specified by 
the Chief Finance Officer in each year, notify the Chief Finance Officer of all outstanding 
income due relating to the previous year which has not previously been notified. 

21.12 At least once per year, each Director shall, in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer, 
review scales of charges or fees relating to his/her Directorate in accordance with the 
Corporate Charging Policy, budget timetable and budget strategy. Consultation shall be 
carried out in accordance with the Corporate Charging Policy. Proposals should be approved 
by Cabinet or Committee as appropriate. 

22. EXTERNAL ARRANGEMENTS (PARTNERSHIPS, EXTERNAL FUNDING 
ARRANGEMENTS AND WORK FOR THIRD PARTIES) 

22.1 Partnerships are likely to play a key role in delivering community strategies and in helping to 
promote and improve the well-being of the area. Local authorities are working in partnership 
with others – public agencies, private communities, community groups and voluntary 
organisations. On other occasions the Council may agree to provide services funded by 
outside bodies, sometimes acting as an accountable body. There may be occasions when the 
Council is requested to provide services on behalf of other bodies, often provided under a 
Service Level Agreement. The External Arrangements Rules deal with the regulation and 
control of such arrangements. These rules should be followed in conjunction with those Rules. 

22.2 In particular, the key controls for Assistant Directors are:- 

Partnerships: 

(a) If appropriate, tTo be aware of their responsibilities under the Council’s Financial 
Procedure Rules and the Contract Procedure Rules 

(b) To ensure that risk management processes are in place to identify and assess all 
known risks 

Page 101



Appendix 1 

(c) To ensure that project appraisal processes are in place to assess the viability of the 
project in terms of resources, staffing and expertise. 

(d) To agree and accept formally the roles and responsibilities of each of the partners 
involved in the project before the project commences. 

(e) To communicate regularly with other partners throughout the project so that problems 
can be identified and shared to achieve their successful resolution. 

(f) To ensure the Council’s insurers are informed of the proposals and suitable insurance 
is arranged. 

External Funding Arrangements: 

(g) To ensure that key conditions of funding and any statutory requirements are complied 
with and that the responsibilities of the Accountable Body are clearly understood. 

(h) To ensure that funds are acquired only to meet the priorities approved in the policy 
framework by the Council. 

(i) To ensure that any match-fuinding requirements are given due consideration prior to 
entering into long-term agreements and that future revenue budgets reflect these 
requirements. 

(j) To ensure that the consequences for the Council, or for any partners for whom the 
Council may be acting as Agent, of exceeding the funding or expenditure 
requirements are clearly set out and understood. 

(k) To ensure the consequences for the Council’s VAT position are understood. 

(l) To ensure the Council’s insurers are informed of the proposals and suitable insurance 
is arranged. 

Work for Third Parties 

(m) To ensure that proposals are costed properly in accordance with guidance provided 
by the Chief Finance Officer including consideration of any VAT implications. 

(n) To ensure that contracts are drawn up using guidance provided by the Chief Finance 
Officer and that the formal approvals process is adhered to. 

(o) To issue guidance with regard to the financial aspects of third party contracts and the 
maintenance of the contract register. 

(p) To ensure the Council’s insurers are informed of the proposal and suitable insurance 
is arranged. 

23. PRUDENTIAL FRAMEWORK 

23.1 The Council is obliged to adheres to the requirements of the CIPFA Code on a Prudential 
Framework for Local Authority Capital Finance.  The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for 
preparing the indicators stipulated by the Code and reporting them to Council for approval.  
The indicators are to be reviewed at least annually and on major amendments to the Capital 
Programme. 

23.2 The Prudential Indicators are to be taken into account in managing the Council’s finances, 
particularly its projections of future expenditure and resources. 

23.3 The Council is required to approve and keep up to date a Treasury Management Policy 
Statement and agree an annual Strategy Statement to direct its treasury activities. 

23.4 Capital financing decisions are to be made in accordance with the Council’s Treasury 
Management Policy and Strategy and the Prudential Code. 

23.5 The Council’s performance against its prudential indicators should be monitored regularly by 
the Chief Finance Officer and reported to Council and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
at least once during each year and at the end of each year. 

24. INVESTMENTS, BORROWINGS, LEASING AND TRUST FUNDS 

Page 102



Appendix 1 

24.1 All investments and borrowing of money and leasing arrangements shall be made in the name 
of the Council. 

24.2 All investment and borrowing transactions shall be carried out in accordance with the 
Council’s approved Treasury Management Policy and Strategy Statements. 

24.3 All securities the property of or in the name of the Council and the title deeds of all property in 
its ownership shall be kept in the custody of the Monitoring Officer. 

24.4 The Chief Finance Officer shall be the Council’s registrar of stocks, bonds and mortgages and 
shall maintain records of all leasings and borrowing of money by the Council. 

24.5 All trust funds shall wherever possible be in the name of the Council. 

24.6 All officers acting as trustees by virtue of their official position shall deposit all securities etc. 
relating to the trust with the Chief Finance Officer unless the deed otherwise provides. 

24.7 The Chief Finance Officer shall seek and accept tenders for leasing facilities for the 
acquisition of assets where this is an appropriate method of financing subject to consultation 
with the relevant Portfolio Holder(s) and Director(s). 

25. LAND AND BUILDINGS 

25.1 The Monitoring Officer shall maintain a terrier or register of all Land and Buildings owned by 
the Council and a register of leases recording the responsible Assistant Director, purpose for 
which held, location, extent and plan reference, purchase details, particulars of nature of 
interest and rents payable and particulars of tenancies granted. 

25.2 All contracts for the acquisition or disposal of land/buildings shall be signed or sealed and the 
Monitoring Officer shall arrange for the secure custody of all title deeds. 

25.3 The Monitoring Officer shall be responsible for instituting routine inspection of all Council Land 
and Buildings and ensuring that schedules of maintenance are prepared and work instigated 
and supervised on behalf of the Council as advised. 

26. INVENTORIES 

26.1 Inventories recording furniture, fittings and equipment, plant and machinery held by each 
Directorate shall be maintained by the Assistant Director concerned. The form of the 
inventories shall be settled by the appropriate Assistant Director after consultation with the 
Chief Finance Officer.  All items contained therein shall, as far as possible, be suitably marked 
as council property. 

26.2 Each Assistant Director shall be responsible for maintaining at least an annual physical check 
of all items on the inventory, for taking action in relation to surpluses or deficiencies and 
revising the inventory accordingly. In some areas, more frequent spot-checks may be 
appropriate in addition. The Chief Finance Officer must be informed of any significant 
discrepancies discovered on checking inventories. 

26.3 A copy of each inventory should be submitted to the Chief Finance Officer when requested. 

 Where assets are to be disposed of the relevant Assistant Director shall be required to keep 
comprehensive records of the disposal. 

26.4 The Council’s property shall not be removed otherwise than in accordance with the ordinary 
course of the Council’s business or used otherwise than for the Council’s purposes except in 
accordance with specific directions issued by the Assistant Director concerned. 

26.5 Where assets other than land and property are to be disposed of the relevant Assistant 
Director shall be required to ensure Best Consideration is obtained and shall be required to 
keep comprehensive records of the disposal. 

27. STOCKS AND STORES 

27.1 Each Assistant Director shall be responsible for the care and custody of the stocks and stores 
in his/her Department and for the maintenance of appropriate records in a form approved by 
the Chief Finance Officer. 

Page 103



Appendix 1 

27.2 Stocks shall not be in excess of normal requirements except in special circumstances with the 
approval of the Assistant Director concerned. 

27.3  Assistant Directors shall arrange for periodical test examinations of stocks by persons other 
than storekeepers and shall ensure that all stocks are checked at least once in every year. 

27.4 The Chief Finance Officer shall be entitled to receive from each Assistant Director such 
information as he/she requires in relation to stores for the accounting, costing and financial 
records.  Surplus materials, stores or equipment shall be disposed of by competitive tender or 
public auction unless the Cabinet decides otherwise in a particular case. Where the aggregate 
value of surplus materials, stores or equipment etc. to be disposed of does not exceed £5,000 
in any one financial year, the appropriate Assistant Director, in conjunction with the Chief 
Finance Officer, shall be authorised to make the appropriate arrangements for disposal. 

28. AMOUNTS TO BE WRITTEN-OFF 

28.1 The Chief Finance Officer is authorised to write-off debts which for all accounts for an 
individual debtor do not exceed £20,000. 

28.2 The Chief Finance Officer is authorised to write-off stocks and stores up to £20,000 for any 
one item in any one financial year. 

28.3 The Chief Finance Officer, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder responsible for financial 
matters, be authorised to write-off irrecoverable business rate debts in excess of £20,000 but 
which do not exceed £100,000 and in all cases exceeding £100,000 where further recovery 
action is impossible because the debtor is subject to bankruptcy, liquidation or an 
administration order. In such cases to comply with requirements of the Official Receiver and 
other similar bodies the debt may be written-off on Council records prior to formal approval by 
the Chief Finance Officer providing that approval is given within 14 days. 

28.4 The Chief Finance Officer shall be supplied with such information with regard to write-offs as 
is considered necessary. 

28.5 The Director People and Places is authorised to write-off debts relating to penalty charge 
notices. 

28.6 For debts which fall outside the categories stated in paragraphs 28.1 to 28.5 approval will be 
required from Cabinet or the relevant committee. This will be included in the Corporate 
Financial Monitoring process. 

29. SECURITY 

29.1 Each Assistant Director is responsible for maintaining proper security at all times for all 
buildings, stocks, stores, furniture, equipment, cash etc., under his/her control. 

29.2 Maximum limits for cash holdings shall be agreed with the Chief Finance Officer and shall not 
be exceeded without his/her express permission. 

29.3 Persons responsible for keys to safes and similar containers shall make arrangements to 
ensure the safe custody of the keys at all times; the loss of any such keys must be reported to 
the Chief Finance Officer immediately. 

29.4 Each Assistant Director shall maintain a register of key holders in a secure place. 

29.5 The Assistant Director Performance and Innovation  shall be responsible for maintaining 
proper security and privacy as respects information held in the computer installation. 

29.6 The responsibility for all hardware, software, information held and ensuring that the standards 
as set by the Assistant Director Performance and Innovation within each Directorate rests with 
the appropriate Director. 

29.7 The security of personal possessions in the work environment is the responsibility of the 
owner and the Council will accept no responsibility for the security of any items not necessary 
for the service of the Council. 

30. INSURANCES 

Page 104



Appendix 1 

30.1 The Chief Finance Officer shall effect all insurance cover, where appropriate by competitive 
tendering, and negotiate and settle all claims in consultation with appropriate Assistant 
Directors and the Solicitor to the Council where necessary. 

30.2 Assistant Directors shall notify the Chief Finance Officer immediately of all new risks, 
properties or vehicles which may require to be insured and of any alterations affecting existing 
insurances. 

30.3 Assistant Directors shall forthwith notify the Chief Finance Officer in writing of any loss, liability 
or damage or any event likely to lead to any claim against the Council. 

30.4 All appropriate employees of the Council shall be included in a suitable fidelity guarantee 
insurance. 

30.5 The Chief Finance Officer shall annually, or at such other period as is considered necessary, 
review the level of risk and external insurance in consultation with the appropriate Assistant 
Director. 

31. FINANCIAL STATIONERY 

31.1 All official receipt forms, cheques, tickets, stores requisition notes, order books and other 
documents representing money shall be ordered, controlled and issued by  and be in the 
custody of the Chief Finance Officer, who shall supply the requirements of alleach 
Directorates.  A register shall be kept by him of all receipts and issues of such documents, 
and each issue shall be acknowledged by the signature of the officer to whom the issue is 
made, the quantity issued to be determined by ascertained needs.  The officer responsible for 
the stationery shall ensure that it is stored in a secure place and that unauthorised access is 
prevented. 

32. INDEMNITIES 

32.1 Directors mustshould consult with the Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer regarding 
the terms of any indemnity which the Council is requested to give. 

33. IRREGULARITIES 

33.1 Whenever any matter arises which involves, or is thought to involve, financial irregularities 
concerning cash, stores or other property of the Council, or any suspected irregularity in the 
exercise of its functions the Director concerned shall immediately notify the Chief Finance 
Officer who shall take such steps as he/she considers necessary by way of investigation and 
report as detailed in the Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy. Directors should, 
meanwhile, take any appropriate action to prevent further loss and secure records and 
documents against removal or alteration. 

33.2 The Chief Finance Officer should decide whether to involve the Police in matters of serious 
irregularities and inform the Leader or appropriate Chairman accordingly. 

33.3 Full details of procedures for dealing with suspected irregularities are given in the Anti-Bribery, 
Fraud and Corruption Policy. 

Definitions of principal irregularities are: 

Fraud is ‘the intentional distortion of financial statements or other records by persons internal 
or external to the Authority which is carried out to conceal the misappropriation of 
assets or otherwise for gain’.  

Theft is ’dishonestly appropriating property belonging to another with the intention of 
permanently depriving them’. 

Corruption is ‘the offering, giving, soliciting or acceptance of an inducement or reward which 
may influence the action of any person’. 

Bribery is the offer, promise or giving of a financial or other advantage to another person, 
intending to induce them to perform improperly a relevant function or activity, or to 
reward a person for such improper performance. 

33. DEPARTURES TO FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES 

Page 105



Appendix 1 

33.1 In the event of it being impracticable to apply any of these rules in any particular case, the 
Chief Finance Officer is authorised to waive compliance, subject to reporting any major 
departures to the next following Cabinet. 

 

Page 106



Appendix 2 

CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

SECTION 1:  SCOPE OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

1. BASIC PRINCIPLES 

2. DIRECTORS’ AND ASSISTANT DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES 

3. EXEMPTIONS 

4. FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS 

5. CONSORTIA 

6. COLLABORATIVE AGREEMENTS 

7. PARTNERSHIPS 

8. ACCOUNTABLE BODY 

9. E-PROCUREMENT 

10. RELEVANT CONTRACTS 

SECTION 2: COMMON REQUIREMENTS 

11. STEPS PRIOR TO PROCUREMENT 

12. TRANSFER OF UNDERTAKINGS PROTECTION OF EMPLOYEES 

13. NON-COMMERCIAL CONSIDERATIONS, EQUALITIES & COMMUNITY BENEFIT 

14. RECORDS 

15. TENDER PROCEDURE 

SECTION 3: CONDUCTING PROCUREMENT AND DISPOSAL 

16. FINANCIAL LIMITS AND THRESHOLDS 

17. AWARD CRITERIA 

18. QUOTATIONS 

19. INVITATION TO TENDER 

20. SUBMISSION AND RECEIPT OF TENDERS/QUOTATIONS 

21. OPENING OF TENDERS/QUOTATIONS 

22. CLARIFICATION PROCEDURES  

23. EVALUATION 

24. AWARD 

SECTION 4: CONTRACT AND OTHER FORMALITIES 

25. CONTRACT FORMALITIES 

26. SAFEGUARDS FOR DUE PERFORMANCE 

27. PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION 

28. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 

SECTION 5: CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 

29. MANAGING CONTRACTS 

30. RISK ASSESSMENT AND CONTINGENCY PLANNING 

31. CONTRACT MONITORING, EVALUATION AND REVIEW 

32. GLOSSARY 

Page 107



Appendix 2 

BRIEF GUIDE TO CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

These Contract Procedure Rules (issued in accordance with section 135 of the Local Government Act 
1972) are intended to promote good procurement practice and public accountability and deter 
corruption, ensuring value for money on all Council spend. The rules are the best defence against 
allegations that a procurement process has been conducted unlawfully. 

Legal challenges against public procurement are increasing with potentially serious consequences 
for the Council and its officers if procurement activity is not undertaken to the highest standards of 
probity and professionalism. 

These Rules are complimented by the Sustainable Procurement and Commissioning Strategy and the 
Procurement Toolkit maintained by the Procurement Team. The guidance can be found on the 
Council’s SharePoint. 

For the purposes of these rules, where there is a requirement for communication to be in writing, this 
shall be deemed to include e-mail transmissions as well as hard copy. In addition, the term “contract”, 
refers to both paper/hard copy documents and process and their replication by electronic media. 

In accordance with the Constitution, the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Chief Finance 
Officer, is authorised to make technical amendments from time to time to these Contract Procedure 
Rules. 

Important Tips. 

 Follow the rules if you procure goods, services or building work. This is very much in your own 
interest as well as that of the Council. 

 Ensure that all known future procurements projects are placed on the Council’s Procurement 
Schedule in advance as part of the annual review or as they arise. 

 Take all necessary legal, financial, HR and professional advice. Do this early in the 
procurement process to avoid abortive effort and to allow time for consideration of all relevant 
issues.  This to include consideration of the type of contract and if it is to be under seal (all 
contracts over £60,000 should be under seal unless the Monitoring Officer agrees it is not 
expedient to do so). 

 Declare any personal conflict of interest, financial or otherwise, in a contract. Corruption is a 
criminal offence. 

 Check you have correct and appropriate authorisation before you proceed. 

 Check whether there is an existing contract or an appropriate framework agreement that you 
can make use of before undergoing a competitive process. 

 Consider your procurement objectives and available procurement routes such as 
collaboration, use of framework agreements or exemptions/waivers at the outset. 

 Consider risk, including non-financial factors, at the outset e.g. data protection, safeguarding. 

 If your procurement affects any of the Council’s land and building you must contact the 
Corporate Asset Manager. 

 Use the Council’s chosen e-tendering portal, The Chest. 

 Use the Procurement Toolkit that can be found on SharePoint. 

 Ensure you have agreed your contract documents including: 

o  selection and award criteria,  

o weightings and  

o draft terms and conditions including the need for a performance bond 

 before you publish any OJEU advert, Selection Questionnaire (SQ) (previously known as a 
Pre-qualification Questionnaire (PQQ)) or tender. 

 Pre-market engagement in now allowed and encouraged under the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015. The nature of the pre-market engagement should be agreed with the 
Procurement Team. Once the procurement has commenced contact should be via The Chest 
only. 

Page 108



Appendix 2 

 Tenders take time with minimum timescales specified for some aspects of the process. 
Ensure you consult with the Procurement Team to draw up an appropriate procurement 
timetable. For tenders above the OJEU threshold minimum timescales are mandatory by law.  

 Take into account mobilisation periods, elections, public holidays and other events which may 
impact the decision making or implementation process.  

 Take into account any approval process (including Forward Plan) if required by the 
Procurement Schedule or if your procurement is not on the Procurement Schedule. 

 Ensure your service and any potential changes being considered as part of this procurement 
are assessed for their ultimate social value, impact on equality and impact on sustainability 
before proceeding. 

 Keep bids confidential during the bidding process. 

 Keep records of dealings with suppliers and contractors. 

 Complete a written contract where appropriate, and Council order before the supply of goods, 
services or works begin. 

 Nominate an appropriately qualified contract manager with responsibility for ensuring the 
contract delivers as intended. 

 Share lessons learned about what went well or not so well during the procurement, feedback 
to the Procurement Team. 

 Assess each contract 6-12 months after award to see how well it met the procurement needs 
and Value for Money requirements. 

 Remember that all information regarding your procurement process could be subject to a 
Freedom of Information Request or Environmental Information Regulations request. Requests 
for information concerning tender processes and suppliers/contractors are relatively common 
and publication of tenders is part of the movement towards greater transparency. However, 
before releasing any information consult the Data Protection  Principal Performance and 
Intelligence OOfficer and the Procurement Team. 

 Under the Government’s transparency requirements all contracts over £10,000 must be 
included on the electronic contracts register once the contract is awarded or extended. This 
should also include waivers and exemptions. 

SECTION 1: SCOPE OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES 

1. BASIC PRINCIPLES 

1.1 The following basic principles shall apply to all procurement and disposal procedures and 
contracts:- 

 All procurement activity will comply with all applicable the EU Treaty and Procurement 
Directives, UK Legislation, the Council Constitution and all other relevant policies and 
procedures; 

 The Council will undertake procurement activity using the most efficient and effective methods 
and will select the most appropriate delivery mechanisms to ensure Value for Money; 

 All procurement activity will include due consideration of social, economic and environmental 
factors and will be assessed on Whole Life Costing; 

 Robust contract management will support improved service delivery through continuous 
improvement in the quality of goods, works and services; and 

 Procurement will be fair, open and transparent and undertaken to the highest standards of 
probity, integrity, honesty and professionalism. 

1.2 These rules apply equally to tenders and requests for quotations. 

1.3 The designated contract manager is responsible for ensuring All contracts must have an 
appropriate funded budget. 

1.4 These Contract Procedure Rules shall be reviewed and updated annually. These Rules and 
Amendments to them shall be agreed and approved by the full Council. 

Page 109



Appendix 2 

2. DIRECTORS’ AND ASSISTANT DIRECTORS’S’ RESPONSIBILITIES 

2.1 Directors and Assistant Directors shall:- 

2.1.1 Review and update the Council’s Procurement Schedule (including exemptions and waivers) 
at least annually. 

2.1.2 Ensure the central registers of: 

 (a) contracts completed by signature, rather than by the Council’s seal and arrange their 
safekeeping on Council premises; 

 (b) exemptions recorded under Rule 3; 

 (c) are updated for all procurements. 

2.1.3 Compile and keep under continuous review a written schedule of all standing delegations 
made by them under these Contract Procedures 

3. EXEMPTIONS AND WAIVERS 

Exemptions 

3.1 Nothing in these Rules shall require written quotations or tenders to be invited if:- 

 (a) the total estimated value is less than £10,000 although obtaining quotes to ensure 
best value is encouraged. Where quotations have been sought they should be retained in a 
format agreed by the Procurement and Contracts Manager; or 

 (b) the goods, services or works are proprietary or of such a specialised nature that they 
can only be obtained from one particular supplier; or are sold only at a fixed price and no 
reasonably satisfactory alternative is available; or 

 (c) the prices of the goods or materials are wholly controlled by trade organisations or 
Government Order and no reasonably satisfactory alternative is available; or 

 (d) a purchase is to be made at a public auction, provided that the person bidding is 
satisfied that the cost of the purchase is reasonable compared to the cost of alternative 
methods of purchase; or 

 (e) the purchase is through an alternative contract or Framework Agreement available to 
the Council and which has been put together as a result of a lawfully tendered competition; or 

 (f) the contract is with professional persons for the provision of services where the 
personal skill of those persons is of primary importance; or 

 (g) for other reasons certified by the relevant Director there would be no genuine 
competition; or 

 (h) the contract is for the execution of work, the supply of goods, or services certified by 
the relevant Director as being required so urgently as not to permit the invitation of quotations 
or tenders; or 

 (i) the works to be executed or the goods, works or services fall within the scope of the 
existing contract; an extension of an existing contract as stated in the initial contract 
agreement; or 

 (j) the works to be executed or the goods, works or services fall within the scope of an 
existing contract where there is a genuinely justifiable case to use the existing contract to 
maintain continuity of supply. Extensions will not be considered where to do so would breach 
EU Procurement legislation. 

The Procurement Team and the Chief Finance Officer must be consulted before an exemption is 
agreed by the relevant Director under clauses (b) to (j). These exemptions will be included in the 
Procurement Schedule or, if issued under clauses (b) to (j), will be reported by the relevant Director 
as part of the Corporate Financial Monitoring process. 

Waiving the Rules 

Page 110



Appendix 2 

3.2.1 Subject to UK and EU law any of these rules may be waived in consultation with the 
Procurement Team and the Chief Finance Officer. Waivers should be included in the Procurement 
Schedule to be approved by Council as part of the budget setting process. If this is not possible, 
waivers shall be approved by the Monitoring Officer where they are satisfied that to do so is justified in 
special circumstances and those special circumstances and the advantages and disadvantages of the 
alternative options are identified. Waivers should be reported to the next meeting of the Cabinet or 
relevant Committee of the Council if over £100,000 or by the relevant Director as part of the 
Corporate Financial Monitoring process if less than £100,000. Waivers relating to insurance claims 
where the procurement requirements of the insurer have been followed will only need to be reported 
as part of the Corporate Financial Monitoring process even if over £100,000. 

3.2.2 All waivers will be recoded centrally in a format agreed by the Procurements and Contracts 
Manager. 

4. FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS 

4.1 Where the Council identifies and adopts suitable Framework agreement(s) that have been 
tendered and awarded by central or local government or other public body or statutory undertaker the 
Council may benefit from using those agreements without entering into a separate procurement 
process, provided:- 

4.1.1 There are one or more suitable suppliers who are party to the framework; 

4.1.2 An options appraisal proportionate to the contract value has been conducted to ensure the 
council is obtaining best value; 

4.1.3 The duration of any call off contract that results is calculated to take account of the nature and 
volatility of the market for the goods, works or services that are being procured; 

4.1.4 All framework instructions are complied with, such as those relating to:- 

 which organisations can access the framework; 

 use of direct award or mini competition; 

 terms and conditions; and 

 contract duration; 

4.1.5 The use of the Framework Agreement is recorded in the electronic Contract Register. This 
should include framework reference numbers, lot numbers and the name and company registration 
number (where appropriate) of the supplier. 

5. CONSORTIA 

5.1 Where the Council joins one or more bodies/contracting authorities in a consortium or 
partnership and the contract is being tendered and awarded by that consortium or partnership, the 
Council shall not be required to invite further tenders, provided that these Rules have been followed to 
the extent that they are not inconsistent with the procedure(s) adopted by that consortium or 
partnership for awarding contracts. 

6. COLLABORATIVE CONTRACTS (EXCLUDING FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS) 

6.1 In order to secure Value for Money, the Council may enter into collaborative procurement 
arrangements. This may be with or through another local authority, government department, statutory 
undertaker or public service purchasing consortium. 

The views of the relevant Portfolio Holder shall be sought before any decision is made as to whether 
to enter into collaborative procurement arrangements. 

6.2 Before undertaking a collaborative agreement, Officers should contact the Procurement 
Team. Fundamentally it is the responsibility of the lead authority putting in place a collaborative 
procurement process or framework agreement to ensure the process is fully compliant with all 
relevant procurement legislation. However, the Council has a clear responsibility not to utilise any 
contractual agreement which is not fully compliant and can be held accountable should they do so. 

6.3 Where collaborative agreements are entered into the Officer must:- 

 clarify who is the contracting authority; 

Page 111



Appendix 2 

 ensure there is a legal agreement that protects the interests of the Council, which may include 
the use of a memorandum of agreement; 

 ensure that where the overall contract values are above EU Thresholds the contract was let in 
accordance with EU procedures and that any procurement activity below the EU Thresholds is 
conducted with due regard to the EU Treaty-based principles; and 

 ensure that the duration of any call off contract is calculated to take account of the nature and 
volatility of market for the goods, works or services being procured. 

7. PARTNERSHIPS 

7.1 Whenever the Council enters into a formal partnership the Council will ensure Governance 
arrangements are agreed in writing and include tendering responsibilities and arrangements. 

7.2 Where the Council acts as Lead Authority in the partnership these Contract Procedure Rules 
shall whenever practicable be followed. 

7.3 Before entering into contracts, written agreements shall be made with funding partners 
regarding the level of and conditions attached to any funding. 

7.4 Where the Council is not the lead partner, the tendering procedure rules agreed by the 
partnership shall be followed. 

8. ACCOUNTABLE BODY 

8.1 Tendering arrangements must conform with this Council’s and any appointed partner(s) 
Contract Procedure Rules, and be capable of providing evidence of this to the Council, its agents and 
auditors. 

N.B. Failure to follow the funding body’s tendering rule is likely to result in funds being clawed back, 
leading to a potential budget deficit to be financed by the Council 

9. E-PROCUREMENT 

9.1 The use of e-procurement technology does not negate the requirement to comply with all 
elements of these Contract Procedure Rules, particularly those relating to competition and Value for 
Money. 

10. RELEVANT CONTRACTS 

10.1 All Relevant Contracts must comply with these Contract Procedure Rules. A Relevant 
Contract is any arrangement made by, or on behalf of, the Council, other than those in 10.2 below. 

10.2 Relevant Contracts do not include: 

 contracts of employment which make an individual a direct employee of the Council, or 

 agreements regarding the acquisition, disposal, or transfer of land (for which the Financial 
Framework shall apply). 

10.3 Providing Services to External Organisations 

 The Monitoring Officer, the Chief Finance Officer, other Directors as appropriate, Financial 
Services (insurance) and the Procurement Team must be consulted where contracts to work 
for organisations other than the Council are contemplated. 

SECTION 2: COMMON REQUIREMENTS 

11. STEPS PRIOR TO PROCUREMENT 

11.1 As part of the budget process for the following financial year, the Council will prepare a 
Procurement Schedule. This will be considered by Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Cabinet and 
approved by Council as part of the Budget and Policy Framework and will be included in the Forward 
Plan. 

11.2 The Procurement Schedule will include:- 

(a) the title of the contract; 

Page 112



Appendix 2 

(b) the service and officer responsible; 

(c) a brief summary of the goods or services covered; 

(d) proposed start and end dates; 

(e) a review date and extension period (if applicable); 

(f) estimated value by band (Under £10k, £10k - £100k, Over £100k to OJEU, Over OJEU); 

(g) the process to be followed, if known (e.g. request for quotation, invitation to tender, use of 
existing framework, full OJEU); and 

(h) the proposed decision route (officer Administrative Decisions, DED, Cabinet) 

11.3 Each Assistant Director is responsible for ensuring the Procurement Schedule is updated. It 
should include waivers and exemptions. 

11.4 At the beginning of each financial year the Council  shall publish a Prior Information notice 
(PIN) in the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU) listing the contracts for supplies or 
services above the relevant EU thresholds that it expects to procure during that financial year. In 
relation to works contracts the Council shall publish a PIN as above when the works have been 
approved. The formal advice of the Monitoring Officer must be sought for the following contracts: 

 where the Contract value exceeds the EU threshold 

 those involving leasing arrangements, where the advice of the Chief Finance Officer will also 
be required 

 where there may be significant Intellectual Property Rights, copyright and confidentiality 
considerations (e.g. in the case of consultancies) 

 where risk assessments show the contract to be of medium or high risk or those that are 
complex in any other way. 

11.5 Tenders and Requests for Quotation shall wherever practicable be widely and appropriately 
advertised to ensure equality of opportunity for potential suppliers to compete if they so choose. 

11.6 Officers must ensure that appropriate authorisation has been given to proceed with the 
procurement and that the processes within the financial regulations are followed. 

11.7 Officers must ensure that provision for resources for the management of the contract and for 
support from internal specialists, for its entirety, have been identified and where necessary included in 
a business case. 

11.8 Officers must assess the procurement process in a manner commensurate with its complexity 
and value. Officers must:- 

 appraise the need for the expenditure and its priority; 

 define the objectives of the procurement process; 

 conduct an options appraisal to consider how the contract should be packaged and what 
procurement method is most likely to achieve the objectives and demonstrate value for 
money, including internal or external sourcing, partnering and collaborative procurement 
arrangements; 

 assess the risks associated with the procurement process and how to manage them; 

 consult the Corporate Asset Manager for all procurement relating to the Council’s land and 
buildings; 

 consult end users, internally and externally, about their expectations, the proposed 
procurement method, and expected  contract standards and performance; 

 consider what terms and conditions (T&Cs) should be used, including use of:- 

o Council standard T&Cs for straight forward procurements; 

o the most recent edition of professional/industry standard T&Cs where appropriate 
(e.g. JCT Minor Works Contract); 

o appropriate levels of insurance; 

Page 113



Appendix 2 

o specialist T&Cs drafted by Legal Services for more complex, high spend or high risk 
procurements; and 

o the T&Cs relating to any framework (if applicable); 

 ensure conflicts of interest are identified, including where staff members have, directly or 
indirectly, a financial, economic or other personal interest which might be perceived to 
compromise their impartiality and independence in the procurement process. Any potential 
conflicts should be identified to the Monitoring Officer; and 

 set out these matters in writing if the Contract value of the Procurement exceeds £25,000. 

11.9 The Chief Finance Officer will set, from time to time, default levels of insurances appropriate 
for different types of procurement/contracts. These default levels can only be reduced with the 
approval of the Chief Finance Officer. 

12. TRANSFER OF UNDERTAKINGS (PROTECTION OF EMPLOYMENT) REGULATIONS 
2006 (TUPE) 

12.1 In all cases where a request for Quotation or Invitation to Tender for services may result in a 
transfer of employees to or from the Council the Council will:- 

 issue a statement on the application of the Acquired Rights Directive(s) and the Transfer of 
Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006; and 

 consult staff who may be affected. 

13. NON-COMMERCIAL CONSIDERATIONS, EQUALITIES & COMMUNITY BENEFIT 

13.1 Under procurement law, public bodies are only able to take social and environmental matters 
into account in the decision to award a contract to the extent that those matters are directly relevant to 
the subject matter of the contract. However, in compliance with public procurement law, public bodies 
are now required to consider how social, economic and environmental improvements can be achieved 
through procurement. 

13.2 Inclusion of such criteria in specifications should be undertaken in accordance with the 
Sustainable Procurement & Commissioning Strategy and the Procurement Toolkit. 

14. RECORDS 

14.1 All contractual documents associated with Requests for Quotations and Tenders from 
successful and unsuccessful suppliers must be retained in accordance with the clauses below:- 

14.1.1 The method for obtaining bids 

14.1.2 copies of public notices 

14.1.3 any Contracting decision including exemptions and the reasons for it 

14.1.4 the shortlisting criteria and scoring 

14.1.5 the Award criteria and scoring 

14.1.6 the reason if the lowest price is not accepted 

14.1.7 Tenders/Quotations returned 

14.1.8 Any post tender interviews and clarifications including written notes of any interviews 

14.1.9 arrangement for contract management and monitoring 

14.1.10 communications with all Candidates and with the successful contractor 

14.1.11 Requisition for Supplies/goods 

14.1.12 Copy orders 

14.1.13 Delivery Notes 

14.1.14 Invoices, credit notes etc 

14.1.15 Price Advices 

Page 114



Appendix 2 

14.1.16 Contract Variations 

14.1.17 Write off Approvals 

14.2 A complete set of the original contract and tender documents must also be retained, including 
contract terms and conditions, specification, pricing schedule, evaluation models, correspondence 
and award decision and letter as either electronic or hard copies. All of the above will be safely stored 
on the Council’s e-tendering portal, The Chest when used to undertake a procurement exercise. 

14.3 Records required by this rule, must be retained in accordance with the Council’s document 
retention policy but in any event must be retained for the following: 

 For contracts below £60,000 in total estimated value – 3 years or the lifetime of the contract 

 For contracts £60,000 and above – six years after the expiry of the contract 

14.4 The Monitoring Officer shall have overall responsibility to ensure a register (the Contract 
Register) is maintained for all contractual arrangements. The Register will be continually reviewed 
and updated in line with all relevant procurement activity, by the Monitoring Officer and/or the 
Procurement & Contracts Manager. 

15. TENDER PROCEDURE 

15.1 For the purposes of this rule, all estimates of contract values shall be in accordance with the 
procurement toolkit. If for any reason this is not available the estimates are to be in writing and 
prepared by the relevant Director or a competent member of his/her staff. Written quotations or 
tenders are not required for goods, services or works having an estimated value of less than £10,000 
although best value should be obtained; this can be demonstrated through seeking three written 
quotes. 

15.2 For contracts having an estimated value of £10,000 but not exceeding £100,000 quotations 
are obtained from competent contractors through The Chest.  A minimum of three quotes should be 
obtained.  Where less than three quotes are submitted the authorisation of Chief Finance Officer 
should be obtained before a quotation is accepted.  The Chief Finance Office must be satisfied that 
the quotation represents value for money. 

Tenders (Below EU Threshold Values) 

15.3 No contract having an estimated value of £100,000 or more but below EU Threshold values 
applicable at the time shall be made unless the procedures below are undertaken:  

15.3.1 At least fourteen (14) days public notice should be given on The Chest and Contracts Finder 
using the Council’s standard documentation or a variation of such, and stating:- 

 the nature and purpose of the contract; 

 inviting tenders for its execution; 

 details of the award criterion; and 

 the last date for when tenders will be accepted.  

Framework agreement 

15.3.2 In accordance with Rule 4  

Pre-Qualification 

15.3.3 Where application has been invited by Public Notice in accordance with the Rules above, the 
invitation may require a pre-tender assessment (Selection Questionnaire, previously known as a Pre-
Qualification Questionnaire) to be undertaken and for the invitation to submit a tender to be limited to 
those persons who satisfactorily meet the requirements of that assessment. 

15.3.4 Where this applies the public notice must clearly and unambiguously state this fact. 

15.3.5 The relevant Director shall select not less than 5 contractors from the list who have 
satisfactorily met the pre-qualification criteria to submit a tender. Where less than 5 have satisfactorily 
met the pre-qualification criteria the maximum number of suitable contractors must be invited to 
submit a tender. 

Page 115



Appendix 2 

15.3.6 A two stage procurement process including pre-qualification should not be used as standard 
practice but instead when the procurement and contract process is considered high risk. 

15.3.7 The Council shall only enter into a contract with a potential supplier if it is satisfied as to the 
suppliers’:- 

 eligibility that he/she is not disbarred from tendering; 

 financial standing; and 

 overall technical ability. 

Tenders above EU threshold values 

15.4 All supplies, services or works having an estimated contract value in excess of the values 
stipulated in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 shall be undertaken strictly in accordance with the 
requirements of that legislation. 

15.5 All public notices for such contracts must be in the prescribed form and appear in the Official 
Journal of the European Union (OJEU), electronically transmitted via the e-tendering portal, The 
Chest and on Contracts Finder. 

15.6 Placement of additional local/national or other public notices must only be made after the date 
of despatch to OJEU and should contain the same fundamental criteria as the OJEU Notice. 

15.7 The advice and assistance of the Procurement & Contracts Manager must be sought prior to 
the despatch of any OJEU Notice. 

SECTION 3: CONDUCTING PROCUREMENT AND DISPOSAL 

16. FINANCIAL LIMITS AND THRESHOLDS 

16.1 All requests for quotations, tendering and contracting, other than detailed in Rule 3 
Exemptions, shall be subject to the thresholds shown on SharePoint. 

16.2 The Council acting as an ‘Accountable Body’ may be subject to lower financial thresholds than 
specified in Appendix 1 as stipulated by the funding body 

16.3 The Council will regularly review and if appropriate revise the Financial thresholds listed on 
SharePoint. 

17. AWARD CRITERIA 

17.1 The basis of tender acceptance and award must be made clear in the tender documentation. 
Either 

 Most Economically Advantageous Tender; or 

 Lowest Price where payment is to be made by the Council; or 

 Highest Price if payment is to be received. 

As more fully described hereunder 

17.2 Contracts shall primarily be awarded on the basis of the Most Economically Advantageous 
Tender which is most likely to offer ‘Value for Money’ by a robust assessment of cost and quality. 
Setting evaluation criteria based solely on lowest prices should be done with extreme caution. 

17.3 For contracts having a value in excess of £100,000, or identified as likely to have significant 
environmental impacts(s) the evaluation of cost and quality shall include an assessment of ‘Whole 
Life Costs’ proportional to the value of the relevant goods, works or services. 

17.4 Unless there are exceptional reasons, the weighting given to price shall be between 60% and 
85%. A lower figure than 60% will require the written approval of the Chief Finance Officer. 

17.5 An award on the basis of lowest price should be reserved for sectors where it is possible to 
precisely specify the goods or supplies to be procured or the items are otherwise identical. (For 
example basic gas and electricity supply prices but not where an element of the supply is to be from 
renewable or carbon neutral processes) 

Page 116



Appendix 2 

17.6 The award criteria must be established before publication of Invitation to Tender (ITT) and 
must be included in the documentation issued to potential suppliers as part of the tender process. In 
the case of contracts that are estimated to be over the EU thresholds it is encouraged that the 
evaluation criteria is also published in the initial OJEU notice and is required to be included at the 
PQQ stage. 

17.7 Award Criteria must not include:- 

 non-Commercial Considerations; 

 matters which discriminate against suppliers from the European Economic Area or signatories 
to the Government Procurement Agreement; or 

 criteria used in selection and award - criteria should be distinguished separately at all times in 
the tendering process. 

18. QUOTATIONS 

18.1 All Requests for Quotations (RFQs) must include a specification that describes the Council’s 
requirements in sufficient detail to enable the submission of competitive offers 

18.2 The Officer must define Award Criteria that are appropriate to the Procurement and designed 
to secure an outcome giving value for money for the Council. 

18.3 All Quotations must specify the terms and conditions of contract that will apply. 

18.4 The Request for Quotation must state that the Council is not bound to accept the lowest or 
any Quote, and reserves the right not to award the Contract at all. 

18.5 All Candidates invited to quote must be issued with the same information at the same time 
and subject to the same conditions via The Chest. Any supplementary information must be given on 
the same basis. 

18.6 Quotations must be returned electronically via the Chest, or where an alternative procedure is 
adopted via email or in writing addressed impersonally to the relevant Director. 

18.7 The Assistant Director may accept the most advantageous Quotations received in respect of 
proposed contracts, provided they have been sought and evaluated fully in accordance with these 
Contract Procedure Rules. 

18.8 The authority in 18.7 may be subject to delegation for quotations under £10,000. However, the 
decision on acceptance must be taken by an Officer of appropriate seniority and experience and must 
be formally recorded. 

19. INVITATION TO TENDER 

19.1 Any Invitation to Tender issued by the Council shall include details of the Council’s 
requirements for that particular contract including:- 

19.1.2 A description of the supplies, services or works being procured; 

19.1.3 The procurement timetable including tender return date and time. Such date must allow a 
reasonable period for potential suppliers to prepare and submit their tender; 

19.1.4 A specification and instructions on whether variants are permissible; 

19.1.5 The Council’s standard terms and conditions of contract, or other suitably prepared T&Cs with 
the agreement of Legal Services; 

19.1.6 A statement on the Council’s Anti-Bribery, Fraud and Corruption Policy including reference to 
the Whistle-blowing Policy (Confidential Reporting Code) and the Bribery Act 2010; 

19.1.7 The evaluation criteria and any weightings considered appropriate; 

19.1.8 The pricing mechanism and instructions for completion; 

19.1.9 The form and content of any method statements etc. to be submitted; 

19.1.10 A statement that the Council does not bind itself to accept the lowest or any tender; 

Page 117



Appendix 2 

19.1.11 A statement that late tenders, incomplete tenders, tenders returned not using the means 
indicated, or where applicable, not returned in the envelope provided or bearing distinguishing marks 
that would identify the sender, or those containing an unauthorised alteration will be disqualified; 

19.1.12 Whether the Council is of the view that the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 
Employment) Regulations 2006 may apply; 

19.1.13 A list of documents to be returned, and the rules for their submission; 

19.1.14 Any further information that will inform and assist those invited to tender to prepare and submit 
tenders; 

19.1.15 A Non-Collusive Tendering Certificate for completion and return by the tenderer; and 

19.1.16 A statement that “The Council does not bind itself to accept the lowest (highest), or any 
tender” 

19.2 Tenders invited in pursuance of Rule 22(1) of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 shall be 
returned electronically where the process has taken place via the e-tendering portal. 

19.3 Where submissions are required in other formats to support the process on The Chest they 
shall be addressed impersonally to the relevant Director. 

19.4 Tender return envelopes/labels shall be a plain colour. They shall bear the word ‘Tender’ 
followed by the tender subject, and clearly state the deadline for receipt of tenders in the top left hand 
corner. 

20. SUBMISSION AND RECEIPT OF TENDERS/QUOTATIONS 

20.1 Candidates must be given an adequate period in which to prepare and submit a proper 
Tender/Quotation, consistent with the complexity of the contract requirement. The EU Procedure lays 
down specific time periods which are required by law and must be adhered to. 

20.2 Electronic tenders and tender envelopes returned must only be opened after expiry of the 
closing date in accordance with the provisions of Clause 21 below. Any opening of tenders, 
(electronic or hard copy), prior to the tender return deadline will render the tender exercise invalid 

20.3 All tender responses shall be returned via the portal where they will be sealed until after the 
deadline for return has passed when only an appointed verifier can release them. 

20.4 Where supporting evidence is requested, tender envelopes on their return shall be date 
stamped on the outside with the date of their return by Reception/post room staff who will initial them 
and insert the time of their return. Envelopes will then be placed in the locked Tender Box where they 
will remain unopened until after the deadline for return has passed. 

20.5 Where the preferred method of the approved e-tendering portal is followed all quotations shall 
be returned via the portal where they will remain locked until after the final deadline for receipt of all 
quotations when only someone from the Procurement Team can release them. 

20.6 Where a paper-based exercise is followed for quotations under £10,000, quotation envelopes 
on their return shall be date stamped, the time of their return inserted and initialled by the staff who 
first receives them. They will be forwarded to the relevant Director who will store them in a secure 
locked place where they will remain unopened until after the deadline for return has passed. 

21. OPENING OF TENDERS/QUOTATIONS 

21.1 Tenders and Quotations shall be opened at a single time. 

21.2 Where the preferred method of the approved e-tendering portal is followed all quotations shall 
be returned via the portal where they will remain locked until after the final deadline for receipt of 
tenders when only an appointed verifier can release them. 

21.3 The relevant Director and a designated member of his/her staff or two designated members of 
his/her staff shall open supporting documents to tenders and written quotations received under any 
other procedure or in the case of using the e-tendering portal an appointed verifier can release them. 

21.4 Where a paper-based exercise has been followed for quotations under £10,000 the Form of 
Tender/Quotation, Non-collusive certificates, form of bond and any priced documents submitted by 

Page 118



Appendix 2 

the potential supplier shall be date stamped and those persons present shall insert their initials within 
the stamp. 

21.5 Any Tender/Quotation received after the appointed time for receipt of tenders/quotations for a 
particular contract shall be disqualified, other than under exceptional circumstances, and shall not be 
opened save to ascertain the name of the tenderer/potential supplier to whom it shall be returned 
immediately. The Monitoring Officer must agree if special circumstances apply. The circumstances 
must be recorded on the procurement file and reported to the Procurement Team. 

21.6 Where this is carried out as a paper-based activity the Tender and Quotation return 
envelopes, or photocopies thereof indicating the date and time of receipt shall be retained as part of 
the tender file. 

22. CLARIFICATION PROCEDURES 

General 

22.1 Providing clarification of an Invitation to Tender (ITT) to potential or actual Candidates or 
seeking clarification of a Tender is permitted only via The Chest. 

22.2 The Council may seek clarification via The Chest from potential suppliers in respect of their 
offer where appropriate. However the same opportunity must be afforded to all potential suppliers to 
ensure a transparent, non-discriminatory process that affords equality of opportunity. 

22.3 Any question points of clarification must be raised by potential suppliers via The Chest. 
Questions shall be answered promptly and only via The Chest. The same information must also be 
communicated in writing to all other potential tenderers to ensure transparency and equality. 
Consideration must be given to extending the timescales for submission if material clarifications are 
sought, particularly if clarifications are issued within 6 days of the submission deadline. 

Post Tender 

22.4 Discussions with Tenderers after submission of a Tender and before the award of a contract 
with a view to obtaining adjustments in price, delivery or content must be the exception rather than the 
rule and be within the scope of the contract.  

22.5 Post tender discussions may only be conducted in circumstances which do not put other 
tenderers at a disadvantage, distort competition or affect adversely the integrity of the competitive 
tendering process. 

22.6 Where during the tender evaluation process, examination of the most favourable tender or 
quotation reveals errors or discrepancies, which affect the tender/quotation figure the following 
process shall be followed:- 

22.6.1 If the errors or discrepancies are of an arithmetic nature that results in the tender figure being 
reduced from that submitted, the tenderer etc. will be informed of the errors or discrepancies involved 
and that the Council intends to treat the tender figure as reduced to reflect the true arithmetic value of 
the tender/quotation; 

22.6.2 If the errors or discrepancies are of an arithmetic nature that results in the tender figure being 
increased from that submitted, the tenderer etc. will be informed of the errors or discrepancies 
involved and afforded the opportunity to confirm the tender/quotation figure at the original submitted 
price or to withdraw the tender/quotation offer; 

22.6.3 In all other circumstances, the tenderer etc. is to be given details of the errors or 
discrepancies and afforded the opportunity to confirm the tender/quotation figure or withdraw the 
offer. 

22.6.4 A reviewed tender price cannot be submitted by the tenderer at this stage unless the OJEU 
competitive procedure with negotiation procedure is being followed. 

22.6.5 If a tenderer etc. withdraws an offer as a result of 22.6.2 or 22.6.3 above the next most 
favourable tender shall be examined and treated in the same manner. 

22.7 Where post-tender discussions result in a fundamental change to the specification, scope or 
contract terms, the contract must not be awarded, but re-tendered. 

23. EVALUATION 

Page 119



Appendix 2 

23.1 Evaluation means assessment of tenders submitted against published selection and award 
criteria. Evaluation must only be against the published criteria, any other assessment which has not 
been stated on commencement of the procurement is against the principles of fairness and 
transparency. 

23.2 Apart from any debriefing required or permitted by these Contract Procedure Rules, the 
confidentiality of Quotations, Tenders and the identity of Candidates must be preserved at all times 
and information about one Candidate’s response must not be given to another Candidate. This is 
subject to the requirements of legislation, for example the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

23.3 Evaluation of the tenders must be carried out by a minimum of two officers of sufficient 
seniority, skill, knowledge and experience. The evaluation must be carried out collectively and fully 
documented. 

23.4 The arithmetic in compliant Tenders must be checked. If arithmetical errors are found they 
should be corrected and notified to the Tenderer, who should be requested to confirm whether they 
wish their Tender to be evaluated with the amended amount or whether they wish to withdraw their 
Tender. 

23.5 Where no tenders are fully compliant with the specification, the advice of the Procurement 
Team must be sought. 

24. AWARD 

24.1 The most favourable tender or quotation may only be accepted where there is adequate 
provision in the Revenue estimates approved by the Council or an approved Capital Estimate.  

24.2 The most advantageous Quotations and Tenders received in respect of proposed contracts 
may only be accepted provided they have been sought and evaluated fully in accordance with these 
Contract Procedure Rules. 

24.3 Where tenders are to be accepted these must be done in accordance with the financial 
thresholds information held on SharePoint. 

24.4 Where the most favourable tender received is unacceptable, exceeds the budget provision, 
despite any adjustments that may be permitted under the Invitation to Tender and these Rules, a 
report on all tenders for that particular contract, and the options available shall be made to the 
Cabinet or relevant Council Committee for consideration and decision. 

24.5 Where the most favourable quotation received is unacceptable, exceeds the budget provision, 
despite any adjustments that may be permitted under the Request for Quotation and these Rules, a 
report on all quotations and the options available shall be prepared by the Assistant Director for 
consideration and decision by the relevant Director. 

24.6 Where a payment is proposed to be made to the Council, and the most favourable 
tender/quotation is unacceptable, or it is proposed to accept other than the most favourable 
tender/quotation a report shall be made on all tenders or quotation as described in 25.4 and 25.5 
respectively. 

24.7 At the conclusion of the tender exercise, having an estimated value above EU threshold 
values, and prior to any award being made, there shall be a minimum 10-day standstill period during 
which unsuccessful suppliers shall be debriefed in writing. No information, other than the following, 
should be given without taking the advice of the Monitoring Officer: 

 The criteria and weightings 

 The score of the bidder, the score of the winning bidder and the score of the other bidders 
which must be kept anonymous 

 The name of the winning bidder 

 The reasons for the decision, including the characteristics and relative advantages of the 
winning tender 

24.8 If formal objections to the intended award are raised the Officer shall not award the contract 
and immediately consult the Monitoring Officer and the Procurement & Contracts Manager. 

24.9 For below EU threshold procurement exercises suppliers shall be debriefed as to the outcome 
of the exercise taking into account the same principles of openness and transparency. 

Page 120



Appendix 2 

24.10 Acceptance of other than the most economic advantageous Tender must be authorised as 
follows: 

 Up to Tender Threshold  

 By the Assistant Director. This authority will not be subject to delegation. Full details of the 
reasons for the decision must be recorded, signed by the Service Director and forwarded to 
the Procurement Team  to be held on file. 

 Tender Threshold to EU Threshold  

 By the Delegated Executive Decision, based on the formal recommendation of the Director. 
Full details of the reasons for the decision must be recorded and held on file. 

 Over EU Threshold (OJEU procedure) 

 By the Cabinet, based on a formal detailed report submitted by the relevant Director. 

 Where the tender is covered by the EU Procurement Directives, then acceptance must comply 
with these. 

SECTION 4: CONTRACT AND OTHER FORMALITIES 

25. CONTRACT FORMALITIES 

25.1 All contracts having an estimated total value of £1025,000 and above, and any other case 
where the Monitoring Officer so decides shall be in writing. 

25.2 Every such contract entered into on behalf of the Council shall be in a form approved by the 
Monitoring Officer said Director and shall be signed by at least two a duly authorised officers of the 
Council or made under the common seal of the Council attested by at least one officer in accordance 
with the Council’s Constitution.  The Monitoring Officer will specify when electronic signatures are 
appropriate. 

25.3 Contract formalities must be carried out and completed to the satisfaction of the Monitoring 
Officer before the contractor commences any work under the contract. 

25.4 Every such contract shall include 

25.4.1 The supplies, services or works to be furnished/delivered, had or done [including appropriate 
technical specification(s]; 

  

25.4.2 The price to be paid with a statement of any discounts or other deductions; 

25.4.3 Payment terms which should normally state payment in arrears. However where payment in 
advance is necessary the rationale for this should be fully documented, and where payments in 
advance exceed £10,000 a documented risk assessment must be approved by the relevant Assistant 
Director unless the supply relates to computer software. 

25.4.4 The time or times within which the contract is to be performed/undertaken; 

25.4.5 Valid copies of the minimum appropriate insurance to be held by the contractor at the 
commencement of the contract and on each subsequent anniversary; 

25.4.6 Clauses(s) for the way in which any arbitration is to proceed under the contract; 

25.4.7 A clause prohibiting the contractor from transferring, assigning (directly or indirectly) to any 
person whatsoever, any portion of the contract without the prior written permission of the Council, or 
from subletting any portion of the contract without such permission other than may be customary in 
the trade concerned; 

25.4.8 In every contract for the execution of works or the supply of goods and materials and in every 
contract where the estimated value exceeds £60,000 (except where the contract is entered into under 
partnering arrangements) there shall be a consideration of the need for liquidated damages. Where it 
is considered that provision should be made for liquidated damages, the requirement and amount of 
such provision shall be determined in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer who shall consider 

Page 121



Appendix 2 

the nature of the contract and its associated risks. The calculation shall be recorded and filed with the 
contract documents; 

25.4.9 A clause stating the retention of any appropriate amount determined following consultation 
with the Monitoring Officer that will be withheld until clearance of the Final Account. 

25.4.10   That all goods, materials and workmanship must be at least to the standard specified 
having regard to the relevant European, British or equivalent body, and must otherwise be fit for 
purpose; 

25.4.11   A clause empowering the Council to cancel the contract and to recover from the 
contractor the amount of any loss resulting from such cancellation, if the contractor shall have offered 
or given or agreed to give any person any gift, consideration or any kind of inducement or reward for 
doing or forbearing to do or to have done any action in relation to obtaining or execution of the 
contract with the Council; 

25.4.12   A clause empowering the Council to cancel the contract and recover from the 
contractor the amount of any loss resulting from such cancellation if the contractor or any person 
employed by him/her or acting on his behalf shall have committed any offence under the Bribery Act 
2010 or shall have given any fee or reward, the receipt of which is an offence under Section 117(2) of 
the Local Government Act 1972. 

25.4.13  A clause prohibiting the Contractor from transferring or assigning, directly or 
indirectly, any portion of the contract to any person or organisation without the express written 
consent of the Council. 

25.4.14   A clause that the contractor, his staff, agents and any sub-contractors are required to 
comply with the Council’s Anti Fraud and Corruption, modern slavery, safeguarding, Prevent, GDPR  
procedures and the Whistle-blowing Policy (Confidential Reporting Code) or equivalent for reporting 
any such events. A copy of the Whistle-blowing policy currently applicable shall be included in the 
schedule of documents under clauses 25.1 and 25.2 above. 

25.4.15  A clause that the contractor will comply with the provisions of:  

 The Council’s Equality and Diversity Policy including requirements of the Equality Act 2010; 

 All obligations of the Council under the Human Rights legislations; 

 All restrictions and requirements of the Council under Data Protection legislation; 

 All restrictions and requirements that may be imposed on the Council under the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000; and 

 The Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 and any other legislation made thereunder or 
relevant to the health and safety of employees. 

 The TUPE requirements (where applicable). 

25.5 Where a formal contract is not required the Director will notify acceptance in writing to the 
successful contractor and place the necessary order. This must include the Council’s relevant 
standard terms and conditions. 

25.6 Where the annual amount spent with any one contractor or on any one specific type of goods, 
works or services exceeds £25,000 and outside an existing contractual agreement, a review must be 
carried out to assess the procurement method and a formal contractual agreement put in place. 

Sub Contractors 

25.8 Where any sub-contractor or supplier is to be nominated to a main contractor/supplier for the 
execution of a contract with the Council, these Contract Procedure Rules shall apply as if the Council 
was entering into a direct contract with the sub-contractor or supplier. 

25.9 Details of contracts must be entered on the Council’s contracts register 

26. SAFEGUARDS FOR DUE PERFORMANCE 

Liquidated Damages 

26.1 Every written contract must, where appropriate, provide for the payment of liquidated 
damages by the contractor in the event of his default. 

Page 122



Appendix 2 

26.2 The level of damages required will be determined by the relevant Director, in consultation with 
the Chief Finance Officer. 

Failure to Deliver 

26.3 In every contract for the execution of work, supply of goods, materials or services where 
appropriate having an estimated value of £25,000 and above a clause shall be inserted to secure that, 
should the contractor fail to deliver the goods, materials or execute the service or works or any part or 
portion thereof within the time or times specified in the contract, the Council, may without prejudice to 
any other remedy for breach of contract, either wholly or in part, or to the extent of such default, and 
to provide for the execution of the work or service by other means, or to purchase other goods or 
materials, as the case may be make good 

 Such default; or 

 In the event of the contracts being wholly determined, the unexecuted work or service or the 
goods or materials to be delivered 

The clause shall further secure that the amount by which the cost of providing for the execution of the 
work or service by other means, or the purchasing of other goods or materials, exceeds the amount 
which would have been payable to the contractor had he executed the contract, or portion thereof, 
within the time or times specified therein, shall be payable by the contractor. 

Performance Bonds 

The use of, and level of, retentions on other contracts shall be agreed with the Chief Finance 
Officer prior to the publication of the proposed T&Cs within the tender documents.  
Performance Bonds will normally only be applied to building and facilities contracts. 

26.4 The Council shall require and take sufficient security for the due performance of all contracts 
exceeding £60,000 where appropriate. For works contracts the amount of security shall be the 
retention of 10% of the contract sum during the life of the contract, such retention to be released on 
issue of the certificate of practical completion of the contract. The use of, and level of, retentions on 
other contracts shall be agreed with the Chief Finance Officer prior to the publication of the proposed 
T&Cs. 

26.5 In any particular contract or class of contract the Chief Finance Officer may decide that the 
Council’s interest in the proper performance of the contract can be appropriately protected by 
specifying and taking a different form of security 

27. PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION 

27.1 The Officer must comply with the Code of Conduct and must not invite or accept any gift or 
reward in respect of the award or performance of any contract. High standards of conduct are 
obligatory. It will be for the Officer to prove that anything received was not received corruptly. Corrupt 
behaviour is a crime under the statutes referred to in Rule 27.2 below and is likely to lead to 
disciplinary action. 

27.2 The following clause must be put in every written Council contract (excluding framework call-
offs):- 

“The Council may terminate this contract and recover all its loss if the Contractor/Supplier, its 
employees or anyone acting on the Contractor/Supplier’s behalf do any of the following things: 

 offer, give or agree to give to anyone any inducement or reward in respect of this or any other 
Council contract (even if the Contractor / Supplier does not know what has been done); or 

 commit an offence under Section 117(2) of the Local Government Act 1972 or the Bribery Act 
2010; or 

 commit any fraud in connection with this or any other Council order or contract whether alone 
or in conjunction with Council Members, contractors, suppliers, or employees. 

Any clause limiting the Contractor’s liability shall not apply to this clause.” 

Where a supplier’s standard terms and conditions are being used they must contain the equivalent of 
this clause. 

28. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 

Page 123



Appendix 2 

28.1 Every Officer and Member of the Council has a responsibility to declare any links or personal 
interests that they may have with purchasers, suppliers and /or contractors if they are engaged in 
contractual or purchasing decisions on behalf of the Council, in accordance with the applicable Codes 
of Conduct. 

SECTION 5: CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 

29. MANAGING CONTRACTS 

Freedom of information 

29.1 The Council shall fulfil its obligations under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (as 
amended) in respect of any application made under the Act in relation to the contracts it has entered 
into and the manner in which the contract was procured. 

Statistics 

29.2 The Procurement & Contracts Manager or such other officer nominated by the Chief Finance 
Officer shall be responsible for ensuring the Council meets its reporting requirements EU Rules 
required by the Ministry of Housing Department of CCommunities and Local Government or others. 

29.3 Directors and Assistant Directors shall upon request of the nominated officer provide the 
details and any information necessary to complete these returns with the minimum of delay. 

Extensions 

29.4 A contract for goods, services or works shall only be extended where the contract terms and 
conditions expressly provide for an option for extension.  Requests for extensions should consider 
both the cumulative contract value and the period of the contract. 

29.5 Any such extension shall be considered where the contract:- 

 has been successful in demonstrating performance targets identified in the original contract 
were met; 

 will demonstrate Service Improvement or innovative service delivery processes; 

 is able to demonstrate that such extension will deliver Value for Money; or 

 where there is a genuinely justifiable case to extend to maintain continuity of supply or site 
experience. 

29.6 Any such extension shall be subject to: - 

 adequate budget provision; 

 the extension being priced at the original contract rates subject to any adjustment mechanism 
set out in the contract; 

 the agreement of the supplier; and 

 compliance with EU Procurement legislation. 

29.8 Any proposed contract extension shall be approved by the Chief Finance Officer. 

Consultants 

29.9 It shall be a condition of the appointment and engagement of the services of any consultant, 
not being an officer of the Council, who is to be responsible to the Council for the supervision of a 
contract, or design of any scheme etc. on behalf of the Council that: - 

 the appointment will be undertaken in accordance with these Rules which includes the use of 
appropriate framework agreements; 

 consideration will be given to any requirement for vetting, data protection, intellectual property 
rights etc.; 

 consideration will be given to the most appropriate form of payment, including based on inputs 
(usually time) or output based; 

 the consultant will be prohibited from bidding for the work, service etc. and any subsequent 
stage unless this was the specific purpose of their appointment; 

Page 124



Appendix 2 

 that in supervising any contract on behalf of the Council the Consultant shall comply with 
these Rules as though he/she was a Director of the Council, subject to the modification that 
the procedure to be followed in inviting and opening tenders shall be approved in advance by 
the relevant Director; 

 at any time during the period of carrying out the contract procedure during his/her 
appointment, the Consultant shall produce to the Chief Finance Officer or authorised 
representative, on request, all the records maintained by him/her in relation to the contract; 
and 

 On completion of the appointment/contract he/she shall without delay transmit all records in 
relation to any contract to the relevant Director. 

30. RISK ASSESSMENT AND CONTINGENCY PLANNING 

30.1 For all contracts, contract managers must:- 

 maintain a risk register during the contract period; 

 undertake appropriate risk assessments; and 

 ensure contingency measures are in place for identified risks 

31 CONTRACT MONITORING, EVALUATION AND REVIEW 

31.1 Each Director responsible for the awarding of contracts, which provide for payment to be 
made by instalments, shall arrange for the keeping of a register, to the satisfaction of the Chief 
Finance Officer, to show the state of account on each contract between the Council and a contractor, 
together with any other payments and related professional fees. 

31.2 Payments to contractors on account of contracts shall be made only on a certificate issued by 
the relevant person. 

31.3 Subject to the provision of the contract in each case, every variation shall be authorised in 
writing by the relevant person. Each variation shall include an estimate of the increase or reduction in 
cost arising from that variation of the contract. Any variations must be within the scope of the contract. 

31.4 When the net effect of such variations exceeds the following limits, this shall be reported as 
soon as possible to the Cabinet or relevant Committee of the Council: 

 for contracts up to £100,000 (in amount or budgetary provision) – 3% of the contract sum or 
budgetary provision (but not less than £1,000) 

 for contracts in excess of £100,000 (in amount or budgetary provision) - £3,000 + 1.5% of the 
excess of the contract sum or budgetary provision over £100,000. 

31.5 Provided that it shall not be necessary to report such net effect in the case of contracts 
undertaken under agency or contractual arrangements on behalf of another local or public authority 
where that authority has approved the cost of the variation. 

31.6 Where the relevant person issues a certificate and the amount to be paid on that certificate, 
when added to amounts previously certified for payment, would result in the contract sum or 
budgetary provision being exceeded, then the certificate shall be accompanied by a report fully 
explaining the position from the relevant person to the Chief Finance Officer. 

31.7 The final certificate of completion of any contract shall not be issued until the relevant person 
has produced to the Chief Finance Officer a detailed final statement of account and all relevant 
documents, if required. 

31.8 The Chief Finance Officer shall, to the extent that is considered necessary, examine final 
accounts for contracts and shall be entitled to make all such enquiries and receive such information 
and explanations as may be required in order to be satisfied as to the accuracy of the accounts. 

31.9 Every works contract and every other contract which is estimated to exceed £60,000 in value 
or amount shall, where appropriate, include provision for liquidated damages, except where the 
contract is a partnering contract entered into under the Council’s procurement policy. Where there has 
been a delay in the completion of a contract and an extension of time is not appropriate to be 
authorised, the relevant person shall impose the liquidated damages clause in all instances, unless, 
after consultation with the Monitoring Officer, it is decided it is inappropriate to do so. 

Page 125



Appendix 2 

31.10 A report as to final costs under each contract shall, after agreement of the final account, be 
incorporated into the Post Implementation Review submitted to the Senior Management Team, 
Cabinet or relevant Committee by the appropriate Director after consultation with the Chief Finance 
Officer. 

31.11 Claims from contractors in respect of matters not clearly within the term of any existing 
contract shall be referred to the Monitoring Officer for consideration of the Council’s legal liability and, 
where necessary, to the Chief Finance Officer for financial consideration, before a settlement is 
reached. 

31.12 Where a contractor enters into liquidation or receivers are appointed or the contractor makes 
arrangement or composition with his/her creditors, the relevant person shall report the full 
circumstances in writing to the Cabinet or relevant Committee of the Council as soon as they are 
known to him/her. 

GLOSSARY 

Procurement Schedule 

A plan identifying the projects and contracts that are expected to be procured during the financial 
year. Where possible the Procurement Schedule should also identify the lead officer and an outline 
timetable. This should be signed-off by the relevant Assistant-Directors, Directors and Council at the 
beginning of each financial year. 

Contract Period 

The period over which a contract is delivered. The period determined must comply with European and 
National legislation, allow for continuous improvement, enable appropriate exit strategies, and enable 
the contract to be packaged to encourage delivery in the most cost effective manner 

Contracts Register 

The register held by the Council containing of all written contracts entered into by the Council. 

E-Procurement / e-tendering 

An electronic procurement process using proprietary software or media to enable the tender/quotation 
process to be undertaken electronically. It provides all the controls applicable to manual tendering as 
required by these rules. 

EU Procurement Directives 

The Legislation setting out the defined mandatory procurement procedures that must be followed 
when procuring supplies, services or works above the pre-determined threshold values in force for the 
time being. 

EU Treaty-based Principles 

The principles of the European Union which impact on all procurement regardless of value. These 
must be adhered to and include principles of equality, non-discrimination, transparency, mutual 
recognition and proportionality. 

Framework Agreement 

Contracts awarded following a compliant tender exercise that provides for the ‘call-off’ of supplies, 
services or works against a supplier. The Framework provides a non-binding offer without obligation; 
a binding contract coming into effect once the Council initiates a ‘call-off’ 

ITT 

Invitation to Tender 

OJEU 

Official Journal of the European Union. The advertising medium for tenders above EU procurement 
threshold values 

Performance Bond 

Page 126



Appendix 2 

Applicable to contracts over £60,000 in value where there are potentially high levels of risk. The 
Council seeks security to mitigate such risk, and this is normally in the form of a parent company 
guarantee or a Performance Bond.  The use of, and level of, retentions on other contracts shall be 
agreed with the Chief Finance Officer prior to the publication of the proposed T&Cs within the tender 
documents.  Performance Bonds will normally only be applied to building and facilities contracts. 

Procurement 

The mechanism and processes by which the Council acquires the supplies (goods), services and 
works necessary to achieve delivery of its objectives. It will include all associated performance 
measurement, monitoring and other controls necessary to complete such delivery. 

Procurement Cards 

Approved purchasing cards generally used as a mechanism for ordering and invoicing low value 
goods and services. Purchasing Cards are not credit cards. 

Regulations/PCR2015 

The UK regulations implementing the EU public procurement directives, currently the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015. 

RFQ 

Request for Quotation 

Risk Management 

Risks associated with procurement exercises shall be identified, assessed and managed 

Supplier 

Any person, firm, organisation or body providing or potentially providing supplies (goods) services or 
works to the Council. 

Value for Money 

The optimum combination of quality and cost taking into account ‘whole life costs’. 

Whole Life Costs 

The costs associated with a procurement form the initial definition of need, to the actual procurement 
of the supplies, services or works, their delivery and operation through to the end of the useful life 
and/or disposal. 

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 128



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

Wednesday, 5 December 2018 

Audit Committee Risk Register 

 

Portfolio:   Not applicable 

Report from:  Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

Report Author: Helen Smith – Financial Services Manager 

Wards:  Not applicable 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome 

1.1 This report is presented to Audit Committee to facilitate the ongoing review of the 
Audit Committee Risk Register. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee reviews and notes the updated Audit 
Committee Risk Register. 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 The Risk Register was last reviewed on 25 July 2018 and has been brought back 
before the Committee with that meeting’s recommendations included.  

Appendix 1 shows the risks previously identified for the Audit Committee and those 
which have been archived. These risks have been reviewed and archived during the 
period the Committee has existed.  These will continue to be reviewed annually. 

3.2 The Committee at its meeting in July 2018 considered its three current risks:   

3.2.1 RISK AC 1: The challenge from the committee is ineffective due to 
inexperience. This was archived on the 19/06/08, but resurrected as part of 
the review process at the 4 December 2014 Audit Committee. Due to the 
experience of long-standing Members and training for new Members this risk 
was down-graded in April 2016 but in July it was proposed the likelihood is 
increased from Very Low to Low to reflect the Committee’s new membership.  

3.2.2 RISK AC 2: This risk regards the ability of the Council to carry out its statutory 
requirements effectively due to limited resources as a result of the level of 
funding of local government.  This risk is linked to the strategic risk around the 
Medium Term Financial Plan.  The likelihood of this risk has been reduced to 
reflect the Council’s robust financial planning process including the 
identification and delivery of savings.  However, the risks remain as the 
current financial situation remains uncertain with the expected implementation 
of 75% retention of business rates and the results of the fair funding review 
from April 2020. 

3.2.3 RISK AC 3: Members identified the risk regarding the statutory timetable for 
final accounts reporting from the 2017/18 accounts being a month earlier.   

Page 129

Item No.10



Officers prepared 2017/18 accounts by the end of May 2018.  It is proposed 
this risk remains unchanged to reflect the number of changes to the accounts 
required for 2018/19.  

3.3 Previous risks that have been considered and archived are: 

RISK AC 001: Insufficient support/ backup provided to the committee: archived 
19/6/08 

RISK AC 002: The challenge from the committee is ineffective due to 
inexperience: archived on the 19/06/08 

RISK AC 003: Officers do not recognise the importance of the Audit Committee: 
archived 10/2/11 

RISK AC 004: Members do not recognise the importance of Audit Committee: 
archived 10/2/11 

RISK AC 005: Perception that the Committee is too critical: archived 10/2/11 

RISK AC 007: Significant changes to the membership In one year: archived 
19/6/08, RISK AC 1 replaces this risk. 

RISK AC 008 Lack of indicators or measurable outcomes to enable the committee 
to demonstrate progress and contribution: archived 18/7/13 

RISK AC 009 The priority Significant Issues identified by Internal Audit are not 
addressed. 

RISK AC 4: External Auditor appointment.  The Council joined the sector-led 
national procurement exercise run by PSAA and the external auditors were re-
appointed in December 2017.   

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 The Audit Committee risk register is considered by Audit Committee twice per year. 

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 No alternative options – risks should be reviewed and managed. 

6.0 Links to Council Priorities 

6.1 Risk management activity underpins Council Plan activity. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 The proposed mitigations can be met within existing budgets.  

Human Resources 

7.2 The proposed mitigations can be met within the existing human resources available. 

Legal 

7.3 There are no additional legal requirements. 

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? No  

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: The 
review of Audit Committee risks is a corporate governance issue and has no direct 
health, social, economic or environmental impacts. 

Page 130



Equality and Diversity 

7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No   

7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: The 
review of Audit Committee risks is a corporate governance issue and has no direct 
equality or diversity impacts. 

Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

No significant risks associated 
with this report 

  

Contact Officers 

Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager, 01539 793147, h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Audit Committee Risk Register. 

Background Documents Available 

 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

None  

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent 

Legal Services 13/11/18 

Section 151 Officer 13/11/18 

Monitoring Officer 13/11/18 

SMT N/A 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Assistant Director 13/11/18 

Human Resources Manager N/A 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder N/A 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee 5/12/18 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council N/A 

 

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 132



1 

 

Appendix 1 

Audit Committee Risk Register 

 

Report Author: Helen Smith 

Generated on: 13.11.2018  Audit Committee 

The Risk matrix shows how risks are prioritised: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Audit Committee Risks:  

2018/19 Risk Register/162015  

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 1 The challenge from the committee is ineffective due to inexperience   

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
 

Latest 
Note 

Audit Committee of 19/06/08 decided that this risk should be 
archived as is no longer relevant. The Audit Committee of the 
23/07/15 decided that this risk should be re-instated as 2 new 
members were added to the Committee at the 20 May 2015 
Annual Council. In April 2016 the likelihood was reduced 
reflecting the experience and training of the existing 
Committee members. 

Update July 2018: Four new Committee members: Proposed 
likelihood increased from Very Low to Low. 

Update Dec 2018: No change proposed 

  

Actions to 
control 
this risk 

Provide suitable 
development 
opportunities to prepare 
Members to make an 
effective contribution. 

Action 

completed? 
Commenced Due Date 

 Throughout 

2018/19 Actioned 
Shelagh 
McGregor 

  

 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 

High 

    

Medium 

    

Low 

    

Very Low 

    

 

Negligible Marginal Serious Critical 

 
Impact 

Priority risks which 
require mitigating 
controls and 

quarterly review 

Low priority risks 
which require annual 

review 

Page 133



2 

 

 

Risk No. & Title 

RISK AC 2 Audit Committee ineffective due to limited resources following Government changes to the 
funding of local government. 

Local authorities continue to face unprecedented challenges, relating to the pressures of austerity and 
central government funding reductions, and demographic and technological change. 

  

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
 

Latest 
Note 

Audit Committee of 4 December 2014 added this risk. In April 2016 the 
risk was amended to concentrate on the impact of funding cuts on the 
ability of the Council to meet its statutory requirements.  This risk links to 
the Medium Term Financial Plan strategic risk.  The latest Medium Term 
Financial Plan will be considered by Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
Cabinet and Council during 2017. 

In July 2017 the likelihood was reduced from medium to low. 

Council approved the Medium Term Financial Plan 2018/19 – 2022/23 in 
July 2017. 

Budget updates during November 2017 – February 2018 will include 
updates to the MTFP projections. 

July 2018: Proposed no change to assessment. 

Dec 2018: Proposed no change to assessment.  Draft Budget report to 
Cabinet 28 November 2018 identifies future deficits, Provisional Local 
Government Finance Settlement due 6 December 2018, Fairer Funding 
review and proposals for 75% business rate retention ongoing. 

  

Actions to 
control 
this risk 

Quarterly monitoring of 
MTFP financial model & 
risks 

Action 

completed? Ongoing  Due Date 

Ongoing: 
see Budget 
Timetable, 
Appendix 1, 
MTFP 

Actioned Shelagh McGregor   

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 3 The Council fail to meet the tighter timescales for the preparation of final accounts from 
2017/18 onwards. 

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
 

Latest Note 

The new deadlines will require the accounts for 2017/18 to be 
prepared and authorised by the Chief Finance Officer by the end of 
May 2018 and audited by the end of July 2018 which gives one month 
less for both the preparation and audit of the accounts.  For 2016/17 
the accounts were completed and checked by the end of May 2017.  

An unqualified audit opinion was issued in September 2017 in relation 
to the 2016/17 accounts and no material errors were identified. 

July 2018: Accounts prepared and published by 31 May 2018. Audit 
ongoing at time of report preparation. 

Dec 2018: Proposed no change to assessment: preparation of 
Accounts is a complex process, requiring significant skilled & 
experienced staff.  New reporting standards for 2018/19 accounts. 

Actions to 
control this 
risk 

Review the 2018/19 
closedown 

Action 

completed? 
Ongoing Due Date 

Audit 

Committee 
July 2019 

Actioned 
Shelagh 
McGregor 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 134



3 

 

 

Archived as agreed by previous Audit Committees 

Listed in order of Risk No. & Title 

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 001 Insufficient support/ backup provided to the committee   

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

  X  

Impact 
 

Latest 
Note 

Audit Committee of 19/06/08 decided that this risk should be 
archived as is no longer relevant  

  

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 002 The challenge from the committee is ineffective due to inexperience   

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
 

Latest 
Note 

Audit Committee of 19/06/08 decided that this risk should be 
archived as is no longer relevant. The Audit Committee of the 
23/07 decided that this risk should be re-instated as 2 new 
members were added to the Committee at the 20 May 2015 
Annual Council. This is included as a new risk below the line of 
tolerance. 

  

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 003 Officers do not recognise the importance of the Audit Committee   

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

 X   

Impact 
 

Latest 
Note 

Audit Committee of 10/02/11 decided to archive this risk    

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 004 Members do not recognise the importance of Audit Committee   

Risk 

Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
 

Latest 

Note 
Audit Committee of 10/02/11 decided to archive this risk    

Page 135



4 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 005 Perception that the Committee is too critical   

Risk 

Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

 X   

    

    

Impact 
 

Latest 

Note 

Audit Committee of 10/02/11 decided to archive this 

risk  
  

 
 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 006 Insufficient capacity from Members to make the Committee 
effective 

  

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
 

Latest 
Note 

Audit Committee of 18/07/13 decided to archive this risk    

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 007 Significant changes to the membership In one year   

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

 X   

Impact 
 

Latest 
Note 

Audit Committee of 19/06/08 decided that this 
risk should be archived as is no longer relevant  

  

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 008 Lack of indicators or measurable outcomes to enable the 
committee to demonstrate progress and contribution. 

  

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

 X   

Impact 
 

Latest 
Note 

Audit Committee of 18/07/13 decided to archive this 
risk  

  

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 009 The priority Significant Issues identified by Internal Audit are 
not addressed 

  

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
 

Latest 
Note 

Audit Committee of 4 December 2015 decided to 
archive this risk.  

  

 

Risk No. & Title RISK AC 4 The Council fails to appoint external auditors in accordance with statutory 
requirements. 

Risk 
Priority 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

 X   

Impact 
 

Latest 
Note 

The Council have until December 2017 to make an 
appointment for external auditors when the current 
arrangements come to an end.  Previous appointments were 

made by the Audit Commission nationally and are currently 
overseen by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd on behalf 
of the Secretary of State.  The Council has joined the Sector 
Led body procurement exercise.  This reduces the likelihood 

Page 136



5 

of failing to properly appoint an external auditor in 
accordance with statutory requirements through an Audit 
Panel. 

PSAA Ltd have consulted the Council on the proposed 
appointment of auditor, this will be confirmed in December 
2017. 

December 2017: Proposed that risk likelihood reduced from 
low to very low 

Archived: following December 2017 meeting. 

Actions to 
control 
this risk 

Review the progress of 
the proposed sector-led 
procurement exercise 

Action 
completed? 

Ongoing Due Date 
During 
2016/17 Actioned 

Shelagh 
McGregor 

 

Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 138



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

Wednesday, 5 December 2018 

Risk Management Update 

 

Portfolio:   Councillor Giles Archibald - Leader of the Council 

Report from:  Simon McVey - Assistant Director Performance and Innovation 

Report Author: John Davies - Performance and Risk Officer 

Wards:  (All Wards); 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome 

It is expected that Audit Committee will be updated with the Strategic Risk Register  

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee note the Strategic Risk Register in 
appendix 1 of this report 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 Risk Management is a vital organisational control and is a key part of the Council’s 
governance arrangements.  

3.2 The Strategic Risk Register contains all those risks above and below the line of risk 
tolerance.  

3.3 All risks above the line of tolerance have mitigations listed. These mitigations are 
designed to reduce the risks in terms of likelihood or impact or both.  

3.4 The aim of mitigations is to reduce a risk from the current position on the risk matrix 
to the target position.   

3.5 A risk should reach its target position by the target date. For a risk to be managed on 
schedule the mitigations must be implemented by their due dates. Not completing 
mitigations on time places a risk in exception.  

3.6 Risks are highlighted with exception status as part of quarterly performance reporting 
arrangements. A risk is only removed from the register (archived) if there is no longer 
any risk. Please see the Risk Register at appendix 1. 

3.7 Audit Committee of 23 April 2015, Item AUD/55 required sight of the full register to 
satisfy the committee that strategic risks are being managed.  

3.8 Over 73% of the Strategic Risks are now positioned below risk tolerance – this 
demonstrates the effective mitigation and regular review of the risks. 

3.9 Audit Committee of  25 July 2018 suggested that the Strategic Risk ‘Medium Term 
Financial Plan’ may have a higher impact than indicated on the risk matrix - due to 
future uncertainty over Government spending reviews. Officers then undertook a 

Page 139

Item No.11



review of the risk and it was decided that the matrix position for likelihood and impact 
is appropriate. 

Since Audit Committee of 25 July 2018 one new Strategic Risk has been added. This 
new risk is ‘Business Continuity: Flu Pandemic - Loss of people, skills and supply 
chain disruption’. Flu Pandemic is listed in the National Risk Register and the 
Cumbria Community Risk Register. 

The report ‘Customer Connect Programme’, which also includes information on 
Customer Connect risks, can be seen as a separate item on Audit Committee 
agenda. 

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 The Strategic Risk Register is reviewed by Senior Management Team each quarter 
as part of quarterly performance monitoring and reporting arrangements and the 
review informs this report. 

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 No alternative options – the Audit Committee requires that risk management 
arrangements are effective. 

6.0 Links to Council Priorities 

6.1 Risk management arrangements underpin the achievement of all priorities. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 There are no financial or resource implications in updating Audit Committee on 
recent risk activity.  However, many of the risks identified relate to financial issues 
and are considered as part of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan, budget 
preparation and monitoring process.  

Human Resources 

7.2 There are no human resource implications in updating Audit Committee on risk 
activity. 

Legal 

7.3 There are no legal implications in updating Audit Committee on recent risk activity. 

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? No 

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: Risk 
management arrangements underpin Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 
objectives. Therefore there is no requirement to carry out a Health, Social, Economic 
and Environmental Assessment. 

7.6 Summary of health, social, economic and environmental impacts: None 

Equality and Diversity 

7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No 

7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: Risk 
management underpins equality and diversity objectives and therefore there is no 
requirement to carry out an Equality Impact Assessment. 

7.9 Summary of equality and diversity impacts: None 

Page 140



Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

That actions to mitigate the 
strategic risks are not met 

The risks are not reduced 
or increase and impact on 
the Council’s delivery 
against budgets/services 

Risk mitigations are 
monitored as part of 
quarterly performance 
monitoring arrangements 
and appropriate action 
taken to reduce risks. 

That risks are not captured or 
kept under review 

Risks are not up to date or 
monitored leading to 
impact on service delivery 

Risks are reviewed each 
quarter by Senior 
Management Team as 
part of quarterly 
performance reporting 
arrangements. 

Contact Officers 

John Davies, Performance and Risk Officer, 01539 733333, rj.davies@southlakeland.gov.uk  

Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Strategic Risks Register Quarter 2 2018 

 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

Previous Audit Committee Risk 
Management Update reports  

Previous Audit Committee reports on SLDC Website 

 

Previous Cabinet Council Plan 
Performance Monitoring reports 
with Strategic Risks Register 

Previous Cabinet reports on SLDC Website 

 

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent 

Legal Services 29/10/2018 

Section 151 Officer 29/10/2018 

Monitoring Officer 29/10/2018 

SMT 08/11/2018 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Assistant Director 29/10/2018 

Human Resources Manager 29/10/2018 

Communications Team 29/10/2018 

Leader 08/11/2018 

Committee Chairman 08/11/2018 

Portfolio Holder 08/11/2018 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee 05/12/2018 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Page 141

mailto:rj.davies@southlakeland.gov.uk
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=135
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=121


Circulated to Date sent 

Council N/A 

 

 

Page 142



Appendix 1 
 

1 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 

Strategic Risks Register - Quarter 2, 2018/19 
 

 
Introduction 
 
Risk Management is an essential element of corporate governance arrangements. The process of risk management allows the Council to identify, 
prioritise and mitigate risks which may have a negative effect on services. This is an important and underpinning process which ensures good value for 
money and also continuity of services.  
 
Risks are recognised as essential management information and so contribute towards decision making. This document lists all those risks which are 
considered as strategic in nature – in other words those risks that could have a wide impact or require senior management control. 
 
This Strategic Risks Register is reviewed and updated every quarter by Senior Management Team. Risks above the line of tolerance are a priority and 
so are reviewed every quarter – whilst those below tolerance are reviewed once a year. 
 
Strategic risks are by their very nature problematic and so can remain on the register for significant periods of time. 
 
Page 2 and 3 of this report explain the risk matrix and layouts used for the risks. 
 
Page 4 provides a Risk ‘Heat Map’ which provides an ‘at a glance’ view of the priority risks – those currently in the blue zone and so above the line of 
risk appetite/tolerance. 

 
 

 
 
 

P
age 143



Appendix 1 
 

2 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 

How to understand the Risk Matrix: 
 
This register contains the full and complete list of the Council’s Strategic Risks. Each risk is plotted on a risk matrix to show degree of likelihood and 
impact. The greater the likelihood and impact the higher the priority for management. Those risks which lay above the line of ‘risk appetite’ can be 
seen in the blue zone of the matrix. These risks are a priority for management and are reviewed every quarter. Risks below the risk appetite, in the 
green zone, are a lower priority and so are reviewed on an annual basis. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The next page shows how the information for each risk is presented.
 

 
 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

 

High 

    

Medium 

  

x 
 

Low 

 

x 
  

Very Low 

    

 

Negligible Marginal Serious Critical 

 
Impact 

Risks positioned in the blue zone of the risk matrix are above ‘risk 
appetite’ (high priority) and require quarterly mitigation and 
management. Mitigation updates are listed for these risks.  
 

Risks positioned in the green zone of the risk matrix are below 
‘risk appetite’ (lower priority) and require an annual review in 
Quarter Four. 
 

P
age 144



Appendix 1 
 

3 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

How to understand the layout of each risk in this report 
 

  

Risk No. & Name 
The risk name is a concise and clear title for the risk 
 
Description 
A description of the circumstances which help to generate risk 

Current Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk. 
 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

  X  

    

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Review Date: 
The date when this risk will be 
considered and reviewed 

Target Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the future 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations. 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

  X  

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Target Date: 
The date that the risk must reach the 
target position – through the completion 
of mitigations. 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

A mitigation is an action which is designed 
to reduce or eliminate the risk.  The 
mitigation can improve the likelihood or 
impact of the risk. 

A short update on progress made 
with the mitigation 

The person responsible for 
progressing the mitigation 

Mitigations should be implemented 
by their due dates for the risk to be 
improved effectively. 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For each risk a history of risk review and improvement is shown: 
RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓  =  a risk review indicates that there is now less risk 
RISK POSITION INCREASED ↑  =  a risk review indicates that there is now more risk 
RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔  =  a risk review indicates that there is the same level of risk 
RISK IDENTIFIED ●  =  a newly identified risk is entered onto this register 

  Risk Owner The person with sufficient authority to control this risk  Portfolio the Portfolio that this risk is relevant to  

 

P
age 145



Appendix 1 
 

4 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

Risk ‘Heat Map’ - showing the current position of all risks in this report 

 
This matrix provides an ‘at a glance’ view of the priority risks which are positioned in the blue zone and so are above the line of risk 
appetite/tolerance. Click on a risk to navigate to the right page. 

 
 
 
 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o

d
 

High 

    

Medium 

 Risk 5 Risk 6 
Risk 9 
Risk 14 
Risk 15 

 

Low 

 Risk 2 
Risk 13 
Risk 18 

Risk 4 
Risk 7 
Risk 8 
Risk 12 
Risk 19 

 

Very 
Low 

   Risk 16 
Risk 17 

 

Negligible Marginal Serious Critical 

 
Impact 

About 73% of risks are now 
positioned in the green  
zone - below the line of ‘risk 
appetite’ 

P
age 146



Appendix 1 
 

5 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

Strategic Risks Register 
 

  Risk 1 was archived during quarter 1 2016/17 
 

  

Risk 2 

Contracts do not deliver the standards of performance required 
within the contract fee agreed. 
 
Back to ‘Heat Map’ 
 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Review Date 
Annual – end of March 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

 X   

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/19 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Mitigations are not applicable as this risk is 
below tolerance. 

n/a n/a n/a 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change as the Council has three new major contracts. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ -  Review indicates that the current risk remains the same in terms of likelihood and impact. 

  Risk Owner Assistant Directors Portfolio Finance Portfolio 
 

P
age 147



Appendix 1 
 

6 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

Risk 3 was archived during quarter 1 2018/19 
 
 

  

Risk 4 

Affordable housing targets are not met. 
 
Description 
There is a risk that the Council may not achieve the Council Plan target: ‘By 2025 we 
will have enabled with the private sector the development of 1,000 new affordable 
homes for rent’. The Council will need to enable delivery of new affordable and open 
market housing particularly through private sector led development across the 
district. Performance is influenced by New Homes Bonus and Local Government 
Financing. 
 
Back to ‘Heat Map’ 
 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Review Date 
Annual – end of March 
 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

  X  

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/19 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Mitigations are not applicable as risk is below 
tolerance 

n/a n/a n/a 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - This risk will be retained on the register to allow regular monitoring.  

  Risk Owner Assistant Director Strategic Development Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio 
 

P
age 148



Appendix 1 
 

7 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

 
 

  

Risk 5 

Impact of the Welfare Reform on communities 

 
Description 
Welfare reform is a major element of recent government spending cuts - resulting in 
significant changes to taxes and benefits. Universal Credit may have an impact on the 
level of benefits. Welfare reform therefore impacts on low-income tenants and social 
landlords. 
 
Back to ‘Heat Map’ 
 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

 X   

    

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Review Date 
Annual – end of March 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/19 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Mitigations are not applicable as this risk is 
below tolerance. 

n/a n/a n/a 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - The risk will be retained on the risk register whilst there is a potential for impacts. 

  Risk Owner Assistant Director & Chief Finance Officer Portfolio Culture, Wellbeing and Leisure Portfolio 

P
age 149



Appendix 1 
 

8 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

 
 

  

Risk 6 

Medium Term Financial Planning – delivery of a balanced budget 
 
Description 
Current and future years proposed budget reductions (expenditure and income) are 
not achieved. Future year’s budget reductions (expenditure or income) are not 
identified. Significant existing income sources are not protected or effectively 
managed. Income from Central Government is reduced above the current 
assumptions. NDR income assumptions are not achieved. Other key factors are the 
Spending Review 2019-2022, Business Rates Retention, the Second Homes agreement 
with Cumbria County Council and the Fair Funding Review. 
 
Back to ‘Heat Map’ 
 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

  X  

    

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Review Date 
Quarterly 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
Annual – end of March   

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

MTFP assumptions are reviewed, updated and 
reported on a quarterly basis 

Mitigation is in place and on track Assistant Director of Resources 
(Section 151) 

Each quarter 

Options to resolve any issues are provided to 
the Cabinet each quarter 

Mitigation is in place and on track Assistant Director of Resources 
(Section 151). Assistant Directors 
Directors 

Each quarter 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - The annual statutory requirement has been met however longer term goals will require continuous 
monitoring. 
Q1 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change however uncertainty over future funding may influence future risk 
position. 
02/08/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates that no change is required to the position of this risk on the risk matrices. 

P
age 150



Appendix 1 
 

9 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

Q2 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change to risk position. 

  Risk Owner Assistant Director & Chief Finance Officer Portfolio Finance Portfolio 
 

P
age 151



Appendix 1 
 

10 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

 

  

Risk 7 

Information Management is not effective 
 
Description 
The Council is required to have effective information governance procedures. It will 
be necessary to manage corporate information by implementing processes, roles and 
controls - including GDPR and the Data Protection and Information Security Policies. 
 
Back to ‘Heat Map’ 
 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Review Date 
Annual 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/12/18 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Continue to reinforce key standards and 
policies via regular communication. Ensure 
Managers are appropriately trained and 
requirements are clearly set out in Job 
Descriptions and reinforced via appraisals. 
Ensure Internal Audit findings are acted on in 
a timely manner. 

This mitigation added on 11/11/15.  
 
Update 07/06/17: Training schedule 
in early draft. Key standards to be 
agreed by Customer Connect 
Programme Board in autumn 2017 
 
Update 14/12/17: Training schedule 
designed and on target to be 
delivered, in line with board 
approval, for end of 2018. 60% of 
staff to receive e-learning by end of 
July 2018, remaining 40% by end of 
December 2018. 

Principal Performance and 
Intelligence Officer 
 

31/12/18 

Clear and ongoing communications to staff to 
reinforce policies and protocols. Regular 
review and monitoring of arrangements 

This mitigation added on 11/11/15.  
 
Update 07/06/17: Training schedule 

Principal Performance and 
Intelligence Officer 

31/12/18 

P
age 152



Appendix 1 
 

11 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

across services by Operational Managers 
supported by Information Security/ 
Governance Teams in Policy & Partnerships 
and ICT. 

in early draft. Key standards to be 
agreed by Customer Connect 
Programme Board in autumn 2017. 
 
Update 14/12/17: Training schedule 
designed and on target to be 
delivered, in line with board 
approval, for end of 2018. 60% of 
staff to receive e-learning by end of 
July 2018, remaining 40% by end of 
December 2018. 

The Information Governance (IG) Framework 
was approved by Cabinet on 16 September 
2015 and provides the structure to govern 
how the Council captures, creates, accesses, 
secures, manages and shares its information 
both internally and externally. In line with 
Customer Connect Programme, the Council 
had to its approach to information 
governance. 

This mitigation added on 07/06/17  
 
In order to implement the 
Information Governance Framework 
it is proposed that a learning 
package deliverable is created. 
It is proposed that the learning 
package deliverable will be 100% e-
learning.  Scope will be provided to 
design and develop workbooks for 
those members of staff without 
access to ICT equipment. 

Principal Performance and 
Intelligence Officer 

31/12/18 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four.  
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Mitigation due dates updated in line with Information Governance Board Highlights Report 
14/12/17. This risk is remains within risk tolerance. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - review indicates no change at this time, relevant mitigations are in place. 

  Risk Owner Assistant Director Performance and Innovation Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio 
 

P
age 153



Appendix 1 
 

12 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

 

  

Risk 8 

The infrastructure required to deliver the Council Plan priorities is 
not provided. 
 
Description 
Infrastructure is required to support businesses and housing development objectives. 
The Council will need to implement the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to 
provide funding stream for infrastructure delivery. There will need to be protocols for 
CIL Governance and an up to date Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 
Due to the impacts of Storm Desmond there may be implications associated with 
future flood resilience measures and infrastructure repairs. 
 
Back to ‘Heat Map’ 
 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Review Date 
Quarterly 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/19   

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Annual update of Infrastructure Delivery Plan. Review largely complete to be 
reported to Cabinet.  
Update 21/12/16: approach to 
meeting education needs in Kendal 
being worked up by Cumbria County 
Council. Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
will be reported to Cabinet in March 
2017. 
Update 04/04/17: extra time 
required for education aspect due 
date extended to 31/05/17 
 
Completed. Updated Infrastructure 

Development Strategy and Housing 
Manager 

01/12/16 
Amended to 31/05/17 
 
Completed 13/09/17 

P
age 154



Appendix 1 
 

13 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

Delivery Plan reported to Cabinet on 
September 13th. Significant progress 
on infrastructure delivery including: 
• Kendal highways and transport 
improvements (£3.4m) 
• Ulverston junction improvements 
(£4.5m) including access to Lightburn 
Road employment site through Blue 
Light Hub. 
• The development of a funding 
package to deliver a new roundabout 
at Swarthmoor to enable housing 
development at Swarthmoor and 
Croftlands. 

Development of protocols for CIL Governance. To be reported to Cabinet 
Update 21/12/16: CIL Governance 
Protocols will be reported with 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan to 
Cabinet in March 2017. 
Update 04/04/17: extra time 
required for education aspect due 
date extended to 31/05/17 
 
Completed. CIL Governance 
arrangements approved by Cabinet 
on September 13th. 

Development Strategy and Housing 
Manager 

01/12/16 
Amended to 31/05/17 
 
Completed 13/09/17 

CIL Review proposed as part of Development 
Management Policies process. 

To be undertaken when draft 
Development Management policies 
are consulted upon in Autumn 2016.  
Update 21/12/16: Viability study 
scheduled for mid 2017 – will update 

Development Strategy and Housing 
Manager 

01/03/18 
 
Completed 

P
age 155



Appendix 1 
 

14 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

viability position in relation to 
affordable housing, CIL and impact of 
Development Management policies. 
Update 04/04/17: Viability study 
Commisioned. 
Update 13/03/18: Viability study 
completed. 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. There has been positive progress and further collaboration with 
partners on infrastructure needs is required. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Updated evidence, in support of the new development management policies, on viability has 
concluded that development can support current levels of CIL. The results of examination will inform the future position of this risk. 

  Risk Owner Assistant Director Strategic Development Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio 
 

P
age 156



Appendix 1 
 

15 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

 

  

Risk 9 

Essential strategic partnerships required to deliver the Council Plan 
do not operate effectively. 
 
Description 
Where necessary robust agreements will be needed. Also opportunities and resource 
implications should be identified. Partnerships will need to work supportively to 
achieve Council Plan objectives. 
The introduction of NHS STP’s and the movement of South Cumbria CCG’s into 
Lancashire/Morecambe Bay in April 2017 requires new strategic partnerships to be 
formed with these groups to ensure SLDC and its communities gain maximum benefit 
from any changes. This risk applies to all our strategic partnerships, such as the Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP), CCC, LDNPA and Morecambe Bay Economic Partnership 
as examples. The risk is not specific to any one initiative or approach from partner 
organisations, rather the strategic direction and policies that they take and make, and 
their correlation to SLDC achieving its aims and objectives through its Council Plan. 
 
Back to ‘Heat Map’ 
 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

  X  

    

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Review Date 
Annual 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 X   

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/19 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Monitor resource, cost and reputational 
impact with established strategic partnerships 

No cost implications to the council in 
maintaining partnerships 

CEX 31/03/19 annual review 
 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ -  There is a meeting planned for political leaders and officers within the 1st qtr of 2017/18 to raise 
and discuss this issue across partners and Morecambe Bay authorities. A governance review of the Cumbria LEP (Local Enterprise Partnership) is 
also underway. Positive collaborative relationships are being seen with Cumbria County Council locally, with Joint Districts in Cumbria, and now as 
a partner in the Northern Powerhouse Partnership at an Officer level. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ -  SMT review indicates no change to position of risk. 

P
age 157



Appendix 1 
 

16 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ -  SMT review indicates no change to position of risk. 
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ -  SMT review indicates no change to position of risk. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ -  SMT review indicates no change to position of risk. Risk description updated to include additional 
examples of strategic partnerships. 
Q1 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ -  SMT review indicates no change to position of risk. There have been recent developments that 
may affect our essential partnerships in helping delivery of the Council Plan 2014-19. This includes 1. Local Government reorganisation and 2. 
Morecambe Bay Economic Partnership - further political and managerial influence is required to ensure that one or more of the partners keeps 
upto date with actions. 
Q2 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ -  SMT review indicates no change to position of risk.  Officer representation on the Morecambe Bay 
CCG has now been offered and accepted. Meeting held with Northern Powerhouse Minister 27/09/18 -  Morecambe Bay Prospectus discussed and 
future meetings agreed with Government departments. 

  Risk Owner Chief Executive  Portfolio Leader and Finance Portfolio 

P
age 158



Appendix 1 
 

17 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

 

  Risk 10 and Risk 11 were archived during quarter 1 2016/17 
 
 

Risk 12 

Health and Safety management of contracts – records for on site 
checks 

 
Description of risk 
Health and safety management arrangements require a review for officer led 
contracts. Officers that are managing contractors are required to make safety checks 
and keep records. Safety checks should be proportional to risk.  
 
Back to ‘Heat Map’ 
 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  x  

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Next Review Date 
Annually in quarter 4 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  x  

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
Target met 

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Contracts Management Health and Safety 
training is provided 

Completed Principle Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing Officer 

09/04/15 
Completed 

Officer leads carry out onsite H&S monitoring 
which is proportionate to the risk 

ongoing All staff managing contracts Ongoing requirement 

Officer led contracts are subject to spot 
checks for onsite monitoring records. 

Q4 2015/16: Initial assessment 
indicates that evidence exists for 
H&S checks 
Q3 2016/17: A second assessment 
identifies training needs 

All managers with contracts. 
 

Completed. 

Promote training on active monitoring Building/property and all external 
contractors to be involved in the 
training. 
Further training ‘Control of 

All Managers with contracts 13/04/17, further training sessions 
to be completed by end of Qtr 1 
2017/18.  
Completed 24/10/17. 

P
age 159



Appendix 1 
 

18 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

Contractors’ completed on 
24/10/17. 

Further spot checks to be made for records of 
onsite contractor safety 

Mitigation added following SMT 
review on 06/07/17. 
Completed 
 

Performance and Risk Officer 01/10/17 
Completed 

A further review will be completed by 
Assistant Directors in October 2017 

Mitigation added 12/10/17. 
Update 05/04/18: Completed 

Assistant Directors 01/11/2017 
Completed 

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ – impact reduced to reflect completion of training however likelihood increased to maintain the risk 
position as above tolerance ensuring regular quarterly reviews - and the focus on spot checks for evidence of on site safety monitoring. Risk name 
updated for the focus on records of onsite checks – likelihood medium and impact serious. 
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Additional mitigation added. 
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Review is near completion and indicating positive results - will 
inform quarter four update. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓  =  Review indicates that this risk has now reduced in terms of likelihood to target position. Risk is 
reduced due to health and safety performance, training provided and availability of resources. This risk is now below tolerance and will be 
reviewed annually during quarter four. 

Risk Owner Chief Executive Portfolio Finance Portfolio 

 
 

P
age 160



Appendix 1 
 

19 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

Risk 13 

Impact of new projects and initiatives on existing Council Plan 
priorities 

 
Description of risk 
There is a risk that new projects and initiatives take the resources required by other 
projects and initiatives currently in the programme.  
 
Back to ‘Heat Map’ 
 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 x   

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 
 
Next Review Date 
Quarterly 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 x   

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/19 

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Ensure that potential new projects and 
initiatives are subject to a pre-assessment 
which measures their priority 

Completed and ongoing 
requirement. 
Update 10/11/16: Reinforce the 
assessment and prioritisation of new 
projects – review in six months. 
Update 18/01/18: the assessment 
and prioritaisation of projects is an 
ongoing requirement. 
 

Director of People and Places Ongoing requirement 
 
 

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q4 2016/17: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change.  
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION - This risk is within risk tolerance and requires an annual review during Quarter Four. 
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change however to be reviewed at quarter three subject to prioritisation 
of resources. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION IMPROVED ↓ - Review indicates that likelihood is low with existing controls. Controls will continue to be applied 
including prioritisation against Strategic Projects Log. 

Risk Owner Director of People and Places  Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio 

P
age 161



Appendix 1 
 

20 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

 

Risk 14 

Unintended impacts of efficiencies and service changes 
 
Description of risk 
New efficiencies and changes brought about by one service or another organisation 
can have unintended negative impacts on the efficiency and running of another 
service – especially if proposals are not consulted on until to late in the process. These 
impacts can increase the cost of running other services. Focus required on the expiry 
of the Second Homes agreement between Cumbria County Council and South 
Lakeland District Council. 
 
Back to ‘Heat Map’ 
 

Current Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

  x  

    

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly 

 
Next Review Date 
Annual – end of March 

Target Position of Risk 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 x   

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
 
Target Date 
31/03/19 

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

This risk is managed via the Service Planning 
and Budgeting processes.  

Completed Operational Managers 
Senior Management Team 

Mitigations in place within 
existing Service Planning and 
Budgeting processes. 

Promote early discussions on potential change 
with external parties 

New mitigation on 10/11/16 
06/07/17: Mitigations underway and 
ongoing 

Director of People and Places 
 

In place and ongoing requirement 

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q1 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Mitigations are in progress. 
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change – this risk is linked to ‘Risk 15: Customer Connect’. 
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - SMT review indicates no change 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates no change due to period of organisational change and ongoing partnership 
discussions. 
Q1 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates no change for the reasons listed previously at Q4 2017/18. Target date reviewed 
and set to 31/03/2019. 

P
age 162



Appendix 1 
 

21 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

Q2 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED ↔ - Review indicates no change to position of risk. 

Risk Owner Director of People and Places  Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio 
 
 

P
age 163



Appendix 1 
 

22 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

 
 

  

Risk 15 

Customer Connect Programme 
 
Description 
The programme fails to deliver what’s set out in the programme definition and 
customer contact strategy. 
Customer Connect is a challenging programme that requires significant change 
to ways of working for staff across the Council. The Programme Board manages 
the Customer Connect Risk Log on a regular basis. Mitigations are in place for 
the risks and the main challenges to the programme are: Scope and Ambition, 
Staff resources and capacity, Skills and Workforce Planning, Buy in from 
Customers and Training and development for staff and Councillors. 
 
Back to ‘Heat Map’ 
 

Current Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk. 
 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

  X  

    

    

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Review Date: 
Each quarter 

Target Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the desired 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations. 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  X  

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Target Date: 
31/03/19 

  

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

The programme is being managed via the 
Programme Board with resources 
identified to deliver year 1 and 2 of the 
programme. 

Financial resources are set aside 
for the programme, but there is a 
requirement to identify all the 
staff needed over the next two 
years to support the projects 
 
Update 07/06/17: In May 2017 
membership of the Programme 
Boards was revised and updated 
to reflect the additional roles 
required to deliver the various 
projects within the programme.   
 

Partnerships & Organisational 
Development Manager 

01/07/2017 
Completed 

P
age 164



Appendix 1 
 

23 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

Update 05/06/18: An external 
partner is providing assurance to 
the programme using experience 
gained from similar 
transformation programmes. 
 
Update: 05/07/18: Revised 
business case to be considered by 
Cabinet on 18/07/18 and Council 
on 24/07/18. This sets out a 
number of risks which will be 
managed as part of the 
programme. 
 
Update: 26/09/18: Business Case 
approved and implementation 
underway. Significant progress in 
all workstream areas. Staff 
appointed to programme roles. 
Programme Board meets weekly. 
Audit Committee reciving regular 
reports. Management Structure 
agreed at Council  on 10/10/18. 

There is a risk log for the programme. This 
is shared with the Audit Committee on a 
quarterly basis.  
 

SMT have ownership of all the 
risks and identified mitigations -  
completed. 

Projects & Innovation Officer 15/04/2018 
Completed 

All risks on the Customer Connect risk log 
were updated during April 2018. The risks 
are reviewed at each Board meeting and 
are managed accordingly. 

All risks above the line are being 
managed and have mitigations in 
place to reduce the likelihood.  
The Senior Responsible Owner 
has taken direct responsibility for 

Partnerships & Organisational 
Development Manager  

Reviewed weekly by the 
Programme Board 
 

P
age 165



Appendix 1 
 

24 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

managing the partnership 
arrangements with Eden.  

  

History  
of Risk Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. 
Q1 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Mitigations updated. 
Q2 2018/19: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change. Mitigations updated on 26/09/18. 

  
Risk Owner Assistant Director Performance and Innovation - Senior 

Responsible Owner. 
Portfolio Housing & Innovation  and Council Organisation and 

People  

 

P
age 166



Appendix 1 
 

25 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

 

  

Risk 16  

Waste Collection – Reversing Manoeuvres 
 
Description 
Management of waste collection vehicle manoeuvres on recycling and waste 
collection rounds. 
There are many practical and advanced technological safety precautions in 
place including the following: 
Waste collection rounds have risk assessments and safe systems of work in 
place. 
All drivers and crews have been trained. 
All rounds are monitored to ensure that safe systems are adhered to. 
Vehicles have advanced technologies fitted e.g. reversing CCTV and 
sophisticated radar to assist the driver and crews manoeuvre safely 
 
Back to ‘Heat Map’ 
 

Current Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk. 
 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

   x 
Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Review Date: 
Each quarter when above the line of 
risk tolerance 

Target Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the desired 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations. 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

   X 

Impact 
Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Target Date: 
31/03/17   

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Maintain and keep up to date the Safe 
System of Work, inspections and the 
utilisation of risk reducing technologies. 

In progress and reviewed by the 
Street Scene Health and Safety 
Working Group on a quarterly 
basis 

Street Scene Manager Ongoing requirement 

Commission specialist support to assist in 
the completion of a further review of 
vehicle movements including reversing on 
private drives, private roadways and 
narrow access highways  

Update 17/11/16: Support 
commissioned and interim report 
received. Considering key actions 
for the service within operational 
health and safety plans. 
Completed. 

Street Scene Manager 31/12/16 
Completed. 

P
age 167



Appendix 1 
 

26 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

Implement the priority findings of the 
above review  

Specific Action plan has been 
developed to implement the 
findings of the review. High 
Priority Areas have been 
identified and the 
implementation of necessary 
changes commenced and planned 
for completion by amended due 
date of 31/12/17. 
Completed. 

Street Scene Manager 31/12/17 
Completed. 

Implement the lower priority findings of 
the above review 

Planned for completion by 
31/12/17.  
Update 15/01/18: lower priority 
findings will now be completed by 
31/03/18. 
Update 13/03/18: Now complete. 
There will be an ongoing review 
of all manoeuvres as part of 
business as usual arrangements. 

Street Scene Manager 13/03/18 
Completed 

  

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates no change – work is in progress. 
Q3 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - All Ulverston rounds have been assessed and mitigating measures introduced. Results have 
been provided to the Health and Safety Committee 15th January 2018. Some lower priority areas remain pending with completion expected 
before end March 2018. Risk position remains the same until all reversing manoeuvres are assessed and mitigating measures have been 
implemented as required. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION IMPROVED - ↓ - Review indicates that risk has been reduced to the target position due to completed mitigations. 
Decision made not to archive risk in order to maintain awareness.  

  Risk Owner Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services Portfolio Environment Portfolio 

 

P
age 168



Appendix 1 
 

27 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

 

Risk 17 

Cyber Security incident 
 
Description 
There have been many high profile examples of cyber security breaches across 
the World and in the UK recently. The Council has effective security in place to 
protect data and deliver services - however threats are becoming ever more 
sophisticated and organisations need to be one step ahead. Cyber-attacks can 
cross international boundaries and may be initiated by organised criminal 
groups, lone individuals or be state sponsored. Cyber criminals are broadening 
their efforts towards UK citizens, organisations and institutions. Terrorists are 
conducting low-level attacks and aspire to carry out more significant acts. 
Examples of threats are Botnets, Distributed denial-of-service, Hacking, 
Malware, Pharming, Phishing, Ransomware and Spam. 
 
Back to ‘Heat Map’ 
 

Current Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk. 
 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

 

    

    

    

   x 
Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Review Date: 
Quarter Four each year 

Target Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the desired 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations. 
 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

 

    

    

    

  x  

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Target Date: 
31/03/19 

Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

Cyber security actions within the ICT Risk 
Register  

Cyber security actions are on 
track 

Shared IT Service Manager In line with cyber security due dates  

Review of Insurance  Mitigation added 12/10/17 
Update 15/01/18: Predicted 
complete by 31/01/18 for 
insurance renewal deadline. 

Financial Services Manager Deputy 
Section 151 Officer 

31/12/17 
Completed 

History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

For previous updates please see earlier versions of this risk register. 
RISK IDENTIFIED ●  =  Audit Committee of 26/07/17 suggested that the Information management risks should be split to create this separate risk 
for Cyber Security. Agreed on 08/08/17 by the Monitoring Officer. 
Q2 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - SMT review indicates likelihood very low and impact critical. Additional insurance mitigation 

P
age 169



Appendix 1 
 

28 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

added. ICT maintains up to date software patches. Staff have guidance on how to keep IT Networks Secure and what to do if a virus or malware is 
suspected. 
Q4 2017/18: RISK POSITION UNCHANGED - ↔ - The risk remains very low. ICT continue to maintain security related Microsoft updates, virus 
software updates and follow industry best practice. Business Continuity arrangements are strengthened.  

Risk Owner Assistant Director Performance and Innovation Portfolio Housing and Innovation Portfolio 

 

P
age 170



Appendix 1 
 

29 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

 
 

  

Risk 18 

Potential reduction in income from the disposal of 
recyclable materials as a consequence of market changes 
affected by China’s waste policy 
 
Description 
China has made a decision to receive only very low contaminated recycled 
waste. As a consequence there will be very large quantities of waste across 
the UK and other international countries that will not be eligible for sending 
to China. Without an alternative outlet for large quantities of contaminated 
recyclable waste the value of this waste will fall significantly. South Lakeland 
District Council’s waste collection approach is to separate recyclables in a 
way that mitigates against contamination and maintains a high quality 
product so may be less affected by new policy from China. The 
advantageous position that South Lakeland has is confirmed in a recent 
APSE report. However the income provided from waste recycling is 
significant and would have a large impact on services should it be reduced 
drastically. 
 
Back to ‘Heat Map’ 
 

Current Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk. 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

 x   

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Review Date: 
Quarter Four each year 

Target Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the desired 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations. 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

    

 X   

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Target Date: 
31/03/19 

  

  Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

  

The Council already has legally 
compliant, waste recycling processes in 
place that minimise contamination. 

Complete and in place Assistant Director Neighbourhood 
Services 

Complete and in place 

  The Council continues to maintain a high Ongoing Community and Leisure Manager with Ongoing 

P
age 171



Appendix 1 
 

30 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

profile message to residents to avoid 
contamination of recyclable materials 
placed out for collection. 

assistance from Communications Team 

  
History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

13/03/18: RISK IDENTIFIED ●  =  This risk identified by Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services and Community and Leisure Manager. Risk 
prepared for escalation from operational level to Senior Management Team and approved for inclusion on the Strategic Risks Register. 

  Risk Owner Assistant Director Neighbourhood Services Portfolio Environment Portfolio 

 
 
 

P
age 172



Appendix 1 
 

31 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

 

  

Risk 19 

Business Continuity: Flu Pandemic - Loss of people, skills 
and supply chain disruption 
 
Description 
Flu Pandemic is listed with the top three risks and rated ‘Very High’ in the 
Cumbria Community Risk Register. This is because the new virus would be 
an unknown quantity - therefore people will have no immunity and 
effective antivirals may not be available for six months. In addition to this all 
services will be affected by staff absences at a time when demand will 
increase on services.  
 
Planning assumptions for the reasonable worst case scenario: 

 Clinical attack rates of up to 50% of the population in total, spread 
over one or more waves each of around 12 – 15 weeks. Peak clinical 
attack rate Locally, 10% - 12% of population per week 

 Small teams within larger organisations should plan for 30-35% 
absenteeism in addition to usual absenteeism levels on any given 
day. 

Staff will be absent from work if: 

 They are ill with flu. 

 They need to care for dependants who are ill with flu 

 They need to care for children due to school closures 

 They have non-flu medical problems 

 Their employers have advised them to stay away from work 

 This may be unevenly distributed throughout organisations 

 They will require time for dealing with personal bereavements with 
an increase in compassionate leave and stress 

 They fear becoming ill 

Current Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the current 
position of the risk. 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  x  

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Review Date: 
Quarter Four each year 

Target Position of Risk 
This risk matrix shows the desired 
position of the risk following the 
completion of mitigations. 

Li
ke

lih
o

o
d

     

    

  x  

    

Impact 

Green zone: review annually 
Blue zone: manage quarterly  
Target Date: 
31/03/20 

  

P
age 173



Appendix 1 
 

32 
Version: 1 
Date: 01/10/2018 
Quarter: 2, 2018/19 
 

 
Impact: 
Absenteeism levels in small teams within Large Organisations at 30-35%.  
Flu Pandemic would place an unprecedented demand on local authorities, 
Police, Coroner and undertakers. It is likely that schools would be closed 
causing further absences from work. It is highly likely that mutual aid would 
be difficult. All the above issues and many more were highlighted during the 
multi-agency Cumbria Flu Pandemic Exercise on 03/07/2018.  Business 
Continuity was highlighted as key for meeting statutory obligations. A 
number of effective Business Continuity mitigations are in place - however 
there is an opportunity following the Cumbria Flu Pandemic Exercise to 
enhance Business Continuity Plans with mitigations learned during the 
exercise. 
 
Back to ‘Heat Map’ 
 

  Mitigation Mitigation Progress Mitigation Action Owner Mitigation Due Date 

 

Capture and implement the 
recommendations and mitigations 
identified within the Cumbria Flu 
Pandemic Exercise report. 

Awaiting Cumbria Flu Pandemic 
Exercise report. 

Performance and Risk Officer Capture by 01/12/18 
Implement by 31/03/20 

 

Benchmark with Cabinet Office ‘Flu 
pandemic Checklist for businesses’ and 
include actions within Business 
Continuity Plans where necessary. 

Benchmarking with checklist is 
underway 

Performance and Risk Officer Necessary actions included in Business 
Continuity Plans by 01/12/18 

  
History  
of Risk 
Improvement 

13/03/18: RISK IDENTIFIED ●  =  This risk identified following Cumbria Flu Pandemic Exercise 3rd July 2018. Escalation agreed to the Strategic 
Risk Register. Risk reviewed on 16/08/18 as below risk appetite with Likelihood Low and Impact Serious. 
27/09/18: Mitigations improved and updated. 

  Risk Owner Senior Management Team Portfolio Leader of the Council 

 
 

P
age 174



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

5 December 2018 

Review of Local Code of Governance 

 

Portfolio:   Not applicable 

Report from:  Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

Report Author: Helen Smith - Financial Services Manager 

Wards:  Corporate Issue 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome 

1.1 This report is presented to show the results of the review of the Council’s Code of 
Local Governance.  It is expected that the revisions are adopted by the Committee 
and Council. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee:- 

 (1) considers the proposed revisions to the Local Code of Governance at 
Appendix 1 and recommends the approval of the amended Code at Appendix 2 
to full Council; and 

 (2) notes the Annual Governance Statement action plan presented at 
Appendix 3. 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 Local authorities should have in place an effective system of internal control (SIC).  
For South Lakeland District Council, the key features of the SIC are described within 
the Local Code of Governance. 

3.2 Under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the Council is required to review 
the effectiveness of the SIC annually and to report this through an Annual 
Governance Statement (AGS).  This is done alongside the statement of accounts 
and must be prepared in accordance with proper practices. 

3.3 CIPFA published a revised version of their governance framework for local 
authorities, ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)’.  
This constitutes proper practice and is to be applied for financial years from April 
2016 onwards.  This slightly re-arranged the previous framework moving from 6 
principles to 7 in line with CIPFA’s broader ‘International Framework: Good 
Governance in the Public Sector (2014)’. 

 Local Code Review 

3.4 The Local Code approved in December 2015 and Annual Governance Statement 
were prepared under the new framework for 2016/17 and 2017/18.  During 2017/18 
the Council’s internal auditors undertook a review of the Local Code and concluded 

Page 175

Item No.12



there was reasonable assurance but that the existing procedures could be 
streamlined.  The recommendations were: 

1. To evidence greater alignment with the Guidance, self-assessment be made 
against each of the Guidance's suggested Examples of Behaviours and 
Actions, rather than (or as well as) against the adopted sub-principles of its 
Local Code. 

2. The Responsible Officer for each adopted sub-principle in the Local Code be 
referenced in all cases to the Officer's post, rather than to the Officer's name 
or a reference to the Constitution. 

3. The spreadsheet that is used to evidence compliance with the Local Code be 
updated to reflect the proposed changes to the Local Code that were 
presented to the Audit Committee and subsequently to Council in December 
2017. 

4. The mapping of the Guidance behaviours and actions that demonstrate good 
governance in practice be mapped only to sub-principles in the Local Code 
that pertain to the same principle to which the behaviour and action relate. 

5. Each line in the Guidance's list of examples of systems, processes, 
documentation and other evidence demonstrating compliance be mapped to 
a referenced sub-principle, rather than being marked as duplicate. 

The first three recommendations were implemented in the AGS for 2017/18.  The last 
two recommendations require changes to the Local Code of Governance itself. 

3.5 There has been one action added to the Local Code: 

D14. Consider social value when preparing service plans, considering 
procurement and commissioning and monitoring performance. 

 References to local area agreements have been removed and references to 
standards and guidance have been updated.  The majority of amendments are to 
include behaviours and actions under all principles to which they apply.  As a result 
some behaviours and actions are duplicated. 

3.6 Appendix 3 shows the CIPFA principles, sub-principles, example behaviours and 
actions that demonstrate good governance in practice and examples from the CIPFA 
guidance with the Local Code reference for each.   

 AGS Action Plan Update 

3.6 An action plan to address areas for improvement in the Council’s governance 
arrangements was presented as part of the approved 2017/18 AGS.  This was 
presented to Audit Committee on 25 July 2018.  Appendix 4 gives an update on 
progress against the various actions. 

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 Officers have reviewed the existing Local Code of Governance and the CIPFA 
Delivering Good Governance in Local Government Framework (2016).  Audit 
Committee have reviewed the 2017/18 Local Code of Governance internal audit 
report which recommended changes to the Local Code of Governance. 

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 Audit Committee can alter the detail of the Local Code of Governance, however this 
should ensure any amendments comply with best practice and the legislative 
framework.   

Page 176



6.0 Links to Council Priorities 

6.1 The system of internal control as described in the Local Code underpins the 
achievement of all Council priorities. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 This report has no financial implications. 

Human Resources 

7.2 There are no human resource implications of this report. 

Legal 

7.3 There are no legal implications of this report. 

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? No   

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: The 
Local Code of Governance has no direct HSEE implications. 

Equality and Diversity 

7.6 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No  

7.7 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: The 
Local Code of Governance has no direct Equality and Diversity Implications. 

Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

Weaknesses identified in the 
Annual Governance Statement 
action plan are not addressed 
adequately 

Non-compliance with Local 
Code of Governance with 
possible loss of public 
confidence about the way 
the Council conducts its 
business. 

Regular monitoring 
schedule so that Members 
and senior officers can 
monitor progress in 
addressing the 
weaknesses identified.  

Local Code prepared that is not 
in line with proper practice 

Potential gaps in system of 
internal control 

Regular review of Local 
Code; annual review of 
effectiveness based on 
CIPFA framework. 

Contact Officers 

Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager, 01539 793147, h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Proposed amendments to Local Code 

2 Proposed Local Code of Governance 2018/19 

3 Annual Governance Statement and Local Code review 2018/19 

4 AGS action plan update 

Page 177



Background Documents Available 

 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

International Framework: Good 
Governance in the Public 
Sector IFAC/CIPFA 

http://tinyurl.com/lvqtdx2 

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent 

Legal Services 19/11/18 

Section 151 Officer 19/11/18 

Monitoring Officer 19/11/18 

SMT 19/11/18 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Assistant Director 19/11/18 

Human Resources Manager N/A 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder N/A 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee 6/12/18 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council 18/12/18 

 

Page 178

http://tinyurl.com/lvqtdx2


 

1 
 

Appendix 1  
 
The purpose of this appendix is to set the Local Code of Governance for 2018/19.  
   

 
South Lakeland District Council 
Local Code of Governance December 2018 
 
Contents 
 
Introduction 
 
Principle A –  Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 

respecting the rule of law 
 
Principle B –  Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 
 
Principle C –  Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental 

benefits 
 
Principle D –  Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 

intended outcomes 
 
Principle E –  Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 

individuals within it 
 
Principle F –  Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 

financial management 
 
Principle G – Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver 

effective accountability 
 
Annual Review of Corporate Governance 

 

Introduction 
 
This Local Code of Governance has been developed from a framework document produced by 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and the Society of Local 
Authority Chief Executives and Senior Managers (SOLACE). The CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering 
Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) defines governance as follows:  
 
“Governance comprises the arrangements put in place to ensure that the intended outcomes for 
stakeholders are defined and achieved.  

Page 179



 

2 
 

To deliver good governance in the public sector, both governing bodies and individuals working 
for public sector entities must try to achieve their entity’s objectives while acting in the public 
interest at all times.  
 
Acting in the public interest implies primary consideration of the benefits for society, which should 
result in positive outcomes for service users and other stakeholders.” 
 
The framework contains seven principles. These are as follows:  
 
Principle A –  Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 

respecting the rule of law 
 
Principle B –  Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 
 
Principle C –  Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental 

benefits 
 
Principle D –  Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 

intended outcomes 
 
Principle E –  Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 

individuals within it 
 
Principle F –  Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 

financial management 
 
Principle G – Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver 

effective accountability 
 
The Council is committed to these principles and has adopted them into its Local Code. The 
remainder of this document sets out the local arrangements that support the achievement of these 
principles. The Council will review the effectiveness of these arrangements against the 
Framework on an annual basis. 
 
 

The Council commits itself to the following principles: 
 
Principle A   Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 

respecting the rule of law 
 
Local government organisations are accountable not only for how much they spend, but also for 
how they use the resources under their stewardship. This includes accountability for outputs, both 
positive and negative, and for the outcomes they have achieved. In addition, they have an 
overarching responsibility to serve the public interest in adhering to the requirements of legislation 
and government policies. It is essential that, as a whole, they can demonstrate the 
appropriateness of all their actions across all activities and have mechanisms in place to 
encourage and enforce adherence to ethical values and to respect the rule of law.  

Page 180



 

3 
 

 
In pursuance of this principle we will: 
 

A1. make a Chief Executive (or equivalent) responsible and accountable to the authority 
for all aspects of operational management; 

A2. make a senior officer (the Section 151 Officer) responsible to the authority for 
ensuring that appropriate advice is given on all financial matters, for keeping proper 
financial records and accounts, and for maintaining an effective system of internal 
financial control; 

A3. appoint a professionally qualified and experienced Chief Finance Officer (Section 
151 Officer), who will lead the promotion and delivery of good financial 
management, safeguarding public money and ensuring appropriate, economic, 
efficient and effective use of funds, together with professional accountability for 
finance staff throughout the Council with regard to CIPFA’s Statement on the Role 
of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government (2016); 

A4. make a senior officer (the Monitoring Officer) responsible to the authority for 
ensuring that agreed procedures are followed and that all applicable statutes, 
regulations and other relevant statements of good practice are complied with. 

A5. develop and maintain shared values including leadership values both for the 
Council and its staff reflecting public expectations about the conduct and behaviour 
of individuals and groups within and associated with the Council; 

A6. use the Council’s shared values to act as a guide for decision making and as a 
basis for developing positive and trusting relationships within the Council; 

A7. develop and adopt formal codes of conduct defining standards of personal 
behaviour; 

A8. develop and maintain an effective standards committee that acts as the main 
means to raise awareness and take the lead in ensuring high standards of conduct 
are firmly embedded within the local culture; 

A9. put in place arrangements to ensure that members and staff of the Council are not 
influenced by prejudice, bias or conflicts of interest in dealing with different 
stakeholders and put in place appropriate processes to ensure that they continue to 
operate in practice; 

A10. put in place arrangements to ensure that procedures and operations are designed 
in conformity with appropriate ethical standards, and to monitor their continuing 
compliance in practice; 

A11. ensure that systems and processes for financial administration and control, 
protection of the Authority’s resources and assets, are designed in conformity with 
appropriate ethical standards; and are subject to monitoring of their effectiveness; 

A12. put in place arrangements so that conflicts of interest on behalf of members and 
employees can be avoided and put in place appropriate processes to ensure that 
they continue to operate in practice; 

A13. put in place effective transparent and accessible arrangements for dealing with 
complaints; 

A14. actively recognise the limits of lawful activity placed on the Council by the ultra vires 
doctrine but also strive to utilise the Council’s powers to the full benefit of our 
communities; 

A15. observe all specific legislative requirements placed upon the Council as well as the 
requirements of general law, and in particular integrate the key principles of 

Page 181



 

4 
 

administrative law – rationality, legality and natural justice into the Council’s 
procedures and decision making; 

A16. put in place effective systems to protect the rights of staff. Ensure that policies for 
whistle blowing which are accessible to staff and those contracting with the 
authority, and arrangements for the support of whistle blowers, are in place; 

A17. put in place effective anti-bribery, fraud and corruption policies that comply with the 
Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption (CIPFA, 2014);.  

 

Additional Measures 
 

A18. use a statement of business conduct  to make its expectations clear to partners and 
external providers of services; 

 
Additional Measures 
 
A19. provide induction programmes tailored to individual needs and opportunities for 

members and officers to update their knowledge on a regular basis; 
A20. assess the skills required by members and officers and make arrangements to 

agree a development plan to develop those skills and address any training gaps, to 
enable roles to be carried out effectively; 

A21. determine a scheme of delegated and reserved powers within the constitution and 
ensure that it is monitored and updated when required; 

A22. ensure that professional advice on legal and financial matters is available and 
recorded well in advance of decision making and used appropriately when decisions 
have significant legal or financial implications. 

 
 
Principle B   Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 
 
Local government is run for the public good, organisations therefore should ensure openness in 
their activities. Clear, trusted channels of communication and consultation should be used to 
engage effectively with all groups of stakeholders, such as individual citizens and service users, 
as well as institutional stakeholders.  
 
In pursuance of this principle we will: 
 

B1. develop protocols to ensure effective communication between members and officers 
in their respective roles; 

B2. develop protocols to ensure that the leader and chief executive negotiate their 
respective roles early in their relationship and that a shared understanding of roles 
and objectives is maintained; 

B3. ensure that the Council’s vision, values, strategic plans, priorities and targets are 
developed through robust mechanisms, and in consultation with the local community 
and other key stakeholders, and that they are clearly articulated and disseminated; 

B4. in pursuing partnerships, agree a set of values against which decision making and 
actions can be judged in line with and having referred to the Partnership Register and 
Guidance. 

B5. develop and maintain open and effective mechanisms for documenting evidence for 

Page 182



 

5 
 

decisions and recording the criteria, rationale and considerations on which decisions 
are based; 

B6. put in place effective arrangements designed to encourage individuals from all 
sections of the community to engage with, contribute to and participate in the work of 
the authority; 

B7. make clear to ourselves, all staff and the community, to whom we are accountable 
and for what; 

B8. consider those institutional stakeholders to whom we are accountable and assess the 
effectiveness of the relationships and any changes required; 

B9. establish clear channels of communication with all sections of the community and 
other stakeholders and put in place monitoring arrangements to ensure that they 
operate effectively; 

B10. put in place arrangements to enable the authority to engage with all sections of the 
community effectively. These arrangements will recognise that different sections of 
the community have different priorities and establish explicit processes for dealing 
with these competing demands; 

B11. develop and maintain a clear policy on how staff and their representatives are 
consulted and involved in decision making; 

B12. To put in place measures to ensure freedom of information requests and 
transparency requirements are adhered to, including publication through the 
Council’s website.  

B13. To ensure committee decisions are fully documented through the use of appropriate 
report templates, agenda submission processes and minutes;. 

 
Additional Measures 
 
B14. publish an annual report on a timely basis to communicate the authority’s activities 

and achievements, its financial position and performance; 
B15. promote the use of technology to enhance efficiency and quality of service; 
B16. ensure that professional advice on legal and financial matters is available and 

recorded well in advance of decision making and used appropriately when decisions 
have significant legal or financial implications; 

B17. when working in partnership, ensure that there is a clear statement setting out the 
purpose of the partnership and the outputs to be achieved. 

 
 
Principle C   Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental 

benefits 
 
The long-term nature and impact of many of local government’s responsibilities mean that it 
should define and plan outcomes and that these should be sustainable. Decisions should 
further the organisation’s purpose, contribute to intended benefits and outcomes, and remain 
within the limits of authority and resources. Input from all groups of stakeholders, including 
citizens, service users, and institutional stakeholders, is vital to the success of this process and 
in balancing competing demands when determining priorities for the finite resources available.  
 
In pursuance of this principle we will: 
 

Page 183



 

6 
 

C1. make a clear statement of the authority’s purpose and vision and use it as a basis for 
corporate and service planning. and shaping the Council Plancommunity strategy and 
local area agreements; 

C2. review on a regular basis the authority’s vision for the local area and its impact in the 
authority’s governance arrangements; 

C3. when working in partnership, ensure that there is a clear statement setting out the 
purpose of the partnership and the outputs to be achieved. 

C4. develop and maintain an effective scrutiny function which encourages constructive 
challenge and enhances the authority’s performance overall; 

C5. produce an annual report on scrutiny function activity; 
C6. ensure performance, financial and non-financial, is reported to senior management 

and Members including action plans where necessary;.  
C7. Link service plans to agreed measures and targets within the Council plan; 
C8. ensure strategic investment decisions are managed through the capital budgeting 

process and Medium Term Financial Plan linked to the Council Plan, including the 
economic, social and environmental impacts. 

C9. ensure committee reports are shared with senior management and portfolio holders 
as part of the pre agenda submission process;. 

 
Additional Measures 
 
C10. ensure that the Council’s vision, values, strategic plans, priorities and targets are 

developed through robust mechanisms, and in consultation with the local community 
and other key stakeholders, and that they are clearly articulated and disseminated; 

C11. ensure that risk management is embedded into the culture of the authority, with 
members and managers at all levels recognising that risk management is part of 
their job; 

C12. put arrangements in place to capture and manage risks corporately; 
C13. develop and maintain open and effective mechanisms for documenting evidence for 

decisions and recording the criteria, rationale and considerations on which decisions 
are based. 

 
 

Principle D   Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 
intended outcomes 

 
Local government achieves its intended outcomes by providing a mixture of legal, regulatory, 
and practical interventions (courses of action). Determining the right mix of these courses of 
action is a critically important strategic choice that local government has to make to ensure 
intended outcomes are achieved. They need robust decision-making mechanisms to ensure 
that their defined outcomes can be achieved in a way that provides the best trade-off between 
the various types of resource inputs while still enabling effective and efficient operations. 
Decisions made need to be reviewed frequently to ensure that achievement of outcomes is 
optimised.  
 
In pursuance of this principle we will: 
 

D1. decide how the quality of service for users is to be measured and ensure that the 

Page 184



 

7 
 

information needed to review service quality effectively and regularly is available; 
D2. decide how value for money is to be measured and ensure that we have the 

information needed to review value for money and performance effectively; measure 
the environmental impact of policies, plans and decisions; 

D3. produce timely, accurate and impartial financial information for decision making, 
enabling the Authority to meet its objectives and providing effective stewardship and 
value for money; 

D4. ensure that effective mechanisms exist to monitor service delivery; 
D5. ensure that those making decisions are provided with information that is fit for the 

purpose – relevant, timely and gives clear explanations of technical issues and their 
implications; 

D6. produce clear, timely, complete and accurate information for budget holders and 
senior officers relating to the budgetary and financial performance of the Council; 

D7. establish a medium term business and financial planning process in order to 
deliver a financial strategy ensuring sustainable finances, a robust annual budget 
process ensuring financial balance and an adequate monitoring process; all of 
which are subject to regular review; 

D8. when working in partnership ensure that appropriate governance arrangements 
are in place that include responsibilities and arrangements for managing risk for 
each counterparty, 

D9. agree annually a calendar of meetings to be used as the basis for forward planning 
of decision making 

 
Additional Measures 

 
D10. To ensure committee decisions are fully documented through the use of 

appropriate report templates, agenda submission processes and minutes; 
D11. develop and maintain open and effective mechanisms for documenting evidence for 

decisions and recording the criteria, rationale and considerations on which decisions 
are based; 

D12. establish clear channels of communication with all sections of the community and 
other stakeholders and put in place monitoring arrangements to ensure that they 
operate effectively; 

D13. ensure that risk management is embedded into the culture of the authority, with 
members and managers at all levels recognising that risk management is part of 
their job; 

D14. Consider social value when preparing service plans, considering procurement and 
commissioning and monitoring performance. 

 
 

Principle E   Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 
individuals within it 

 
Local government needs appropriate structures and leadership, as well as people with the right 
skills, appropriate qualifications and mindset, to operate efficiently and effectively and achieve 
intended outcomes within the specified periods. A local government organisation must ensure 
that it has both the capacity to fulfil its own mandate and to make certain that there are policies 

Page 185



 

8 
 

in place to guarantee that its management has the operational capacity for the organisation as a 
whole.  
 
Because both individuals and the environment in which an organisation operates will change 
over time, there will be a continuous need to develop its capacity as well as the skills and 
experience of individual staff members. Leadership in local government is strengthened by the 
participation of people with many different types of backgrounds, reflecting the structure and 
diversity of communities.  
 
In pursuance of this principle we will: 
 

E1. publish an annual report on a timely basis to communicate the authority’s activities 
and achievements, its financial position and performance; 

E2. assess the skills required by members and officers and make arrangements to 
agree a development plan to develop those skills and address any training gaps, to 
enable roles to be carried out effectively; 

E3. embed financial competencies within all appropriate person specifications and 
appraisals; 

E4. ensure that Councillor’s roles and responsibilities for monitoring financial/budgetary 
performance are clear; and they are provided with and have access to adequate 
financial skills and training to assist in discharging these responsibilities; 

E5. develop skills on a continuing basis to improve performance, including the ability to 
scrutinise and challenge and to recognise when outside expert advice is needed, in 
line with the member development strategy; 

E6. provide induction programmes tailored to individual needs and opportunities for 
members and officers to update their knowledge on a regular basis; 

E7. ensure that the statutory officers have the skills, resources and support necessary 
to perform effectively in their roles and that these roles are properly understood 
throughout the authority; 

E8. consider career structures for members and officers to encourage participation and 
development; 

E9. manage the strategic Human Resource Management and Organisational 
Development needs of the organisation through relevant policies and accreditation. 

E10. promote the use of technology to enhance efficiency and quality of service;. 
 
Additional measures: 
 
E11. ensuring members and officers are aware of corporate guidance around partnership 

working through annual partnership review; 
 
Additional Measures 
 

E12. decide how value for money is to be measured and ensure that we have the 
information needed to review value for money and performance effectively; measure 
the environmental impact; 

E13. when working in partnership, ensure that appropriate governance arrangements are 
in place that make clear the financial controls, data sharing, audit and scrutiny 
arrangements. 

Page 186



 

9 
 

E14. develop protocols to ensure effective communication between members and officers 
in their respective roles; 

E15. develop protocols to ensure that the leader and chief executive negotiate their 
respective roles early in their relationship and that a shared understanding of roles 
and objectives is maintained; 

E16. determine a scheme of delegated and reserved powers within the constitution and 
ensure that it is monitored and updated when required; 

E17. ensure effective internal control arrangements exist for sound financial 
management systems and processes; 

E18. establish clear channels of communication with all sections of the community and 
other stakeholders and put in place monitoring arrangements to ensure that they 
operate effectively; 

 
 
Principle F    Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 

financial management 
 
Local government needs to ensure that the organisations and governance structures that it 
oversees have implemented, and can sustain, an effective performance management system 
that facilitates effective and efficient delivery of planned services. Risk management and internal 
control are important and integral parts of a performance management system and are crucial to 
the achievement of outcomes. Risk should be considered and addressed as part of all decision 
making activities.  
 
A strong system of financial management is essential for the implementation of policies and the 
achievement of intended outcomes, as it will enforce financial discipline, strategic allocation of 
resources, efficient service delivery and accountability.  
 
It is also essential that a culture and structure for scrutiny are in place as a key part of 
accountable decision making, policy making and review. A positive working culture that accepts, 
promotes and encourages constructive challenge is critical to successful scrutiny and 
successful service delivery. Importantly, this culture does not happen automatically, it requires 
repeated public commitment from those in authority.  
 
 
In pursuance of this principle we will: 
 

F1. maintain a prudential financial framework, balance commitments with available 
resources; and monitor income and expenditure levels to ensure this balance is 
achieved; 

F2. ensure compliance with the CIPFA codes regarding a Prudential Framework for 
Capital Finance and Treasury Management; 

F3. put in place effective arrangements to deal with a failure in service delivery; 
F4. determine a scheme of delegated and reserved powers within the constitution and 

ensure that it is monitored and updated when required; 
F5. require appropriate management accounting, functions and controls to be in place 

within the Council,; 
F6. ensure budget calculations are robust and reserves are adequate; 

Page 187



 

10 
 

F7. ensure that effective management arrangements are in place at the top of the 
organisation; 

F8. ensure that risk management is embedded into the culture of the authority, with 
members and managers at all levels recognising that risk management is part of 
their job; 

F9. ensure effective internal control arrangements exist for sound financial management 
systems and processes; 

F10. review the scope of the Chief Finance Officer’s (Section 151 Officer’s) non financial 
areas of responsibility to ensure financial matters are not compromised; 

F11. provide the Financial Services with the resources, expertise and systems necessary 
to perform its role effectively within the Council; 

F12. on an annual basis, publish an annual report giving information on the authority’s 
vision, strategy, plans and financial statements as well as information about the 
outcomes, achievements and the satisfaction of service users in the previous 
period; 

F13. Set out clear financial and contract procedure rules, kept under review as part of the 
overall Constitution of the Council. 

F14. Put arrangements in place for sharing, gathering and storing data and ensuring data 
quality.  

F15. Put arrangements in place to capture and manage risks corporately. 
 

Additional Measures: 
 
F16. when working in partnership, ensure that appropriate governance arrangements are 

in place that make clear the financial controls, data sharing, audit and scrutiny 
arrangements. 
 

Additional Measures: 
 

F17. ensure performance, financial and non-financial, is reported to senior management 
and Members including action plans where necessary;  

F18. To ensure committee decisions are fully documented through the use of appropriate 
report templates, agenda submission processes and minutes; 

F19. ensure that professional advice on legal and financial matters is available and 
recorded well in advance of decision making and used appropriately when decisions 
have significant legal or financial implications. 

F20. develop and maintain an effective scrutiny function which encourages constructive 
challenge and enhances the authority’s performance overall; 

F21. ensure that systems and processes for financial administration and control, 
protection of the Authority’s resources and assets, are designed in conformity with 
appropriate ethical standards; and are subject to monitoring of their effectiveness; 

F22. ensure an effective internal audit function is resourced and maintained and 
complies with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS); 

F23. put in place effective anti-bribery, fraud and corruption policies that comply with the 
Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption (CIPFA, 2014);  

F24. require our arrangements for financial and internal control and management of risk 
to be formally addressed within the annual governance reports; 

Page 188



 

11 
 

F25. Ensure audit committee complies with Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for 
Local Authorities and Police (CIPFA, 2018). 

 
 

Principle G   Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver 
effective accountability 

 
Accountability is about ensuring that those making decisions and delivering services are 
answerable for them. Effective accountability is concerned not only with reporting on actions 
completed, but also ensuring that stakeholders are able to understand and respond as the 
organisation plans and carries out its activities in a transparent manner. Both external and 
internal audit contribute to effective accountability.  
 
 
In pursuance of this principle we will: 
 

G1. set out a clear statement of the respective roles and responsibilities of the Council’s 
executive committee and the members individually and the authority’s approach 
towards putting this into practice; 

G2. set out a clear statement of the respective roles and responsibilities of the Council’s 
other committees and members and senior officers; 

G3. set out the terms and conditions for remuneration of members and officers and 
publish an Annual Pay policy statement in accordance with the requirements of the 
Localism Act 2011; 

G4. ensure an effective internal audit function is resourced and maintained and 
complies with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS); 

G5. develop and maintain effective arrangements for determining the remuneration of 
senior staff; 

G6. ensure that professional advice on legal and financial matters is available and 
recorded well in advance of decision making and used appropriately when decisions 
have significant legal or financial implications; 

G7. enable the Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) to bring influence to bear on 
all material decisions and provide advice on the levels of reserves and balances to 
be retained; 

G8. require our arrangements for financial and internal control and management of risk 
to be formally addressed within the annual governance reports; 

G9. ensure that the authority as a whole is open and accessible to the community, 
service users and staff and make a commitment to openness and transparency in 
all our dealings, including partnerships subject only to the need to preserve 
confidentiality in those specific circumstances where it is proper and appropriate to 
do so; 

G10. develop and maintain an effective audit committee which is independent of the 
executive and scrutiny functions; 

G11. enable the Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) to have direct access to the 
Council’s Audit Committee and External Auditor 

G12. Ensure audit committee complies with Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for 
Local Authorities and Police (CIPFA, 20182013). 
 

Page 189



 

12 
 

Additional Measures 
 

G13. establish clear channels of communication with all sections of the community and 
other stakeholders and put in place monitoring arrangements to ensure that they 
operate effectively; 

G14. publish an annual report on a timely basis to communicate the authority’s activities 
and achievements, its financial position and performance; 

G15. produce timely, accurate and impartial financial information for decision making, 
enabling the Authority to meet its objectives and providing effective stewardship and 
value for money; 

G16. produce clear, timely, complete and accurate information for budget holders and 
senior officers relating to the budgetary and financial performance of the Council; 

 
 

Annual Review of Corporate Governance 

 
At the end of the year, the Council will produce its Annual Governance Statement which will review 
the effectiveness of the actual system of internal control in place against both the Local Code of 
Governance and the CIPFA best practice framework. The review will draw various sources of 
evidence including:  
 

 detailed self-assessment against the CIPFA best practice examples 

 the Internal Audit annual opinion,  

 relevant reports from External Audit,  

 year end reports from Scrutiny, Audit and Standards committees 

 assurances from senior management and significant partners 
 
As part of its governance role, the Audit Committee will oversee this review on behalf of the 
Council. 
  

Page 190



 

13 
 

Framework for the Internal Control Environment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 Embedded 
system 

 Operates 
throughout 
organisation 

 Internal & external 
reviews 

 Action orientated 

 National/local 
KPI’s  

 Periodic progress 
reports 

 Internal Audit’s 
opinion 
expressed in 
periodic and 
annual reports to 
audit committee 

 Operates under 
terms of 
reference 

 Rolling strategic 
& annual plans, 
Member 
approved 

 Risk-based plan 

 Annual plan 

 Annual letter 

 Audit opinion 

 Value for Money 
opinion 

 Departmental 
Policies 

 Control & risk self-
assessment 
questionnaires 
completed with 
feedback from 
senior Managers 

 Strategic 
operational 
strategy & 
registers 

 Embedded in 
policies & 
planning 

 Effectiveness 
evaluated 

 Project appraisal 

 Fraud reports and 
investigations 

 Reports by 
inspectors 

 Post 
implementation 
reviews of projects 

Internal Control Framework 

 Council Constitution 

 Council Plan 

 Local Code of Governance 

 Medium Term Financial Plan 

 Revenue & Capital Budgets 

 Service Plans 

 Performance Management Framework 

 Service Partnership Protocols and 
Agreements  

 South Lakeland Local Plan 

 Financial Management Reporting 

 Project management process 

 Risk management & registers 

 Anti-Bribery, Fraud & Corruption Policy 

 Information Security Policy 

 Financial Procedure Rules 

 Codes of Conduct for Members & Officers 

 Whistleblowing policy 

 Freedom of Information Policy 

 Corporate Procurement Strategy 

 Health and Safety Policy 

 Corporate Property Strategy 

 Asset Land and Property Management 
Plan 

 Surveillance Policy 

 Human Resources Policies 

 Customer Access Strategy 

 Equality and Diversity 

 Accessibility Policy 

 Data Protection and Governance 

 Community Engagement Strategy 

Annual Governance Statement 
 published with the Statement of 

Accounts  
 approved by Leader and Chief 

Executive 

Independent review by Audit 
Committee Members to examine 
draft AGS & supporting evidence 

and recommend approval 

Draft Annual Governance Statement 

 Internal Control environment 
reviewed by Finance, 
Partnerships and Organisational 
Development, Internal Audit 

 Governance best practice 
reviewed 

 Draft AGS produced  

Performance Sub Committee 

 Monitors residual risk and 
management 

 Monitors risk profile 

 Receives risk monitoring 
reports 

 Performance Indicators & 
Performance Plan 

Monitoring Officer 

 Monitors compliance with 
Constitution, standards 
and legislation 

Section 151 Officer  

 Monitors compliance with 
internal/external financial 
regulatory framework 

Performance 

Management 
Internal 

Audit 

External 

Audit 

Risk 

Management 

Other 
sources of 
assurance 

Assurances 
by 

Managers 

Page 191



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 192



 1 
 

Appendix 2  
 
The purpose of this appendix is to set the Local Code of Governance for 2018/19.  
   

 
South Lakeland District Council 
Local Code of Governance December 2018 
 
Contents 
 
Introduction 
 
Principle A –  Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 

respecting the rule of law 
 
Principle B –  Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 
 
Principle C –  Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental 

benefits 
 
Principle D –  Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 

intended outcomes 
 
Principle E –  Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 

individuals within it 
 
Principle F –  Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 

financial management 
 
Principle G – Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver 

effective accountability 
 
Annual Review of Corporate Governance 

 

Introduction 
 
This Local Code of Governance has been developed from a framework document produced by 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and the Society of Local 
Authority Chief Executives and Senior Managers (SOLACE). The CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering 
Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016) defines governance as follows:  
 
“Governance comprises the arrangements put in place to ensure that the intended outcomes for 
stakeholders are defined and achieved.  
To deliver good governance in the public sector, both governing bodies and individuals working 
for public sector entities must try to achieve their entity’s objectives while acting in the public 
interest at all times.  

Page 193



 2 
 

 
Acting in the public interest implies primary consideration of the benefits for society, which 
should result in positive outcomes for service users and other stakeholders.” 
 
The framework contains seven principles. These are as follows:  
 
Principle A –  Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 

respecting the rule of law 
 
Principle B –  Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 
 
Principle C –  Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental 

benefits 
 
Principle D –  Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 

intended outcomes 
 
Principle E –  Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 

individuals within it 
 
Principle F –  Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 

financial management 
 
Principle G – Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver 

effective accountability 
 
The Council is committed to these principles and has adopted them into its Local Code. The 
remainder of this document sets out the local arrangements that support the achievement of 
these principles. The Council will review the effectiveness of these arrangements against the 
Framework on an annual basis. 
 
 

The Council commits itself to the following principles: 
 
Principle A   Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and 

respecting the rule of law 
 
Local government organisations are accountable not only for how much they spend, but also for 
how they use the resources under their stewardship. This includes accountability for outputs, 
both positive and negative, and for the outcomes they have achieved. In addition, they have an 
overarching responsibility to serve the public interest in adhering to the requirements of 
legislation and government policies. It is essential that, as a whole, they can demonstrate the 
appropriateness of all their actions across all activities and have mechanisms in place to 
encourage and enforce adherence to ethical values and to respect the rule of law.  
 
In pursuance of this principle we will: 
 

Page 194



 3 
 

A1. make a Chief Executive (or equivalent) responsible and accountable to the authority 
for all aspects of operational management; 

A2. make a senior officer (the Section 151 Officer) responsible to the authority for 
ensuring that appropriate advice is given on all financial matters, for keeping proper 
financial records and accounts, and for maintaining an effective system of internal 
financial control; 

A3. appoint a professionally qualified and experienced Chief Finance Officer (Section 
151 Officer), who will lead the promotion and delivery of good financial 
management, safeguarding public money and ensuring appropriate, economic, 
efficient and effective use of funds, together with professional accountability for 
finance staff throughout the Council with regard to CIPFA’s Statement on the Role 
of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government (2016); 

A4. make a senior officer (the Monitoring Officer) responsible to the authority for 
ensuring that agreed procedures are followed and that all applicable statutes, 
regulations and other relevant statements of good practice are complied with. 

A5. develop and maintain shared values including leadership values both for the 
Council and its staff reflecting public expectations about the conduct and behaviour 
of individuals and groups within and associated with the Council; 

A6. use the Council’s shared values to act as a guide for decision making and as a 
basis for developing positive and trusting relationships within the Council; 

A7. develop and adopt formal codes of conduct defining standards of personal 
behaviour; 

A8. develop and maintain an effective standards committee that acts as the main 
means to raise awareness and take the lead in ensuring high standards of conduct 
are firmly embedded within the local culture; 

A9. put in place arrangements to ensure that members and staff of the Council are not 
influenced by prejudice, bias or conflicts of interest in dealing with different 
stakeholders and put in place appropriate processes to ensure that they continue to 
operate in practice; 

A10. put in place arrangements to ensure that procedures and operations are designed 
in conformity with appropriate ethical standards, and to monitor their continuing 
compliance in practice; 

A11. ensure that systems and processes for financial administration and control, 
protection of the Authority’s resources and assets, are designed in conformity with 
appropriate ethical standards; and are subject to monitoring of their effectiveness; 

A12. put in place arrangements so that conflicts of interest on behalf of members and 
employees can be avoided and put in place appropriate processes to ensure that 
they continue to operate in practice; 

A13. put in place effective transparent and accessible arrangements for dealing with 
complaints; 

A14. actively recognise the limits of lawful activity placed on the Council by the ultra vires 
doctrine but also strive to utilise the Council’s powers to the full benefit of our 
communities; 

A15. observe all specific legislative requirements placed upon the Council as well as the 
requirements of general law, and in particular integrate the key principles of 
administrative law – rationality, legality and natural justice into the Council’s 
procedures and decision making; 

Page 195



 4 
 

A16. put in place effective systems to protect the rights of staff. Ensure that policies for 
whistle blowing which are accessible to staff and those contracting with the 
authority, and arrangements for the support of whistle blowers, are in place; 

A17. put in place effective anti-bribery, fraud and corruption policies that comply with the 
Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption (CIPFA, 2014);  

A18. use a statement of business conduct  to make its expectations clear to partners and 
external providers of services; 

 
Additional Measures 
 
A19. provide induction programmes tailored to individual needs and opportunities for 

members and officers to update their knowledge on a regular basis; 
A20. assess the skills required by members and officers and make arrangements to 

agree a development plan to develop those skills and address any training gaps, to 
enable roles to be carried out effectively; 

A21. determine a scheme of delegated and reserved powers within the constitution and 
ensure that it is monitored and updated when required; 

A22. ensure that professional advice on legal and financial matters is available and 
recorded well in advance of decision making and used appropriately when decisions 
have significant legal or financial implications. 

 
Principle B   Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 
 
Local government is run for the public good, organisations therefore should ensure openness in 
their activities. Clear, trusted channels of communication and consultation should be used to 
engage effectively with all groups of stakeholders, such as individual citizens and service users, 
as well as institutional stakeholders.  
 
In pursuance of this principle we will: 
 

B1. develop protocols to ensure effective communication between members and 
officers in their respective roles; 

B2. develop protocols to ensure that the leader and chief executive negotiate their 
respective roles early in their relationship and that a shared understanding of roles 
and objectives is maintained; 

B3. ensure that the Council’s vision, values, strategic plans, priorities and targets are 
developed through robust mechanisms, and in consultation with the local 
community and other key stakeholders, and that they are clearly articulated and 
disseminated; 

B4. in pursuing partnerships, agree a set of values against which decision making and 
actions can be judged in line with and having referred to the Partnership Register 
and Guidance. 

B5. develop and maintain open and effective mechanisms for documenting evidence for 
decisions and recording the criteria, rationale and considerations on which 
decisions are based; 

B6. put in place effective arrangements designed to encourage individuals from all 
sections of the community to engage with, contribute to and participate in the work 
of the authority; 

Page 196



 5 
 

B7. make clear to ourselves, all staff and the community, to whom we are accountable 
and for what; 

B8. consider those institutional stakeholders to whom we are accountable and assess 
the effectiveness of the relationships and any changes required; 

B9. establish clear channels of communication with all sections of the community and 
other stakeholders and put in place monitoring arrangements to ensure that they 
operate effectively; 

B10. put in place arrangements to enable the authority to engage with all sections of the 
community effectively. These arrangements will recognise that different sections of 
the community have different priorities and establish explicit processes for dealing 
with these competing demands; 

B11. develop and maintain a clear policy on how staff and their representatives are 
consulted and involved in decision making; 

B12. To put in place measures to ensure freedom of information requests and 
transparency requirements are adhered to, including publication through the 
Council’s website.  

B13. To ensure committee decisions are fully documented through the use of appropriate 
report templates, agenda submission processes and minutes; 

 
Additional Measures 
 
B14. publish an annual report on a timely basis to communicate the authority’s activities 

and achievements, its financial position and performance; 
B15. promote the use of technology to enhance efficiency and quality of service; 
B16. ensure that professional advice on legal and financial matters is available and 

recorded well in advance of decision making and used appropriately when decisions 
have significant legal or financial implications; 

B17. when working in partnership, ensure that there is a clear statement setting out the 
purpose of the partnership and the outputs to be achieved. 

 
 
Principle C   Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental 

benefits 
 
The long-term nature and impact of many of local government’s responsibilities mean that it 
should define and plan outcomes and that these should be sustainable. Decisions should 
further the organisation’s purpose, contribute to intended benefits and outcomes, and remain 
within the limits of authority and resources. Input from all groups of stakeholders, including 
citizens, service users, and institutional stakeholders, is vital to the success of this process and 
in balancing competing demands when determining priorities for the finite resources available.  
 
In pursuance of this principle we will: 
 

C1. make a clear statement of the authority’s purpose and vision and use it as a basis 
for corporate and service planning. and shaping the Council Plan; 

C2. review on a regular basis the authority’s vision for the local area and its impact in 
the authority’s governance arrangements; 

C3. when working in partnership, ensure that there is a clear statement setting out the 

Page 197



 6 
 

purpose of the partnership and the outputs to be achieved. 
C4. develop and maintain an effective scrutiny function which encourages constructive 

challenge and enhances the authority’s performance overall; 
C5. produce an annual report on scrutiny function activity; 
C6. ensure performance, financial and non-financial, is reported to senior management 

and Members including action plans where necessary;  
C7. Link service plans to agreed measures and targets within the Council plan; 
C8. ensure strategic investment decisions are managed through the capital budgeting 

process and Medium Term Financial Plan linked to the Council Plan, including the 
economic, social and environmental impacts. 

C9. ensure committee reports are shared with senior management and portfolio holders 
as part of the pre agenda submission process; 

 
Additional Measures 
 
C10. ensure that the Council’s vision, values, strategic plans, priorities and targets are 

developed through robust mechanisms, and in consultation with the local 
community and other key stakeholders, and that they are clearly articulated and 
disseminated; 

C11. ensure that risk management is embedded into the culture of the authority, with 
members and managers at all levels recognising that risk management is part of 
their job; 

C12. put arrangements in place to capture and manage risks corporately; 
C13. develop and maintain open and effective mechanisms for documenting evidence for 

decisions and recording the criteria, rationale and considerations on which 
decisions are based. 

 
Principle D   Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the 

intended outcomes 
 
Local government achieves its intended outcomes by providing a mixture of legal, regulatory, 
and practical interventions (courses of action). Determining the right mix of these courses of 
action is a critically important strategic choice that local government has to make to ensure 
intended outcomes are achieved. They need robust decision-making mechanisms to ensure 
that their defined outcomes can be achieved in a way that provides the best trade-off between 
the various types of resource inputs while still enabling effective and efficient operations. 
Decisions made need to be reviewed frequently to ensure that achievement of outcomes is 
optimised.  
 
In pursuance of this principle we will: 
 

D1. decide how the quality of service for users is to be measured and ensure that the 
information needed to review service quality effectively and regularly is available; 

D2. decide how value for money is to be measured and ensure that we have the 
information needed to review value for money and performance effectively; 
measure the environmental impact of policies, plans and decisions; 

D3. produce timely, accurate and impartial financial information for decision making, 
enabling the Authority to meet its objectives and providing effective stewardship 

Page 198



 7 
 

and value for money; 
D4. ensure that effective mechanisms exist to monitor service delivery; 
D5. ensure that those making decisions are provided with information that is fit for the 

purpose – relevant, timely and gives clear explanations of technical issues and 
their implications; 

D6. produce clear, timely, complete and accurate information for budget holders and 
senior officers relating to the budgetary and financial performance of the Council; 

D7. establish a medium term business and financial planning process in order to 
deliver a financial strategy ensuring sustainable finances, a robust annual budget 
process ensuring financial balance and an adequate monitoring process; all of 
which are subject to regular review; 

D8. when working in partnership ensure that appropriate governance arrangements 
are in place that include responsibilities and arrangements for managing risk for 
each counterparty, 

D9. agree annually a calendar of meetings to be used as the basis for forward 
planning of decision making 

 
Additional Measures 

 
D10. To ensure committee decisions are fully documented through the use of 

appropriate report templates, agenda submission processes and minutes; 
D11. develop and maintain open and effective mechanisms for documenting evidence 

for decisions and recording the criteria, rationale and considerations on which 
decisions are based; 

D12. establish clear channels of communication with all sections of the community and 
other stakeholders and put in place monitoring arrangements to ensure that they 
operate effectively; 

D13. ensure that risk management is embedded into the culture of the authority, with 
members and managers at all levels recognising that risk management is part of 
their job; 

D14. Consider social value when preparing service plans, considering procurement and 
commissioning and monitoring performance. 

 
 

Principle E   Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the 
individuals within it 

 
Local government needs appropriate structures and leadership, as well as people with the right 
skills, appropriate qualifications and mindset, to operate efficiently and effectively and achieve 
intended outcomes within the specified periods. A local government organisation must ensure 
that it has both the capacity to fulfil its own mandate and to make certain that there are policies 
in place to guarantee that its management has the operational capacity for the organisation as a 
whole.  
 
Because both individuals and the environment in which an organisation operates will change 
over time, there will be a continuous need to develop its capacity as well as the skills and 
experience of individual staff members. Leadership in local government is strengthened by the 

Page 199



 8 
 

participation of people with many different types of backgrounds, reflecting the structure and 
diversity of communities.  
 
In pursuance of this principle we will: 
 

E1. publish an annual report on a timely basis to communicate the authority’s activities 
and achievements, its financial position and performance; 

E2. assess the skills required by members and officers and make arrangements to 
agree a development plan to develop those skills and address any training gaps, to 
enable roles to be carried out effectively; 

E3. embed financial competencies within all appropriate person specifications and 
appraisals; 

E4. ensure that Councillor’s roles and responsibilities for monitoring financial/budgetary 
performance are clear; and they are provided with and have access to adequate 
financial skills and training to assist in discharging these responsibilities; 

E5. develop skills on a continuing basis to improve performance, including the ability to 
scrutinise and challenge and to recognise when outside expert advice is needed, in 
line with the member development strategy; 

E6. provide induction programmes tailored to individual needs and opportunities for 
members and officers to update their knowledge on a regular basis; 

E7. ensure that the statutory officers have the skills, resources and support necessary 
to perform effectively in their roles and that these roles are properly understood 
throughout the authority; 

E8. consider career structures for members and officers to encourage participation and 
development; 

E9. manage the strategic Human Resource Management and Organisational 
Development needs of the organisation through relevant policies and accreditation. 

E10. promote the use of technology to enhance efficiency and quality of service; 
 
E11. ensuring members and officers are aware of corporate guidance around partnership 

working through annual partnership review; 
 
Additional Measures 
 

E12. decide how value for money is to be measured and ensure that we have the 
information needed to review value for money and performance effectively; 
measure the environmental impact; 

E13. when working in partnership, ensure that appropriate governance arrangements are 
in place that make clear the financial controls, data sharing, audit and scrutiny 
arrangements. 

E14. develop protocols to ensure effective communication between members and 
officers in their respective roles; 

E15. develop protocols to ensure that the leader and chief executive negotiate their 
respective roles early in their relationship and that a shared understanding of roles 
and objectives is maintained; 

E16. determine a scheme of delegated and reserved powers within the constitution and 
ensure that it is monitored and updated when required; 

Page 200



 9 
 

E17. ensure effective internal control arrangements exist for sound financial 
management systems and processes; 

E18. establish clear channels of communication with all sections of the community and 
other stakeholders and put in place monitoring arrangements to ensure that they 
operate effectively; 

 
 
Principle F    Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public 

financial management 
 
Local government needs to ensure that the organisations and governance structures that it 
oversees have implemented, and can sustain, an effective performance management system 
that facilitates effective and efficient delivery of planned services. Risk management and internal 
control are important and integral parts of a performance management system and are crucial to 
the achievement of outcomes. Risk should be considered and addressed as part of all decision 
making activities.  
 
A strong system of financial management is essential for the implementation of policies and the 
achievement of intended outcomes, as it will enforce financial discipline, strategic allocation of 
resources, efficient service delivery and accountability.  
 
It is also essential that a culture and structure for scrutiny are in place as a key part of 
accountable decision making, policy making and review. A positive working culture that accepts, 
promotes and encourages constructive challenge is critical to successful scrutiny and 
successful service delivery. Importantly, this culture does not happen automatically, it requires 
repeated public commitment from those in authority.  
 
 
In pursuance of this principle we will: 
 

F1. maintain a prudential financial framework, balance commitments with available 
resources; and monitor income and expenditure levels to ensure this balance is 
achieved; 

F2. ensure compliance with the CIPFA codes regarding a Prudential Framework for 
Capital Finance and Treasury Management; 

F3. put in place effective arrangements to deal with a failure in service delivery; 
F4. determine a scheme of delegated and reserved powers within the constitution and 

ensure that it is monitored and updated when required; 
F5. require appropriate management accounting, functions and controls to be in place 

within the Council,; 
F6. ensure budget calculations are robust and reserves are adequate; 
F7. ensure that effective management arrangements are in place at the top of the 

organisation; 
F8. ensure that risk management is embedded into the culture of the authority, with 

members and managers at all levels recognising that risk management is part of 
their job; 

F9. ensure effective internal control arrangements exist for sound financial management 
systems and processes; 

Page 201



 10 
 

F10. review the scope of the Chief Finance Officer’s (Section 151 Officer’s) non financial 
areas of responsibility to ensure financial matters are not compromised; 

F11. provide the Financial Services with the resources, expertise and systems necessary 
to perform its role effectively within the Council; 

F12. on an annual basis, publish an annual report giving information on the authority’s 
vision, strategy, plans and financial statements as well as information about the 
outcomes, achievements and the satisfaction of service users in the previous 
period; 

F13. Set out clear financial and contract procedure rules, kept under review as part of the 
overall Constitution of the Council. 

F14. Put arrangements in place for sharing, gathering and storing data and ensuring data 
quality.  

F15. Put arrangements in place to capture and manage risks corporately. 
F16. when working in partnership, ensure that appropriate governance arrangements are 

in place that make clear the financial controls, data sharing, audit and scrutiny 
arrangements. 
 

Additional Measures: 
 

F17. ensure performance, financial and non-financial, is reported to senior management 
and Members including action plans where necessary;  

F18. To ensure committee decisions are fully documented through the use of appropriate 
report templates, agenda submission processes and minutes; 

F19. ensure that professional advice on legal and financial matters is available and 
recorded well in advance of decision making and used appropriately when decisions 
have significant legal or financial implications. 

F20. develop and maintain an effective scrutiny function which encourages constructive 
challenge and enhances the authority’s performance overall; 

F21. ensure that systems and processes for financial administration and control, 
protection of the Authority’s resources and assets, are designed in conformity with 
appropriate ethical standards; and are subject to monitoring of their effectiveness; 

F22. ensure an effective internal audit function is resourced and maintained and 
complies with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS); 

F23. put in place effective anti-bribery, fraud and corruption policies that comply with the 
Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption (CIPFA, 2014);  

F24. require our arrangements for financial and internal control and management of risk 
to be formally addressed within the annual governance reports; 

F25. Ensure audit committee complies with Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for 
Local Authorities and Police (CIPFA, 2018). 

 
 

Principle G   Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver 
effective accountability 

 
Accountability is about ensuring that those making decisions and delivering services are 
answerable for them. Effective accountability is concerned not only with reporting on actions 
completed, but also ensuring that stakeholders are able to understand and respond as the 

Page 202



 11 
 

organisation plans and carries out its activities in a transparent manner. Both external and 
internal audit contribute to effective accountability.  
 
 
In pursuance of this principle we will: 
 

G1. set out a clear statement of the respective roles and responsibilities of the Council’s 
executive committee and the members individually and the authority’s approach 
towards putting this into practice; 

G2. set out a clear statement of the respective roles and responsibilities of the Council’s 
other committees and members and senior officers; 

G3. set out the terms and conditions for remuneration of members and officers and 
publish an Annual Pay policy statement in accordance with the requirements of the 
Localism Act 2011; 

G4. ensure an effective internal audit function is resourced and maintained and 
complies with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS); 

G5. develop and maintain effective arrangements for determining the remuneration of 
senior staff; 

G6. ensure that professional advice on legal and financial matters is available and 
recorded well in advance of decision making and used appropriately when decisions 
have significant legal or financial implications; 

G7. enable the Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) to bring influence to bear on 
all material decisions and provide advice on the levels of reserves and balances to 
be retained; 

G8. require our arrangements for financial and internal control and management of risk 
to be formally addressed within the annual governance reports; 

G9. ensure that the authority as a whole is open and accessible to the community, 
service users and staff and make a commitment to openness and transparency in 
all our dealings, including partnerships subject only to the need to preserve 
confidentiality in those specific circumstances where it is proper and appropriate to 
do so; 

G10. develop and maintain an effective audit committee which is independent of the 
executive and scrutiny functions; 

G11. enable the Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) to have direct access to the 
Council’s Audit Committee and External Auditor 

G12. Ensure audit committee complies with Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for 
Local Authorities and Police (CIPFA, 2018). 
 
Additional Measures 
 

G13. establish clear channels of communication with all sections of the community and 
other stakeholders and put in place monitoring arrangements to ensure that they 
operate effectively; 

G14. publish an annual report on a timely basis to communicate the authority’s activities 
and achievements, its financial position and performance; 

G15. produce timely, accurate and impartial financial information for decision making, 
enabling the Authority to meet its objectives and providing effective stewardship and 
value for money; 

Page 203



 12 
 

G16. produce clear, timely, complete and accurate information for budget holders and 
senior officers relating to the budgetary and financial performance of the Council; 

 
 

Annual Review of Corporate Governance 

 
At the end of the year, the Council will produce its Annual Governance Statement which will 
review the effectiveness of the actual system of internal control in place against both the Local 
Code of Governance and the CIPFA best practice framework. The review will draw various 
sources of evidence including:  
 

 detailed self-assessment against the CIPFA best practice examples 

 the Internal Audit annual opinion,  

 relevant reports from External Audit,  

 year end reports from Scrutiny, Audit and Standards committees 

 assurances from senior management and significant partners 
 
As part of its governance role, the Audit Committee will oversee this review on behalf of the 
Council. 
  

Page 204



 13 
 

Framework for the Internal Control Environment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 Embedded 
system 

 Operates 
throughout 
organisation 

 Internal & external 
reviews 

 Action orientated 

 National/local 
KPI’s  

 Periodic progress 
reports 

 Internal Audit’s 
opinion 
expressed in 
periodic and 
annual reports to 
audit committee 

 Operates under 
terms of 
reference 

 Rolling strategic 
& annual plans, 
Member 
approved 

 Risk-based plan 

 Annual plan 

 Annual letter 

 Audit opinion 

 Value for Money 
opinion 

 Departmental 
Policies 

 Control & risk self-
assessment 
questionnaires 
completed with 
feedback from 
senior Managers 

 Strategic 
operational 
strategy & 
registers 

 Embedded in 
policies & 
planning 

 Effectiveness 
evaluated 

 Project appraisal 

 Fraud reports and 
investigations 

 Reports by 
inspectors 

 Post 
implementation 
reviews of projects 

Internal Control Framework 

 Council Constitution 

 Council Plan 

 Local Code of Governance 

 Medium Term Financial Plan 

 Revenue & Capital Budgets 

 Service Plans 

 Performance Management Framework 

 Service Partnership Protocols and 
Agreements  

 South Lakeland Local Plan 

 Financial Management Reporting 

 Project management process 

 Risk management & registers 

 Anti-Bribery, Fraud & Corruption Policy 

 Information Security Policy 

 Financial Procedure Rules 

 Codes of Conduct for Members & Officers 

 Whistleblowing policy 

 Freedom of Information Policy 

 Corporate Procurement Strategy 

 Health and Safety Policy 

 Corporate Property Strategy 

 Land and Property Management Plan 

 Surveillance Policy 

 Human Resources Policies 

 Customer Access Strategy 

 Equality and Diversity 

 Accessibility Policy 

 Data Protection and Governance 

 Community Engagement Strategy 

Annual Governance Statement 
 published with the Statement of 

Accounts  
 approved by Leader and Chief 

Executive 

Independent review by Audit 
Committee Members to examine 
draft AGS & supporting evidence 

and recommend approval 

Draft Annual Governance Statement 

 Internal Control environment 
reviewed by Finance, 
Partnerships and Organisational 
Development, Internal Audit 

 Governance best practice 
reviewed 

 Draft AGS produced  

Performance Sub Committee 

 Monitors residual risk and 
management 

 Monitors risk profile 

 Receives risk monitoring 
reports 

 Performance Indicators & 
Performance Plan 

Monitoring Officer 

 Monitors compliance with 
Constitution, standards 
and legislation 

Section 151 Officer  

 Monitors compliance with 
internal/external financial 
regulatory framework 

Performance 

Management 
Internal 

Audit 

External 

Audit 

Risk 

Management 

Other 
sources of 
assurance 

Assurances 
by 

Managers 

Page 205



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 206



Annual Governance Statement and Local Code review 2018/19 Appendix 3
SLDC

Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good 
governance in practice

Examples of systems and processes etc per 
guidance

Local Code Ref

 Codes of conduct A7

  Individual sign off with regard to compliance 
with code

Not judged to be necessary, behavioural 
expectations are clear and part of annual 
appraisal process.

  Induc on for new members and staff on 
standard of behaviour expected

A19

  Performance appraisals A20

A Behaving with integrity, 
demonstrating strong commitment 
to ethical values, and respecting the 
rule of law

Behaving with integrity Ensuring members take the lead in establishing 
specific standard operating principles or values 
for the organisation and its staff and that they are 
communicated and understood. These should 
build on the Seven Principles of Public Life (the 
Nolan Principles)

Communicating shared values with 
members, staff, the community and partners

A5

  Decision making prac ces A6

  Declara ons of interests made at mee ngs A9
  Conduct at mee ngs A5
  Shared values guide decision making A6
  Develop and maintain an effec ve standards 
committee

A8

Principle

A

A

Ensuring members and officers behave with 
integrity and lead a culture where acting in the 
public interest is visibly and consistently 
demonstrated thereby protecting the reputation 
of the organisation

Behaving with integrityBehaving with integrity, 
demonstrating strong commitment 
to ethical values, and respecting the 
rule of law

Leading by example and using these standard 
operating principles or values as a framework for 
decision making and other actions

Behaving with integrityBehaving with integrity, 
demonstrating strong commitment 
to ethical values, and respecting the 
rule of law

CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)

P
age 207



SLDC
Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good 

governance in practice
Examples of systems and processes etc per 
guidance

Local Code RefPrinciple
CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)

  An -fraud and corrup on policies are 
working effectively

A17

  Up-to-date register of interests (members 
and staff)

A9/A12

  Up-to-date register of gi s and hospitality A9/A12
  Whistleblowing policies are in place and 
protect individuals raising concerns

A16

  Whistleblowing policy has been made 
available to members of the public, 
employees, partners and contractors

A16

Complaints policy and examples of 
responding to complaints about behaviour

A13

  Changes/improvements as a result of 
complaints received and acted upon

A13

  Members and officers code of conduct refers 
to a requirement to declare interests

A9

  Minutes show declara ons of interest were 
sought

A9

  Scru ny of ethical decision making A10

  Championing ethical compliance at 
governing body level

A10

A Behaving with integrity, 
demonstrating strong commitment 
to ethical values, and respecting the 
rule of law

Demonstrating strong 
commitment to ethical 
values

Underpinning personal
behaviour with ethical values and ensuring they 
permeate all aspects of the organisation’s culture 
and operation

Provision of ethical awareness training A5 - not explicit in code but ethical awareness 
covered.

A

A Seeking to establish, monitor and maintain the 
organisation’s ethical standards and performance

Demonstrating strong 
commitment to ethical 
values

Behaving with integrity, 
demonstrating strong commitment 
to ethical values, and respecting the 
rule of law

Behaving with integrity Demonstrating, communicating and embedding 
the standard operating principles or values 
through appropriate policies and processes which 
are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that 
they are operating effectively

Behaving with integrity, 
demonstrating strong commitment 
to ethical values, and respecting the 
rule of law

P
age 208



SLDC
Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good 

governance in practice
Examples of systems and processes etc per 
guidance

Local Code RefPrinciple
CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)

 Appraisal processes take account of values 
and ethical behaviour

A10/A20

  Staff appointments policy A10 includes general catch all around ethical 
policies - there is a recruitment policy within 
the HR handbook available to all staff.

 Procurement policy A9 includes general reference to avoiding 
influence/bias with reference to procurement.

  Agreed values in partnership working:
–– Statement of business ethics
communicates commitment to
ethical values to external suppliers
–– Ethical values feature in contracts with 
external service providers

A10/A11/A18

  Protocols for partnership working A18
 Statutory provisions A14/A15

 Statutory guidance is followed A14/A15
 Cons tu on A10
Job description/specifications A1/A3/A4

Compliance with CIPFA’s Statement on the 
Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local 
Government (CIPFA, 2016)

A2/A3

Terms of reference/Consititution A21
Committee support In place, not explicitly referenced in local code.

A Behaving with integrity, 
demonstrating strong commitment 
to ethical values, and respecting the 
rule of law

Respecting the rule of law Striving to optimise the use of the full powers 
available for the benefit of citizens, communities 
and other stakeholders

Record of legal advice provided by officers A22

A

A

A

A Creating the conditions to ensure that the 
statutory officers, other key post holders and 
members are able to fulfil their responsibilities in 
accordance with legislative and regulatory 
requirements

Respecting the rule of lawBehaving with integrity, 
demonstrating strong commitment 
to ethical values, and respecting the 
rule of law

Ensuring members and staff demonstrate a 
strong commitment to the rule of the law as well 
as adhering to relevant laws and regulations

Respecting the rule of lawBehaving with integrity, 
demonstrating strong commitment 
to ethical values, and respecting the 
rule of law

Developing and maintaining robust policies and 
procedures which place emphasis on agreed 
ethical values

Demonstrating strong 
commitment to ethical 
values

Behaving with integrity, 
demonstrating strong commitment 
to ethical values, and respecting the 
rule of law

Ensuring that external providers
of services on behalf of the
organisation are required to act with integrity 
and in compliance with high ethical standards 
expected by the organisation

Demonstrating strong 
commitment to ethical 
values

Behaving with integrity, 
demonstrating strong commitment 
to ethical values, and respecting the 
rule of law

P
age 209



SLDC
Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good 

governance in practice
Examples of systems and processes etc per 
guidance

Local Code RefPrinciple
CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)

Monitoring officer provisions A4

Record of legal advice provided by officers A22
Statutory provisions Not explicit in the code, would need to 

demonstrate on a case by case basis.
Effective anti-fraud and corruption
policies and procedures

A17

Local test of assurance (where
appropriate)

Not judged to be applicable. Would be 
investigated on case by case basis.

Annual report B14

Freedom of Information Act publication 
scheme

B13

Online council tax information B15
Authority’s goals and values B3
Authority website B15

B Ensuring openness and 
comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement

Openness Making decisions that are open about actions, 
plans, resource use, forecasts, outputs and 
outcomes. The presumption
is for openness. If that is not the case, a 
justification for the reasoning for keeping a 
decision confidential should be provided

Record of decision making and supporting 
materials

B5

Decision making protocols B5

Report pro-formas B5

Record of professional advice in reaching 
decisions

B5/B16

Meeting reports show details of advice given B5/B16

Discussion between members and officers 
on the information needs of members to 
support decision making

B5/B16

A

B

B

A

Providing clear reasoning and evidence for 
decisions in both public records and explanations 
to stakeholders and being explicit about the 
criteria, rationale and considerations used. In due 
course, ensuring that the impact and 
consequences of those decisions are clear

OpennessEnsuring openness and 
comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement

Ensuring corruption and misuse of power are 
dealt with effectively

Respecting the rule of lawBehaving with integrity, 
demonstrating strong commitment 
to ethical values, and respecting the 
rule of law

OpennessEnsuring openness and 
comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement

Ensuring an open culture through demonstrating, 
documenting and communicating the 
organisation’s commitment to openness

Behaving with integrity, 
demonstrating strong commitment 
to ethical values, and respecting the 
rule of law

Respecting the rule of law Dealing with breaches of legal and regulatory 
provisions effectively

P
age 210



SLDC
Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good 

governance in practice
Examples of systems and processes etc per 
guidance

Local Code RefPrinciple
CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)

Agreement on the information that will be 
provided and timescales

B13

Calendar of dates for submitting, publishing 
and distributing timely reports is adhered to

B13

Community strategy B6

Use of consultation feedback B3

Citizen survey has been done fairly recently, not explicit but 
contained within B3

B Ensuring openness and 
comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement

Engaging comprehensively 
with institutional 
stakeholders

Effectively engaging with institutional 
stakeholders to ensure that the purpose, 
objectives and intended  outcomes for each 
stakeholder relationship are clear so that 
outcomes are achieved successfully and 
sustainably

Community strategy B6

B Ensuring openness and 
comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement

Engaging comprehensively 
with institutional 
stakeholders

Developing formal and informal
partnerships to allow for resources to be used 
more efficiently and outcomes achieved more 
effectively

Database of stakeholders with whom
the authority should engage and for what 
purpose and a record of an assessment of 
the effectiveness of any changes

B8/B12

Partnership framework B17

Partnership protocols B4
Record of public consultations B3; In place, got a consultation hub but 

included in wider provision

Partnership framework B17

B

B

B

Using formal and informal consultation and 
engagement to determine the most appropriate 
and effective interventions/ courses of action

OpennessEnsuring openness and 
comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement

Ensuring openness and 
comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement

Engaging comprehensively 
with institutional 
stakeholders

Ensuring that partnerships are based on:
–– trust
–– a shared commitment to change
–– a culture that promotes and accepts challenge 
among partners 
and that the added value of
partnership working is explicit

Establishing a clear policy on the type of issues 
that the organisation will meaningfully consult 
with or involve individual citizens, service users 
and other stakeholders to ensure that service (or 
other) provision is contributing towards the 
achievement of intended outcomes.

Engaging stakeholders 
effectively, including 
individual citizens and 
service users

Ensuring openness and 
comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement

P
age 211



SLDC
Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good 

governance in practice
Examples of systems and processes etc per 
guidance

Local Code RefPrinciple
CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)

B Ensuring openness and 
comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement

Engaging stakeholders 
effectively, including 
individual citizens and 
service users

Ensuring that communication
methods are effective and that members and 
officers are clear about their roles with regard to 
community engagement

Communications strategy B1/B6/B10

Communications strategy B1/B6/B10

Joint strategic needs assessment B3 - Council plan process - no major formal 
partnerships (eg socail care/health)

B Ensuring openness and 
comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement

Engaging stakeholders 
effectively, including 
individual citizens and 
service users

Implementing effective feedback mechanisms in 
order to demonstrate how their views have been 
taken into account

Communications strategy B1/B6/B9/B10

B Ensuring openness and 
comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement

Engaging stakeholders 
effectively, including 
individual citizens and 
service users

Balancing feedback from more active stakeholder 
groups with other stakeholder groups to ensure 
inclusivity

Processes for dealing with competing 
demands within the community, for example 
a consultation

B1/B6/B9/B10

Reports B13 - included in committee template

Joint strategic needs assessment B3 - Council plan process - no major formal 
partnerships (eg socail care/health)

C Defining outcomes in terms of 
sustainable economic, social, and 
environmental benefits

Defining outcomes Having a clear vision which is an agreed formal 
statement ofthe organisation’s purpose and 
intended outcomes containing appropriate 
performance indicators, which provides the basis 
for the organisation’s overall strategy, planning 
and other decisions

Vision used as a basis for corporate and 
service planning

C1

Community engagement and involvement C10

Corporate and service plans C7

B

B

C

Encouraging, collecting and evaluating the views 
and experiences of communities, citizens, service 
users and organisations of different backgrounds 
including reference to future needs

Taking account of the interests of future 
generations of tax payers and service users

Engaging stakeholders 
effectively, including 
individual citizens and 
service users

Ensuring openness and 
comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement

Engaging stakeholders 
effectively, including 
individual citizens and 
service users

Ensuring openness and 
comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement

Specifying the intended impact on, or changes 
for, stakeholders including citizens and service 
users. It could be immediately or over the course 
of a year or longer

Defining outcomesDefining outcomes in terms of 
sustainable economic, social, and 
environmental benefits

P
age 212



SLDC
Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good 

governance in practice
Examples of systems and processes etc per 
guidance

Local Code RefPrinciple
CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)

Community strategy C1

C Defining outcomes in terms of 
sustainable economic, social, and 
environmental benefits

Defining outcomes Delivering defined outcomes on a sustainable 
basis within the resources that will be available

Regular reports on progress C6/d3

Performance trends are established and 
reported upon

C6/d3

Risk management protocols C11/C12

An agreed set of quality standard measures 
for each service element and included in 
service plans

C7

Processes for dealing with competing 
demands within the community

C1 Council planning process from which budget 
and policy framework derived.

C Defining outcomes in terms of 
sustainable economic, social, and 
environmental benefits

Sustainable economic, 
social and environmental 
benefits

Considering and balancing the combined 
economic, social and environmental impact of 
policies, plans and decisions when taking 
decisions about service provision

Capital investment is structured to achieve 
appropriate life spans and adaptability for 
future use or that resources (eg land) are 
spent on optimising social, economic and 
environmental wellbeing:
–– Capital programme
–– Capital investment strategy

C8

Discussion between members and officers 
on the information needs of members to 
support decision making

C9

Record of decision making and supporting 
materials

C13

C

C

C

Identifying and managing risks to the 
achievement of outcomes

Defining outcomesDefining outcomes in terms of 
sustainable economic, social, and 
environmental benefits

Managing service users expectations effectively 
with regard to determining priorities and making 
the best use of the resources available

Defining outcomesDefining outcomes in terms of 
sustainable economic, social, and 
environmental benefits

Taking a longer-term view with regard to decision 
making, taking account of risk and acting 
transparently where there are potential conflicts 
between the organisation’s intended outcomes 
and short-term factors such as the political cycle 
or financial constraints

Sustainable economic, 
social and environmental 
benefits

Defining outcomes in terms of 
sustainable economic, social, and 
environmental benefits

P
age 213



SLDC
Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good 

governance in practice
Examples of systems and processes etc per 
guidance

Local Code RefPrinciple
CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)

Record of decision making and supporting 
materials

C8/C13

Protocols for consultation C10

C Defining outcomes in terms of 
sustainable economic, social, and 
environmental benefits

Sustainable economic, 
social and environmental 
benefits

Ensuring fair access to services Protocols ensure fair access and statutory 
guidance is followed

C1

Discussion between members and officers 
on the information needs of members to 
support decision making

D5/D10/D11

Decision making protocols D5/D10/D11
Option appraisals D5/D10/D11
Agreement of information that will be 
provided and timescales

D5/D10/D11

Considering feedback from citizens and service 
users when making decisions about service 
improvements or where services are no longer 
required in order to prioritise competing 
demands within limited resources available 
including people, skills, land and assets and 
bearing in mind future impacts

Financial strategy D7

C

D

Determining the wider public interest associated 
with balancing conflicting interests between 
achieving the various economic, social and 
environmental benefits, through consultation 
where possible, in order to ensure appropriate 
trade-offs

Sustainable economic, 
social and environmental 
benefits

Defining outcomes in terms of 
sustainable economic, social, and 
environmental benefits

Ensuring decision makers receive objective and 
rigorous analysis of a variety of options indicating 
how intended outcomes would be achieved and 
including the risks associated with those options. 
Therefore ensuring best value is achieved 
however services are provided

Determining interventionsDetermining the interventions 
necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended 
outcomes

P
age 214



SLDC
Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good 

governance in practice
Examples of systems and processes etc per 
guidance

Local Code RefPrinciple
CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)

D Determining the interventions 
necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended 
outcomes

Planning interventions Establishing and implementing robust planning 
and control cycles that cover strategic and 
operational plans, priorities and targets

Calendar of dates for developing and 
submitting plans and reports that are 
adhered to

D9

D Determining the interventions 
necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended 
outcomes

Planning interventions Engaging with internal and external stakeholders 
in determining how services and other courses of 
action should be planned and delivered

Communication strategy D12

Partnership framework D13

Risk management protocol D13
D Determining the interventions 

necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended 
outcomes

Planning interventions Ensuring arrangements are flexible and agile so 
that the mechanisms for delivering outputs can 
be adapted to changing circumstances

Planning protocols D7 Council Plan, MTFP and 
performance/finance monitoring in place to 
assist with overall planning and service 
development

D Determining the interventions 
necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended 
outcomes

Planning interventions Establishing appropriate key performance 
indicators (KPIs) as part of the planning process in 
order to identify how the performance of services 
and projects is to be measured

KPIs have been established and approved for 
each service element and included in the 
service plan and are reported upon regularly

D1/D6

D Determining the interventions 
necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended 
outcomes

Planning interventions Ensuring capacity exists to generate the 
information required to review service quality 
regularly

Reports include detailed performance results 
and highlight areas where corrective action 
is necessary

D6 - not explicit in local code but in place; 
performance and finance reports produced 
each quarter.

D Determining the interventions 
necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended 
outcomes

Planning interventions Preparing budgets in accordance with 
organisational objectives, strategies and the 
medium term financial plan

Evidence that budgets, plans and objectives 
are aligned

D7 - mtfp process aligned to Council Plan 
process, service plans also aligned to priorities.

Budget guidance and protocols D6 - information issues, budget guidance not 
explicit in local code but is done annually

Medium term financial plan D7
Feedback surveys and exit/decommissioning 
strategies

D7

Changes as a result D7

D

D

D

Determining the interventions 
necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended 
outcomes

Ensuring the medium term financial strategy 
integrates and balances service priorities, 
affordability and other resource constraints

Optimising achievement of 
intended outcomes

Determining the interventions 
necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended 
outcomes

Considering and monitoring risks facing each 
partner when working collaboratively including 
shared risks

Planning interventionsDetermining the interventions 
necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended 
outcomes

Informing medium and long term resource 
planning by drawing up realistic estimates of 
revenue and capital expenditure aimed at 
developing a sustainable funding strategy

Planning interventions

P
age 215



SLDC
Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good 

governance in practice
Examples of systems and processes etc per 
guidance

Local Code RefPrinciple
CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)

D Determining the interventions 
necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended 
outcomes

Optimising achievement of 
intended outcomes

Ensuring the budgeting process is all-inclusive, 
taking into account the full cost of operations 
over the medium and longer term

Budgeting guidance and protocols D6/D7

D Determining the interventions 
necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended 
outcomes

Optimising achievement of 
intended outcomes

Ensuring the medium term financial strategy sets 
the context for ongoing decisions on significant 
delivery issues or responses to changes in the 
external environment that may arise during the 
budgetary period in order for outcomes to be 
achieved while optimising resource usage

Financial strategy D7

Service plans demonstrate consideration of 
‘social value’

D14 - new

Achievement of ‘social value’ is monitored 
and reported upon

D14 - new

E Developing the entity’s capacity, 
including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals 
within it

Developing the entity’s 
capacity

Reviewing operations, performance use of assets 
on a regular basis to ensure their continuing 
effectiveness

Regular reviews of activities, outputs and 
planned outcomes

E12 covers general VFM issues.

E Developing the entity’s capacity, 
including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals 
within it

Developing the entity’s 
capacity

Improving resource use through appropriate 
application of techniques such as benchmarking 
and other options in order to determine how the 
authority’s resources are allocated so that 
outcomes are achieved effectively and efficiently

Utilisation of research and benchmarking 
exercise

E12 covers general VFM issues, including 
information needed to support.

E Developing the entity’s capacity, 
including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals 
within it

Developing the entity’s 
capacity

Recognising the benefits of partnerships and 
collaborative working where added value can be 
achieved

Effective operation of partnerships which 
deliver agreed outcomes

E13 set out some of the control issues around 
partnership working. Pro-actively seeking 
partnership working not explicitly addessed in 
local code but in place. 

Workforce plan E9

Organisational development
plan

E9

E

D

Developing and maintaining
an effective workforce plan to
enhance the strategic allocation
of resources

Developing the entity’s 
capacity

Developing the entity’s capacity, 
including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals 
within it

Ensuring the achievement of ‘social value’ 
through service planning and commissioning. The 
Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 states that 
this is “the additional benefit to the 
community...over and above the direct 
purchasing of goods, services and outcomes”

Optimising achievement of 
intended outcomes

Determining the interventions 
necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended 
outcomesP

age 216



SLDC
Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good 

governance in practice
Examples of systems and processes etc per 
guidance

Local Code RefPrinciple
CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)

Job descriptions Member skills are referenced in general in 
section E; JDs not specifically mentioned but 
these are done for PH's (See Cab agenda, 
1/6/2016, CEX/9) and officers.

Chief executive and leader pairings have 
considered how best to establish and 
maintain effective communication

E14/E15

Scheme of delegation reviewed at least 
annually in the light of legal and 
organisational changes

E16

Standing orders and financial regulations 
which are reviewed on a regular basis

E17

E Developing the entity’s capacity, 
including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals 
within it

Developing the capability 
of the entity’s leadership 
and other individuals

Ensuring the leader and the chief executive have 
clearly defined and distinctive leadership roles 
within a structure whereby the chief executive 
leads the authority in implementing strategy and 
managing the delivery of services and other 
outputs set by members and each provides a 
check and a balance for each other’s authority

Clear statement of respective roles and 
responsibilities and how they will be put into 
practice

E14/E15

E Developing the entity’s capacity, 
including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals 
within it

Developing the capability 
of the entity’s leadership 
and other individuals

Developing the capabilities of members and 
senior management to achieve effective shared 
leadership and to enable the organisation to 
respond successfully to changing legal and policy 
demands as well as economic, political and 
environmental changes and risks by:

Access to update courses/ information 
briefings on new legislation

E2

Induction programme E6

Personal development plans for members 
and officers

E2

For example, for members this may include 
the ability to:
–– scrutinise and challenge
–– recognise when outside expert advice is 
required
–– promote trust
–– work in partnership
–– lead the organisation
–– act as a community leader

E4/5

E

E

E

E ensuring members and officers have the 
appropriate skills, knowledge, resources and 
support to fulfil their roles and responsibilities 
and ensuring that they are able to update their 
knowledge on a continuing basis

Developing the capability 
of the entity’s leadership 
and other individuals

Developing the entity’s capacity, 
including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals 
within it

Developing the capability 
of the entity’s leadership 
and other individuals

Developing the entity’s capacity, 
including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals 
within it

Publishing a statement that specifies the types of 
decisions that are delegated and those reserved 
for the collective decision making of the 
governing body

ensuring members and staff have access to 
appropriate induction tailored to their role and 
that ongoing training and development matching 
individual and organisational requirements is 
available and encouraged

Developing the capability 
of the entity’s leadership 
and other individuals

Developing the entity’s capacity, 
including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals 
within it

Developing protocols to ensure that elected and 
appointed leaders negotiate with each other 
regarding their respective roles early on in the 
relationship and that a shared understanding of 
roles and objectives is maintained

Developing the capability 
of the entity’s leadership 
and other individuals

Developing the entity’s capacity, 
including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals 
within it

P
age 217



SLDC
Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good 

governance in practice
Examples of systems and processes etc per 
guidance

Local Code RefPrinciple
CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)

Efficient systems and technology used for 
effective support

E10 is catch all for better use of electronic info

E Developing the entity’s capacity, 
including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals 
within it

Developing the capability 
of the entity’s leadership 
and other individuals

ensuring personal, organisational and 
systemwide development through shared 
learning, including lessons learnt from 
governance weaknesses both internal and 
external

Arrangements for succession planning E8

Residents’ panels E18

Stakeholder forum terms of reference E18
Strategic partnershipframeworks E18
Reviewing individual member performance 
on a regular basis taking account of their 
attendance and considering any training or 
development needs

E2/E8

Peer reviews This has happened, covered in more general 
terms in E7

Training and development plan E5

Staff development plans linked to appraisals E2
Implementing appropriate human resource 
policies and ensuring that they are working 
effectively

E9

E Developing the entity’s capacity, 
including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals 
within it

Developing the capability 
of the entity’s leadership 
and other individuals

Ensuring arrangements are in place to maintain 
the health and wellbeing of the workforce and 
support individuals in maintaining their own 
physical and mental wellbeing

Human resource policies E9

F Managing risks and performance 
through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management

Managing risk Recognising that risk management is an integral 
part of all activities and must be considered in all 
aspects of decision making

Risk management protocol F8/F15

F Managing risks and performance 
through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management

Managing risk Implementing robust and integrated risk 
management arrangements and ensuring that 
they are working effectively

Risk management strategy/ policy formally 
approved and adopted and reviewed and 
updated on a regular basis

F8/F15

F Managing risks and performance 
through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management

Managing risk Ensuring that responsibilities for managing 
individual risks are clearly allocated

Risk management protocol F8/F15

E

E

E

Taking steps to consider the leadership’s own 
effectiveness and ensuring leaders are open to 
constructive feedback from peer review and 
inspections

Developing the capability 
of the entity’s leadership 
and other individuals

Developing the entity’s capacity, 
including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals 
within it

Holding staff to account through regular 
performance reviews which take account of 
training or development needs

Developing the capability 
of the entity’s leadership 
and other individuals

Developing the entity’s capacity, 
including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals 
within it

Ensuring that there are structures in place to 
encourage public participation

Developing the capability 
of the entity’s leadership 
and other individuals

Developing the entity’s capacity, 
including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals 
within it

P
age 218



SLDC
Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good 

governance in practice
Examples of systems and processes etc per 
guidance

Local Code RefPrinciple
CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)

Performance map showing all key activities 
have performance measures

F17

Benchmarking information F17

Cost performance (using inputs and outputs) F17

Calendar of dates for submitting, publishing 
and distributing timely reports that are 
adhered to

F18

Discussion between members and officers 
on the information needs of members to 
support decision making

F19

Publication of agendas and minutes of 
meetings

F18

Agreement on the information that will be 
needed and timescales

F19

The role and responsibility for scrutiny has 
been established and is clear

F20

Agenda and minutes of scrutiny meetings F20
Evidence of improvements as a result of 
scrutiny

F20

Terms of reference F20
Training for members F20
Membership F20

F Managing risks and performance 
through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management

Managing performance Providing members and senior management with 
regular reports on service delivery plans and on 
progress towards outcome achievement

Calendar of dates for submitting, publishing 
and distributing timely reports that are 
adhered to

F18

Financial standards, guidance F21

Financial regulations and standing orders F21

F

F

F

F

Ensuring there is consistency between 
specification stages (such as budgets) and post 
implementation reporting (eg financial 
statements )

Managing performanceManaging risks and performance 
through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management

Monitoring service delivery
effectively including planning,
specification, execution
and independent post
implementation review

Managing performance

Making decisions based on relevant, clear 
objective analysis and advice pointing out the 
implications and risks inherent in the 
organisation’s financial, social and environmental 
position and outlook

Ensuring an effective scrutiny
or oversight function is in place
which encourages constructive
challenge and debate on
policies and objectives before,
during and after decisions are
made thereby enhancing the
organisation’s performance and
that of any organisation for
which it is responsible

Managing performanceManaging risks and performance 
through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management

Managing performanceManaging risks and performance 
through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management

Managing risks and performance 
through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management

P
age 219



SLDC
Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good 

governance in practice
Examples of systems and processes etc per 
guidance

Local Code RefPrinciple
CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)

Risk management strategy F8/F15

Audit plan F22
Audit reports F22

F Managing risks and performance 
through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management

Robust internal control Evaluating and monitoring the authority’s risk 
management and internal control on a regular 
basis

Risk management strategy/ policy has been 
formally approved and adopted and is 
reviewed and updated on a regular basis

Yes, monitored through audit committee.

F Managing risks and performance 
through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management

Robust internal control Ensuring effective counter fraud and anti-
corruption arrangements are in place

Compliance with the Code of Practice on 
Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption 
(CIPFA, 2014)

F23

Annual governance statement F24

Effective internal audit service is resourced 
and maintained

F22

Audit committee complies with best 
practice. See Audit Committees: Practical 
Guidance for Local Authorities and Police 
(CIPFA, 2018)

F25

Terms of reference F25
Membership F25
Training F25
Data management framework and 
procedures

F14

Designated data protection officer F14
Data protection policies and procedures F14
Data sharing agreement F14

Data sharing register F14
Data processing agreements F14

F

F

F

F

F

Ensuring effective arrangements are in place for 
the safe collection, storage, use and sharing of 
data, including processes to safeguard personal 
data

Managing dataManaging risks and performance 
through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management

Ensuring effective arrangements are in place and 
operating effectively when sharing data with 
other bodies

Managing dataManaging risks and performance 
through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management

Ensuring an audit committee or equivalent group 
or function which is independent of the executive 
and accountable to the governing body: –– 
provides a further source of effective assurance 
regarding arrangements for managing risk and 
maintaining an effective control environment –– 
that its recommendations are listened to and 
acted upon

Robust internal controlManaging risks and performance 
through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management

Ensuring additional assurance on the overall 
adequacy and effectiveness of the framework of 
governance, risk management and control is 
provided by the internal auditor

Robust internal controlManaging risks and performance 
through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management

Aligning the risk management strategy and 
policies on internal control with achieving the 
objectives

Robust internal controlManaging risks and performance 
through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management

P
age 220



SLDC
Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good 

governance in practice
Examples of systems and processes etc per 
guidance

Local Code RefPrinciple
CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)

Data quality procedures and reports F14

Data validation procedures F14

F Managing risks and performance 
through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management

Strong public financial 
management

Ensuring financial management supports both 
long term achievement of outcomes and short-
term financial and operational performance

Financial management supports the delivery 
of services and transformational change as 
well as securing good stewardship

Various provisions in the local code, overall, 
adhere to CIPFA CFO statement

F Managing risks and performance 
through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management

Strong public financial 
management

Ensuring well-developed financial management is 
integrated at all levels of planning and control, 
including management of financial risks and 
controls

Budget monitoring reports F17

Website G13

Annual report G14

G Implementing good practices in 
transparency, reporting, and audit 
to deliver effective accountability

Implementing good 
practice in transparency

Striking a balance between providing the right 
amount of information to satisfy transparency 
demands and enhance public scrutiny while not 
being too onerous to provide and for users to 
understand

No specific examples provided Judged to be in place.

Formal annual report which includes key 
points raised by external scrutineers and 
service users’ feedback on service delivery

G14

Annual financial statements G14
G Implementing good practices in 

transparency, reporting, and audit 
to deliver effective accountability

Implementing good 
practices in reporting

Ensuring members and senior management own 
the results

Appropriate approvals G15/G16

G Implementing good practices in 
transparency, reporting, and audit 
to deliver effective accountability

Implementing good 
practices in reporting

Ensuring robust arrangements for assessing the 
extent to which the principles contained in the 
Framework have been applied and publishing the 
results on this assessment including an action 
plan for improvement and evidence to 
demonstrate good governance (annual 
governance statement)

Annual governance statement G8

G Implementing good practices in 
transparency, reporting, and audit 
to deliver effective accountability

Implementing good 
practices in reporting

Ensuring that the Framework is applied to jointly 
managed or shared service organisations as 
appropriate

Annual governance statement G8

G

G

F

Writing and communicating reports for the public 
and other stakeholders in an understandable 
style appropriate to the intended audience and 
ensuring that they are easy to access and 
interrogate

Implementing good 
practice in transparency

Implementing good practices in 
transparency, reporting, and audit 
to deliver effective accountability

Reporting at least annually on performance, 
value for money and the stewardship of its 
resources

Implementing good 
practices in reporting

Implementing good practices in 
transparency, reporting, and audit 
to deliver effective accountability

Reviewing and auditing regularly the quality and 
accuracy of data used in decision making and 
performance monitoring

Managing dataManaging risks and performance 
through robust internal control and 
strong public financial management

P
age 221



SLDC
Sub principle Behaviours and Actions that demonstrate good 

governance in practice
Examples of systems and processes etc per 
guidance

Local Code RefPrinciple
CIPFA Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)

G Implementing good practices in 
transparency, reporting, and audit 
to deliver effective accountability

Implementing good 
practices in reporting

Ensuring the performance information that 
accompanies the financial statements is prepared 
on a consistent and timely basis and the 
statements allow for comparison with other 
similar organisations

Format follows best practice In place, not explicit, part of audit

Recommendations have informed positive 
improvement

In place, not explicit, reported to audit 
committee

Compliance with CIPFA’s Statement on the 
Role of the Head of Internal Audit (2010)

G4 Part of effective IA function

G Implementing good practices in 
transparency, reporting, and audit 
to deliver effective accountability

Assurance and effective 
accountability

Ensuring an effective internal audit service with 
direct access to members is in place which 
provides assurance with regard to governance 
arrangements and recommendations are acted 
upon

Compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards

G4

G Implementing good practices in 
transparency, reporting, and audit 
to deliver effective accountability

Assurance and effective 
accountability

Welcoming peer challenge, reviews and 
inspections from regulatory bodies and 
implementing recommendations

Recommendations have informed positive 
improvement

G11/13 - tracking of implemented audit recs

G Implementing good practices in 
transparency, reporting, and audit 
to deliver effective accountability

Assurance and effective 
accountability

Gaining assurance on risks associated with 
delivering services through third parties and that 
this is evidenced in the annual governance 
statement

Annual governance statement G8

G Implementing good practices in 
transparency, reporting, and audit 
to deliver effective accountability

Assurance and effective 
accountability

Ensuring that when working in partnership, 
arrangements for accountability are clear and 
that the need for wider public accountability has 
been recognised and met

Community strategy G9 - not explicitly a community strategy but 
sets out arrangements for accountability in 
partnerships.

G Ensuring that recommendations
for corrective action made by
external audit are acted upon

Assurance and effective 
accountability

Implementing good practices in 
transparency, reporting, and audit 
to deliver effective accountability

P
age 222



        APPENDIX 4 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 
 
 

1 
 

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT ACTIONS  

Local 
Code ref 

Local Code Measures Resp Deadline Date Impl Progress Comment 

Existing Actions (references updated to revised Local Code) 
 

B9, B10, 
F17 

Overall, there are several Local Code 
provisions to ensure that the authority as a 
whole is open and accessible to the 
community, service users and its staff and 
ensure that it has a commitment to openness 
and transparency in all its dealings including 
partnerships subject only to the need to 
preserve confidentiality in those specific 
circumstances where it is proper and 
appropriate.  
 

AD 
Performance 
and Innovation 

CC 
commenced 
due to 
continue 
over next 2 
years. 

In progress Information governance, data quality and 
transparency will all feature as part of the 
Customer Connect Programme, particularly the 
implementation of the new digital platform. In 
addition, the new platform will also enhance 
communication with customers, ensure that it is 
easier to access services and gather feedback. 

E3.  Ensuring appropriate financial skills of 
Officers scored 3 out of 4 with some scope to 
make financial acumen requirements more 
explicit. 

AD Resources/ 
HR Manager 
 

CC 
commenced 
due to 
continue 
over next 2 
years. 

In progress The Customer Connect process will address 
issues around required competencies 
corporately. This is a medium term strategic 
project which also links in to Customer Connect. 

  

P
age 223



        APPENDIX 4 
ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  

RECOMMENDATION IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS REPORT 
 
 

2 
 

 
New actions 
 

Local 
Code ref 

Local Code Measure Resp Deadline Date Impl Progress/Comment 

G7 & 
CIPFA 
stmnt. on 
role of 
CFO 

Enable the Chief Finance Officer (Section 
151 Officer) to bring influence to bear on all 
relevant decisions and provide advice on the 
levels of reserves and balances to be 
retained. 

The governance requirement in the CIPFA 
Statement is that CFOs should be 
professionally qualified and report directly to 
the Chief Executive and be a member of the 
leadership team with status at least 
equivalent to other members. Any different 
arrangement should be explained publicly in 
the AGS. The difference, the reasons for it 
and how these arrangements deliver the 
same impact should be included in the AGS.  

Chief 
Executive 
/CFO 

Subject to 
Customer 
Connect 
corporate 
structure 
review) 

In progress The CFO has presented a view of the increased 
risks surrounding the current reporting line.  
Council on 10 October 2018 approved the new 
senior leadership structure for consultation as 
part of the Customer Connect process.  The 
consultation period ended on 16 November 2018 
and feedback is being considered before 
finalisation. This report clearly states the reason 
for the positioning and reporting lines of the 
Section 151 Officer in the future proposed 
Council structure, and how this reasoning was 
determined and widespread in the local 
government sector, to mitigate and reduce risk. 
 

C7/F16 Link service plans to agreed measures and 
targets within the Council plan (incuding 
Social Value)  
 
Set out clear financial and contract procedure 
rules, kept under review as part of the overall 
Constitution of the Council. 
 

SMT/ 
operational 
managers 

To be 
incorporated 
into 2019/20 
service 
plans 

In progress Embedding of procurement practices into service 
planning (eg identifying contracts in plans) along 
with wider consideration of social value around 
delivery options. 

 

P
age 224



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

Wednesday, 5 December 2018 

Review of Effectiveness of the Audit Committee 

 

Portfolio:   Not applicable 

Report from:  Assistant Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

Report Author: Helen Smith – Financial Services Manager 

Wards:  Corporate Issue 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome 

1.1 This report is presented to show the results of the annual review of the Committee’s 
effectiveness, carried out using principles established by CIPFA, the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy.  The review uses a questionnaire 
approach: its conclusion is that the Committee continues to operate effectively. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Audit Committee:- 

(1) considers and approves the review and its conclusion that the 
Committee is operating effectively in all material respects; 

(2) consider whether or not it is appropriate to seek an independent 
member of the Audit Committee; and 

(3) notes the skills framework for members of Audit Committee in 
Appendix 3. 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 The Committee’s work programme requires it to review its own effectiveness on an 
annual basis.  Unlike the review of internal audit, this is not a statutory requirement 
but an element of best practice.  The review will provide assurance for the Annual 
Governance Statement.   

3.2 The Committee’s latest annual report, prepared in April 2018, is a useful starting 
point for the review but it tends to be descriptive rather than analytical and a different 
approach is required to test effectiveness.  In this respect CIPFA has published 
updated Practical Guidance for Local Authority and Police Audit Committees in 2018. 

3.3 The CIPFA Practical Guidance included a checklist to assess the effectiveness of 
Audit Committees, which is included at Appendix 1 and an evaluation tool included at 
Appendix 2 along with responses prepared by officers.   

3.4 The new Guidance includes the suggestion that a lay or independent member should 
be included in Audit Committees although this is not a requirement.  However, the 
Audit Committee operates with a high level of challenge to officers.  Members should 
consider whether it is appropriate for an independent member to be sought. 

Page 225

Item No.13



3.5 The review concludes that, with the exception of the inclusion of an independent 
member, the Committee can demonstrate that it has been established in accordance 
with best practice and that, while operating without an independent member, it has 
operated effectively during the last year.  The Committee should be alert to any 
changes in its membership and the expertise of its Members so that it can arrange 
suitable training.  Appendix 2 includes a skills framework for members of Audit 
Committee also produced by CIPFA. 

3.6 The Practical Guidance also includes suggested terms of reference for audit 
committees.  The Terms of Reference of Audit Committee were revised in December 
2014 to reflect these suggested terms of reference. 

3.7 The Practical Guidance includes possible wider functions of an audit committee.  The 
questionnaire in Appendix 1 includes a question of whether these possible wider 
functions have been considered by Audit Committee. 

 These functions are: 

a) Considering governance, risk or control matters at the request of other 
committees or statutory officers; 

b) Working with local standards committees to support ethical values and reviewing 
the arrangements to support those values; 

c) Reviewing and monitoring treasury management arrangements in accordance 
with the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice. 

Audit Committee does support some work of the Standards Committee to support 
ethical values, particularly around reviewing whistleblowing arrangements.  For SLDC 
the treasury management scrutiny function is carried out by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.  The terms of reference do not refer to requests for 
consideration of matters from other committees or statutory officers: any such 
proposals should be considered on a case-by-case basis bearing in mind the need to 
maintain the independence of the Audit Committee. 

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 Officers have reviewed the guidance on the operation of audit committees as set out 
above. 

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 The Committee can challenge and alter the detail or the conclusion of the review, 
however it is believed that the assessment is accurate and can be evidenced. 

6.0 Links to Council Priorities 

6.1 To develop and embed a high performance culture. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 This report has no direct financial implications. 

Human Resources 

7.2 There are no human resources implications of this report. 

Legal 

7.3 There are no legal implications of this report. 

Page 226



Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? No      

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: The 
review of the effectiveness of audit committee has no direct HSEE implications. 

Equality and Diversity 

7.6 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No 

7.7 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: The 
review of the effectiveness of audit committee has no direct Equality and Diversity 
implications  

Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

The review is not carried out to 
appropriate standards. 

Failure to recognise any 
weaknesses in the 
Committee’s 
performance and 
potential adverse effect 
on the Use of 
Resources assessment. 

A thorough review and 
assessment based on 
CIPFA guidance. 

Contact Officers 

Helen Smith, Financial Services Manager, 01539 793147, h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 
 

Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Audit Committee Effectiveness Checklist November 2018 

2 Audit Committee Effectiveness Assessment November 2018 

3 CIPFA Audit Committee Members Knowledge and Skills Framework 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

None  

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent 

Legal Services 20/11/18 

Section 151 Officer 20/11/18 

Monitoring Officer 20/11/18 

SMT 20/11/18 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Assistant Director 20/11/18 

Human Resources Manager N/A 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Page 227



Circulated to Date sent 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder N/A 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee 5/12/18 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council N/A 

 

Page 228



Appendix 1 

ASSESSMENT CHECKLIST 

REVIEW OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 

November 2018 

  ISSUE YES NO N/A Comment 

A Terms of Reference  

1 
Does the authority have a dedicated 
audit committee? 

       

2 
Does the audit committee report 
directly to full Council? 

     
Annual review to Annual Council, 
May 

3 

Do the terms of reference clearly set 
out the purpose of the Committee in 
accordance with CIPFA’s position 
statement? 

       

4 
Is the role and purpose of the audit 
committee understood and accepted 
across the authority? 

     Reported annually to full Council  

5 
Does the audit committee provide 
support to the authority in meeting the 
requirements of good governance? 

       

6 
Are the arrangements to hold the 
committee to account for its 
performance working satisfactorily? 

     
New: This assessment,  Annual 
report to Council 

B Functions of the Committee 

7 

Do the Committee’s terms of 
reference explicitly address all the 
core areas identified in CIPFA’s 
Position Statement? 

        

  i.        good governance        

  
ii.        assurance framework including 
partnerships and collaboration 

       

  iii.        internal audit        

  iv.        external audit        

  v.        financial reporting        

  vi.        risk management        

  vii.        value for money or best value        

 viii.        counter fraud and corruption     

  ix.       supporting the ethical framework      
 New: considered as part of 
review of Local Code of 
Governance 

8 

Is an annual evaluation undertaken to 
assess whether the committee is 
fulfilling its terms of reference and that 
adequate consideration has been 
given to all core areas? 

     This report 

  

Page 229



Appendix 1 

9 

Has the audit committee considered 
the wider areas identified in CIPFA’s 
position statement and whether it 
would be appropriate for the 
committee to undertake them? 

     

    Considering governance, risk 
or control matters at the request 
of other committees or statutory 
officers

  Working with local standards 
committees to support ethical 
values and reviewing the 
arrangements to achieve those 
values

  Reviewing and monitoring 
treasury management 
arrangements in accordance with 
the CIPFA Treasury Management 
Code of Practice: in SLDC this is 
carried out by Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

10 
Where coverage of core areas has 
been found to be limited, are plans in 
place to address this? 

       

11 

Has the committee maintained its 
non-advisory role by not taking on any 
decision-making powers that are not 
in line with its core purpose? 

     
 

C Membership and support 

12 

Has an effective audit committee 
structure and composition of the 
committee been selected? This 
should include: 

        

  i.        separation from the executive      

No member of the Cabinet sits on 
Audit Committee.  Members of the 
committee also sit on Shadow 
Cabinet, Lake Administration 
Committee and Planning 
Committee.  Officers would give 
the relevant members advice if 
they believed there was conflict of 
interest regarding any audit or 
other review of other committee 
issues. 

  
ii.        an appropriate mix of knowledge 
and skills among the membership 

       

  
iii.        size of committee that is not 
unwieldy 

       

  
iv.        consideration has been given to 
the inclusion of at least one 
independent member 

    


New: All members of Audit 
Committee are elected members 
of SLDC 

13 

Have independent members 
appointed to the committee been 
recruited in an open and transparent 
way and approved by full Council? 

   New 

14 
Does the chair of the committee have 
appropriate knowledge and skills? 

       

15 
Are arrangements in place to support 
the committee with briefings and 
training? 

       

Page 230



Appendix 1 

16 

Has the membership of the committee 
been assessed against the core 
knowledge and skills framework and 
found to be satisfactory? 

 


  
Core knowledge framework 
attached at Appendix 2. 

17 

Does the committee have good 
working relations with key people and 
organisations, including external 
audit, internal audit and the chief 
finance officer? 

       

18 
Is adequate secretariat and 
administrative support to the 
committee provided? 

       

D Meetings 

19 

Has the committee obtained feedback 
on its performance from those 
interacting with the committee or 
relying on its work? 

   
New: Annual meeting with 
external audit, annual report to 
Council 

20 
Are meetings effective with a good 
level of discussion and engagement 
from all the members 

   New 

21 

Does the committee engage with a 
wide range of leaders and managers, 
including discussion of audit findings, 
risks and action plans with the 
responsible officers? 

   New 

22 

Does the Committee make 
recommendations for the 
improvement of governance, risk and 
control and are these acted on? 

   New 

23 
Has the Committee evaluated 
whether and how it is adding value to 
the organisation? 

   New 

24 
Does the Committee have an action 
plan to improve any areas of 
weakness? 

   
New part of AGS review and 
action plan, issues arising from 
this review 

25 
Does the Committee publish an 
annual report to account for its 
performance and explain its work? 

   New Annual Report to Council 

 

 

Page 231



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 232



Appendix 2 

REVIEW OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE: EVALUATION REVIEW 

November 2018 

Part 2 

Assessment Key 

5 Clear evidence is available from a number of sources that the committee is actively supporting improvements across 

all aspects of this area. The improvements made are clearly identifiable. 

4 Clear evidence from some sources that the committee is actively and effectively supporting improvement across some 

aspects of this area. 

3 The committee has had mixed experience in supporting improvement in this area. There is some evidence that 

demonstrates their impact but there are also significant gaps. 

2 There is some evidence that the committee has supported improvements, but the impact of this support is limited. 

1 No evidence can be found that the audit committee has supported improvements in this area. 

 

Areas where the audit committee 

can add value by supporting 

improvement 

Examples of how the audit committee 

can add value and provide evidence of 

effectiveness 

Self-evaluation, examples, areas 

of strength and weakness 

Overall 

assessment 

:5 – 1  

See key 

above 

Promoting the principles of good 

governance and their application to 

decision making 

Supporting the development of a local 

code of governance 

Local Code of Governance reviewed 

and updated annually 

5 

P
age 233



Appendix 2 

Areas where the audit committee 

can add value by supporting 

improvement 

Examples of how the audit committee 

can add value and provide evidence of 

effectiveness 

Self-evaluation, examples, areas 

of strength and weakness 

Overall 

assessment 

:5 – 1  

See key 

above 

 Providing robust review of the AGS and 

the assurances underpinning it 

Audit Committee have reviewed 

AGS through Audit Panel in previous 

years – latterly there have been few 

issues and Audit Panel has not felt 

to be necessary 

5 

 Working with key members to improve 

their understanding of the AGS and their 

contribution to it 

Overview of AGS and process 

included in Audit Committee Annual 

Report 

3 

 Supporting reviews/audits of governance 

arrangements 

Audit Committee participate in 

reviews of Local Code of 

Governance, Constitution, receipt of 

internal and external audit reviews, 

risk management arrangements, 

performance management 

arrangements 

5 

 Participating in self assessments of 

governance arrangements 

Self-assessments carried out on 

effectiveness of audit committee and 

risk management: review if similar 

self-assessments available for other 

areas e.g. risk 

3 

P
age 234



Appendix 2 

Areas where the audit committee 

can add value by supporting 

improvement 

Examples of how the audit committee 

can add value and provide evidence of 

effectiveness 

Self-evaluation, examples, areas 

of strength and weakness 

Overall 

assessment 

:5 – 1  

See key 

above 

 Working with partner audit committees to 

review governance arrangements in 

partnerships 

No: are there any partnerships that 

are sufficiently material for this to be 

relevant? 

3 

Contributing to the development of 

an effective control environment 

Actively monitoring the implementation of 

recommendations from auditors 

All audit recommendations reported 

to committee and reviewed regularly: 

where recommendations not 

implemented senior managers are 

invited to Audit Committee to explain 

reasons why 

5 

 Encouraging ownership of the internal 

control framework by appropriate 

managers 

All internal audit reports are brought 

to Audit Committee, where 

significant issues are identified then 

senior managers are invited to Audit 

Committee.  Chief Executive, 

Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance 

Officer attend Audit Committee 

regularly and understand 

Committee’s commitment to internal 

controls 

5 

P
age 235



Appendix 2 

Areas where the audit committee 

can add value by supporting 

improvement 

Examples of how the audit committee 

can add value and provide evidence of 

effectiveness 

Self-evaluation, examples, areas 

of strength and weakness 

Overall 

assessment 

:5 – 1  

See key 

above 

 Raising significant concerns over controls 

with appropriate senior managers 

All internal audit reports are brought 

to Audit Committee, where 

significant issues are identified then 

senior managers are invited to Audit 

Committee.  Chief Executive, 

Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance 

Officer attend Audit Committee 

regularly and understand 

Committee’s commitment to internal 

controls 

5 

Supporting the establishment of 

arrangements for the governance of 

risk and for effective arrangements 

to manage risks 

Reviewing risk management 

arrangements and their effectiveness, e.g. 

risk management benchmarking 

Risk management arrangements are 

reviewed annually, corporate risks 

and Audit Committee risks are 

reviewed twice per year by Audit 

Committee, internal audit of risk 

management on programme of 

regular significant audits. No 

benchmarking 

4 

 Monitoring improvements Corporate risks are monitored twice 

per year: senior managers required 

to explain where improvements have 

not occurred 

5 

P
age 236



Appendix 2 

Areas where the audit committee 

can add value by supporting 

improvement 

Examples of how the audit committee 

can add value and provide evidence of 

effectiveness 

Self-evaluation, examples, areas 

of strength and weakness 

Overall 

assessment 

:5 – 1  

See key 

above 

 Holding risk owners to account for 

major/strategic risks 

Corporate risks are monitored twice 

per year: senior managers required 

to explain significant risks.  

Additional reports may be requested 

e.g. Customer Connect 

implementation 

5 

Advising on the adequacy of the 

assurance framework and 

considering whether assurance is 

deployed efficiently and effectively 

Specifying its assurance needs, identifying 

gaps or overlaps in assurance 

Annual review of internal audit plan, 

overview of external audit plan 

4 

 Seeking to streamline assurance gathering 

and reporting 

Annual review of internal audit plan, 

overview of external audit plan 

4 

 Reviewing the effectiveness of assurance 

providers, e.g. internal audit, risk 

management, external audit 

Annual review of effectiveness of 

internal audit and of risk 

management arrangements.  

Receipt of external audit updates: 

contract review of external audit 

carried out by PSAA Ltd nationally, 

review of external audit practices 

carried out by National Audit Office 

nationally: opportunity for Audit 

Committee to contribute to these 

reviews  

5 

P
age 237



Appendix 2 

Areas where the audit committee 

can add value by supporting 

improvement 

Examples of how the audit committee 

can add value and provide evidence of 

effectiveness 

Self-evaluation, examples, areas 

of strength and weakness 

Overall 

assessment 

:5 – 1  

See key 

above 

Supporting the quality of the internal 

audit activity, particularly by 

underpinning its organisational 

independence 

Reviewing the audit charter and functional 

reporting arrangements 

Annual approval of audit plan and 

charter, internal audit monitoring 

against plan to all Audit Committee 

meetings 

5 

 Assessing the effectiveness of internal 

audit arrangements, providing constructive 

challenge and supporting improvements 

Annual review of effectiveness of 

internal audit against best-practice 

checklist. 

5 

 Actively supporting the quality assurance 

and improvement programme of internal 

audit 

Annual review of effectiveness of 

internal audit against best-practice 

checklist. 

5 

Aiding the achievement of the 

authority’s goals and objectives 

through helping to ensure 

appropriate governance, risk, control 

and assurance  arrangements 

Reviewing how the governance 

arrangements support the achievement of 

sustainable outcomes 

Through review of Local Code of 

Governance and AGS process 

4 

 Reviewing major projects and 

programmes to ensure that governance 

and assurance arrangements are in place 

Major projects will be incorporated 

into corporate risk process, where 

relevant Audit Committee will 

request additional reports e.g. 

Customer Connect 

5 

P
age 238



Appendix 2 

Areas where the audit committee 

can add value by supporting 

improvement 

Examples of how the audit committee 

can add value and provide evidence of 

effectiveness 

Self-evaluation, examples, areas 

of strength and weakness 

Overall 

assessment 

:5 – 1  

See key 

above 

 Reviewing the effectiveness of 

performance management arrangements 

Annual review of performance 

management process, regular 

internal audit reports 

5 

Supporting the development of 

robust arrangements for ensuring 

value for money 

Ensuring that assurance on value for 

money arrangements is included in the 

assurances received by the audit 

committee 

Explicit part of external audit report; 

included in internal audit reviews 

5 

 Considering how performance in value for 

money is evaluated as part of the AGS 

Medium Term Financial Plan, 

budgeting and monitoring process 

identifies areas where overspend 

may indicate issues with value for 

money: AGS process to include 

more explicit review. 

Customer Connect process 

reviewing all significant processes to 

review if more efficient methods are 

appropriate 

4 

Helping the authority to implement 

the values of good governance, 

including effective arrangements for 

countering fraud and corruption risks 

Reviewing arrangements against the 

standards set out in the Code of Practice 

on Managing the Risk of Fraud and 

Corruption (CIPFA, 2014) 

Annual review of fraud arrangements 

to Audit Committee, processes 

under constant review by managers 

5 

P
age 239



Appendix 2 

Areas where the audit committee 

can add value by supporting 

improvement 

Examples of how the audit committee 

can add value and provide evidence of 

effectiveness 

Self-evaluation, examples, areas 

of strength and weakness 

Overall 

assessment 

:5 – 1  

See key 

above 

 Reviewing fraud risks and the 

effectiveness of the organisation’s strategy 

to address those risks 

Annual review of fraud 

arrangements, review of fraud risk 

undertake by officers where 

significant changes in processes or 

new projects are undertaken 

5 

 Assessing the effectiveness of ethical 

governance arrangements for staff 

Personal Qualities Framework 

review as part of annual staff 

appraisal process, recent review of 

personal qualities framework as part 

of Customer Connect and part of Oct 

2018 staff consultation process 

5 

Promoting effective public report to 

the authority's stakeholders and 

local community and measures to 

improve transparency and 

accountability 

Improving how the authority discharges its 

responsibilities for public reporting; for 

example, better targeting at the audience, 

plain English 

Annual Report produced in user-

friendly format.  Statement of 

Accounts reviewed to try to make 

clearer following “Telling the Story” 

guidance 

4 

 Reviewing whether decision making 

through partnership organisations remains 

transparent and publicly accessible and 

encourages greater transparency 

Part of review of Local Code of 

Governance through AGS process: 

not explicit.  External Audit VFM 

considers how organisation takes 

properly informed decisions.  Internal 

review to be more explicit 

4 

P
age 240



Appendix 2 

Areas where the audit committee 

can add value by supporting 

improvement 

Examples of how the audit committee 

can add value and provide evidence of 

effectiveness 

Self-evaluation, examples, areas 

of strength and weakness 

Overall 

assessment 

:5 – 1  

See key 

above 

 Publishing an annual report from the 

committee 

Annual Report from Audit Committee 

reported to Annual Council each 

May, published on website as part of 

Committee papers 

5 

 

P
age 241



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 242



APPENDIX 3 

 

REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS OF AUDIT COMMITTEE  

CIPFA AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS FRAMEWORK 

Details of core knowledge required 
How the audit committee member is able to 

apply the knowledge 

Organisational knowledge 

 An overview of the governance structures 
of the authority and decision making 
processes 

 Knowledge of the organisational objectives 
and major functions of the authority  

This knowledge will be core to most activities of 
the audit committee including review of the Annual 
Governance Statement, internal and external 
audit reports and risk registers 

Audit Committee role and functions 

 An understanding of the committee’s role 
and place within the governance structures.  
Familiarity with the committee’s terms of 
reference and accountability arrangements. 

 Knowledge of the purpose and role of the 
audit committee 

This knowledge will enable the audit committee to 
prioritise its work in order to ensure it discharges 
its responsibilities under its terms of reference and 
to avoid overlapping the work of others  

Governance 

 Knowledge of the principles of the 
CIPFA/Solace Good Governance 
framework and the requirements of the 
Annual Governance Statement 

 Knowledge of the local code of governance 

The committee will review the local code of 
governance and consider how governance 
arrangements align to the principles in the 
framework 
The committee will plan the assurances it is to 
receive in order to adequately support the AGS. 
The committee will review the AGS and consider 
how the authority is meeting the principles of good 
governance 

Internal Audit 

 An awareness of the key principles of the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and 
the Local Government Application Note 

 Knowledge of the arrangements for delivery 
of the internal audit service in the authority 
and how the role of the head of internal 
audit is fulfilled 

The audit committee has oversight of the internal 
audit function and will monitor its adherence to 
professional internal audit standards 
The audit committee will review the assurances 
from internal audit work and will review the risk-
based audit plan.  The committee will also receive 
the annual report, including an opinion and 
information on conformance with professional 
standards. 
In relying on the work of internal audit, the 
committee will need to be confident that 
professional standards are being followed. 
The audit committee chair is likely to be 
interviewed as part of the external quality 
assessment and the committee will receive the 
outcome of the assessment and action plan. 

Financial Management and Accounting 

 Awareness of the financial standards that a 
local authority must produce and the 
principles it must follow to produce them. 

 Understanding of food financial 
management principles 

 Knowledge of how the organisation meets 

Reviewing the financial statement prior to 
publication, asking questions. 
Receiving the external audit report and opinion on 
the financial audit. 
Reviewing both external and internal audit 
recommendations relating to financial 

Page 243



APPENDIX 3 

 

the requirements of the role of the chief 
financial officer, as required by the CIPFA 
Statement on the Role of the Chief 
Financial Officer in Local Government 

management and controls 
The audit committee should consider the role of 
the CFO and how this is met when reviewing the 
AGS 

External Audit 

 Knowledge of the role and functions of the 
external auditor and who currently 
undertakes this role. 

 Knowledge of the key reports and 
assurances that external audit will provide 

 Knowledge about arrangements for the 
appointment of auditors and quality 
monitoring undertaken 

The audit committee should meet with the 
external auditor regularly and receive their reports 
and opinions. 
Monitoring external audit recommendations and 
maximising benefit from audit process. 
The audit committee should monitor the 
relationship between the external auditor and the 
authority and support the delivery of an effective 
service. 

Risk Management 

 Understanding of the principles of risk 
management, including linkage to good 
governance and decision making. 

 Knowledge of the risk management policy 
and strategy of the organisation. 

 Understanding of risk governance 
arrangements, including the role of 
members and of the audit committee 

In reviewing the AGS, the committee will consider 
the robustness of the authority’s risk management 
arrangements and should also have awareness of 
the major risks the authority faces. 
Keeping up to date with the risk profile is 
necessary to support the review of a number of 
audit committee agenda items, including the risk-
based internal audit plan, external audit plans, 
and the explanatory foreword of the accounts.  
Typically risk registers will be used to inform the 
committee. 
The committee should also review reports and 
action plans to develop the application of risk 
management practice. 

Counter-fraud 

 An understanding of the main areas of 
fraud risk the organisation is exposed to. 

 Knowledge of the principles of good fraud 
risk management practice in accordance 
with the Code of Practice on Managing the 
Risk of Fraud and Corruption. 

 Knowledge of the organisation’s 
arrangements for tacking fraud 

Knowledge of fraud risks and good fraud risk 
management practice will be helpful when the 
committee reviews the organisation’s fraud 
strategy and receives the reports on the 
effectiveness of that strategy. 
An assessment of arrangements should support 
the AGS and knowledge of good fraud risk 
management practice will support the audit 
committee member in reviewing that assessment. 

Values of good governance 

 Knowledge of the Seven Principles of 
Public Life 

 Knowledge of the authority’s key 
arrangements to uphold ethical standards 
for both members and staff 

 Knowledge of the whistleblowing 
arrangements in the authority. 

The audit committee member will draw on this 
knowledge when reviewing governance issues 
and the AGS. 
Oversight of the effectiveness of whistleblowing 
will be considered as part of the AGS.  The audit 
committee member should know to whom 
concerns should be reported. 

     

Page 244



South Lakeland District Council 

Audit Committee 

Wednesday, 5 December 2018 

Implementation of General Data Protection 
Regulations and Data Protection Act 2018 

 

Portfolio:  Councillor Jonathan Brook, - Housing, People and Innovation Portfolio 
Holder 

Report from:  Debbie Storr, - Director of Policy and Resources (Monitoring Officer) 

Report Author: Paul Mountford, - Principal Performance and Intelligence Officer 

Wards:  Not Applicable 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome 

1.1 This report sets out the work undertaken to implement the General Data Protection 
Regulation and Data Protection Act 2018 across the Council. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that the Audit Committee notes the update on the 
introduction of the General Data Protection Regulation and Data Protection Act 
2018 across the Council and provides any comments.  

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 The Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA) covers the use of personal data within the 
scope of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and beyond it. Amongst 
other provisions, it repeals and replaces the Data Protection Act 1998, incorporates 
the GDPR into UK law, lays the ground for free-flow of data between the United 
Kingdom and the European Union after Brexit, sets out permitted exemptions under 
the GDPR and sets out the duties and powers of the UK's Information 
Commissioner’s Office (ICO). 

3.2 With administrative fines under the new DPA now having an upper limit of 20 million 
Euros, it is crucial that the Council is compliant with the GDPR/ DPA, as it has been 
under the Data Protection Act 1998. This report sets out the work undertaken to 
prepare for and implement GDPR across the Council. 

3.3 The General Data Protection Regulations Project Initiation Document was presented 
to Audit Committee on 6 December 2017.  This set out the scope, objectives, 
outcomes and deliverables of the project. 

3.4 The Information Governance Board, as outlined in the General Data Protection 
Regulations Project Initiation Document, has been established to ensure senior 
leadership, drive and accountability. 

3.5 The current Principal Performance and Intelligence Officer has been appointed as 
the Council’s Organisational Data Protection Officer.  The Principal Performance and 
Intelligence Officer has qualified as a General Data Protection Regulation 
Practitioner. 

Page 245

Item No.14



3.6 A number of activities are in operation to ensure continued compliance with the law: 

 E-Learning - A GDPR e-learning package has been developed and made 
mandatory for all officers.  The Data Protection Officer is monitoring the training 
records with the Learning and Development Team. 

 Non IT Workers - Operatives with no access to IT will be offered workshops in 
February 2019 to provide GDPR training bespoke to their particular needs.  

 Members – The Data Protection Officer delivered DPA/GDPR training to 
Members in March 2018.  Further dates in early 2019 will be offered to all new 
and established Members. 

 SharePoint – A dedicated Data Protection SharePoint has been posted on the 
Council’s Intranet.  

 Town/Parish Councils - Training workshops, in partnership with the Cumbria 
Association of Local Council’s (CALC), for Clerks and Members of Town and 
Parish Councils is scheduled for the spring of 2019 emphasising the 
requirements for the completion of Information Asset Registers, Privacy Notices 
and Data Protection Impact Assessments.  

 Partners – Partner organisations are individually responsible for the application 
of the DPA and it is the Council’s responsibility to gather assurance/evidence that 
such organisations are implementing the law correctly.  Where any contractual 
arrangements exist with partners, we include requirements for them to be 
compliant with GDPR/DPA 2018. 

3.7 A number of documents have been formally reviewed by Management Team and/or 
Cabinet (where appropriate) to assist Members, Officers, and members of the public.  
These include (not exhaustive list):  

 Data Protection Policy  

 Retention Policy  

 Information Management Policy 

 Information Security Policy 

 Data Quality Policy  

 Personal Data Breaches Guidance  

 Privacy Notices  

 Acceptable Use Policy  

 Subject Access Request Form  

 Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) Guidance  

 Information Asset Register (IAR) 

3.8 The Council’s Information Asset Register is complete and has been published on the 
Council’s SharePoint.  The Council’s Register of Processing Activity, in accordance 
with Article 30 of the GDPR is complete and is published on the Council’s dedicated 
Data Protection SharePoint. 

3.9 An Information Asset Register (IAR) is a simple way to help the Council understand 
and manage its information assets and the risks to them.  It is important to know and 
fully understand what information the Council holds in order to protect it. 

3.10 In support of the Council’s IAR, the Information Handling and Classification Protocol 
is in place and will be applied in accordance with the overall GDPR/DPA 2018 
implementation. 

  

Page 246



3.11 A generic corporate Privacy Notice has been published on the Council’s website 
covering all services provided by the Councils.  Alongside this Privacy Notice, service 
specific Privacy Notices for every service are being added.  Privacy Notices advise 
our customers what information about them is collected, when it is collected, how it is 
used, how long it is kept and whether it is shared, and with whom.  The Notices also 
set out peoples’ rights under GDPR and DPA 2018.  Publication of Privacy Notices is 
an ongoing task, and the Notices published to date can be found on the Council’s 
website. 

3.12 A Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) must be performed where processing 
is likely to result in a high risk to the rights and freedoms of natural persons. Where 
the Information Asset Registers have identified that the Council is holding sensitive 
data (for example ethnic origin, religion, health data), a DPIA will need to be 
completed to risk assess such data and ensure it is held as securely as possible. 

3.13 A template Data Processing Agreement has been implemented and shared with 
Procurement Services which will accompany all procurement documents where it is 
considered relevant. 

3.14 A Data Breach Notification Protocol is in place and is available to all Officers through 
the dedicated Data Protection SharePoint. 

3.15 A procedure for implementing the Subject Access process is in place.  The amended 
Subject Access Request form is available to the public via the Council’s website. 

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 The Data Protection Officer continues to provide regular updates to Corporate 
Management Team and Operational Managers.  This report updates Members on the 
work undertaken on the implementation of GDPR and the Data Protection Act 2018. 

4.2 The internal audit work programme for 2018/19 includes a review of information 
governance across the Council and this will consider the management of information 
in accordance with GDPR.  This audit is due to commence in the New Year and will 
be reported back at some future date. 

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 As the Council is already compliant with the requirements of the Data Protection Act 
1998, it is in a positive position to adapt to the enhanced obligations of the General 
Data Protection Regulation and Data Protection Act 2018. 

6.0 Links to Council Priorities 

6.1 The General Data Protection Regulation and Data Protection Act 2018 forms part of 
the overall Information Governance Framework.  The framework links directly to the 
Council Plan 2014 -2019, under the strategy heading of Innovation - as it will improve 
customer service and access to Council services. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1.1 At present there is no dedicated budget required for the work to support 
implementation of the General Data Protection Regulation.  The Principal 
Performance and Intelligence Officer, as Data Protection Officer, is continuing to 
monitor the deliverability of the actions within existing resources. 

  

Page 247



7.1.2 The current resource assessment is that implementation should be managed within 
existing budgets.  This is consistent with the approach taken by other authorities at 
this stage, however the scale and potential cost of changes remains unknown and 
therefore difficult to quantify with any certainty.  There are two potential areas of 
concern that will be closely monitored:  

 the financial impact of variance to contracts or processor agreements to 
ensure they are compliant with the General Data Protection Regulation; and, 

 changes to the council’s ICT Infrastructure to ensure security requirements 
and individual rights can be met.  

7.1.3 If the Council fails to notify a breach to the Information Commissioner’s Office within 
the 72 hour period or if the Council fails to comply with any aspect of the General 
Data Protection Regulation then the Council could be facing significant fines of up to 
€10 million or 2% of total worldwide annual turnover (whichever is the greatest) for 
level 1 fines, and fines of up to €20 million or 4% of total worldwide annual turnover 
(whichever is the greatest) for level 2 fines. 

Human Resources 

7.2.1 The implications for the Council are significant and impact on the working practices of 
all employees, members and contractors.  It is essential that anyone working for the 
Council (including contractors and partners) who handles personal data is aware of 
the procedural requirements and responsibilities of the General Data Protection 
Regulation and Data Protection Act - whether that is responding lawfully to requests, 
preventing data breaches or proactively adopting privacy by design in everyday 
working practices.  

7.2.2 A lack of preparedness and understanding of the requirements of the General Data 
Protection Regulation and Data Protection Act may lead to data breaches and 
enforcement action.  Given the scale of the new financial penalties for breaching the 
General Data Protection Regulation and Data Protection Act principles, this could be 
costly and also damage the Council’s reputation as individuals may lose confidence 
in the council’s ability to safeguard and protect personal data 

Legal 

7.3.1 The European Union General Data Protection Regulation replaces the Data 
Protection Directive 95/46/EC and came into force on 25 May 2018.  The General 
Data Protection Regulation is designed to:  

 harmonise data privacy laws across Europe; 

 protect individual data privacy rights; and 

 reshape organisational approaches to data privacy and reduce data 
breaches.  

7.3.2 The Data Protection Act 2018 also came into force on 25 May 2018.  The Act:  

 establishes a new data protection regime for non-law enforcement data 
processing, replacing the Data Protection Act 1998;  

 ensures the UK data protection framework is suitable for the digital age; and, 

 strengthens the rights of, and empowers, individuals to have more control 
over their personal data including a right to be forgotten when individuals no 
longer want their data to be processed, provided that there are no legitimate 
grounds for retaining it. 

  

Page 248



 

7.3.3 For a significant period of time prior to the new legislation coming into force, there 
was a lack of guidance as to the steps organisations could take to ensure 
compliance.  Guidance is now available and the Council has regard to such guidance 
when implementing its policies and procedures. 

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? No 

7.5 The General Data Protection Regulation and Data Protection Act contains no specific 
reference to health, social, economic and/ or environmental considerations, so at this 
stage there are no issues to consider beyond those associated with the current Data 
Protection Act provisions. 

Equality and Diversity 

7.6 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No 

7.7 The General Data Protection Regulation and Data Protection Act contains no specific 
reference to equality considerations, so at this stage there are no issues to consider 
beyond those associated with the current Data Protection Act provisions. 

Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

Information Governance 
Framework, and its policies and 
guidelines are not fit for 
purpose. 

Distress or harm to 
individuals or 
organisations. 
Reputational damage to 
the Council. 
Financial loss or monetary 
penalty imposed. 
Detrimental impact on 
Council business and 
service delivery. 
Non-compliance with 
legislation and potential 
litigation. 

Framework, policies and 
procedures are to be 
checked, tested and 
consulted upon with 
relevant users. 

Contact Officers 

Paul Mountford, Principal Performance and Intelligence Officer, 01539 793271, 
p.mountford@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

REGULATION (EU) 2016/679 General Data Protection Regulation (EU 2016/679) 

Data Protection Act 2018 Data Protection Act 2018  

General Data Protection Regulation SLDC Audit Committee - AUD37 

Data Protection Policy and Data 
Breach Notification Protocol 

CEX/10 

Information Governance Framework CEX/63  

Page 249

mailto:p.mountford@southlakeland.gov.uk
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=uriserv:OJ.L_.2016.119.01.0001.01.ENG&toc=OJ:L:2016:119:TOC
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/contents/enacted
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4260&Ver=4
http://democracy.southlakeland.gov.uk/documents/s18383/Data%20Protection%20Policy%20and%20Data%20Breach%20Notification%20Protocol.pdf


Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent 

Legal Services 13 November 2018 

Section 151 Officer 13 November 2018 

Monitoring Officer 13 November 2018 

SMT 13 November 2018 
 

Circulated to Date sent 

Assistant Director 13 November 2018 

Human Resources Manager 13 November 2018 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder 20 November 2018 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee 5 December 2018 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council N/A 

 

Page 250



Document is Restricted

Page 251

Item No.16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 257

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 271

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Audit Committee 2018/19 Work Programme
	6 External Auditor's Progress Report and Update
	7 Internal Audit Progress Report 2018/19
	Internal Audit Progress Report 2018-19 Appendix 1
	Internal Audit Progress Report 2018-10 Appendix 2a
	Internal Audit Progress Report 2018-19 Appendix 3

	8 Accounting Policies 2018/19
	Accounting Policies 2018/19  - Appendix 1

	9 Review of Constitution
	Review of Constitution  - Appendix 1
	Review of Constitution  - Appendix 2

	10 Audit Committee Risk Register
	Appendix 1 Audit Committee Risk Register

	11 Risk Management Update
	Risk Management Update  - Appendix 1

	12 Review of Local Code of Governance
	Review of Local Code of Governance  - Appendix 1
	Review of Local Code of Governance  - Appendix 2
	Review of Local Code of Governance  - Appendix 3
	Review of Local Code of Governance  - Appendix 4

	13 Review of Effectiveness of Audit Committee
	Review of Effectiveness of Audit Committee  - Appendix 1
	Review of Effectiveness of Audit Committee  - Appendix 2
	Review of Effectiveness of Audit Committee  - Appendix 3

	14 Implementation of General Data Protection Regulations and Data Protection Act 2018
	16 Customer Connect Programme Management
	Customer Connect Programme Management  - Appendix 1
	Customer Connect Programme Management  - Appendix 2


